






·1

·2· · · · · · · INDIANA ELECTION COMMISSION

·3· · · · · · · · · · ·PUBLIC SESSION

·4

·5

·6

·7· · · · · · ·Conducted on:· November 3, 2025

·8

·9

10

11· · ·Conducted at:· Indiana Government Center South
· · ·402 West Washington Street, Conference Rooms 1 & 2
12· · · · · · · · · Indianapolis, Indiana

13

14

15

16· · · · · · · · A Stenographic Record by:

17· · · · · · · ·Maria W. Collier, RPR, CRR

18

19

20

21

22

23

24· · · · · · ·STEWART RICHARDSON & ASSOCIATES
· · · · · · · Registered Professional Reporters
25· · · · · · · · · · · (800)869-0873



Page 2
·1· · · · · · · · · · · · APPEARANCES

·2· INDIANA ELECTION COMMISSION:

·3· Beth Boyce - Chairman

·4· Suzannah Wilson Overholt - Vice Chairman

·5· John Westercamp - Member

·6· Michael Claytor, Proxy for Karen Celestino-Horseman -
· · · ·Member
·7

·8
· · INDIANA ELECTION DIVISION STAFF:
·9
· · Angela M. Nussmeyer - Co-Director
10
· · J. Bradley King - Co-Director
11
· · Matthew Kochevar - Co-Counsel
12
· · Valerie Warycha - Co-Counsel
13
· · Michelle Thompson - Campaign Finance Director
14
· · Abbey Taylor - Campaign Finance Director
15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Page 3
·1· · · · · · · INDEX OF AGENDA ITEMS

·2· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · PAGE

·3· ·Call to Order and Determination of· · · · · 4
· · ·Quorum
·4
· · ·Documentation of Compliance with Open· · · ·5
·5· ·Door Law

·6· ·Approval of September 23, 2025, IEC· · · · ·5
· · ·Minutes
·7
· · ·Campaign Finance Proceedings· · · · · · · · 6
·8
· · · ·Adoption of Campaign Finance Orders· · · ·6
·9
· · · ·Ratification of Campaign Finance· · · · · 7
10· · ·Settlement Agreements

11· · ·Opportunity for Committees to Accept· · · 9
· · · ·Reduced Penalty
12
· · ·Campaign Finance Enforcement Actions· · · ·22
13
· · · ·Continuances· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·75
14
· · · ·Defaults· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·94
15
· · ·Voting System Testing Protocols· · · · · · 97
16
· · ·Voting System Applications for· · · · · · 111
17· ·Recertification

18· · ·Unisyn Voting Systems OpenElect 2.2.2· ·114
· · · ·Engineering Change Order 1031
19
· · · ·Unisyn Voting Systems OpenElect 2.2.2· ·116
20· · ·Recertification

21· · ·MicroVote General Corporation EMS· · · ·121
· · · ·4.4-IN Recertification
22

23

24

25



Page 4
·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· This meeting of the

·2· ·Indiana Election Commission is called to order.

·3· ·Thank you for being patient.· Sorry about the

·4· ·delay.

·5· · · · The following members of the Commission are

·6· ·present:· Myself, our chair, Beth Boyce; Suzannah

·7· ·Wilson Overholt, our vice chair; we have with us

·8· ·today Mr. Michael Claytor, who is a proxy, and we

·9· ·have it in our packets the appropriate form that

10· ·was filed, he is here on behalf of Karen

11· ·Celestino-Horseman; and member John Westercamp.

12· · · · We also have with us the Indiana Election

13· ·Division staff:· Co-Director Brad King and

14· ·Co-Director Angie Nussmeyer; Co-General Counsels

15· ·Matthew Kochevar and Valerie Warycha.· We also are

16· ·joined by our court reporter, Maria Collier, from

17· ·Stewart Richardson Deposition Services.

18· · · · And I want to make a note, before we continue

19· ·the meeting, to remind everyone on behalf of the

20· ·court reporter to identify yourself when beginning

21· ·to speak, spell your name when identifying

22· ·yourself, speak clearly, and do not speak at the

23· ·same time as others.

24· · · · I also wanted to make a note, staff has asked,

25· ·there are sign-in sheets in the back.· I think
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·1· ·there are several kind of on various rows.· So if

·2· ·everyone that's here -- yeah, on a clipboard.

·3· ·Thank you.· So if everyone that's here could just

·4· ·register their attendance on one of those sheets,

·5· ·we would appreciate it.

·6· · · · We want to reference the documentation of

·7· ·compliance with the Open Door Law.· I request that

·8· ·the co-directors confirm that the Commission

·9· ·meeting has been properly noticed as required under

10· ·the Open Door Law.

11· · · · MR. KING:· Madam Chair and members of the

12· ·Commission, speaking on behalf of myself and

13· ·Co-Director Nussmeyer, we certify that notice was

14· ·given of this meeting in accordance with the

15· ·requirements of the Open Door Law.

16· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.

17· · · · Next up we'll have the approval of our

18· ·September 23, 2025, Indiana Election Commission

19· ·minutes.· I recognize the co-directors to present

20· ·the minutes of the referenced meeting.

21· · · · MR. KING:· Madam Chair and members of the

22· ·Commission, on behalf of myself and Co-Director

23· ·Nussmeyer, we have reviewed the September 23, 2025,

24· ·minutes and recommend them to you for your

25· ·approval.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Is there a motion to approve

·2· ·each of the minutes as presented?

·3· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So moved.

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Is there a second?

·5· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Second.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any discussion?

·7· · · · Hearing none, all in favor say "aye."

·8· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

·9· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

10· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

11· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· The "ayes" have it, and the

12· ·motion to approve each of the minutes is adopted.

13· · · · Is there consent from each of the members to

14· ·authorize the Indiana Election Division to use our

15· ·individual signature stamps to document our

16· ·approval of the documents at this meeting?

17· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Consent.

18· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Consent.

19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· And then I assume, with him

20· ·being a proxy, it's Karen's signature.

21· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Uh-huh.

22· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· The Election Division

23· ·is authorized to act accordingly.

24· · · · Up next, adoption of the campaign finance

25· ·orders.· The Election Division staff has prepared
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·1· ·drafts of Indiana Election Commission Orders

·2· ·2025-300 through 2025-676, which reflects the

·3· ·actions of the Commission regarding campaign

·4· ·finance hearings conducted at the September 23rd

·5· ·meeting.

·6· · · · Is there a motion to adopt these orders as

·7· ·presented?

·8· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So moved.

·9· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Second.

10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any discussion?

11· · · · Hearing none, all in favor say "aye."

12· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

13· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

14· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

15· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed say "nay."

16· · · · The "ayes" have it, and the motion to approve

17· ·the orders is adopted.

18· · · · Up next, I recognize the Election Division's

19· ·campaign finance staff, Ms. Taylor and

20· ·Ms. Thompson, to present information concerning

21· ·several campaign finance settlement agreements

22· ·entered into on behalf of the Commission.

23· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Madam Chair, members of the

24· ·Commission, in your binder there, there's a list of

25· ·committees that are ready to ratify that have
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·1· ·agreed to pay the settlement agreement and waive a

·2· ·hearing.

·3· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· It's the first page.

·4· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So it's only two?

·5· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· It's only two, yes.

·6· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Okay.· I was confused

·7· ·because when you said several, I was expecting a

·8· ·longer list.· Okay.· So it's just these two.

·9· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Uh-huh.

10· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Versus the last hearing we

11· ·had where there was --

12· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Many.

13· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· There were many.

14· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I'm sorry.· What is

15· ·Indiana PA PAC?

16· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Physicians assistants PAC.

17· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Okay.· Thank you.

18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Is there a motion to

19· ·ratify the campaign finance settlement agreements

20· ·as presented?

21· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So moved.

22· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Second?

23· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Second.

24· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Any discussion?

25· · · · Hearing none, all in favor say "aye."
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·1· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

·2· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

·3· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed say "nay."

·5· · · · The "ayes" have it, and the motion to ratify

·6· ·the agreements is adopted.

·7· · · · Up next, we want to go through the

·8· ·administration of the oath.· If any person here

·9· ·plans to testify at today's meeting on any matter,

10· ·please stand for the administration of the oath.

11· · · · I recognize Matthew Kochevar to administer the

12· ·oath.

13· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Thank you, Madam Chair.

14· · · · All those who will testify before the Indiana

15· ·Election Commission, please raise your right hand

16· ·and say "I do" after recitation of the oath.

17· · · · Do you solemnly swear or affirm, under the

18· ·penalties of perjury, that the testimony you are

19· ·about to give to the Indiana Election Commission is

20· ·the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the

21· ·truth?· Please say "I do."

22· · · · ALL:· I do.

23· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Thank you.

24· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you very much.

25· · · · We'll move on to campaign finance enforcement
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·1· ·matters.· Before proceeding with campaign finance

·2· ·enforcement actions, we have customarily given any

·3· ·committee present the final opportunity to pay a

·4· ·reduced civil penalty by waiving the right to

·5· ·present evidence and arguments to the Commission.

·6· ·Of course, any committee is welcome to present

·7· ·evidence and arguments for the proposed penalty to

·8· ·be waived or reduced, but this has been an

·9· ·opportunity for those who want to waive any

10· ·presentation and accept a reduced penalty without

11· ·making argument or presentation.

12· · · · Therefore, I move the adoption of the

13· ·following arrangements:· If this is the committee's

14· ·first violation, the arrangement is for the

15· ·committee to agree to pay 25 percent of the

16· ·proposed fine plus mailing costs.· If this is the

17· ·committee's second violation, the arrangement is

18· ·for the committee to agree to pay 50 percent of the

19· ·proposed fine plus mailing costs.· If this is the

20· ·committee's third violation, the committee would

21· ·agree to pay 75 percent of the proposed violation

22· ·plus mailing costs.

23· · · · For purposes of this arrangement, a previous

24· ·settlement agreement entered into by the committee

25· ·will be counted as one violation.· Likewise, if
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·1· ·more than one alleged violation occurred on the

·2· ·same calendar day, that group of violations shall

·3· ·be counted as one.

·4· · · · Is there a second to this motion?

·5· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Second.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any discussion?

·7· · · · If there is no discussion, then I would like

·8· ·to see who is in favor.· All in favor say "aye."

·9· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

10· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

11· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

12· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed say "nay."

13· · · · The "ayes" have it, and the motion is adopted.

14· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· And before we

15· ·continue, can I give our little speech we give --

16· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sure, sure.

17· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· -- to encourage

18· ·people to do this, although it seems like we have a

19· ·small gathering today.

20· · · · But just in terms of that kind of potential

21· ·settlement arrangement that the Chair just

22· ·described, I just wanted to emphasize that this is

23· ·the only time it's available during this hearing

24· ·process.· So if you don't -- because in a minute

25· ·people are going to be invited to come up to say
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·1· ·whether they want to take that deal or not, and if

·2· ·you don't take it now and want to argue the merits

·3· ·of the proposed fine or why you think you shouldn't

·4· ·be fined or penalized, that deal, the deal

·5· ·structure that we just went over, is off the table,

·6· ·so you would likely be required to pay more than if

·7· ·you came up to us now.

·8· · · · So this is kind of the one and only time to do

·9· ·it.· We encourage you to do it if you are hoping to

10· ·get out of here paying less than the proposed

11· ·penalty.

12· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Very good.

13· · · · The Commission will begin with the committees

14· ·whose representatives are seated in the front row

15· ·of the room and ask those who wish to accept these

16· ·arrangements to please step forward and be

17· ·recognized to confirm the committee's acceptance of

18· ·the arrangement.

19· · · · Remember, this is not a time for anyone to

20· ·make their case to ask for the reduction or waiver

21· ·of any proposed penalty.· Simply state your name,

22· ·the name of the committee, and your enforcement

23· ·action cause number, if you have that available for

24· ·staff, and confirm verbally that you are accepting

25· ·this arrangement.
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·1· · · · If you do wish to make any other statement or

·2· ·explanation regarding your case, please wait until

·3· ·the other committees in the room have indicated

·4· ·their agreement to the arrangement.

·5· · · · MR. RADICE:· I'm sorry.· I've never done this

·6· ·before.· Forgive me for my novice --

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Hold on one second.· So we

·8· ·need you to stand up and identify yourself.

·9· · · · MR. RADICE:· Sorry.

10· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Would you come to the

11· ·microphone.

12· · · · MR. RADICE:· Oh, yeah, sure, sure.· No

13· ·problem.· Forgive me for my -- my name is Timothy

14· ·Michael Radice.· Pleasure to meet you.· It's a

15· ·pleasure to meet you finally, Mr. King.

16· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· You'll need to spell your

17· ·name.

18· · · · MR. RADICE:· Oh, I'm sorry.· I'm sorry.· So my

19· ·name is Timothy Michael Radice.· It's spelled

20· ·T-i-m-o-t-h-y, and it's going to be M-i-c-h-a-e-l,

21· ·last name is going to be R-a-d-i-c-e.

22· · · · So I'm okay with taking the 25 percent

23· ·penalty.· It was just a mistake.· I mistakenly

24· ·filed --

25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Hold on a second.· So if you
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·1· ·want to take the agreement, that comes without

·2· ·explanation.· So if you're wanting to kind of state

·3· ·your case, then that would have to come at a later

·4· ·time.

·5· · · · MR. RADICE:· Oh, okay, sure.· Yeah,

·6· ·25 percent, I'll do that.· That's fine.

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Do you have your cause

·8· ·number, please?

·9· · · · MR. RADICE:· I think it's 2025-7669-107, if

10· ·I'm not mistaken.

11· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So hold on just one second.

12· · · · MR. RADICE:· Sure.

13· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Yeah.· Madam Chairman, it's on

14· ·page 3.

15· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Oh, at the bottom.· I see.

16· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Citizens for Tim Radice.

17· · · · MR. RADICE:· Yes.

18· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Cause No. 2025-7669-107, has

19· ·not been before the Commission before, and has a

20· ·proposed civil penalty of $400.66.

21· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So if you are

22· ·interested in the agreement, it would be

23· ·25 percent.

24· · · · MR. RADICE:· Uh-huh.

25· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Plus expenses.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Plus the mailing.

·2· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So $100.66.

·3· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So all those in favor

·4· ·of -- oh, I'm sorry.· I need a motion and a second.

·5· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So moved.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sorry.

·7· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Second.

·8· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· All those in favor of

·9· ·this settlement agreement in the amount of $100.66

10· ·please signify by saying "aye."

11· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

12· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

13· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any opposed "nay."

15· · · · The "ayes" have it, and the motion is adopted.

16· · · · MR. RADICE:· Thank you folks so much for your

17· ·mercy.

18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.

19· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Madam Chair, if I might, just

20· ·a reminder to folks in this room, you do not pay

21· ·today.· The Commission will have to adopt orders at

22· ·the next meeting, and then an invoice is sent to

23· ·you for payment.

24· · · · MR. RADICE:· Okay.

25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.
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·1· · · · MR. RADICE:· Am I free to leave?

·2· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes.

·3· · · · MR. RADICE:· Oh, thank you.· I need to use the

·4· ·restroom.· Have a nice one, everyone.

·5· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So as I was

·6· ·mentioning, we're going to work from the front of

·7· ·the room back, so I think he was kind of up in the

·8· ·front over here.· Are there any other committees or

·9· ·individuals that would like to -- okay.· If you

10· ·could come up and come to the microphone.

11· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· And Matthew will need to swear

12· ·him in because he came in late.

13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.

14· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· Sit down?

15· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Yes, please.

16· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes.· Hold on one second,

17· ·sir.

18· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Actually, sir, before you do, I

19· ·have to swear you in.· You have to take the oath.

20· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· Sure.

21· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Raise your right hand and say

22· ·"I do" after recitation of the oath.

23· · · · Do you solemnly swear or affirm, under the

24· ·penalties of perjury, that the testimony you are

25· ·about to give to the Indiana Election Commission is
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·1· ·the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the

·2· ·truth?

·3· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· The Lord I serve is the truth,

·4· ·and I speak the truth because my Lord is the truth.

·5· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Thank you.

·6· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· You're welcome.· Well --

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· If you could let us

·8· ·know your name.

·9· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· My name is Watermelon Jim.

10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· And please spell your full

11· ·name.

12· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· James Lee Phillips.

13· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Could you spell that.

14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Could you spell that for our

15· ·court reporter, please.

16· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· Yes.· James is J-a-m-e-s, and

17· ·Phillips is P-h-i-l-l-i-p-s.

18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Do you have your cause

19· ·number?

20· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· I don't know what my cause

21· ·number is, but I've got --

22· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Madam Chairman, this is on the

23· ·first page.· It's Watermelon Jim for State

24· ·Representative, Cause No. 2025-7944-1, has not been

25· ·before the Commission before and has a proposed
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·1· ·civil penalty of $350.66.

·2· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.

·3· · · · Having not been before the Commission before,

·4· ·the agreement would be for a payment of 25 percent

·5· ·of that penalty plus the mailing costs.

·6· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· It's $87.50 plus 66 cents of mail

·7· ·costs so $88.16.

·8· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· I'm tickled to death to get out

·9· ·of this mess.· I didn't have no computer, and I

10· ·learned one thing:· If you're going to run for

11· ·office, you better get a computer.

12· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Any discussion,

13· ·questions?· If not, I'd look for a motion and a

14· ·second to --

15· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I move to reduce the amount

16· ·to $88.16.

17· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Second.

18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So I have a motion and

19· ·second.· Any discussion?

20· · · · If not, all those in favor please signify by

21· ·saying "aye."

22· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

23· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

24· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any opposed "nay."
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·1· · · · Motion passes.

·2· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· Thank you very much.· God bless

·3· ·you and stay safe.

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.· You too.

·5· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· I went through the big

·6· ·building, and everywhere you look down there, you

·7· ·can't get in unless you're authorized.· Thank you

·8· ·all very much.

·9· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Have a good day.· Thank you.

10· · · · Okay.· Any others?

11· · · · Yes, sir.· Please come forward and state your

12· ·name and please spell it.

13· · · · MR. BELLAMY:· I was certain you said from

14· ·front to back, so I just want the record to reflect

15· ·I was following the rules.

16· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yeah.· He jumped up before

17· ·you did.

18· · · · MR. BELLAMY:· He's much more known than I am.

19· ·I am Jeff Bellamy, B-e-l-l-a-m-y.· I am an attorney

20· ·with offices at 8440 Woodfield Crossing Boulevard,

21· ·Suite 310, here in the city of Indianapolis.· I'm

22· ·here on behalf of a matter entitled Grassroots PAC

23· ·with an administrative cause number 2025-7551-317.

24· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· You have two causes.· Did you

25· ·know that?· The second is 2025-7551-89 and then
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·1· ·-317, so there are two causes.· The first is on

·2· ·page 2; the second is on page 8.

·3· · · · Madam Chair and members of the Commission,

·4· ·this is Grassroots PAC, Causes 2025-751-89 and

·5· ·2025-7551-317.· They've been before the Commission

·6· ·one other time and paid a settlement agreement, so

·7· ·this is the third time.· Proposed civil penalty of

·8· ·$1,000.66 in the Cause -89 and proposed civil

·9· ·penalty of $1,000.73 in Cause -317.

10· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So that would be $750

11· ·for each, right, at the 75 percent?

12· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.

13· · · · MR. BELLAMY:· Well, wouldn't the second one be

14· ·second and the next one be third?

15· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· It could be third and fourth, but

16· ·this is one hearing, so we'll just do them together

17· ·as a hearing instead of causes, is what we usually

18· ·do.

19· · · · MR. BELLAMY:· I just want to understand

20· ·accurately.· I thought you said there was one prior

21· ·and there's two today or there's two prior and two

22· ·today?

23· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Two prior and two today.

24· · · · MR. BELLAMY:· Thank you.· That's what I needed

25· ·to know.
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·1· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So this counts as the

·2· ·third; right?

·3· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· The third, yes.

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So for each 750 and then --

·5· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Plus postage.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· -- 66 cents on the first one.

·7· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· And 73 on the second

·8· ·one.

·9· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· $1.39.

10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.· Okay.

11· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So 1,501.39?

12· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yeah.

13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So just to recap that,

14· ·so the total of the two cause numbers at a

15· ·75 percent rate would be $1,501.39.· Do we have a

16· ·motion and a second to approve?

17· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So moved.

18· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Second.

19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any discussion?

20· · · · Hearing none, all those in favor signify by

21· ·saying "aye."

22· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

23· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

24· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."
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·1· · · · Motion passes.

·2· · · · MR. BELLAMY:· Thank you for your attention.

·3· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Thank you.

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Any other -- okay.  I

·5· ·think we are good there.

·6· · · · Okay.· The Commission will proceed to open its

·7· ·hearing on campaign finance enforcement actions.

·8· ·Members, the binders or other material provided to

·9· ·you include a campaign finance spreadsheet prepared

10· ·by Abbey and Michelle.· After presentation -- I'm

11· ·sorry.· Okay.· Hold on.· So where is this

12· ·spreadsheet?

13· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· It's what we've just

14· ·been looking at.

15· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Oh, I'm sorry.· Okay.· Even

16· ·though it's not in a spreadsheet form.· Sorry.

17· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· I think in 1997 technology when

18· ·it was created, it might have been a spreadsheet,

19· ·but...

20· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I apologize.· Yeah.· I wasn't

21· ·thinking.· Doesn't seem like a spreadsheet the way

22· ·it's printed.

23· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Loosely characterized

24· ·as a spreadsheet.

25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Spreadsheet.· Okay.



Page 23
·1· · · · So now we need to move on to those campaign

·2· ·finance matters that would require discussion.· And

·3· ·I think we will proceed in the same manner, moving

·4· ·front to back.

·5· · · · Hold on a second.· I need to get myself

·6· ·situated here.· I'm sorry, everybody.

·7· · · · Okay.· I apologize.· The remaining committees

·8· ·will be called to permit the presentation of

·9· ·evidence in these campaign finance matters.· Before

10· ·doing so, I want to note that in the past the

11· ·Commission has followed certain procedures for

12· ·conducting campaign finance hearings, and I move

13· ·that the Commission use the following procedures

14· ·today:

15· · · · One, when the campaign finance matter is

16· ·called, hearing will begin with recognizing

17· ·campaign finance staff to provide information about

18· ·the documents in this matter provided to Commission

19· ·members, including letters from committees and the

20· ·notice given to the campaign committee.

21· · · · Two, unless there is objection, the documents

22· ·provided to the Commission by the Election Division

23· ·will be entered into the record of this meeting.

24· · · · Three, after campaign finance staff completes

25· ·presentation, a representative of the committee
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·1· ·will be recognized first and may present their case

·2· ·for no more than five minutes.· Next, Commission

·3· ·members may ask questions during the presentation,

·4· ·but the time spent answering these questions will

·5· ·not be counted against a presenter's time.· The

·6· ·Election Division may signal the chair when a

·7· ·presenter's time is up.

·8· · · · And I think last time Valerie will be our

·9· ·official time keeper now that she has her phone.

10· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Yes.

11· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· If the presenter offers

12· ·additional documentation or other physical evidence

13· ·not previously received by the Commission, then the

14· ·original must be provided to the Election Division,

15· ·Valerie, to preserve for the record.

16· · · · If the Commission finds that a committee has

17· ·violated the campaign finance statutes, state law

18· ·requires a unanimous vote of all four commissioners

19· ·to waive or reduce the amount of the penalty set by

20· ·state law.

21· · · · If the Commission makes a decision at this

22· ·meeting to either fine the committee or dismiss the

23· ·case against the committee, then the Election

24· ·Division will prepare a final order for the

25· ·Commission to approve at a later meeting.· If a
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·1· ·committee is fined today, the committee will

·2· ·receive a notice from the Election Division to pay

·3· ·the fine after the Commission adopts the final

·4· ·order.· So it may be some time after today before a

·5· ·committee will be required to pay the fine.

·6· · · · The Commission will recognize committees to

·7· ·make a presentation beginning from the committees

·8· ·seated in the front of the room.· It's very helpful

·9· ·if you can speak up and say the cause number or

10· ·numbers of your hearing notice so that the

11· ·Commission and staff can quickly look it up in the

12· ·spreadsheet.· Remember to identify yourself when

13· ·you start speaking and to indicate if you took the

14· ·oath administered earlier in the meeting.· If you

15· ·did not, I will ask Mr. Kochevar to administer the

16· ·oath to you.

17· · · · Is there a second to this motion?

18· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Second.

19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any questions or objections

20· ·from the Commission members?

21· · · · If there is no further discussion, the

22· ·question is on the adoption of the motion.· All in

23· ·favor say "aye."

24· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

25· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.
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·1· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

·2· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed say "nay."

·3· · · · The "ayes" have it, and the motion is

·4· ·approved.

·5· · · · Okay.· The Commission will proceed to open its

·6· ·hearings on campaign finance enforcement actions.

·7· ·Okay.· So let's start from the front of the room.

·8· ·We're going to do the same thing.· Is there

·9· ·anyone -- or not everybody jump up at once.

10· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· This is VSTOP right here.

11· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Oh, okay.· So, sir, I think

12· ·you're on.

13· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Okay.· So my name first?· My

14· ·name is William, or Bill, Gutrich, spelled G, like

15· ·George, -u-t-r-i-c-h.· And I guess these cause

16· ·numbers are -385 and -388.· Do you need more

17· ·numbers?

18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Give us just one second.

19· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· It's on page 11 and 12, bottom of

20· ·11 and top of 12.

21· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· So five minutes, I didn't

22· ·rehearse for that.

23· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Madam Chairman, members of the

24· ·Commission, this is Gutrich for Indiana, Cause

25· ·No. 2025-7832-385 for a proposed civil penalty of
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·1· ·$1,000 and surprise mail cost; and the second cause

·2· ·is 2025-7832-388 for a proposed civil penalty of

·3· ·$1,000 and a surprise mail cost.

·4· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· What's the nature of the

·5· ·offense that's alleged?

·6· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· This is actually a motion to

·7· ·reconsider.· Mr. Gutrich was -- and he can explain.

·8· ·He was not able to make it at the last meeting, and

·9· ·so he asked for a motion to reconsider the fine.

10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.

11· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Yeah.· I, unbeknownst, ended up

12· ·in the hospital getting a stent in my coronary

13· ·artery, so apologize for missing.· I was kind of

14· ·busy that day.· But if I can start my five minutes.

15· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Yeah.· Go ahead, please.

16· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· So my name is Bill Gutrich, and

17· ·I am sitting before you because about two years ago

18· ·I made what is becoming more and more so a stupid

19· ·decision to decide to offer myself to serve my

20· ·fellow citizens as a local public servant.· I had

21· ·never run for office before.· I come from a family

22· ·of policemen, firemen, teachers, and nurses, and

23· ·it's always been in me, although my dad said, "If

24· ·you become a cop, I'll shoot you myself."

25· · · · So I pursued a career in business, and
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·1· ·35 years later, just knowing a local politician in

·2· ·Hamilton County, a friend who serves in Hamilton

·3· ·County government encouraged me to run when our

·4· ·state rep announced she was retiring.· I ran

·5· ·against who is our current state rep, who is from

·6· ·Zionsville.· The district is 94 percent Hamilton

·7· ·County and 65 percent Westfield, and being

·8· ·Westfield the faster growing city in Indiana, one

·9· ·of Indiana's bigger cities, everybody wanted

10· ·somebody from Westfield, me, to run and not have

11· ·two state reps from Zionsville.· The person that I

12· ·lost to is also a former Colts player, and the

13· ·political consultant said I could beat him, and

14· ·they were dead wrong.· With an uninformed

15· ·electorate and mass popularity of somebody's name,

16· ·it's just not possible.

17· · · · But anyway, I offered myself when I was asked

18· ·to serve and gave up six months of my life working

19· ·every living breathing minute when I wasn't working

20· ·to knock doors, to call people.· Ended up having to

21· ·raise $100,000.· I was told to hire a political

22· ·consultant at $4,000 a month over five months, and

23· ·I was told to hire a fund-raiser.· Did all that and

24· ·still, at the end of it, the campaign came up

25· ·$14,000 short of our expenses, which meant I had to
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·1· ·go into a home equity line and pull $14,000 of my

·2· ·own money out along with all the time and effort I

·3· ·had given to try and offer myself.

·4· · · · What I found out is the political consultant

·5· ·had promised -- that's Coverdale Consulting in

·6· ·Fishers.· They were handling many campaigns and I

·7· ·was just being told use these guys, do this.· They

·8· ·said, "We'll handle all the finance -- the filing

·9· ·of your campaign finance stuff," and they were

10· ·filing this each week apparently.· But apparently

11· ·they didn't bother to do it the last two weeks, and

12· ·I had no idea.

13· · · · So about two, three -- or a month or so or

14· ·whatever after I had lost the primary and they were

15· ·no longer interested in me and I was no longer

16· ·paying them, of course, I get notice in the mail

17· ·saying that there was not filings made for the last

18· ·two weeks of my campaign for donations and

19· ·legitimate donations that came in.

20· · · · And so not having any help from them, I spent

21· ·the better part of a day studying and trying to

22· ·understand the very intricate stuff to get this

23· ·filed, which is very hard for a citizen to just

24· ·figure out and understand.· It really feels like

25· ·the establishment people know all this stuff, and I
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·1· ·certainly didn't.· But with great help from the

·2· ·office -- and thank you for that -- I was able to

·3· ·figure it out and got filed what had not been

·4· ·filed.· But then I was told with these letters

·5· ·that, well, that was supposed to be filed during

·6· ·that week.· So I had two $1,000 donations, one in

·7· ·each week, that required filing that week, and

·8· ·because it was not filed that week, I am told that

·9· ·I am fined $1,000 for each of those.

10· · · · I ask the mercy of this committee that, you

11· ·know, I gave my heart and soul just to be a public

12· ·servant and some of my own money, which I'll never

13· ·get back.· It shouldn't be this hard for people to

14· ·step up and run for office.· But what this says is

15· ·that, well, dive into your money some more for

16· ·another $2,000 because somebody who said that they

17· ·were going to do something for you didn't do it and

18· ·didn't care because you were no longer valuable to

19· ·them because you didn't win.

20· · · · So I filed it.· It was legitimate donations.

21· ·There was -- it's just a matter of timing that they

22· ·weren't filed in time, so there was no fraud or

23· ·anything else.· I do understand the purpose of

24· ·these laws to protect from fraud and these kind of

25· ·things, but I'm just a citizen who tried to run for
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·1· ·office, and I beg the mercy of this committee to

·2· ·not make my paying $2,000 greater.

·3· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· If I could ask, I'm

·4· ·assuming then that a default was entered at the

·5· ·last hearing.· Is that what I'm hearing?

·6· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Correct, yes.

·7· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So a total of $2,000

·8· ·has already been imposed.

·9· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Yes.

10· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So the question is,

11· ·number one, whether we're willing to, I guess,

12· ·reconsider that.

13· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.

14· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Correct.

15· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So we have to rule on

16· ·that, we have to make that determination first

17· ·before we go to the merits; right?

18· · · · MR. KING:· Yes.

19· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Can I ask a question before

20· ·we go to that?

21· · · · So is your campaign committee an LLC,

22· ·Mr. Gutrich?

23· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· I don't even know.· No.  I

24· ·mean -- well, I don't remember how we set it up.

25· ·It was Gutrich -- my name, Gutrich for Indiana,



Page 32
·1· ·shut it down right away when we lost the primary,

·2· ·and I'm not sure, honestly.

·3· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Okay.· Thank you.

·4· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· I wish I did know that.

·5· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any other questions?

·6· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· I suppose it is, though.  I

·7· ·don't know.

·8· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· I just want to let you know the

·9· ·committee is still open.· You have not closed it,

10· ·so you will owe a report in January.· I believe the

11· ·deadline is January 21, 2026.· The balance is zero,

12· ·so you can go ahead and close it, but it is still

13· ·open, and I don't want you to have another

14· ·surprise.

15· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Well, I will take that advice

16· ·and get it closed, and I'll never do this again.  I

17· ·swear, I tell people, they say, "Well, you should

18· ·run again," and I'm like, "Not in a million years.

19· ·Thank you."

20· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any other questions?

21· · · · Okay.· I'll declare the hearing on this -- I'm

22· ·sorry.

23· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I was going to move

24· ·that we grant the motion to reconsider.

25· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I second that.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· All those in favor

·2· ·signify by saying "aye."

·3· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

·4· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

·5· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."

·7· · · · The motion passes.

·8· · · · Okay.· So now --

·9· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I would move to waive the fee

10· ·for both of those matters for Mr. Gutrich here.

11· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· To waive the fee completely?

12· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Yes.

13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Do we have a second or any

14· ·thoughts, discussion?

15· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Madam Chairman, may I ask a

16· ·question?

17· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I think we need a

18· ·second.

19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We need a second.

20· · · · Okay.· I'll second that, but I would -- if

21· ·it's okay, I don't really agree with waiving it

22· ·completely.· I feel like at this point, you know,

23· ·the 25 percent is something that we've entered into

24· ·with many, many campaigns and committees and

25· ·individuals, and I could see us doing that, but I
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·1· ·do not agree with dropping it completely.

·2· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· You're suggesting a

·3· ·25 percent?

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes, which is what we would

·5· ·have offered many others.

·6· · · · Any other questions?

·7· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Just when you describe -- other

·8· ·than reliance on your consultant, were there any

·9· ·other things that prevented you from timely filing?

10· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Yeah, no.· So, you know, I was

11· ·led along by people that, you know, I run for

12· ·office and know what they're doing kind of thing.

13· ·They told me, honestly, get out every waking moment

14· ·you have and knock on doors.· I knocked on 3,800

15· ·doors in those weeks that this applied to, and they

16· ·didn't want me doing anything but, if I was awake,

17· ·go talk to voters.· Funny enough, I won those.  I

18· ·went to eight precincts and actually won that, but

19· ·you can't get to 60 precincts.· So it was just that

20· ·every waking moment I had I was told to go out and

21· ·knock doors or make phone calls.· And so people

22· ·told me, "We'll take care of this," and then I just

23· ·honestly found out they didn't take care of it.

24· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Okay.· But you mentioned illness

25· ·and having a stent.· You weren't laying in a
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·1· ·hospital bed --

·2· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· No.· I was supposed to be at a

·3· ·hearing --

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Here.

·5· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· -- on the 23rd.

·6· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· I misunderstood that.· Thank

·7· ·you.

·8· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Yes.· And I ended up in the

·9· ·hospital getting a stent.

10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· That was recent.

11· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Yes.· And I asked for this

12· ·continuance to today.· Thank you.

13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes, right.

14· · · · Any other discussion?· So the motion on the

15· ·floor is to waive it completely.

16· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Are you moving to change it?

17· ·Is that what your motion is?

18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes.

19· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I'll second that motion.

20· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.

21· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Could I ask a question about

22· ·that?

23· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sure.

24· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· I understand, as a committee,

25· ·wanting to be consistent perhaps with what you did
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·1· ·before.· I get that.· But just -- whether it's

·2· ·$2,000 or $5,000, I can afford to pay it.· I just

·3· ·don't think either number is right, honestly.  I

·4· ·think I acted in good faith.· This was a timing

·5· ·issue.· The donations were legitimate.· They were

·6· ·accurately filed.· I ask the mercy.· I guess just

·7· ·what's the purpose of the fine?· Because it was

·8· ·late?· Is that $500 because it was late?· Is that

·9· ·what we're saying?

10· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Well, if I might,

11· ·since I've been sitting on here -- I've been on

12· ·this Commission probably way longer than I should

13· ·be.· So sorry.

14· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Well, thank you for your

15· ·service.

16· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Well, I appreciate

17· ·it.· I was out of town and got home at 11:30 and

18· ·thought, oh, I've got to be at this meeting at

19· ·10:00 this morning, so you kind of rethink your

20· ·life choices sometimes.

21· · · · Anyway, sorry.· All that aside, so the reason

22· ·I'm speaking up is because I've been involved in a

23· ·lot of these hearings, and so the reason for the

24· ·fines, so there's an entire statutory framework

25· ·that establishes how elections are run and financed
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·1· ·in the state of Indiana, and there's similar

·2· ·structure at the federal level.

·3· · · · And those rules are really important because

·4· ·there are reporting requirements so that people at

·5· ·the time can see what candidates are up to, that

·6· ·they can see who is donating to campaigns, so the

·7· ·electorate can see that, so other people running

·8· ·for office can see it.· And the fines are there

·9· ·because, you know, I guess we've learned,

10· ·unfortunately, that carrots -- I don't know what

11· ·the carrot would be in these instances, so using

12· ·some sticks to say you've got to comply with the

13· ·statute or the fines are going to be imposed.

14· · · · And, historically, when we waive the fines --

15· ·because you, as the person running for office, I

16· ·mean, it is your campaign and it's your campaign

17· ·finance committee.· And we've had lots of folks

18· ·come in who their treasurers have, you know, been

19· ·on vacation and forgot to file the reports, they

20· ·didn't know what the rule -- what we hear is

21· ·everything from, We didn't know, I didn't

22· ·understand what the rules were, I haven't done this

23· ·before, to, I thought someone else had done it, I

24· ·thought someone else was going to do it, to, quite

25· ·literally, I think we really did get a, My dog ate
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·1· ·the -- I mean, we've had it all.· We've had all of

·2· ·that, right?

·3· · · · And I understand because there are a lot of

·4· ·people who miss the deadlines, and that's why we've

·5· ·been pretty -- it takes a very extreme situation,

·6· ·which I think is why Mr. Claytor asked about when

·7· ·it was you were in the hospital, which may sound

·8· ·like not a very nice question to ask, but some of

·9· ·those situations are ones where we have actually

10· ·decided to waive.

11· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· I understand.

12· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· This is our time to

13· ·speak.· So anyway, that's the explanation, and

14· ·that's why -- I think we have to vote on the motion

15· ·that's in front of us, but that's why I'll be

16· ·voting against that particular motion.

17· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· I was just going to say, just so

18· ·that we're all clear on the motion, Beth, do you

19· ·want to state your motion so it's in the record

20· ·properly.

21· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sure.· So there's a motion

22· ·and a second to impose, since this is his first

23· ·time being before the Commission --

24· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Wait, I thought we

25· ·had a motion to waive.
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·1· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· There's a motion to waive, so

·2· ·are you amending that motion?

·3· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Yeah.· We haven't

·4· ·voted on that.

·5· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I amended the motion.

·6· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· She said that she was starting

·7· ·to amend it, but it was kind of quiet to John, so I

·8· ·thought she should say it louder for everybody.

·9· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes.· I'm so sorry.· So I --

10· ·I apologize.· I did amend that, to make it

11· ·consistent with the action of the Commission, to be

12· ·a 25 percent penalty.· So I guess back to this, so

13· ·it would be 500, 250 and 250, and then the mailing

14· ·cost is not reflected on here so whatever that

15· ·amount.

16· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Like 73 cents.

17· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· I believe it was 68 cents.  I

18· ·know it was 68 cents.

19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· All the others are 66.· So

20· ·that's 68 cents on each one?

21· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.

22· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Can I ask --

23· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Just one second.

24· · · · So my motion would be to keep consistent with

25· ·what we've done and do the 25 percent penalty for
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·1· ·both cause numbers, and John --

·2· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I seconded it.· I'm sorry if

·3· ·you didn't hear it.

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So I apologize.

·5· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Not being a pain, are we

·6· ·amending the original motion --

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes.

·8· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· -- or are we going to defeat the

·9· ·original motion and have a new motion?

10· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Is there a difference?

11· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· The difference is we would be

12· ·voting on the amendment, and then we would vote on

13· ·the main motion.

14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I would defer.· Could

15· ·co-counsel --

16· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· I can answer that, yes.· So we

17· ·technically haven't adopted Robert's Rules of

18· ·Order, but that's the best procedure that I know of

19· ·and what most people follow.· So if we treat this

20· ·as a motion to amend, you would vote to amend the

21· ·main motion that Commissioner Westercamp had made.

22· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· And then vote.

23· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· And then that would become the

24· ·main motion, and then you would need to, when

25· ·discussion was done, vote on that.· And whatever
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·1· ·that -- we'll call that the second vote.· The

·2· ·majority votes yes on that second vote, then you

·3· ·have approved that motion as amended.

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So the second vote is

·5· ·the approval?

·6· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Yes.

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So -- Valerie?

·8· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· No.· I agree, yes.

·9· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So we will take a vote now to

10· ·amend the original motion, which would mean that

11· ·we're amending the original from a 0 percent

12· ·penalty to a 25 percent penalty.· All those in

13· ·favor of the amendment signify by saying "aye."

14· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

15· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

16· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

17· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."

18· · · · The motion passes.

19· · · · So now we need a motion and a second to

20· ·approve the agreement.

21· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· No.

22· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· So we're now voting on the

23· ·amended motion; right?

24· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Yes.

25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· I apologize.· Okay.
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·1· ·So now we need a motion --

·2· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· No.

·3· · · · MR. KING:· No.· We just need a vote.

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Oh, we don't need another

·5· ·motion.· I'm sorry.· Thank you for your patience.

·6· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· It's okay.

·7· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Motion to motion.

·8· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So now we're going to

·9· ·vote on that.· All those in favor signify by saying

10· ·"aye."

11· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

12· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

13· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."

15· · · · The motion passes.· Thank you.· My apologies.

16· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So for clarity, what

17· ·we just did is assess a $250 penalty for each

18· ·violation, so $500, plus 68 cents in mailing costs

19· ·for each.

20· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· $501.36 for a grand total.

21· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· 501.36.· Thank you.

22· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Yeah.· I just didn't understand

23· ·why you didn't vote on the first motion and then

24· ·vote on the second motion --

25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.
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·1· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· -- because he made a motion.

·2· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Next -- oh, and, sir,

·3· ·I think you left your papers.

·4· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Oh, I don't really need them.

·5· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Are there any campaign

·6· ·finance violations that need to be heard now?

·7· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· I know there are two more.· We

·8· ·may have more, but I know that there are two.

·9· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We're moving from the front

10· ·backwards.

11· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· I apologize.· I thought it

12· ·was the whole first row.

13· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· That's okay.· They're for a

14· ·different matter.

15· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I'm sorry.· Yes.· If you

16· ·could state your name and spell it.

17· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· My name is Matthew Douglas

18· ·Hostettler.· M-a-t-t-h-e-w, Douglas is

19· ·D-o-u-g-l-a-s, Hostettler is H-o-s-t-e-t-t-l-e-r.

20· ·My administrative cause number is 2025-420.

21· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Madam Chairman, this isn't in

22· ·the spreadsheet.· It's the pink little tab at the

23· ·back.

24· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.

25· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Representative Hostettler, I
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·1· ·have a question.· So did the staff raise this issue

·2· ·with you or did you self-report without being

·3· ·prompted by the Election Division staff?

·4· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· I self -- so if I could share

·5· ·briefly kind of how things transpired.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· You have five minutes.

·7· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· Okay.· Thank you.· And thank

·8· ·you for the continuance.· The 23rd was Rosh

·9· ·Hashanah, so I really appreciate your guys'

10· ·patience with everything.

11· · · · So it was either November or December, but

12· ·towards the end of 2024, my campaign committee

13· ·address received a contribution from the Meijer

14· ·Political Action Committee, and it was given to my

15· ·treasurer with my usual no hurry, because she's a

16· ·volunteer.· Most volunteers are always doing

17· ·something.· And then during the first week of

18· ·session, I received a text message saying "I

19· ·finally got that check deposited."· Oof.

20· · · · So immediately we issued a check for the

21· ·amount back to Meijer Political Action Committee.

22· ·I believe it was issued on the 12th or 13th of

23· ·January.· I self-reported.· We sent the letter.

24· ·That check never cleared with Meijer.· We waited

25· ·for nine months, and we just simply sent it to the
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·1· ·address that was on the contribution.· After

·2· ·tracking them down, we found another address and

·3· ·someone specifically to send it to and FedEx'd

·4· ·that, and that check -- that returned check was

·5· ·finally cashed last Friday.

·6· · · · So in full transparency, the one that was sent

·7· ·with the letter, that was never deposited.· So it

·8· ·has been -- it was self-reported.· It's been

·9· ·returned twice, but we canceled the first check,

10· ·and the other one finally cleared Friday.

11· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So what was the

12· ·proposed penalty for this?· There's no other

13· ·information other than the letter.

14· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· The report hasn't been filed

15· ·yet, so I don't have any information on that

16· ·transaction.

17· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· I can tell you what statutorily

18· ·the proposed penalty can be.· It is equal to the

19· ·greater of the following plus investigative costs:

20· ·Two times the amount of any contributions

21· ·received -- it would be received and accepted since

22· ·we've changed the law -- or $1,000.· So I know it

23· ·can be $1,000, but without knowing the amount of

24· ·the contribution that was accepted by the

25· ·committee, I can't tell you what the potential
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·1· ·higher amount would be.

·2· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Is this matter ripe for

·3· ·consideration by the committee?· And if it's not

·4· ·ripe, then why are we hearing it today?

·5· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· It doesn't feel like it's ripe.

·6· ·I'm not sure that it is.

·7· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· I would agree since we don't

·8· ·know if the proposed penalty can be above $1,000,

·9· ·so I would agree with my counterpart on this.

10· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Can we decide -- so since

11· ·Representative Hostettler is here today, is there a

12· ·way that we can decide this now for efficiency

13· ·purposes?

14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I wouldn't think so.

15· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· I would probably recommend --

16· ·this is just me saying -- to table this until a

17· ·Commission meeting after January 21, 2026, when the

18· ·committee's annual report is due, so that would be

19· ·sometime February probably.

20· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sure.· Then we would have a

21· ·more complete picture.

22· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· That does make sense.

23· · · · Question for campaign finance staff:· I'm

24· ·assuming you got this from Representative

25· ·Hostettler and just wanted to put it before the
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·1· ·Commission as soon as you got it?

·2· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Correct, yes.

·3· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Okay.· Thank you for the

·4· ·verification.

·5· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· And if I might add, the

·6· ·representative does not have to appear at the

·7· ·hearing.· He can send a proxy, for lack of a better

·8· ·term.· He can have a motion -- an appearance motion

·9· ·to allow someone else to present on his behalf, if

10· ·that were the case.

11· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· May I?

12· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I don't think his

13· ·five minutes is up.

14· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· It was not.· He was at 3:22.  I

15· ·can hit -- go ahead.

16· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· I respect the decision of the

17· ·Commission, the committee.· If the contribution was

18· ·for $500 and it was returned for $500, if you would

19· ·like to make that consideration in the interest of

20· ·your time.· I can be back in January.· I just

21· ·wondered if that helps you guys in the moment to

22· ·save possibly some time in January.· That's the

23· ·only reason I offer that information and respect

24· ·your decision either now or then.

25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I think we would feel more
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·1· ·comfortable waiting.

·2· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I would move that we

·3· ·table it until sometime after the report is

·4· ·actually filed.

·5· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Thank you for self-reporting.

·6· ·We encourage all campaigns to self-report.

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· There's a motion on

·8· ·the floor.· Do we have a second?

·9· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Second.

10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· We have a motion and a

11· ·second to table this issue until a later date.· All

12· ·those in favor please signify by saying "aye."

13· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

14· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

15· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

16· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."

17· · · · Motion passes.

18· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Madam Chairman, I'd like to

19· ·explain my vote.· I have a lovely disagreement with

20· ·staff and attorneys and their belief that the only

21· ·indicia of receiving a contribution is when it is

22· ·deposited.· I disagree with that heartily.· And if

23· ·I were on the other side of the table, I would be

24· ·arguing that, if you got a check prior to the start

25· ·of session, whether or not you deposited it during
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·1· ·session, it is not a violation.

·2· · · · Unfortunately, I will not be here at the

·3· ·meeting when this comes back up.· That is a

·4· ·personal opinion, and just throwing it out there

·5· ·for edification, or if you could get the statute

·6· ·amended in January or Organization Day.

·7· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· Respectfully, that probably

·8· ·would not look very good.· But may I ask, do you

·9· ·need any information from me between now or will

10· ·the report that's due in January be sufficient?

11· ·Should I just wait, just do that normally, or is

12· ·there anything else that I should get in the

13· ·meantime?

14· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· I don't speak for them, but I

15· ·don't think there's anything else we need from you

16· ·before the report is filed.

17· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· In the meantime, yeah.

18· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· That would be all I could think

19· ·of.· Generally the Commission will look at the

20· ·reports.· Your self-reporting, you just beat us to

21· ·the punch as far as doing the reports, but

22· ·appreciate it.

23· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· Sorry for making life harder.

24· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· No, you did not.· We appreciate

25· ·the self-reporting.
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·1· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· If I may -- I'm sorry -- may I

·2· ·ask a question of staff?· So typically for

·3· ·corporate contributions that are in excess of a

·4· ·certain dollar amount, we do send out a settlement

·5· ·agreement, do we not?

·6· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.

·7· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· So we do that --

·8· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· This is not a corporate

·9· ·contribution.

10· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· I understand that, but it's

11· ·substantially similar, right, that this is a

12· ·contribution that was received during long session

13· ·that has a civil penalty assigned to it in Title 3.

14· ·So would a similar letter go out to the committee

15· ·just so that the representative would be looking

16· ·out for it?· Is it something we should direct staff

17· ·to do?· That is the question.

18· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· This is the first time we've

19· ·brought this before the Commission.· It's not

20· ·happened before, so this is all new precedent for

21· ·us.

22· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Well, that's an

23· ·interesting point because you said received and

24· ·this is deposited, so actually the question when it

25· ·was received is a question.
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·1· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· And that's not the first time

·2· ·I've seen it before the Commission.

·3· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Was it a cashier's check or

·4· ·was it a normal check?

·5· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· It was a normal check.· And

·6· ·it was -- I believe that the -- just speaking

·7· ·frankly, I don't believe I have the envelope to

·8· ·show the postmark.· I mean, it would simply be

·9· ·there's the date on the check.· It might have -- I

10· ·honestly couldn't tell you without seeing it.

11· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Well, we've tabled

12· ·it, so we should probably stop talking about it.

13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.

14· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· All right.· Thank you.· Have

15· ·a good day.

16· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· If I could add one more thing,

17· ·the statute does say received and accepted now, so

18· ·it's no longer just received.· It's received and

19· ·accepted, and what accepted means in terms of the

20· ·overarching discussion for January...

21· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Okay.

22· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.

23· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Fun times ahead.

24· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Thank you.· Next.

25· · · · Please state your name and spell it for us,
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·1· ·please.

·2· · · · MR. CURTIS:· Yes.· Good morning.

·3· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Good morning.

·4· · · · MR. CURTIS:· My name is Tod Curtis, T-o-d,

·5· ·C-u-r-t-i-s, and my cause number is 2025-7783-167.

·6· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Madam Chairman, it's on page 5.

·7· ·It's Fight Back Indiana, Cause No. 2025-7783-167,

·8· ·has not been before the Commission before, and has

·9· ·a proposed civil penalty of $1,000.66.

10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.

11· · · · MR. CURTIS:· That is correct.

12· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Go ahead.

13· · · · MR. CURTIS:· Okay.· First of all, I started

14· ·this PAC, Fight Back Indiana, as a nonpartisan PAC

15· ·to try to bring people to the middle in Indiana and

16· ·kind of even out government, do something good.

17· ·But what I found was, after all the organizational

18· ·steps and setting everything up and getting

19· ·everything ready and having a website and

20· ·everything looking the way that I wanted it to,

21· ·there was no response whatsoever to a nonpartisan

22· ·PAC.· So we took in no money, and we had no

23· ·expenses other than the startup expenses we paid

24· ·out of our own pocket.· That was in April of 2023.

25· · · · In October of 2023 would be our first filing,
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·1· ·the pre-election filing.· I did receive a notice

·2· ·from the State saying that it would be due on that

·3· ·date, so I pulled out the instructions on how to

·4· ·fill out that form.· And on the third paragraph

·5· ·down, it says "This instruction applies to all

·6· ·statewide candidates, state legislative candidates,

·7· ·and any political action committee that, 1, is

·8· ·required to file with the Election Division," which

·9· ·is true, "and, 2, which received more than $50,000

10· ·in contributions since the close of the previous

11· ·reporting period," which did not apply.

12· · · · Now, my misunderstanding was that it meant the

13· ·following instruction after that sentence, which

14· ·says "This form must be filed electronically with

15· ·the Election Division.· Contact Division at," blah,

16· ·blah, blah.· So I looked at it and thought we've

17· ·done no business, and we certainly haven't taken in

18· ·$50,000, so we do not meet the requirements to have

19· ·to file this at this time.· That's not what this

20· ·form means, but that's what the form says.

21· · · · So to add to the problem, after that, someone

22· ·rammed their car through the front of the UPS store

23· ·and tore up all the mailboxes and the store closed,

24· ·so I could not receive my -- any mail from the

25· ·Election Division.· I didn't receive a notice until
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·1· ·December that I had missed this filing, at which

·2· ·time I panicked and contacted the State and filed

·3· ·and did everything that I possibly could to try to

·4· ·correct that problem.· And as I said, there was

·5· ·something to file.· It was about $600 maybe in

·6· ·mailbox expense, website expense, things like that.

·7· · · · So we did that, I filed all the other forms

·8· ·correctly, and then in April of 2024, which had

·9· ·been about a year, I could see this was going

10· ·nowhere, so I officially closed the PAC and did no

11· ·other business.· In between, every other filing was

12· ·for zeros and zeros.

13· · · · So I guess I'm here, first of all, because, as

14· ·you were mentioning -- on the way up my wife asked

15· ·me why is there such a huge fine for filing late,

16· ·and I said because it's a fairness issue.· When a

17· ·candidate is running for office, that's public

18· ·record where the money is coming from and what

19· ·they're bringing in.· For us, it doesn't really

20· ·make much sense, but that's the law, and that's why

21· ·we're here this morning.· That's why you're here to

22· ·hear me out.

23· · · · I really have nothing other to state other

24· ·than I don't know that we've caused any real harm,

25· ·and I think this form needs to be corrected to at
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·1· ·least say "The following instruction" or a colon

·2· ·after "This instruction" so that it's clear that

·3· ·it's the remainder of the paragraph that it's

·4· ·referring to and not this form completely.

·5· · · · So at this time, I guess, I will entertain

·6· ·questions.

·7· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Could we see the

·8· ·form?

·9· · · · MR. CURTIS:· Yes.· And I don't have access to

10· ·my email account for this anymore, but I did

11· ·vociferously defend the wording on the form and how

12· ·I stated it at the time as the cause of the

13· ·mistake.

14· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So to summarize your

15· ·position, you're saying that there was a misleading

16· ·form, state form, that caused you to not take the

17· ·steps that were necessary which made you violate

18· ·the law; is that right?· Is that your position?

19· · · · MR. CURTIS:· Correct.· There is no more law

20· ·abiding person in the state than me.

21· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Okay.

22· · · · MR. CURTIS:· And so it's very embarrassing to

23· ·be in this situation to begin with.

24· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Does the staff have a

25· ·counterpoint?· I mean, I want to be sure that our
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·1· ·forms are not misleading to people that want to

·2· ·comply with the law.· Is there something, in your

·3· ·opinion, that is misleading or do our forms need to

·4· ·be updated?· Is there something that's being missed

·5· ·that we should consider?

·6· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· I don't know what the paragraph

·7· ·looks like.· I thought it was only for PACs over

·8· ·$50,000 who had to file electronically.· I'm not

·9· ·sure what the back of that looks like.· I think the

10· ·bigger problem --

11· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I was going to say, this is

12· ·sort of out of context.

13· · · · MR. CURTIS:· I do have the rest of it.

14· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· I know that's the back of the

15· ·summary sheet of the CFA form, but I also think the

16· ·bigger issue here, if I may speak, before you is

17· ·that the UPS store was taken out, so he didn't get

18· ·any of our notice that the report was due, which

19· ·clearly states if you receive this, you have to

20· ·file.· That's the first sentence on the form, if

21· ·you are in receipt of this notice, you have to file

22· ·with the Election Division.· Filing anywhere else

23· ·is not sufficient.

24· · · · So I think -- I don't know what the back of

25· ·the form says.· It might -- I don't know what that
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·1· ·paragraph says.· I may fully agree with you.· But I

·2· ·think the bigger issue is the UPS store being

·3· ·crashed into and he can't --

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Not receiving the mail.

·5· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Right.

·6· · · · MR. CURTIS:· And I might add, the State had

·7· ·communicated electronically by email for everything

·8· ·up to that time, so the only thing that I was

·9· ·getting in that mailbox was junk mail from whoever

10· ·found the new address for the PAC.

11· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· We don't email any campaign

12· ·finance documentation, short of if you've logged in

13· ·and you've filed, it's an auto-generated email.

14· · · · MR. CURTIS:· I didn't know anything would be

15· ·coming.

16· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I want to put aside the UPS

17· ·store for a second.· Do we have any consensus among

18· ·us that this was a required filing fact based on

19· ·this?· Because if this mailing was sent in error,

20· ·if this wasn't actually required, we don't have to

21· ·even talk about the UPS truck situation.

22· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I think it was

23· ·required.· It's just the electronic component of it

24· ·isn't required because of the size of the -- not

25· ·reaching that contribution level.
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·1· · · · MR. CURTIS:· That's the understanding I came

·2· ·to afterwards.· You have to file electronically if

·3· ·it's more than 50,000.· I thought it just meant you

·4· ·don't have to file.· I didn't know you could even

·5· ·file by paper.

·6· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I see.

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any other thoughts,

·8· ·questions?

·9· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I have a question.· So this

10· ·is your first campaign finance violation.· Why

11· ·didn't you take the deal that we had offered at the

12· ·beginning of this hearing?

13· · · · MR. CURTIS:· Well, first of all, I didn't know

14· ·there was going to be some kind of a deal offered.

15· ·I might have settled a long time ago just to get it

16· ·off the plate.

17· · · · But in all honesty, I don't know that it

18· ·really -- I have a strong sense of justice, I

19· ·guess, and I will take whatever penalty is imposed,

20· ·but at least it needed to be brought up in the

21· ·record that the average person -- I mean, I have

22· ·multiple college degrees.· I read things as they're

23· ·stated, and the average person trying to do this on

24· ·their own could read that form and be completely

25· ·stymied like I was.· So in the interest of the
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·1· ·record, I think the form needs to be updated, so I

·2· ·thought I would drive up and see.

·3· · · · I don't know how government works inside.  I

·4· ·ran for Congress in 2017 for the 2018 year, and so

·5· ·I had finance committee, I had all that.  I

·6· ·understand how government works, and I understand

·7· ·how elections work.· This was just something that

·8· ·was a little odd, I guess, that this fine seems to

·9· ·be disproportionally high compared to the damage

10· ·caused, which really is probably zero.· But I

11· ·thought I would put myself at the mercy of the

12· ·committee.· I'll take whatever the committee

13· ·decides.

14· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· When you were operating the

15· ·committee, starting the committee, did you avail

16· ·yourself of the information on the State's website

17· ·that has the Campaign Finance Manual?

18· · · · MR. CURTIS:· Absolutely.· I have everything in

19· ·front of me right here.· I did everything exactly

20· ·by the book, and I thought I was doing everything

21· ·exactly by the book when I did not file at that

22· ·time because I didn't think I met the threshold for

23· ·filing.· And I didn't find out until -- maybe if I

24· ·had found out the next day that it would be a $50

25· ·fine, I'd say, well, that's fine.· But since I



Page 60
·1· ·didn't have notice that something was wrong for

·2· ·two months, then I racked up the full $1,000 fine.

·3· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So this is the back of -- it

·4· ·says "this form."· Is the form they're referring to

·5· ·just for PACs?

·6· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· No.· The CFA-4 is for all

·7· ·committees, candidates, committees.

·8· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Because I would argue that --

·9· ·or I don't want to be argumentative, but I would

10· ·say that, if you had run for State Representative,

11· ·then --

12· · · · MR. CURTIS:· No, I didn't run for State

13· ·Representative.

14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I thought you just

15· ·mentioned --

16· · · · MR. CURTIS:· I ran for Congress.

17· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Congress.· I'm sorry.

18· · · · MR. CURTIS:· That was federal election, yes.

19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I'm sorry about that, but

20· ·that you were familiar with the requirements and

21· ·the forms obviously through that.

22· · · · MR. CURTIS:· I never had to fill out a form.

23· ·I had a full campaign team, finance director,

24· ·campaign director, all of that that were handling

25· ·all those things at that time.· This is more of a
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·1· ·grassroots type of try-to-do-it-on-my-own-type

·2· ·operation.· I do run businesses.· I mean, I'm an

·3· ·orthodontist; I have an orthodontic business.  I

·4· ·have a property business.· So I'm familiar with

·5· ·filing for businesses, yes.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any other questions?

·7· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Just a point of information, I

·8· ·guess.· The Campaign Finance Manual very clearly

·9· ·states, I believe, that for each PAC they must file

10· ·three reports per year, at a minimum, in election

11· ·years and one report in nonelection years.· And

12· ·that's a -- it's several places in the Campaign

13· ·Finance Manual.

14· · · · MR. CURTIS:· Right.· But the instructions for

15· ·filling out that particular form, which I just

16· ·stated, says that the qualifications for filling

17· ·out that form, one is that there's more than

18· ·$50,000.· That's exactly what that paragraph says,

19· ·so that's why I had to go with the paragraph on the

20· ·form.· To file that form, I was following the

21· ·instructions on the form.

22· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· File electronically.

23· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Valerie, do you have

24· ·something, or Brad?

25· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· I was going to defer to Brad.
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·1· ·Go ahead.

·2· · · · MR. KING:· I was just going to -- speaking to

·3· ·Valerie with regard to an issue that arises in a

·4· ·wide variety of legal contexts, not just election

·5· ·law, in construing statutes and forms, it's in pari

·6· ·materia, which means basically to understand the

·7· ·meaning of a law -- or the code of law, campaign

·8· ·finance code, you have to look at the entirety of

·9· ·the law, not just an isolated piece to understand

10· ·how that isolated piece is going to work, which

11· ·addresses Commissioner Claytor's point with regard

12· ·to the Campaign Finance Manual being part of that

13· ·summary of the larger body of law that is what

14· ·those who interpret the law are required to use.

15· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.

16· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So the committee is

17· ·closed?

18· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.

19· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· And there's no --

20· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Correct.

21· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· -- because there's no

22· ·money?

23· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Questions, thoughts?

24· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I just want to say I agree

25· ·with Michael that this says this instruction
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·1· ·applies to these things, but that does not mean

·2· ·that there's not other instructions or obligations

·3· ·in other areas.· So I think your point is well

·4· ·taken that the Campaign Finance Manual says these

·5· ·are -- it's a requirement, and this in no way

·6· ·contradicts that underlying requirement that's in

·7· ·the manual.

·8· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Madam Chairman, if I may, I

·9· ·regret that our friend did not come forward during

10· ·the settlement offer, but I'll make a motion and

11· ·see if I can buy a second over here that we assess

12· ·a fine of 25 percent against the campaign.· I know

13· ·we normally don't do that once the time is over,

14· ·but there's obviously some misunderstanding here,

15· ·and the entity is now closed.· So I would move that

16· ·we assess a fine of 25 percent, which would be

17· ·$250.66.

18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We have a motion.· Do we have

19· ·a second?

20· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Second.

21· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· We have a motion and a

22· ·second to impose a 25 percent penalty, which would

23· ·be $250 and the mailing cost of 66 cents.· All

24· ·those in favor signify by saying "aye."

25· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.
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·1· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

·2· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

·3· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."

·4· · · · Motion passes.

·5· · · · MR. CURTIS:· I appreciate that.· And I would

·6· ·suggest just a colon at the end of that sentence

·7· ·and that form would make it clearer that this means

·8· ·the next part of that.

·9· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.

10· · · · MR. CURTIS:· One other question too, I guess,

11· ·from a legal aspect.

12· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· I'm sorry.· This is not really

13· ·the forum for that.· You're welcome to stay to the

14· ·end and I would be happy to chat with you, but for

15· ·the moment the Commission has other hearings.

16· · · · MR. CURTIS:· I just wondered, I mean, if a

17· ·closed PAC can actually be fined.

18· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Yes.

19· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.

20· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Sorry.· Yes.

21· · · · MR. CURTIS:· Just quick.

22· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Yeah.

23· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Next.

24· · · · MS. DOYLE:· Hello, Commissioners.· I am

25· ·Brittany Doyle, B-r-i-t-t-a-n-y, D-o-y-l-e, here
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·1· ·for Cause No. 2025-6797-414, McCormick for

·2· ·Governor.· This is a continuance from the last

·3· ·hearing.

·4· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· It's on page 17, Cause

·5· ·No. 2025-6797-414.· It was tabled at the hearing on

·6· ·September 23rd.· This was a late CFA-11 caused by a

·7· ·refund.

·8· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So before Brittany starts,

·9· ·could I hear from the campaign finance staff how

10· ·this matter falls into a contribution.· What's the

11· ·argument?

12· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· It's income.· They entered it

13· ·into the system as income because we only have in

14· ·or out.· There's no other definition.· They entered

15· ·the contribution into the system, and it

16· ·auto-generated, because it was over 10,000, the

17· ·CFA-11 to be filed within seven days.· They entered

18· ·it in July when they were filing their semiannual

19· ·report and went "Ope" because, again, it's a

20· ·refund.· But, again, we only have in or out, so

21· ·there's no separate definition for a refund.

22· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I know that last time we

23· ·asked for a briefing on this, and only Ms. Doyle

24· ·submitted briefing.· Was there a reason why the

25· ·campaign finance staff didn't submit an argument?
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·1· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· We were waiting for Matthew and

·2· ·Valerie to talk to Brittany.· That's --

·3· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Just as a matter going

·4· ·forward, if we ask for briefing on a legal

·5· ·question, can we get your assurances that you'll

·6· ·provide something in writing, because the State has

·7· ·the burden to provide a prima facie case on this;

·8· ·otherwise, we have to give judgment to Ms. Doyle.

·9· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· I will say that Matthew and I

10· ·have discussed, and neither of us -- I don't want

11· ·to speak for you, Matthew -- felt this met the

12· ·definition of contribution.· It's just caught up in

13· ·the system because there's nothing else to put it

14· ·on because we're working on a 1990s computer

15· ·system.

16· · · · So when you read the definition of

17· ·contribution, contribution means a donation of

18· ·property that satisfies both of the following:· The

19· ·donation is made for the purpose of influencing any

20· ·of the following:· The nomination or election to

21· ·office of a candidate, the election of delegates to

22· ·a state constitutional convention, the outcome of a

23· ·public question.· The donation is accepted by any

24· ·of the following:· A candidate, a candidate's

25· ·committee, a regular party committee, a political
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·1· ·action committee, and legislative caucus committee.

·2· ·Whenever funds are transferred from one committee

·3· ·to another or a donation of funds to influence an

·4· ·election on a public question is accepted as a

·5· ·contribution, the accepting committee is considered

·6· ·to be receiving a contribution in the amount of the

·7· ·funds transferred.

·8· · · · And I could keep reading, but I'll just tell

·9· ·you that there's not anything in there that, to me,

10· ·makes this contribution work on a 1990s system.

11· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So if that's the case, does

12· ·the Division want to withdraw this complaint?

13· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· I don't believe we can because

14· ·we are staff and we cannot make that decision;

15· ·therefore, we have to bring it to you as the

16· ·Commission to make that decision.

17· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· If I might, Madam Chair, I'm

18· ·not disagreeing with Matthew or Valerie.· Matthew

19· ·and I have gone around and around on this

20· ·particular issue.· Whether it is a computer system

21· ·or a paper CFA-4 document, it is still income, and

22· ·that income has to be reported.· So if you were not

23· ·filing it electronically and you were on paper, you

24· ·would have to report that refund of $85,000 on

25· ·paper.
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·1· · · · Now, I agree it's not a contribution because

·2· ·it's not used to effectuate the support or defeat

·3· ·of a public question, but, to me, there's a larger

·4· ·issue here that perhaps the legislature needs to

·5· ·tackle to create a different schedule where it is

·6· ·not a contribution, where it is something like a

·7· ·refund so that, one, our 1990s computer system

·8· ·won't trigger these reports to do different

·9· ·filings, but also address these rare instances

10· ·where you have a refund that is not a contribution,

11· ·because at the end of the day, that $85,000 impacts

12· ·their bank account, it impacts their cash on hand,

13· ·and it needs to be organized in such a way.

14· ·Matthew might argue with me, because he has, that

15· ·it's an unitemized contribution, but I see how you

16· ·can say with a straight face $85,000 is an

17· ·unitemized contribution.

18· · · · So I appreciate Ms. Doyle bringing forward

19· ·this very novel legal question and whether or not

20· ·it should be considered a contribution or not, but,

21· ·to me, there's a bigger issue at play that the

22· ·Commission can't decide today necessarily about

23· ·what to do, but I do think it's a larger question

24· ·to bring to the legislature to determine how you

25· ·classify this type of income.
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·1· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Madam Chair, can I -- if I could

·2· ·ask anyone in the room that wants to answer except

·3· ·the guys from VSTOP.· When I am entering in the

·4· ·system, there's a drop-down.

·5· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yeah.

·6· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· And something is either direct,

·7· ·unitemized, or interest.· Is there a selection for

·8· ·refund?· I don't remember.

·9· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· No.· There's a selection for

10· ·other, and I think it was -- I don't have it in

11· ·front of me, but I believe it was entered as other,

12· ·refund and explanation.

13· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· So let me ask, since there is

14· ·specifically an interest selection in the

15· ·drop-down, if I had $1,000 of interest in the stub

16· ·reporting period, would I have to file for an over

17· ·$1,000?

18· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· It would trigger the CFA-11.

19· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· It would trigger the CFA-11?

20· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes, yes.

21· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Okay.· That doesn't make a damn

22· ·bit of sense to me.

23· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· That's a good question.  I

24· ·had two other hypotheticals that would go into this

25· ·bucket that are not refunds, so it doesn't sound
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·1· ·like you have any accusers here among the staff, so

·2· ·I won't accuse you either.· But if you went to

·3· ·Walmart as a campaign and you bought something for

·4· ·$10 and you handed the cashier a $20 bill and then

·5· ·you left, went to the parking lot, the cashier came

·6· ·out and gave you $10 back, is that a contribution?

·7· ·I don't think there's anybody that would say that's

·8· ·a contribution even though there's money that's

·9· ·going back to the committee.

10· · · · I'll give you another example.· A lot of big

11· ·committees get credit cards, and some of these

12· ·American Express credit cards, if you spend

13· ·$10,000, you're going to get $1,000 back.· It's a

14· ·standard contractual thing.· I would say that I

15· ·can't imagine anybody saying that a reduction of

16· ·your credit card bill by $1,000 from American

17· ·Express by opening a credit card would be a

18· ·contribution.

19· · · · And so there's got to be a way to address

20· ·these sorts of scenarios where money is coming to a

21· ·campaign but it does not define contribution.  I

22· ·appreciate you bringing this up, writing a brief

23· ·explaining it.· I think there needs to be some

24· ·legislative fix here that doesn't flag us.

25· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I'm curious, is there
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·1· ·a way -- it's been a long time since I filled out

·2· ·one of these reports, thank goodness, but I

·3· ·remember -- well, because you were talking about

·4· ·the expense.· So there are the expenses of the

·5· ·campaign, the expenses of the campaign, expenses of

·6· ·the PAC, whatever the entity is, you know, like the

·7· ·office paying for rent or whatever.· Is there a

·8· ·way, when you're entering that type -- well, I

·9· ·guess can negative numbers be entered?

10· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· No.

11· · · · MS. DOYLE:· No.

12· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· See, that would

13· ·alleviate that.· I'm thinking, yeah, you enter a

14· ·negative because that would -- the theme this year

15· ·is the computer system.

16· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.

17· · · · MR. KING:· Madam Chair, the Commission has

18· ·identified an ongoing skirmish in the battle

19· ·between humanity and technology.· But let me

20· ·address that with another general legal principle

21· ·that I think is relevant here, and that is, because

22· ·the statute involved here raises the possibility of

23· ·penalty being imposed, there is abundant case law

24· ·which says that, if there's any ambiguity, that

25· ·ambiguity has to be construed in favor of the
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·1· ·individual entity and against the State with regard

·2· ·to imposing a penalty.· And so I would bring that

·3· ·to the attention of the Commission for

·4· ·consideration.

·5· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I was going to say -- well,

·6· ·let me real quick, Brittany, I feel like we didn't

·7· ·give you a chance to say anything.

·8· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Yeah, you don't get

·9· ·to talk.· Sorry.

10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So let's back up just a

11· ·minute before we make our decision.

12· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Start the five-minute

13· ·clock right now.

14· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Go.

15· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Is there anything -- I just

16· ·wanted to give you due time so you can break in.

17· · · · MS. DOYLE:· No problem.· I'll take any

18· ·questions you have on the memo I submitted, but I

19· ·don't have any additional presentation at this

20· ·time.

21· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Can you state your name for --

22· · · · MS. DOYLE:· Brittany Doyle.

23· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We literally got nowhere at

24· ·the beginning.

25· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· I would just like to put on the
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·1· ·record, because Valerie did say that she didn't

·2· ·want to speak for me, I have had a chance to read

·3· ·the memo.· I have studied the issue since the

·4· ·committee.· I do agree what was in the memo, what

·5· ·constitutes a contribution, and so I do want to say

·6· ·that I agree with my counterpart.

·7· · · · I would also like to say to Commissioner

·8· ·Westercamp that I have notes now duly noted for

·9· ·myself, my co-counsel, if you or any other

10· ·commissioners ask for a briefing before we continue

11· ·a matter, we will have that memo for you or whoever

12· ·requested it, obviously subject to going through

13· ·our bosses, the co-directors.· So I will state for

14· ·myself personally, I do apologize that we did not

15· ·answer your call from the last meeting.· It will

16· ·not happen again.

17· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Thank you.· And as a general

18· ·matter -- I know that people are playing the home

19· ·game -- if there's unique circumstances that aren't

20· ·factual, like the dog ate my homework sort of

21· ·thing, that are legal, I found it extremely

22· ·helpful, because when people come up, you get five

23· ·minutes to think about something and decide

24· ·something.· Ms. Doyle came at the end of like an

25· ·all-day meeting, and so it was enormously helpful.
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·1· · · · If somebody wants to submit a brief on a legal

·2· ·matter, if a reasonable length or a reasonable time

·3· ·before the meeting, like seven days before a

·4· ·meeting, I'll read it and consider it if it's a

·5· ·legal issue.· If it's a factual thing, the dog ate

·6· ·my homework, probably won't be persuasive.· But I

·7· ·wanted to put that out there for repeat players

·8· ·that it will give us a little bit more time to

·9· ·think about issues that come up like this one.

10· · · · MS. DOYLE:· Thank you, Commissioner.

11· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· And just so I'm on the right

12· ·page, what page is this?

13· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Page 17.

14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I'm sorry.· I feel like you

15· ·already said that.· Okay.

16· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I would move that

17· ·we -- so I forget.· Are we dismissing, waiving?

18· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Dismissing.

19· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I would move that we

20· ·dismiss the proposed fine.

21· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I second that.

22· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We have a motion and a second

23· ·to dismiss the proposed fine.· All those in favor

24· ·signify by saying "aye."

25· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.
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·1· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

·2· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

·3· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."

·4· · · · Motion passes.

·5· · · · MS. DOYLE:· Thank you very much.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.

·7· · · · Okay.· Any other -- I think we've made it

·8· ·through that portion.· Okay.· So I think we are

·9· ·through the enforcement portion of our meeting.· So

10· ·on the issue of continuances, would the campaign

11· ·finance staff identify any matters for which a

12· ·motion of continuance was received for today's

13· ·meeting.

14· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Yes.· Madam Chair, we have a

15· ·motion to reconsider.· It's A Better Option.· It's

16· ·Cause No. 2025-7921-279.· It was --

17· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· What page is that?· I'm

18· ·sorry.· Oh, right here.· Six, page 6?

19· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Yes, 6.

20· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· I'm sorry.· Go ahead.

21· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· This is a motion to reconsider.

22· ·It was a committee that received the letter in

23· ·January with the wrong dates, and he took it before

24· ·the Secretary of State's office instead of coming

25· ·through our office at the beginning.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I know there was some email

·2· ·communication in our binders there.

·3· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Yeah.

·4· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Where in the binders?

·5· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Page 6 and then he wrote an email

·6· ·under the pink tab -- blue tab.

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yeah.· I noticed here.

·8· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· We had six or seven -- I don't

·9· ·remember the exact number -- committees at the last

10· ·hearing where we sent the notice with the -- I

11· ·mailed the 2020 notice instead of the '24 notice,

12· ·so we had the January 20th deadline from 2021

13· ·instead of the 15th.

14· · · · So he had reached out to Kegan and the

15· ·Secretary's office from the jump.· We didn't know

16· ·any of this.· And Kegan called him after the

17· ·hearing to ask why he was not dismissed with

18· ·everyone else at the hearing, but, again, I don't

19· ·know Kegan.· I can't pick him out of a lineup of

20· ·one.· So we would ask for this one to also be

21· ·dismissed and apologize for having missed it the

22· ·first time.

23· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· But the first hearing he just

24· ·didn't show up?

25· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Right.
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·1· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· And I believe that's because he

·2· ·had spoken to the Secretary of State's office,

·3· ·which is a separate --

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· But that's his fault, not the

·5· ·fault of the Commission.

·6· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· That is fair.· I do believe the

·7· ·Secretary of State's staffer may have given him bad

·8· ·advice.· I just want to put that on the record.

·9· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.

10· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Many people do not understand

11· ·the Division is not part of the Secretary of

12· ·State's office.

13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sure.· So he didn't show up

14· ·for the first one because this email right here is

15· ·dated the 24th, which we met on the 23rd.

16· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Right, yes.· He called us both on

17· ·the 24th to let us know that Kegan had informed him

18· ·he was not dismissed at the hearing.

19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· What does he mention here,

20· ·"I'm not sure why my complaints via phone were not

21· ·recorded by your office"?

22· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· I believe that's him speaking to

23· ·the Secretary of State staff.

24· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sorry.· Okay.· Again --

25· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· No, no, no.· He was very
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·1· ·confused and very upset with the Election Division

·2· ·because he had been speaking to the Secretary of

·3· ·State's office, which I don't believe explained the

·4· ·difference of the Division and that they were not

·5· ·involved in this and may have given bad advice.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· And then so for today he

·7· ·references then this is this morning.

·8· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.· We were going to ask for

·9· ·this to be dismissed because, again, it was what we

10· ·had goofed on, but I told him to go ahead and ask

11· ·for a continuance because he called this morning

12· ·and he was very sick.· And I said ask for the

13· ·continuance because, if we don't get it dismissed,

14· ·we'll have it continued and on the next agenda.

15· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes.

16· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· I have a question for staff,

17· ·and this may lead to a second question.· Was the

18· ·final notice of penalty -- or the notice of -- no,

19· ·let me go back.· The final order imposing a fine in

20· ·the stack that was approved by the Commission at

21· ·the beginning of the meeting, are they in that

22· ·stack?

23· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.

24· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Yes, it is.

25· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Okay.· So that goes to my
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·1· ·second one.· You have fully completed the

·2· ·requirements under AOPA to fine this committee.· If

·3· ·you want to grant his continuance for his motion to

·4· ·reconsider, I'm going to say this:· You may want to

·5· ·think about essentially pulling his final order and

·6· ·not issuing it.

·7· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Just because at the last meeting

·8· ·I do believe that we dismissed these complaints.

·9· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· The other six, yes.

10· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· The other six were all

11· ·dismissed, so I would say to be consistent, the

12· ·motion would be to dismiss, if that was the will of

13· ·the Commission.

14· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Reconsider.

15· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Yes, sure.

16· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· First they have to reconsider --

17· ·Angie is correct -- but then a motion to dismiss.

18· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· I'd like to clarify my

19· ·questions and comments.· Those are meant for if you

20· ·were taking up his request for a continuance in

21· ·case you wanted to hear from this committee at a

22· ·future meeting as you took up the motion to

23· ·reconsider.

24· · · · But if you do feel that you have enough

25· ·evidence to act, then, yes, Valerie is absolutely



Page 80
·1· ·right because we just did one for a committee many

·2· ·minutes ago.

·3· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Yes, yes.

·4· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So when we voted on this at

·5· ·the last meeting, we dismissed a bunch of similarly

·6· ·situated cases.

·7· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Correct.

·8· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Why was his not incorporated

·9· ·in that?· Was it because he was not physically

10· ·present?

11· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· No.

12· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· He had been speaking to the

13· ·Secretary's office and not the Division, so we did

14· ·not know.

15· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· We didn't know about it.· He got

16· ·bad advice from the Secretary's office.

17· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Got it.· Got it.

18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So at this point all we knew

19· ·was he just didn't show up; correct?

20· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.

21· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We didn't have any

22· ·supporting --

23· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· We did not have the information

24· ·that he had given to the Secretary's office.

25· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Of the 130 pages of that hearing,
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·1· ·he was on one of the pages.· We pulled out six

·2· ·other pages of those six committees.

·3· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So Valerie's point is to be

·4· ·consistent we would --

·5· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Correct.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· If the original argument is

·7· ·the date on the letter, we would dismiss.

·8· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So I would move to

·9· ·reconsider the order --

10· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Correct.

11· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· -- imposing the fine.

12· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I'd second that motion.

13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So we have a motion

14· ·and a second to reconsider.· All those in favor

15· ·signify by saying "aye."

16· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

17· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

18· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."

20· · · · Motion passes.

21· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· And I would move that

22· ·we dismiss the fine based on the fact that he falls

23· ·into the category of the folks who got the

24· ·misleading letter.

25· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Second.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So we have a motion

·2· ·and a second to dismiss the fine.· All those in

·3· ·favor signify by saying "aye."

·4· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

·5· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

·6· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."

·8· · · · Motion passes.

·9· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Okay.· And we do have

10· ·continuances.· There were four committees who are

11· ·asking for a second continuance.· They had

12· ·continuances granted at the September 23rd hearing.

13· ·The first is Hancock County for Progress.· They had

14· ·three causes, 2025-7277-60, -151, and -349; Martin

15· ·Del Rio for Indiana, Cause Nos. 2025-7610-96 and

16· ·-253; Committee to Elect Shemanski, Cause

17· ·No. 2025-7642-101; and Jay County Democrats, Cause

18· ·No. 2025-7838-292 and -323.· They are all asking

19· ·for a second continuance.

20· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Are there any that the staff

21· ·opposed?

22· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· No.

23· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· On that, just for

24· ·clarification because I'm new, is there reason

25· ·given or we just sort of blanket approve those?
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·1· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Their emails are under the blue

·2· ·tab kind of explaining why they're asking for

·3· ·another continuance.

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Each one is obviously

·5· ·different.

·6· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.· They're separate.· Some are

·7· ·two pages.· Most are just --

·8· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· In the past, once

·9· ·they've gotten two requests, haven't we said okay,

10· ·if we grant it, but really next time you need to be

11· ·here, that this is it?

12· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.· Historically the Commission

13· ·will grant the second continuance as a final

14· ·continuance, has been what we've done for the last

15· ·few years.

16· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I move for a continuance of

17· ·all the committees that were just referenced.

18· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Second.

19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So we have a motion

20· ·and a second to grant those continuances that were

21· ·mentioned.· All those in favor signify by saying

22· ·"aye."

23· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

24· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

25· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."

·2· · · · Motion passes.

·3· · · · Okay.· Defaults --

·4· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Hang on.

·5· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· I believe someone just walked in.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Would you like to come

·7· ·up and have a seat.· Mr. Kochevar will need to

·8· ·swear you in.

·9· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Please raise your right hand

10· ·and say "I do" after recitation of the oath.

11· · · · Do you solemnly swear or affirm, under the

12· ·penalties of perjury, that the testimony you are

13· ·about to give to the Indiana Election Commission is

14· ·the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the

15· ·truth?

16· · · · MS. HATCHER:· I do.

17· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Thank you.

18· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Thank you.

19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· If you could please state

20· ·your name and spell it for us.

21· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Ragen Hatcher, R-a-g-e-n,

22· ·H-a-t-c-h-e-r.

23· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Madam Chairman, members of the

24· ·Commission, this is on pages 12 and 13.· The first

25· ·is Cause No. 2025-7150-393 with a proposed civil
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·1· ·penalty of $350.68.· The second is Cause

·2· ·No. 2025-7150-394 with a proposed civil penalty of

·3· ·$350.68.· This is their third time before the

·4· ·Commission.

·5· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So you were not here

·6· ·when we started.

·7· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Yes.

·8· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So I will quickly -- or if

·9· ·you want to, I can defer to our vice chair.· We did

10· ·sort of go through with other members that were at

11· ·this hearing, we have been offering sort of what

12· ·we'll call a deal to different committees for

13· ·campaigns.

14· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Okay.

15· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· If you want to forgo this

16· ·hearing portion, you could take the deal, which

17· ·means it would be 75 percent of the proposed

18· ·penalty if just accepting the delinquencies, and

19· ·you would pay 75 percent of the fine and waive this

20· ·hearing.

21· · · · MS. HATCHER:· I'm not sure if -- I read

22· ·through the statute.· I'm not sure if my reasoning

23· ·is a good enough reason to be dismissed or not

24· ·dismissed.· And so both of my issues are because I

25· ·didn't file the supplemental report for the over



Page 86
·1· ·$1,000.· And it's because of the date that I used

·2· ·and not necessarily the date that I received it but

·3· ·the date that was on the check itself when I filed

·4· ·my report.

·5· · · · Since that time and since this last issue,

·6· ·which occurred in 2023 for 2024, the Indiana

·7· ·Democratic -- we had kind of a meeting about how to

·8· ·fill out the reports best, and I had been

·9· ·apparently using the wrong date.

10· · · · If that is not sufficient for the reason that

11· ·it was filed late even though from the time I

12· ·received it it went into the system within

13· ·24 hours, not from the time the check was written

14· ·did it go into the system within 24 hours, I think

15· ·that will be my only question because that's my

16· ·only defense, that I'm putting it in based on the

17· ·date on the check and not on the date I received

18· ·it.· And I only do that because it keeps things

19· ·easier for me when I am going through my reports

20· ·and filling out reports for the biannual -- on the

21· ·biannual basis.· It's just different with the

22· ·$1,000 ones because they have to be in within a

23· ·certain time.

24· · · · So I'm not quite sure what to do.

25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So obviously we want to
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·1· ·engage in discussion.· So I would say, if it's

·2· ·okay, maybe for clarification if we could sort of

·3· ·back up and you describe to us, if that's okay.

·4· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So before we take up your

·5· ·matter, what we've done with other campaign

·6· ·committees is that they've had to decide are they

·7· ·going to take a deal.· In this case, you would get

·8· ·a 25 percent haircut on what you owe.

·9· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· This is her third time,

10· ·right, so it would be 75 percent.

11· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· The haircut is 25 percent.

12· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Oh, yes.· I'm sorry.· Yeah.

13· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· We're saying the same thing.

14· ·You've got to pay 75 percent.· You would get a

15· ·25 percent reduction.

16· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Got you.

17· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· If you do that, then we're

18· ·done.· If you want to take your chances and make a

19· ·case to us, you just need to decide that now.

20· · · · MS. HATCHER:· I'd like to take my chances

21· ·then.

22· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Okay.· You're forgoing the

23· ·deal?

24· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Yes.· Thank you.· And thank you

25· ·for the offer.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So let's start over.

·2· ·You have five minutes for your portion.· So you

·3· ·just tell us a little more clearly what happened.

·4· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Thank you.· First, I've been in

·5· ·politics for a while, but going back to county

·6· ·where we were filing the county, I was a city

·7· ·councilman.· This is -- since 2019, and I suspect

·8· ·it's probably the first time, I can't recall the

·9· ·first time I was in front of the Commission, but I

10· ·think it was for a late report.· It wasn't for this

11· ·situation.

12· · · · But when I do my reports, I go back, I pull

13· ·out all my checks, and I put in the date that the

14· ·check is written, the written date of the check,

15· ·and not the date that I deposit it.· About a year

16· ·ago, after this last one, I started writing and

17· ·using the date that I actually pick it up from the

18· ·P.O. Box and I actually put in the deposit.· So if

19· ·you look at my newer records, you'll see a number

20· ·of checks are received on the very same day.· It's

21· ·the day that I pick them up and the day that I

22· ·deposit them into the bank.· Going back here,

23· ·though, I was still using the date of the check

24· ·when I came and wrote my final report out to submit

25· ·to the State for processing.
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·1· · · · So I know that's what the problem is.· I know

·2· ·that's where the mistake lies.· But as I said

·3· ·before, that seems like a mistake that's more on my

·4· ·end than on the Commission's end, and so I'm just

·5· ·asking for -- especially since I have corrected the

·6· ·problem now and understand what the issue is.· I do

·7· ·have all checks go to my P.O. Box.· None of them

·8· ·come straight to my house.· I usually pick that up,

·9· ·especially during election season, at least once a

10· ·week, sometimes it may be once every two weeks, but

11· ·yes.

12· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So the issue is that

13· ·you -- so if a check is dated December 1st, you

14· ·received it December 15th, but you're entering it

15· ·into the lovely antiquated system we keep talking

16· ·about --

17· · · · MS. HATCHER:· I'm glad I didn't say it.

18· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· -- with the

19· ·December 1st date, is what you're saying?

20· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Yes, the date that's actually on

21· ·the check.

22· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Okay.· So do you have

23· ·records indicating -- for these checks that

24· ·prompted these penalties, do you have anything

25· ·indicating when you received those particular
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·1· ·checks?

·2· · · · MS. HATCHER:· So not necessarily.· Like I

·3· ·don't have anything that says I went to the P.O.

·4· ·Box on this day and picked this check up.· But I

·5· ·think what you will see is that the date that's on

·6· ·the actual check is the date that's being used to

·7· ·submit to the State.

·8· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· And I guess we don't

·9· ·have that.

10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We don't have that.

11· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· We don't have copies of any

12· ·checks for anything.

13· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So the staff's position is

14· ·that the date that should have been used for the

15· ·representative is the date that the money hit the

16· ·bank account?

17· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· The date that she deposited the

18· ·check to the bank account.

19· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· And you obviously have bank

20· ·statements that would show that; right?

21· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Right.· So the one that I

22· ·suspect that we're talking about, I think it's the

23· ·one --

24· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· It says there's one

25· ·from Thomas Cappas and one from Greater Gary PAC.
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·1· · · · MS. HATCHER:· So I have Cappas.· It says 5/1.

·2· ·That's the date it was written.

·3· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· And you put 5/2 in the system,

·4· ·neither here nor there.

·5· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Okay.· And 5/2 was probably --

·6· ·that was the date that I deposited it.· And then

·7· ·what is this?· Greater Gary, so Greater Gary is

·8· ·4/30.

·9· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· You also have 5/2.· So that

10· ·probably is the date you deposited them.

11· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Yeah.· So where would the

12· ·problem come in?

13· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· You entered them in the system as

14· ·received on May 2nd.· You didn't file the report

15· ·until May 12th.· They were due May 4th, but that

16· ·fell on a Saturday, so it rolled to May 6th.

17· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Yes.· So maybe I do have a bit

18· ·of a problem here.

19· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Abbey, which report are you

20· ·speaking about specifically?

21· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· This is the CFA-11.

22· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Due in 2024, 2023?

23· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Due May 6th of 2024.

24· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Forty-eight hours from?

25· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Forty-eight hours from receipt.
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·1· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Okay.· And what was the filing

·2· ·window for the 2024 CFA-11?

·3· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· The 2024 CFA-11 was April -- let

·4· ·me look at a calendar.· April 13, 2024, through

·5· ·May 5, 2024.

·6· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Okay.

·7· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· That was the five minutes.

·8· · · · MS. HATCHER:· I don't know if I have a good

·9· ·one for this then.· I thought that was the ones

10· ·that I was using the date of deposit for.· And is

11· ·it because I have my --

12· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· So these were due within 48 hours

13· ·of receipt, which would have been May 6th because

14· ·the 4th was a weekend, and you didn't file these

15· ·until the 12th.

16· · · · MS. HATCHER:· So I do have a problem.· Okay.

17· ·So I need to pay the fine.

18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Questions or thoughts on

19· ·this?

20· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I would move to impose the

21· ·penalty -- or is penalty the right word?· Okay.

22· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Can I pay one penalty instead of

23· ·two penalties since they both happened on the same

24· ·report?· It's the same report, same dates.

25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Unfortunately, it's a penalty
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·1· ·on each.

·2· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Okay.

·3· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· I'm sorry.· So we have

·4· ·a motion on the floor, and yours would be to impose

·5· ·the fine at 100 percent.

·6· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Yes.

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Which for each one it's $350,

·8· ·and it says the mail cost on both were 68 cents.

·9· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.

10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Do we have any discussion or

11· ·a second?

12· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Is there a second?

13· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Can I ask when that will be due?

14· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Hang on just a second.

15· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· We're discussing the matter.

16· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Oh, okay.

17· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Second.

18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So we have a motion

19· ·and a second on the penalty, again, being $350 for

20· ·each violation and 68 cents mail cost for each.

21· ·All those in favor signify by saying "aye."

22· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

23· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

24· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."
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·1· · · · Motion passes.

·2· · · · As far as the payment, once this is processed,

·3· ·then we'd have to accept all these at the next

·4· ·meeting.

·5· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· And then we'll adopt the orders,

·6· ·and then we will mail the orders, and then they

·7· ·each have a 30-day window for payment.· You'll have

·8· ·some time.

·9· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Okay.

10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So it's a little bit of time.

11· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Okay.· Is that it?

12· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes.· Thank you very much.

13· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· It's no consolation, but I'm old

14· ·enough to have worked with Richard Hatcher and

15· ·enjoyed that.

16· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Well, I'm sure he's unhappy with

17· ·me today.· So thank you.

18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you very much.· Okay.

19· ·Any others?· I don't think so.

20· · · · Okay.· So we dealt with the continuances.· On

21· ·the issue of any defaults, is anyone present to

22· ·testify on any remaining campaign finance hearings

23· ·scheduled for today?

24· · · · If not, I declare the hearings on all

25· ·remaining campaign finance matters scheduled for
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·1· ·today closed.· Is there a motion to impose the

·2· ·entire amount --

·3· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Can I just ask one question?

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes.

·5· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So I think Senator Young was

·6· ·here last time speaking several times.· Did he ask

·7· ·for a continuance?

·8· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· We have not heard from him since

·9· ·that hearing.· He and I worked at the back and got

10· ·it all situated to match up ours with his, and we

11· ·have not heard since.

12· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· But you sent him notice today

13· ·of the thing?

14· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes, yes.

15· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· And the General Assembly is

16· ·not in session.

17· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Correct.

18· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So we just have nothing from

19· ·him.

20· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· And, again, since I'm new and

21· ·I know John is newer to the committee, how are

22· ·those things handled if there is no communication?

23· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Just like the rest of these

24· ·causes, they'll get the full fine imposed.

25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· And then after today
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·1· ·those notifications get mailed?

·2· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Once we meet again and we adopt

·3· ·the orders, then we'll mail them.

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.

·5· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Madam Chairman, though, just

·6· ·for you both, the committee can still file a motion

·7· ·to reconsider --

·8· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.

·9· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· -- even after the fines are

10· ·assessed.· So Senator Young or any other committee

11· ·that is in default today, once they receive that

12· ·order, they can request a motion to reconsider,

13· ·similar to what we had happen earlier today.

14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· And we do give deference to

15· ·that.

16· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.

17· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So do we need to vote

18· ·on the defaults?· Yes.· Okay.· I just want to make

19· ·sure.· Thank you.

20· · · · Okay.· Is there a motion to impose the entire

21· ·amount of the proposed penalty plus mailing costs

22· ·in all remaining campaign finance enforcement

23· ·actions?

24· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So moved.

25· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Second.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Further discussion?

·2· · · · All in favor of the motion please signify by

·3· ·saying "aye."

·4· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

·5· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

·6· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed say "nay."

·8· · · · The "ayes" have it, and the motion to impose

·9· ·the penalty is adopted.

10· · · · Okay.· So this part of our hearing is

11· ·completed.· We're going to move on to the voting

12· ·system approval protocols report.· The Chair

13· ·recognizes the Co-Directors to provide a report

14· ·regarding the protocols for the Commission to

15· ·consider applications for approval of a new voting

16· ·system.· The chair will then recognize

17· ·representatives of the Voting Systems Technical

18· ·Advisory Program, VSTOP, to provide information

19· ·regarding the proposed 2025 protocols for voting

20· ·system approval.

21· · · · MR. KING:· Thank you.· Madam Chair, members of

22· ·the Commission, I think it's important,

23· ·particularly for those who may not have been

24· ·present at the last meeting, to review the sequence

25· ·in which these two categories of voting systems
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·1· ·generally fall under.· There is a process for

·2· ·recertification of a voting system that has been

·3· ·approved at some point during the previous

·4· ·four-year cycle.· Each cycle ends on October 1st

·5· ·following a presidential election year.

·6· · · · Because there were changes made during the

·7· ·2025 General Assembly that had potential impact on

·8· ·voting system standards, the Commission, at its

·9· ·previous meeting, adopted amendments to the

10· ·existing protocols to reflect those legislative

11· ·changes.· However, there are voting systems that

12· ·will be brought forward presumably, depending upon

13· ·the due diligence of the vendor and the

14· ·availability of the Voting System Technical

15· ·Oversight Program to review once submitted, that

16· ·would come under new 2025 protocols, as I will use

17· ·as a shorthand designation.

18· · · · Those 2025 protocols were reviewed by myself

19· ·and my counterpart and by Co-Counsel and provided

20· ·to VSTOP.· And so at this point for VSTOP to do its

21· ·work for the November 10th meeting, the 2025

22· ·protocols are the documents before the Commission,

23· ·and I believe they're included in your binder

24· ·material.

25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I think the blue tab;
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·1· ·correct?

·2· · · · MR. KING:· And then I'll defer to our

·3· ·counterparts to add and supplement.

·4· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Yes.· And I would probably

·5· ·defer over to Co-Director Nussmeyer, but this just

·6· ·a matter of how you consider this.· This new

·7· ·protocol has new procedures for VSTOP to test, as

·8· ·Mr. King said, on changes in 2025, the biggest

·9· ·being ballot retraction.

10· · · · But while we still have today and on

11· ·November 10th renewal of voting systems currently

12· ·pending, I would recommend that, if you do adopt

13· ·this today, that you make it very clear that this

14· ·protocol, this amendment, applies to any new voting

15· ·system and any what we call modifications or

16· ·changes to voting systems that are approved for use

17· ·in Indiana, I'm going to say, after November 10,

18· ·2025.· That is so that we don't have, say,

19· ·procedurally, maybe possibly legally, issues with

20· ·the three ES&S systems that are pending renewal.

21· ·But that, I believe, will be on the agenda on the

22· ·November 10th meeting next Monday.· So I'd like to

23· ·just state that as you consider that and consider

24· ·your motion.

25· · · · I'll defer over to Co-Director Nussmeyer on
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·1· ·anything about the protocols or anything else you

·2· ·may want to add on my point.

·3· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· If I might, Madam Chair, this

·4· ·is actually a question for VSTOP, so I don't know

·5· ·if Spencer or Dr. Kinsella.

·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· If you all want to come up

·7· ·and state your names, if that's appropriate.· Let's

·8· ·do that.

·9· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Spencer Drumm, D-r-u-m-m.

10· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Into the microphone so that

11· ·those watching online can hear it.

12· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Spencer Drumm.

13· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Thank you.

14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· And maybe for me too, those

15· ·of us that are new, who you are with and maybe your

16· ·titles, just a little more background.

17· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Yes.· I'm with VSTOP.· I'm a

18· ·certification specialist for voting systems.

19· · · · MR. CHATOT:· Marc Chatot.· That's M-a-r-c,

20· ·C-h-a-t-o-t.· I'm the program manager at VSTOP.

21· · · · MR. KINSELLA:· Chad Kinsella, K-i-n-s-e-l-l-a,

22· ·co-director and associate professor.

23· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.

24· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· So if I may, for today, both

25· ·Unisyn and MicroVote were tested under the 2021
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·1· ·standard with the revision that we did at the

·2· ·September meeting; correct?

·3· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Correct.

·4· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· The 2025 revision.· For the

·5· ·November 10th meeting potentially, we will have

·6· ·ES&S.· Now, ES&S has two recertifications, and a

·7· ·third is a new system that was tested in February

·8· ·of 2024 that they then were retested under the 2021

·9· ·protocol with the addendum made from the September

10· ·meeting; correct?

11· · · · MR. DRUMM:· There's three systems.

12· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· But two are recertification

13· ·and one is a new system.

14· · · · MR. DRUMM:· No.· There's four total.

15· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· There's four all day.· Okay.

16· ·Correct.

17· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Yeah.

18· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· So three recertifications --

19· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Correct.

20· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· -- one new, all of them under

21· ·the 2021 amendment.

22· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Correct.

23· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Okay, for testing.· Hart has

24· ·also applied, but they have applied for a new

25· ·voting system.
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·1· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Correct.

·2· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Will they be on the agenda for

·3· ·November 10th?· I have not seen anything scheduled

·4· ·for a field test.

·5· · · · MR. DRUMM:· We haven't received a TDP from

·6· ·them, so we haven't gotten that far.

·7· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Okay.· So if I may at least

·8· ·make a recommendation to my members and the full

·9· ·Commission, I would recommend, to ensure that we

10· ·can get through the November 10th meeting with the

11· ·three systems that are here for recertification

12· ·plus the new system that is under the 2021

13· ·protocols, that perhaps we table the discussion for

14· ·the 2025 certification and do it at the

15· ·November 10th meeting so that it is clean, that it

16· ·is clear that the machines that are being tested

17· ·under the 2021 protocols, that that is still a

18· ·protocol that is ripe and usable for VSTOP.

19· · · · And then after the November 10th meeting, that

20· ·would be the last order of business, to adopt the

21· ·2025 protocols, so that when Hart does finish their

22· ·reporting to VSTOP, then they can be tested under

23· ·the new protocols, and any other system.· It's one

24· ·week, and that would be my suggestion or

25· ·recommendation to the full Commission, but I would
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·1· ·defer to my colleagues, of course.

·2· · · · MR. KING:· Madam Chair and members of the

·3· ·Commission, I appreciate my counterpart's

·4· ·delineation of the lots of moving parts that are in

·5· ·play here.· I think there's a couple points of

·6· ·concern.

·7· · · · I do want to add that the proposed protocols

·8· ·have been published on our website and then

·9· ·provided to vendors, and, to my knowledge, our

10· ·office has certainly not received any comments, and

11· ·I'm not aware of any comments that VSTOP received,

12· ·at least that took written form, from anyone.

13· · · · I think the only potential risk of mixing

14· ·apples and oranges here is that if, in fact, the

15· ·2025 protocols are not approved today but the

16· ·Commission decides on November 10th to make further

17· ·modifications for whatever reason, it then becomes

18· ·unclear whether the Commission could proceed with

19· ·the certification of new systems in accordance with

20· ·those 2025 protocols.· And so I think, again,

21· ·thinking back to 2021, when we had an initial

22· ·recertify by Election Division staff, the model we

23· ·brought forward to you was based on the procedures

24· ·used in 2021, the last time in this cycle this

25· ·process came up.
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·1· · · · And so I'm hearing this for the first time at

·2· ·this moment, so I haven't had time to fully think

·3· ·through all the potential alternatives, but I think

·4· ·instinctively, to me, it is more efficient, if the

·5· ·Commission is comfortable, to approve the 2025

·6· ·protocols today for purposes of VSTOP's work, and

·7· ·then, if further amendments or tweaks are

·8· ·identified, nothing precludes you from amending

·9· ·those on November 10th just in the same way that

10· ·you amended the 2021 protocols in September.· So

11· ·I'm, in essence, saying proceeding with the plan

12· ·that we originally brought forward to you as a way

13· ·to go forward.

14· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Well, if I may, this is also

15· ·my first opportunity to have a conversation about

16· ·the agenda, and so, when it comes to the testing

17· ·protocol, I don't see a reason why the Commission

18· ·can't have a conversation or discussion on the 2025

19· ·protocol and raise any issues that they may have

20· ·with the work the Division did and VSTOP in the

21· ·vendor review and identify places of concern and

22· ·direct staff to make amendments to the protocol and

23· ·then adopt the amended protocol one week from

24· ·today, which is November 10th.

25· · · · MR. KING:· And, Madam Chair, if I can briefly
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·1· ·respond.

·2· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sure.

·3· · · · MR. KING:· Again, I think the operative

·4· ·sequence here is that, so long as the 2025

·5· ·protocols are not deferred in their entirety until

·6· ·a week from today, November 10th, that gives VSTOP

·7· ·and the vendors and the potential county customers,

·8· ·depending upon what variety of contractual

·9· ·arrangement a vendor might have with a county, time

10· ·to address any concerns, to expeditiously approve

11· ·the system if it meets the qualification of the

12· ·statute.

13· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· But if I may, VSTOP just on

14· ·the record said that they have no system -- any

15· ·vendor that has applied for a new voting system

16· ·beyond the ES&S system that was requested under the

17· ·2021 protocols where a report was filed in February

18· ·of 2025.· Correct?· There is no other voting system

19· ·before VSTOP at this point that would be tested

20· ·under their revised 2025 protocols, so we would

21· ·not, in effect, be holding up your work or work for

22· ·the county; is that correct?

23· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Correct.

24· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Thank you.

25· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Well, I guess my
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·1· ·thought would be it seems odd to approve the 2025

·2· ·protocols now if it seems like we're contemplating

·3· ·the possibility that we may be somehow revising

·4· ·them in a week and if they're not going to be

·5· ·affecting anything that is being considered in the

·6· ·next week, which is what I'm hearing.

·7· · · · So it seems like I agree with Co-Director

·8· ·Nussmeyer that, if what we're contemplating -- it

·9· ·sounds like there is contemplation that there might

10· ·be revision to these protocols, so it seems like

11· ·that's something to discuss perhaps now but then to

12· ·take final action next week.· And I agree also it

13· ·sounds like it makes sense to avoid confusion as to

14· ·which protocols are in play at any given period of

15· ·time.

16· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Do you all have anything

17· ·you'd like to --

18· · · · MR. DRUMM:· To add to it?· I don't believe so.

19· · · · MR. CHATOT:· No.· No vendor reply.

20· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Yeah.· We got no replies from the

21· ·vendors other than they had no comments.

22· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· I do have a question.· We kept

23· ·hearing from ES&S specifically in Marion County

24· ·that they were concerned about being able to sell

25· ·equipment.· Does this -- and I'm not advocating for
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·1· ·any vendor.· Please don't take it as that.· But I

·2· ·did hear from them that they were concerned about

·3· ·being able to meet some deadlines of selling

·4· ·equipment to Marion County because Marion County

·5· ·needed new equipment.

·6· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· So if I might, this is the

·7· ·system that VSTOP provided a report to us in

·8· ·February of 2025 that had to then be

·9· ·re-field-tested under the amended protocol, which

10· ·VSTOP has done.· It is not on today's agenda.· So I

11· ·don't know exactly why ES&S is not part of today's

12· ·agenda.· Maybe that is something VSTOP can tell us.

13· ·But as soon as they can be on the agenda, then --

14· ·because Marion County, you're correct, a new

15· ·system, they can't market, sell, or lease it until

16· ·the Commission approves it.

17· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Okay.· And I was thinking, based

18· ·off what I had seen, we had talked -- Commissioner

19· ·Boyce had mentioned at the meeting a month ago that

20· ·we would put this up for 30 days, which we did, and

21· ·then we would come back at the November 10th

22· ·meeting to approve new systems.

23· · · · So just to make sure I'm clear, isn't that

24· ·what ES&S is asking for in the November 10th is to

25· ·approve their new system so they can sell it to
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·1· ·Marion County?

·2· · · · MR. DRUMM:· I don't know the Marion County

·3· ·part, but the 6500, yes.

·4· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Yeah.· So I just want to put

·5· ·that out there.

·6· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· But that is not accurate.

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· The what?

·8· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· The 6500 is a system.

·9· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· But that is not under the 2025

10· ·protocol because they were originally tested under

11· ·2021, and we met with ES&S, as you recall.

12· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Right.

13· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· And we said when that report

14· ·is amended to include the school board questions

15· ·and other things, that we would ask that they do a

16· ·field test on that portion only, can they do the

17· ·school board --

18· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Correct.

19· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· -- nonpartisan races and so on

20· ·and so forth.· That is a new system tested under

21· ·the 2021 protocols as amended at the September

22· ·meeting.· The 2025 protocols that are before us

23· ·right now are for new systems moving forward after

24· ·October 1, 2025.· So these protocols would not

25· ·apply to anything right now before VSTOP.· Hart
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·1· ·will be the first system on the 2025 protocols when

·2· ·and if they file.

·3· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Yes.

·4· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I move to move forward with

·5· ·the approval of the procedures -- the protocol,

·6· ·sorry, the 2025 protocol to be adopted.

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· I'd like to second

·8· ·that.

·9· · · · Okay.· So we have a motion and a second to

10· ·approve the proposed 2025 protocols.· All in favor

11· ·signify by saying "aye."

12· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Aye.

14· · · · Opposed "nay."

15· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Nay.

16· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Nay.

17· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So we have a two-two

18· ·vote.

19· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I move to exhaust

20· ·administrative remedies in the event of appeal to

21· ·court.

22· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I'll make a second.

23· · · · Any discussion?

24· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· I'm sorry.· That's the first

25· ·time I've ever heard the motion at a Commission
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·1· ·meeting, so I'm looking at my co-counsel who will

·2· ·help me.

·3· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· You're worried about the

·4· ·administrative remedies?

·5· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Yes, Commissioner Westercamp's

·6· ·motion.· Sorry.· I normally do AOPA here, so,

·7· ·again, as I stated in other meetings --

·8· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· It's the counterpart, yes.

·9· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Okay.· My apologies.

10· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· But in the past what we've

11· ·typically done is make the counter motion --

12· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Correct.

13· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· -- rather than doing it in a

14· ·more broad fashion, as you motioned.

15· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· It's still proper.· You're okay.

16· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Okay.

17· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So there's been a motion and

18· ·a second.· All those in favor signify by saying

19· ·"aye."

20· · · · Aye.

21· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

22· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."

23· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Nay.

24· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Nay.

25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· The motion fails since
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·1· ·it has not received the three votes required for

·2· ·the official action by the Commission.

·3· · · · Okay.· Voting system applications for

·4· ·recertification.· The Chair recognizes the Election

·5· ·Division Co-Counsels to provide information

·6· ·regarding the legal requirements applicable to a

·7· ·previously certified voting system whose

·8· ·certification expired October 1, 2025.

·9· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Sure.· Matthew, if you're okay,

10· ·I'll go ahead and start.

11· · · · So there's two statutes to look at, one for

12· ·ballot card voting systems, and that's going to be

13· ·Indiana Code 3-11-7-19; and then the code for

14· ·electronic voting systems is 3-11-7.5-82.· And

15· ·these provisions are generally the same, and what

16· ·they start out by saying is that all of our voting

17· ·systems expired on October 1, 2025, as Mr. King

18· ·explained earlier.

19· · · · Vendors may then send an application to the

20· ·Election Division to request renewal of their

21· ·system.· Once we get that, we, as the Election

22· ·Division, send it to the county clerks in the

23· ·counties who are using that system so that they

24· ·have an opportunity to speak up if something is not

25· ·working with that system.· And, in addition, the
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·1· ·Commission gets a report from VSTOP, which, I

·2· ·believe, is what is in all of your binders, and it

·3· ·indicates the hardware, firmware, software included

·4· ·in the application for renewal is identical to the

·5· ·previously approved certification.

·6· · · · And the Commission report also -- after

·7· ·receiving the Commission report, if you get any

·8· ·comments from interested persons, we would share

·9· ·those with you.· I do not believe we got any

10· ·comments at all, so there won't be any of those in

11· ·your binder.

12· · · · And then so once the Commission shall approve

13· ·the application if it complies with the standards

14· ·prescribed in this chapter, so under 3-11-7, and

15· ·that's in your binder report from VSTOP, if the

16· ·system has worked effectively if it's been used

17· ·previously, which we have had no comments from a

18· ·county saying that it wasn't working properly, and

19· ·then if it's been adequately supported by the

20· ·vendor, which, again, this is an opportunity for

21· ·the county to pipe up and say my vendor is not

22· ·supporting me and at this time we have none of

23· ·those comments, we have the report from VSTOP

24· ·recommending recertification.

25· · · · And, Mr. Kochevar, if there's anything else
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·1· ·you'd like to add, please do.

·2· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· First, I will say that I agree

·3· ·with my counterpart on her explanation of the

·4· ·statutes for renewal of voting systems.· I will

·5· ·also state that the necessary documentation were

·6· ·sent to the counties that are using the voting

·7· ·systems in question.· They were sent by Mr. McLain,

·8· ·who is sitting in the back over there, as well as

·9· ·myself because we had some large documents that we

10· ·had to share on One Drive.· You know how these

11· ·things work.

12· · · · I will note, and this will be more for your

13· ·agenda, that I just want to note there is an

14· ·engineering change order with the Unisyn renewal.

15· ·I'm going to use an assumption, and just based on

16· ·how the agenda is done, this is -- ECOs along with

17· ·renewals is nothing new.· This happens all the

18· ·time.· They're just something like a small change

19· ·in the voting system that's pending during renewal.

20· · · · I believe, because of how the agenda has been

21· ·ordered, that our past precedence has been, when

22· ·you have something like this before you, you want

23· ·to take up and make sure to approve the ECO first

24· ·and then approve the renewal.· VSTOP keeps great

25· ·notes for four years from now so, in case the
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·1· ·voting system comes back for renewal, they will

·2· ·keep track of this additional ECO as this was part

·3· ·of the system that was, in this case, subtly

·4· ·changed.· This is how we describe ECOs, there being

·5· ·de minimus changes.· So I just want to add on that

·6· ·extra note on top of my counterpart's excellent

·7· ·summary, and I have nothing further.

·8· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.

·9· · · · MR. KING:· And, Madam Chair, members of the

10· ·Commission, I would simply add I entirely agree

11· ·with Mr. Kochevar with regard to his

12· ·characterization of engineering change orders and

13· ·the rationale of having, in this case, what appears

14· ·to be a very mechanical, nonelectronic type of

15· ·change to a voting system be considered as part of

16· ·the process for recertification of the larger

17· ·system overall.

18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Thank you very much.

19· · · · The Chair will now recognize representatives

20· ·from VSTOP to provide information regarding the

21· ·voting systems whose vendors have filed

22· ·applications for recertification beginning with the

23· ·Unisyn OpenElect 2.2.2 ballot card voting system.

24· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Thank you, Madam Chairman.· Do you

25· ·want me to go over the ECO first?
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes, please.

·2· · · · MR. DRUMM:· So this is ECO NCC 1031, and it

·3· ·introduces a larger capacity 8 gig flash drive for

·4· ·in-field high-use cases where large ballot images

·5· ·can exceed the capacity of the 1 gig model.· ECO

·6· ·NCC 1031 does not adversely impact the

·7· ·functionality, performance, accessibility,

·8· ·usability, safety, or security of the components or

·9· ·the system or alter the overall configuration of

10· ·the certified system.· No change to firmware or

11· ·software is required.

12· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So I think --

13· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Is there any discussion from

14· ·other members on this?

15· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We will need a motion and a

16· ·second to adopt this change order.

17· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I move to approve the ECO

18· ·NCC 1031.

19· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Second.

20· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We have a motion and a

21· ·second.· All those in favor please signify by

22· ·saying "aye."

23· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

24· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

25· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."

·2· · · · Motion passes.

·3· · · · Okay.· So then next is the engineering change

·4· ·order.

·5· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· We just did the engineering

·6· ·change order.

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Oh, I'm sorry.

·8· ·Recertification.· On to the next one.· I'm sorry.

·9· ·Go ahead.

10· · · · MR. DRUMM:· The Unisyn OpenElect voting system

11· ·provides a complete system for election definition,

12· ·ballot printing, voting at the polls, as well as

13· ·early voting, handling absentee and provisional

14· ·ballots at the central site for tabulation,

15· ·accumulation, and reporting results.· The OVS is a

16· ·ballot precinct voting system that offers both

17· ·precinct and central tabulation.· The OVS consists

18· ·of the OpenElect Central Suite, or OCS, installed

19· ·at election headquarters location; the OpenElect

20· ·Voting Device, or OVD, for use at the polls or

21· ·early voting; and OpenElect Voting Central Scans,

22· ·or OVCS bulk scanners, for use at central

23· ·locations.

24· · · · This system was certified by the U.S. Election

25· ·Assistance Commission, EAC, on November 18 of 2021



Page 117
·1· ·and is in compliance with the Voluntary Voting

·2· ·System Guidelines 1.0.· This voting system is a

·3· ·modification of the OpenElect 2.1, which was

·4· ·certified in Indiana until that certification

·5· ·expired October 1st of 2021.· OpenElect 2.2 was

·6· ·certified on February 24, 2022, as a New Voting

·7· ·System, and it has -- ECO 3476 was a modification

·8· ·to OpenElect 2.2 that introduced changes to extend

·9· ·ballot insertion time to avoid jams, and that

10· ·updated the OpenElect version to 2.2.2 on

11· ·December 7th of 2022.

12· · · · This voting system was reviewed and

13· ·field-tested by using the Indiana Voting Systems

14· ·Certification Protocol approved by the Indiana

15· ·Election Commission on November 15th of 2021 and

16· ·tested to the updated sections in Amendment 1

17· ·version of the protocol approved on September 23rd

18· ·of 2025.· The review and testing included all

19· ·sections of the Protocol, including the recent

20· ·legislative requirements such as software hash

21· ·verification and review of the complete ballot

22· ·creation and deployment process.

23· · · · Per the requirements of the Protocol, this

24· ·report includes the completed Appendix A, the field

25· ·test; Appendix B, the accessibility testing;
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·1· ·Appendix F, procedures for renewal; Appendix G, the

·2· ·VSTOP certification checklist; and Appendix 8, the

·3· ·test ballot samples.

·4· · · · On the basis of VSTOP's review and evaluation,

·5· ·the voting system referenced herein, with the scope

·6· ·and certification, meets all the requirements of

·7· ·the Indiana Code for use in the state of Indiana.

·8· ·This finding includes compliance with the legal

·9· ·requirements for voters with disabilities.

10· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I move to recertify Unisyn

11· ·Voting Systems OpenElect 2.2.2.

12· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Second.

13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We have a motion and a second

14· ·for the recertification.· All those in favor

15· ·signify by saying -- oh, I apologize.

16· · · · Any question?

17· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Yeah.· Could we have

18· ·some discussion about it before we proceed with the

19· ·vote?

20· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sure.

21· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Did staff have any

22· ·comments about the recertification?

23· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· I just -- just for on the

24· ·record with VSTOP, to be clear, for the Unisyn

25· ·system, ballot retraction was not part of the
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·1· ·recertification, it was not tested, and the vendor

·2· ·is clear that ballot retraction, at least as

·3· ·currently being considered for recertification, is

·4· ·not part of what can be deployed in Indiana until

·5· ·such a time they supply new application and ask for

·6· ·testing under the 2025 protocols, whenever those

·7· ·are adopted?

·8· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Correct.

·9· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Thank you.· That was my

10· ·question.

11· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· That's what I was

12· ·going to ask.

13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Very good.· Any other

14· ·discussion, questions?

15· · · · MR. KING:· Madam Chair, members of the

16· ·Commission, if I can just add briefly to supplement

17· ·the remarks of my counterpart.· There was also

18· ·legislation regarding retraction adopted in the

19· ·2025 legislative session which is very complicated,

20· ·and I'll give you the executive summary for this

21· ·purpose, which was to say that in the version

22· ·signed into law, retraction ability was made

23· ·permissible.· It's authorized but not required for

24· ·each type of voting system used in Indiana with the

25· ·stated goal of not either benefiting or harming any
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·1· ·particular vendor based on the current nature of

·2· ·their product.

·3· · · · And so as a result, some systems like Unisyn,

·4· ·which do not have the ability to retract currently,

·5· ·were not subject to an additional requirement based

·6· ·on that new statute.

·7· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Right.· But if they

·8· ·do have a retraction -- if they try to have a

·9· ·retraction feature, they have to comply with the

10· ·requirements of the statute?

11· · · · MR. KING:· Yes, Commissioner, that is correct.

12· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Great.· Any other comments?

13· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· To add on to the answer to the

14· ·vice chair's question, I would also say in

15· ·addition, at least for this Unisyn system, they

16· ·would also need to seek a modification.· I want to

17· ·make that clear.· They must seek a modification

18· ·under law, come before this Commission to, I'm

19· ·going to use the words, turn on the ballot

20· ·retraction feature that is well-known among

21· ·election administrators is available in certain

22· ·Unisyn systems and that I can tell you and attest

23· ·that at least one circuit court clerk that uses

24· ·this Unisyn system is just dying to have it for

25· ·their elections.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.

·2· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· But, again, it's not

·3· ·part of this?

·4· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· It's not part of this.

·5· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I was going to say

·6· ·let's not confuse things.

·7· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Yes, yes, yes.

·8· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Any other questions,

·9· ·discussion?

10· · · · If not, we have a motion and a second on the

11· ·floor for this recertification.· So all those in

12· ·favor signify by saying "aye."

13· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

14· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

15· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

16· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."

17· · · · The motion is adopted, and the application for

18· ·recertification of this voting system is approved.

19· · · · Okay.· The Chair will now recognize VSTOP to

20· ·provide information regarding the application for

21· ·recertification of the MicroVote General

22· ·Corporation Direct Record Electronic Ballot System.

23· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Yes.· So EMS 4.4-IN is hardware,

24· ·including the VVPAT, software, and firmware, is

25· ·compatible with all existing Indiana certified
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·1· ·hardware components.· The EMS 4.4-IN revision

·2· ·includes an updated panel which includes the

·3· ·Windows 10 operating system with a bright color

·4· ·display.· The system also includes election

·5· ·management software enhancements to provide

·6· ·equipment tracking and status and election night

·7· ·reporting by location.· In addition to the

·8· ·mandatory precinct reporting, the equipment is now

·9· ·optionally assigned to locations and then election

10· ·reports can be viewed for individual locations or

11· ·aggregated across multiple select locations.

12· · · · This system was certified by the U.S. Election

13· ·Assistance Commission on May 1, 2020, and is

14· ·compliant with the Voluntary Voting Systems

15· ·Guidelines.· Since 2022, there's been a few

16· ·engineering changes to it.· 136, 137, 139 have been

17· ·approved on EMS 4.4-IN.

18· · · · This voting system was reviewed and

19· ·field-tested by using the Indiana Voting System

20· ·Certification Protocol approved by the Indiana

21· ·Election Commission on November 15, 2021, and

22· ·tested to the updates found in the 2021 Amendment 1

23· ·protocol approved on September 23, 2025.· The

24· ·review and testing included all sections of the

25· ·Protocol, including the recent legislative
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·1· ·requirements updated by Amendment 1.

·2· · · · Per the requirements for the Protocol, this

·3· ·report includes the completed Appendix A, field

·4· ·test; B, the accessibility testing; F, the

·5· ·procedures for renewal; Appendix G, the

·6· ·certification checklist, and then also the test

·7· ·ballot samples.

·8· · · · On the basis of VSTOP's review and evaluation,

·9· ·we find the voting system referenced herein, and

10· ·within the scope of certification, meets all

11· ·requirements of the Indiana Code for use in the

12· ·state of Indiana.· This finding includes compliance

13· ·with the legal requirements for voters with

14· ·disabilities.

15· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Can we have

16· ·discussion now?

17· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yeah.· Questions, comments?

18· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So --

19· · · · MR. KING:· We want a motion.

20· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· We do need a motion?· Okay.

21· ·I move to recertify MicroVote General Corporation

22· ·EMS 4.4-IN.

23· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Second.

24· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So we have a motion and a

25· ·second.· Discussion?
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·1· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So my understanding

·2· ·is that MicroVote has a retraction feature.· Or

·3· ·does their recertification include a retraction

·4· ·feature, a ballot retraction feature?

·5· · · · MR. CHATOT:· Yes.· It was previously

·6· ·certified.

·7· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Okay.· So do we know

·8· ·what methodology they use for retraction for

·9· ·identifying the ballots that are to be retracted at

10· ·this time?· I mean, because there was a past

11· ·meeting where they said that they actually use the

12· ·voter ID number for retraction.

13· · · · MR. CHATOT:· I don't recall the exact

14· ·specifics of it.· That could be a part of it.  I

15· ·hoped a representative would be here to answer

16· ·that, but it seems it's just us.· So I don't want

17· ·to speak to that officially at this time.· I don't

18· ·know the exact answer.· It would take a while to

19· ·look up.

20· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I mean, my

21· ·understanding is that they said -- that they had

22· ·said in the past they use a voter ID number but

23· ·they could also use a randomized digit.· Under

24· ·Indiana law, the voter ID number is linked to

25· ·personal information that, under Indiana law, isn't
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·1· ·supposed to be used for this process.· So during

·2· ·the evaluation, did MicroVote address how they were

·3· ·going to be handling retraction?

·4· · · · MR. DRUMM:· The recent testing that we did

·5· ·only covered the updates to Amendment 1, so we did

·6· ·the school board testing.· We didn't go into

·7· ·anything else beyond that.

·8· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So when the equipment

·9· ·was -- when the system, I guess, was certified

10· ·previously and they had the retraction capability

11· ·in it, were there limitations placed on how they

12· ·would effectuate ballot retraction?

13· · · · MR. CHATOT:· I don't believe so, but I can't

14· ·recall exactly.

15· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· And your report

16· ·doesn't impose -- although maybe it's not up to

17· ·VSTOP; maybe it's up to us.· I guess this is a

18· ·question for staff.· So in terms of making sure

19· ·MicroVote understands that they've got to comply

20· ·with state law in terms of -- the new state law in

21· ·terms of the retraction requirements, is that a

22· ·condition we impose on the recertification?

23· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Yes.· To answer that question,

24· ·I believe, yes, you can impose that condition

25· ·because there is a matter of Statute 3-11-15-26,
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·1· ·and more specifically subsection B, on what the

·2· ·ballot retraction ID can and cannot be.

·3· · · · I will recall that many years ago, when ballot

·4· ·retraction actually came up, the Commission did

·5· ·impose -- it was an advisory opinion, which is now

·6· ·moot.· I will admit that under law.· But at that

·7· ·time I would -- essentially saying another way, the

·8· ·Commission made a statement to voting system

·9· ·vendors that there are certain things that the

10· ·Commission will not approve in a voting system

11· ·application, certification, modification, or

12· ·renewal.

13· · · · So certainly in your motion to renew you can

14· ·put in specific matters here about the ballot

15· ·retraction as well, and precedence backs you on the

16· ·matter.

17· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· But if I could add just for

18· ·some additional background, the direct report

19· ·electronic voting system, of which MicroVote is,

20· ·they also have an optical scanning component for

21· ·absentee voting, but the DRE system, in and of

22· ·itself, at least as far as I know, when the law was

23· ·originally passed for DREs, they always had to have

24· ·a ballot retraction, but it was never defined in

25· ·state law what it could or could not be.· The law
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·1· ·has changed to say what it can and can't be.

·2· · · · To me, I think there's a novel -- again, a

·3· ·novel legal question before the Commission today

·4· ·because the legislature does permit the use of a

·5· ·voter ID number for retraction, but it does not

·6· ·allow for things like a person's driver's license

·7· ·number.· A voter ID number can be a driver's

·8· ·license number.· A voter ID number can be an SSN

·9· ·four plus date of birth.· SSN four and date of

10· ·birth cannot be used for ballot retraction.· There

11· ·is a unique identifier for voters who may have

12· ·registered to vote prior to SVRS -- prior to

13· ·federal and state law changing where they truly do

14· ·get a unique identifier assigned to them, but that

15· ·is a very small universe of voters.

16· · · · And so, at least from our staff perspective, a

17· ·ballot retraction number, although state law says

18· ·voter ID number may be used, that voter ID number

19· ·is comprised of personally identifying information

20· ·that state law prohibits from being used.· So if a

21· ·person would go to a MicroVote voting system, their

22· ·voter ID number could be their driver's license

23· ·number, which is precluded from being used under

24· ·state law, although the SVRS voter ID number can be

25· ·used.· So how do you square those two things?· If
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·1· ·you use a voter ID number that is wholly comprised

·2· ·of a person's DLN number, that is not allowed for

·3· ·use under state law.

·4· · · · And I will say that MicroVote has had members

·5· ·testify before the Commission in meeting minutes

·6· ·that we can certainly pull for the Commission where

·7· ·they have stated that they can do either.· They use

·8· ·a voter ID number, it's easier for the counties

·9· ·because they put the voter ID number on a card

10· ·that's then inserted directly from the poll book

11· ·and put into the system, or they can do a

12· ·randomized number.· It takes a little bit longer

13· ·time for the voter to be processed if you go that

14· ·route.

15· · · · So those are the concerns that I raised with

16· ·my commissioners and the reason for the vice

17· ·chair's questions today.

18· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· I would just supplement, I

19· ·cannot recall all of the legislative discussion,

20· ·but I do believe this came up during committee with

21· ·the legislature, and that is when they did amend,

22· ·as Matthew mentioned, the 3-11-15-26.· And I am not

23· ·the MicroVote lobbyist or any vendor's lobbyist,

24· ·but I do recall this coming in session and the

25· ·General Assembly deciding that they could continue
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·1· ·using their ballot retraction feature that had the

·2· ·voter's SVRS identification number, for lack of a

·3· ·better term.· So the legislature did set policy on

·4· ·that, I would just want to bring forward to the

·5· ·Commission.

·6· · · · MR. KING:· And, Madam Chair, members of the

·7· ·Commission, I would add to that again to say that

·8· ·throughout the process the particular bill was

·9· ·amended in response to vendor concerns, again, to

10· ·strike a balance to not impose an additional

11· ·hardship on a vendor that currently had a

12· ·retraction feature nor to require a retraction

13· ·feature for a system that did not currently have

14· ·one.

15· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Go ahead.

16· · · · MR. KING:· But that, again, it comes back, I

17· ·think, to the larger question of construing

18· ·statutes to say we can't pick and choose; they have

19· ·to be read in their entirety.· And so that's

20· ·already been discussed, so I don't need to go into

21· ·great detail on that.

22· · · · At this point, in the absence of a

23· ·representative from MicroVote to further testify

24· ·regarding the matter, the Commission may wish to

25· ·consider tabling the motion until November 10th to
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·1· ·provide an opportunity for additional information

·2· ·from the vendor to further address the question.

·3· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Will there be any kind of

·4· ·notice to the vendor where we'll have some

·5· ·guarantee that some -- or do we have any confidence

·6· ·that a representative will be here in a week?

·7· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· They're based in Indianapolis.

·8· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Not much reason for

·9· ·them not to be here today.

10· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· We certainly can extend that

11· ·invitation on your behalf to them.

12· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Yes.

13· · · · MR. KING:· We ordinarily -- we certainly would

14· ·contact the vendor, either directly or as part of

15· ·the application process, to ensure that that would

16· ·be the case.

17· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· And I remember

18· ·actually the meeting where they were very

19· ·noncommittal about their willingness to assign just

20· ·random numbers.· I remember that.· It was just they

21· ·were -- well, it's hard.· They didn't want to do

22· ·the work, the more difficult thing.

23· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· And the distinction between

24· ·the DRE and the optical scan piece too is that a

25· ·DRE, the number is stored electronically, they have
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·1· ·a double blind system, so on and so forth.· But a

·2· ·voter ID number printed on a ballot card where it

·3· ·goes into -- where a person's driver's license

·4· ·number would be printed on a ballot card that

·5· ·directly links a person to their vote, I appreciate

·6· ·that the legislature excluded voter ID number, but

·7· ·they also said no personally identifying

·8· ·information.

·9· · · · And so, from my perspective, if we want to use

10· ·a voter ID number, it's incumbent on us to make

11· ·sure that the voter ID number in SVRS then is truly

12· ·unique.· Even then, it's a record that can be tied

13· ·directly back to the voter, and that is a chief

14· ·concern of mine, and the Commission does have the

15· ·authority under law to administer the election laws

16· ·and consider novel issues.· So thank you.

17· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Madam Chair, I'd like to

18· ·withdraw my motion.

19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So --

20· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· And I'd move that we

21· ·table -- do we have to vote --

22· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Do we have to vote on the

23· ·withdrawal?

24· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Honestly, you don't have to

25· ·withdraw your motion.· You can make a motion to
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·1· ·table your motion to the next meeting, so then,

·2· ·when it's brought back up from the table, you don't

·3· ·have to redo your motion.

·4· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Okay.· So moved.

·5· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· What he said.

·6· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I'll second that.

·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So we have a motion

·8· ·and a second to table this matter until the next

·9· ·meeting of the Commission.· All those in favor

10· ·signify by saying "aye."

11· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

12· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

13· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."

15· · · · The motion is adopted, and that is officially

16· ·tabled until our meeting on November 10th.

17· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Can I ask a stupid question?

18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sure.· There are no stupid

19· ·questions, trust me.

20· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Oh, yes, there are.

21· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Trust me.

22· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Mr. King, I wasn't sure I

23· ·understood.· Are you seeing a conflict within the

24· ·statute that I think Mr. Kochevar and Ms. Nussmeyer

25· ·are seeing?
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·1· · · · MR. KING:· No, not a conflict, but, again,

·2· ·it's a question of statutory interpretation to say

·3· ·that, again, the entire body -- in pari materia is

·4· ·the legal Latin phrase to say you have to consider

·5· ·all the different statutes, not individual pieces,

·6· ·in determining what's the applicable law.

·7· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Sure.· And it would not be the

·8· ·first time at least I think I've seen that the

·9· ·legislature thought they did something and didn't.

10· · · · MR. KING:· Theoretically, that can happen,

11· ·yes.

12· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Yes.

13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· That could be a whole nother

14· ·meeting.

15· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Just for the avoidance of

16· ·doubt, can whoever the appropriate staff is that

17· ·sends notices make sure that MicroChip -- I'm

18· ·sorry -- MicroVote understands that we expect to

19· ·see them here next week and prepared to answer

20· ·questions for our staff and the commissioners?

21· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Absolutely.

22· · · · MR. KING:· Uh-huh.

23· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Great.

24· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Great.· Thank you.· The

25· ·Indiana Election Commission has finished its
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·1· ·business for today.· Is there a motion to adjourn?

·2· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So moved.

·3· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Second.

·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· All those in favor say "aye."

·5· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.

·6· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.

·7· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.

·8· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."

·9· · · · The "ayes" have it, and the Indiana Election

10· ·Commission meeting is adjourned.

11· · · · (The Indiana Election Commission Public

12· ·Session was adjourned at 12:30 p.m.)
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·1· STATE OF INDIANA

·2· COUNTY OF HAMILTON

·3· · · · · I, Maria W. Collier, a Notary Public in and

·4· for said county and state, do hereby certify that the

·5· foregoing public session was taken at the time and

·6· place heretofore mentioned between 10:04 a.m. and

·7· 12:30 p.m.;

·8· · · · · That said public session was taken down in

·9· stenograph notes and afterwards reduced to typewriting

10· under my direction; and that the typewritten

11· transcript is a true record of the public session.

12· · · · · IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my

13· hand and affixed my notarial seal this 19th day of

14· November, 2025.

15

16

17

18

19

20

21· My Commission expires:
· · December 5, 2032
22

23· Job No. 202802

24

25












































































	20260225_112845.pdf
	IEC Meeting Minutes November 3 2025.pdf
	20251229_064149.pdf
	110325 IEC Session_full.pdf
	Transcript
	Cover
	Caption
	Page 2
	Page 3
	Page 4
	Page 5
	Page 6
	Page 7
	Page 8
	Page 9
	Page 10
	Page 11
	Page 12
	Page 13
	Page 14
	Page 15
	Page 16
	Page 17
	Page 18
	Page 19
	Page 20
	Page 21
	Page 22
	Page 23
	Page 24
	Page 25
	Page 26
	Page 27
	Page 28
	Page 29
	Page 30
	Page 31
	Page 32
	Page 33
	Page 34
	Page 35
	Page 36
	Page 37
	Page 38
	Page 39
	Page 40
	Page 41
	Page 42
	Page 43
	Page 44
	Page 45
	Page 46
	Page 47
	Page 48
	Page 49
	Page 50
	Page 51
	Page 52
	Page 53
	Page 54
	Page 55
	Page 56
	Page 57
	Page 58
	Page 59
	Page 60
	Page 61
	Page 62
	Page 63
	Page 64
	Page 65
	Page 66
	Page 67
	Page 68
	Page 69
	Page 70
	Page 71
	Page 72
	Page 73
	Page 74
	Page 75
	Page 76
	Page 77
	Page 78
	Page 79
	Page 80
	Page 81
	Page 82
	Page 83
	Page 84
	Page 85
	Page 86
	Page 87
	Page 88
	Page 89
	Page 90
	Page 91
	Page 92
	Page 93
	Page 94
	Page 95
	Page 96
	Page 97
	Page 98
	Page 99
	Page 100
	Page 101
	Page 102
	Page 103
	Page 104
	Page 105
	Page 106
	Page 107
	Page 108
	Page 109
	Page 110
	Page 111
	Page 112
	Page 113
	Page 114
	Page 115
	Page 116
	Page 117
	Page 118
	Page 119
	Page 120
	Page 121
	Page 122
	Page 123
	Page 124
	Page 125
	Page 126
	Page 127
	Page 128
	Page 129
	Page 130
	Page 131
	Page 132
	Page 133
	Page 134
	Page 135

	Word Index
	Index: $1,000..2025-7610-96
	Index: 2025-7642-101..actions
	Index: actual..and
	Index: Angie..as
	Index: aside..because
	Index: become..but
	Index: buy..Chairman
	Index: chance..committee
	Index: committee's..counts
	Index: county..directly
	Index: director..election
	Index: elections..faster
	Index: fault..forward
	Index: found..Hamilton
	Index: Hancock..humanity
	Index: hurry..inside
	Index: installed..just
	Index: justice..LLC
	Index: lobbyist..mentioned
	Index: mentioning..Ms
	Index: much..nowhere
	Index: number..ongoing
	Index: online..part
	Index: particular..presentation
	Index: presented..rate
	Index: rather..require
	Index: required..seeing
	Index: seek..some
	Index: somebody..suggesting
	Index: suggestion..that
	Index: that's..there
	Index: there's..to
	Index: Tod..up
	Index: updated..want
	Index: wanted..when
	Index: whenever..you
	Index: you'd..Zionsville





                                                            1



      1



      2               INDIANA ELECTION COMMISSION



      3                      PUBLIC SESSION



      4



      5



      6



      7              Conducted on:  November 3, 2025



      8



      9



     10



     11      Conducted at:  Indiana Government Center South

           402 West Washington Street, Conference Rooms 1 & 2

     12                   Indianapolis, Indiana



     13



     14



     15



     16                 A Stenographic Record by:



     17                Maria W. Collier, RPR, CRR



     18



     19



     20



     21



     22



     23



     24              STEWART RICHARDSON & ASSOCIATES

                    Registered Professional Reporters

     25                       (800)869-0873

�



                                                            2



      1                        APPEARANCES



      2  INDIANA ELECTION COMMISSION:



      3  Beth Boyce - Chairman



      4  Suzannah Wilson Overholt - Vice Chairman



      5  John Westercamp - Member



      6  Michael Claytor, Proxy for Karen Celestino-Horseman -

            Member

      7



      8

         INDIANA ELECTION DIVISION STAFF:

      9

         Angela M. Nussmeyer - Co-Director

     10

         J. Bradley King - Co-Director

     11

         Matthew Kochevar - Co-Counsel

     12

         Valerie Warycha - Co-Counsel

     13

         Michelle Thompson - Campaign Finance Director

     14

         Abbey Taylor - Campaign Finance Director

     15



     16



     17



     18



     19



     20



     21



     22



     23



     24



     25

�



                                                            3



      1                   INDEX OF AGENDA ITEMS



      2                                                 PAGE



      3        Call to Order and Determination of          4

               Quorum

      4

               Documentation of Compliance with Open       5

      5        Door Law



      6        Approval of September 23, 2025, IEC         5

               Minutes

      7

               Campaign Finance Proceedings                6

      8

                 Adoption of Campaign Finance Orders       6

      9

                 Ratification of Campaign Finance          7

     10          Settlement Agreements



     11          Opportunity for Committees to Accept      9

                 Reduced Penalty

     12

               Campaign Finance Enforcement Actions       22

     13

                 Continuances                             75

     14

                 Defaults                                 94

     15

               Voting System Testing Protocols            97

     16

               Voting System Applications for            111

     17        Recertification



     18          Unisyn Voting Systems OpenElect 2.2.2   114

                 Engineering Change Order 1031

     19

                 Unisyn Voting Systems OpenElect 2.2.2   116

     20          Recertification



     21          MicroVote General Corporation EMS       121

                 4.4-IN Recertification

     22



     23



     24



     25

�



                                                            4



      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  This meeting of the



      2     Indiana Election Commission is called to order.



      3     Thank you for being patient.  Sorry about the



      4     delay.



      5          The following members of the Commission are



      6     present:  Myself, our chair, Beth Boyce; Suzannah



      7     Wilson Overholt, our vice chair; we have with us



      8     today Mr. Michael Claytor, who is a proxy, and we



      9     have it in our packets the appropriate form that



     10     was filed, he is here on behalf of Karen



     11     Celestino-Horseman; and member John Westercamp.



     12          We also have with us the Indiana Election



     13     Division staff:  Co-Director Brad King and



     14     Co-Director Angie Nussmeyer; Co-General Counsels



     15     Matthew Kochevar and Valerie Warycha.  We also are



     16     joined by our court reporter, Maria Collier, from



     17     Stewart Richardson Deposition Services.



     18          And I want to make a note, before we continue



     19     the meeting, to remind everyone on behalf of the



     20     court reporter to identify yourself when beginning



     21     to speak, spell your name when identifying



     22     yourself, speak clearly, and do not speak at the



     23     same time as others.



     24          I also wanted to make a note, staff has asked,



     25     there are sign-in sheets in the back.  I think
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      1     there are several kind of on various rows.  So if



      2     everyone that's here -- yeah, on a clipboard.



      3     Thank you.  So if everyone that's here could just



      4     register their attendance on one of those sheets,



      5     we would appreciate it.



      6          We want to reference the documentation of



      7     compliance with the Open Door Law.  I request that



      8     the co-directors confirm that the Commission



      9     meeting has been properly noticed as required under



     10     the Open Door Law.



     11          MR. KING:  Madam Chair and members of the



     12     Commission, speaking on behalf of myself and



     13     Co-Director Nussmeyer, we certify that notice was



     14     given of this meeting in accordance with the



     15     requirements of the Open Door Law.



     16          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



     17          Next up we'll have the approval of our



     18     September 23, 2025, Indiana Election Commission



     19     minutes.  I recognize the co-directors to present



     20     the minutes of the referenced meeting.



     21          MR. KING:  Madam Chair and members of the



     22     Commission, on behalf of myself and Co-Director



     23     Nussmeyer, we have reviewed the September 23, 2025,



     24     minutes and recommend them to you for your



     25     approval.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Is there a motion to approve



      2     each of the minutes as presented?



      3          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So moved.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Is there a second?



      5          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Second.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any discussion?



      7          Hearing none, all in favor say "aye."



      8          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



      9          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     10          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     11          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  The "ayes" have it, and the



     12     motion to approve each of the minutes is adopted.



     13          Is there consent from each of the members to



     14     authorize the Indiana Election Division to use our



     15     individual signature stamps to document our



     16     approval of the documents at this meeting?



     17          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Consent.



     18          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Consent.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  And then I assume, with him



     20     being a proxy, it's Karen's signature.



     21          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Uh-huh.



     22          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  The Election Division



     23     is authorized to act accordingly.



     24          Up next, adoption of the campaign finance



     25     orders.  The Election Division staff has prepared

�



                                                            7



      1     drafts of Indiana Election Commission Orders



      2     2025-300 through 2025-676, which reflects the



      3     actions of the Commission regarding campaign



      4     finance hearings conducted at the September 23rd



      5     meeting.



      6          Is there a motion to adopt these orders as



      7     presented?



      8          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So moved.



      9          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Second.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any discussion?



     11          Hearing none, all in favor say "aye."



     12          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     13          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     14          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     15          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed say "nay."



     16          The "ayes" have it, and the motion to approve



     17     the orders is adopted.



     18          Up next, I recognize the Election Division's



     19     campaign finance staff, Ms. Taylor and



     20     Ms. Thompson, to present information concerning



     21     several campaign finance settlement agreements



     22     entered into on behalf of the Commission.



     23          MS. THOMPSON:  Madam Chair, members of the



     24     Commission, in your binder there, there's a list of



     25     committees that are ready to ratify that have
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      1     agreed to pay the settlement agreement and waive a



      2     hearing.



      3          MS. TAYLOR:  It's the first page.



      4          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So it's only two?



      5          MS. TAYLOR:  It's only two, yes.



      6          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Okay.  I was confused



      7     because when you said several, I was expecting a



      8     longer list.  Okay.  So it's just these two.



      9          MS. TAYLOR:  Uh-huh.



     10          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Versus the last hearing we



     11     had where there was --



     12          MS. TAYLOR:  Many.



     13          MR. WESTERCAMP:  There were many.



     14          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I'm sorry.  What is



     15     Indiana PA PAC?



     16          MS. TAYLOR:  Physicians assistants PAC.



     17          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Okay.  Thank you.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Is there a motion to



     19     ratify the campaign finance settlement agreements



     20     as presented?



     21          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So moved.



     22          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Second?



     23          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Second.



     24          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Any discussion?



     25          Hearing none, all in favor say "aye."
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      1          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



      2          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



      3          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed say "nay."



      5          The "ayes" have it, and the motion to ratify



      6     the agreements is adopted.



      7          Up next, we want to go through the



      8     administration of the oath.  If any person here



      9     plans to testify at today's meeting on any matter,



     10     please stand for the administration of the oath.



     11          I recognize Matthew Kochevar to administer the



     12     oath.



     13          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.



     14          All those who will testify before the Indiana



     15     Election Commission, please raise your right hand



     16     and say "I do" after recitation of the oath.



     17          Do you solemnly swear or affirm, under the



     18     penalties of perjury, that the testimony you are



     19     about to give to the Indiana Election Commission is



     20     the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the



     21     truth?  Please say "I do."



     22          ALL:  I do.



     23          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Thank you.



     24          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you very much.



     25          We'll move on to campaign finance enforcement
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      1     matters.  Before proceeding with campaign finance



      2     enforcement actions, we have customarily given any



      3     committee present the final opportunity to pay a



      4     reduced civil penalty by waiving the right to



      5     present evidence and arguments to the Commission.



      6     Of course, any committee is welcome to present



      7     evidence and arguments for the proposed penalty to



      8     be waived or reduced, but this has been an



      9     opportunity for those who want to waive any



     10     presentation and accept a reduced penalty without



     11     making argument or presentation.



     12          Therefore, I move the adoption of the



     13     following arrangements:  If this is the committee's



     14     first violation, the arrangement is for the



     15     committee to agree to pay 25 percent of the



     16     proposed fine plus mailing costs.  If this is the



     17     committee's second violation, the arrangement is



     18     for the committee to agree to pay 50 percent of the



     19     proposed fine plus mailing costs.  If this is the



     20     committee's third violation, the committee would



     21     agree to pay 75 percent of the proposed violation



     22     plus mailing costs.



     23          For purposes of this arrangement, a previous



     24     settlement agreement entered into by the committee



     25     will be counted as one violation.  Likewise, if
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      1     more than one alleged violation occurred on the



      2     same calendar day, that group of violations shall



      3     be counted as one.



      4          Is there a second to this motion?



      5          MR. CLAYTOR:  Second.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any discussion?



      7          If there is no discussion, then I would like



      8     to see who is in favor.  All in favor say "aye."



      9          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     10          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     11          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     12          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed say "nay."



     13          The "ayes" have it, and the motion is adopted.



     14          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  And before we



     15     continue, can I give our little speech we give --



     16          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sure, sure.



     17          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  -- to encourage



     18     people to do this, although it seems like we have a



     19     small gathering today.



     20          But just in terms of that kind of potential



     21     settlement arrangement that the Chair just



     22     described, I just wanted to emphasize that this is



     23     the only time it's available during this hearing



     24     process.  So if you don't -- because in a minute



     25     people are going to be invited to come up to say
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      1     whether they want to take that deal or not, and if



      2     you don't take it now and want to argue the merits



      3     of the proposed fine or why you think you shouldn't



      4     be fined or penalized, that deal, the deal



      5     structure that we just went over, is off the table,



      6     so you would likely be required to pay more than if



      7     you came up to us now.



      8          So this is kind of the one and only time to do



      9     it.  We encourage you to do it if you are hoping to



     10     get out of here paying less than the proposed



     11     penalty.



     12          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Very good.



     13          The Commission will begin with the committees



     14     whose representatives are seated in the front row



     15     of the room and ask those who wish to accept these



     16     arrangements to please step forward and be



     17     recognized to confirm the committee's acceptance of



     18     the arrangement.



     19          Remember, this is not a time for anyone to



     20     make their case to ask for the reduction or waiver



     21     of any proposed penalty.  Simply state your name,



     22     the name of the committee, and your enforcement



     23     action cause number, if you have that available for



     24     staff, and confirm verbally that you are accepting



     25     this arrangement.
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      1          If you do wish to make any other statement or



      2     explanation regarding your case, please wait until



      3     the other committees in the room have indicated



      4     their agreement to the arrangement.



      5          MR. RADICE:  I'm sorry.  I've never done this



      6     before.  Forgive me for my novice --



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Hold on one second.  So we



      8     need you to stand up and identify yourself.



      9          MR. RADICE:  Sorry.



     10          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Would you come to the



     11     microphone.



     12          MR. RADICE:  Oh, yeah, sure, sure.  No



     13     problem.  Forgive me for my -- my name is Timothy



     14     Michael Radice.  Pleasure to meet you.  It's a



     15     pleasure to meet you finally, Mr. King.



     16          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  You'll need to spell your



     17     name.



     18          MR. RADICE:  Oh, I'm sorry.  I'm sorry.  So my



     19     name is Timothy Michael Radice.  It's spelled



     20     T-i-m-o-t-h-y, and it's going to be M-i-c-h-a-e-l,



     21     last name is going to be R-a-d-i-c-e.



     22          So I'm okay with taking the 25 percent



     23     penalty.  It was just a mistake.  I mistakenly



     24     filed --



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Hold on a second.  So if you
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      1     want to take the agreement, that comes without



      2     explanation.  So if you're wanting to kind of state



      3     your case, then that would have to come at a later



      4     time.



      5          MR. RADICE:  Oh, okay, sure.  Yeah,



      6     25 percent, I'll do that.  That's fine.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Do you have your cause



      8     number, please?



      9          MR. RADICE:  I think it's 2025-7669-107, if



     10     I'm not mistaken.



     11          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So hold on just one second.



     12          MR. RADICE:  Sure.



     13          MS. THOMPSON:  Yeah.  Madam Chairman, it's on



     14     page 3.



     15          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Oh, at the bottom.  I see.



     16          MS. THOMPSON:  Citizens for Tim Radice.



     17          MR. RADICE:  Yes.



     18          MS. THOMPSON:  Cause No. 2025-7669-107, has



     19     not been before the Commission before, and has a



     20     proposed civil penalty of $400.66.



     21          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So if you are



     22     interested in the agreement, it would be



     23     25 percent.



     24          MR. RADICE:  Uh-huh.



     25          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Plus expenses.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Plus the mailing.



      2          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So $100.66.



      3          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So all those in favor



      4     of -- oh, I'm sorry.  I need a motion and a second.



      5          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So moved.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sorry.



      7          MR. CLAYTOR:  Second.



      8          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  All those in favor of



      9     this settlement agreement in the amount of $100.66



     10     please signify by saying "aye."



     11          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     12          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     13          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any opposed "nay."



     15          The "ayes" have it, and the motion is adopted.



     16          MR. RADICE:  Thank you folks so much for your



     17     mercy.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



     19          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Madam Chair, if I might, just



     20     a reminder to folks in this room, you do not pay



     21     today.  The Commission will have to adopt orders at



     22     the next meeting, and then an invoice is sent to



     23     you for payment.



     24          MR. RADICE:  Okay.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.
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      1          MR. RADICE:  Am I free to leave?



      2          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes.



      3          MR. RADICE:  Oh, thank you.  I need to use the



      4     restroom.  Have a nice one, everyone.



      5          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So as I was



      6     mentioning, we're going to work from the front of



      7     the room back, so I think he was kind of up in the



      8     front over here.  Are there any other committees or



      9     individuals that would like to -- okay.  If you



     10     could come up and come to the microphone.



     11          MS. WARYCHA:  And Matthew will need to swear



     12     him in because he came in late.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



     14          MR. PHILLIPS:  Sit down?



     15          MS. WARYCHA:  Yes, please.



     16          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes.  Hold on one second,



     17     sir.



     18          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Actually, sir, before you do, I



     19     have to swear you in.  You have to take the oath.



     20          MR. PHILLIPS:  Sure.



     21          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Raise your right hand and say



     22     "I do" after recitation of the oath.



     23          Do you solemnly swear or affirm, under the



     24     penalties of perjury, that the testimony you are



     25     about to give to the Indiana Election Commission is
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      1     the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the



      2     truth?



      3          MR. PHILLIPS:  The Lord I serve is the truth,



      4     and I speak the truth because my Lord is the truth.



      5          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Thank you.



      6          MR. PHILLIPS:  You're welcome.  Well --



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  If you could let us



      8     know your name.



      9          MR. PHILLIPS:  My name is Watermelon Jim.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  And please spell your full



     11     name.



     12          MR. PHILLIPS:  James Lee Phillips.



     13          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Could you spell that.



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Could you spell that for our



     15     court reporter, please.



     16          MR. PHILLIPS:  Yes.  James is J-a-m-e-s, and



     17     Phillips is P-h-i-l-l-i-p-s.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Do you have your cause



     19     number?



     20          MR. PHILLIPS:  I don't know what my cause



     21     number is, but I've got --



     22          MS. THOMPSON:  Madam Chairman, this is on the



     23     first page.  It's Watermelon Jim for State



     24     Representative, Cause No. 2025-7944-1, has not been



     25     before the Commission before and has a proposed
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      1     civil penalty of $350.66.



      2          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



      3          Having not been before the Commission before,



      4     the agreement would be for a payment of 25 percent



      5     of that penalty plus the mailing costs.



      6          MS. TAYLOR:  It's $87.50 plus 66 cents of mail



      7     costs so $88.16.



      8          MR. PHILLIPS:  I'm tickled to death to get out



      9     of this mess.  I didn't have no computer, and I



     10     learned one thing:  If you're going to run for



     11     office, you better get a computer.



     12          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Any discussion,



     13     questions?  If not, I'd look for a motion and a



     14     second to --



     15          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I move to reduce the amount



     16     to $88.16.



     17          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Second.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So I have a motion and



     19     second.  Any discussion?



     20          If not, all those in favor please signify by



     21     saying "aye."



     22          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     23          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     24          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any opposed "nay."
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      1          Motion passes.



      2          MR. PHILLIPS:  Thank you very much.  God bless



      3     you and stay safe.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.  You too.



      5          MR. PHILLIPS:  I went through the big



      6     building, and everywhere you look down there, you



      7     can't get in unless you're authorized.  Thank you



      8     all very much.



      9          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Have a good day.  Thank you.



     10          Okay.  Any others?



     11          Yes, sir.  Please come forward and state your



     12     name and please spell it.



     13          MR. BELLAMY:  I was certain you said from



     14     front to back, so I just want the record to reflect



     15     I was following the rules.



     16          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yeah.  He jumped up before



     17     you did.



     18          MR. BELLAMY:  He's much more known than I am.



     19     I am Jeff Bellamy, B-e-l-l-a-m-y.  I am an attorney



     20     with offices at 8440 Woodfield Crossing Boulevard,



     21     Suite 310, here in the city of Indianapolis.  I'm



     22     here on behalf of a matter entitled Grassroots PAC



     23     with an administrative cause number 2025-7551-317.



     24          MS. TAYLOR:  You have two causes.  Did you



     25     know that?  The second is 2025-7551-89 and then
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      1     -317, so there are two causes.  The first is on



      2     page 2; the second is on page 8.



      3          Madam Chair and members of the Commission,



      4     this is Grassroots PAC, Causes 2025-751-89 and



      5     2025-7551-317.  They've been before the Commission



      6     one other time and paid a settlement agreement, so



      7     this is the third time.  Proposed civil penalty of



      8     $1,000.66 in the Cause -89 and proposed civil



      9     penalty of $1,000.73 in Cause -317.



     10          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So that would be $750



     11     for each, right, at the 75 percent?



     12          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     13          MR. BELLAMY:  Well, wouldn't the second one be



     14     second and the next one be third?



     15          MS. TAYLOR:  It could be third and fourth, but



     16     this is one hearing, so we'll just do them together



     17     as a hearing instead of causes, is what we usually



     18     do.



     19          MR. BELLAMY:  I just want to understand



     20     accurately.  I thought you said there was one prior



     21     and there's two today or there's two prior and two



     22     today?



     23          MS. TAYLOR:  Two prior and two today.



     24          MR. BELLAMY:  Thank you.  That's what I needed



     25     to know.
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      1          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So this counts as the



      2     third; right?



      3          MS. TAYLOR:  The third, yes.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So for each 750 and then --



      5          MR. CLAYTOR:  Plus postage.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  -- 66 cents on the first one.



      7          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  And 73 on the second



      8     one.



      9          MS. NUSSMEYER:  $1.39.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.  Okay.



     11          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So 1,501.39?



     12          MS. TAYLOR:  Yeah.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So just to recap that,



     14     so the total of the two cause numbers at a



     15     75 percent rate would be $1,501.39.  Do we have a



     16     motion and a second to approve?



     17          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So moved.



     18          MR. CLAYTOR:  Second.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any discussion?



     20          Hearing none, all those in favor signify by



     21     saying "aye."



     22          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     23          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     24          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."
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      1          Motion passes.



      2          MR. BELLAMY:  Thank you for your attention.



      3          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Thank you.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Any other -- okay.  I



      5     think we are good there.



      6          Okay.  The Commission will proceed to open its



      7     hearing on campaign finance enforcement actions.



      8     Members, the binders or other material provided to



      9     you include a campaign finance spreadsheet prepared



     10     by Abbey and Michelle.  After presentation -- I'm



     11     sorry.  Okay.  Hold on.  So where is this



     12     spreadsheet?



     13          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  It's what we've just



     14     been looking at.



     15          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Okay.  Even



     16     though it's not in a spreadsheet form.  Sorry.



     17          MS. TAYLOR:  I think in 1997 technology when



     18     it was created, it might have been a spreadsheet,



     19     but...



     20          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I apologize.  Yeah.  I wasn't



     21     thinking.  Doesn't seem like a spreadsheet the way



     22     it's printed.



     23          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Loosely characterized



     24     as a spreadsheet.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Spreadsheet.  Okay.
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      1          So now we need to move on to those campaign



      2     finance matters that would require discussion.  And



      3     I think we will proceed in the same manner, moving



      4     front to back.



      5          Hold on a second.  I need to get myself



      6     situated here.  I'm sorry, everybody.



      7          Okay.  I apologize.  The remaining committees



      8     will be called to permit the presentation of



      9     evidence in these campaign finance matters.  Before



     10     doing so, I want to note that in the past the



     11     Commission has followed certain procedures for



     12     conducting campaign finance hearings, and I move



     13     that the Commission use the following procedures



     14     today:



     15          One, when the campaign finance matter is



     16     called, hearing will begin with recognizing



     17     campaign finance staff to provide information about



     18     the documents in this matter provided to Commission



     19     members, including letters from committees and the



     20     notice given to the campaign committee.



     21          Two, unless there is objection, the documents



     22     provided to the Commission by the Election Division



     23     will be entered into the record of this meeting.



     24          Three, after campaign finance staff completes



     25     presentation, a representative of the committee
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      1     will be recognized first and may present their case



      2     for no more than five minutes.  Next, Commission



      3     members may ask questions during the presentation,



      4     but the time spent answering these questions will



      5     not be counted against a presenter's time.  The



      6     Election Division may signal the chair when a



      7     presenter's time is up.



      8          And I think last time Valerie will be our



      9     official time keeper now that she has her phone.



     10          MS. WARYCHA:  Yes.



     11          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  If the presenter offers



     12     additional documentation or other physical evidence



     13     not previously received by the Commission, then the



     14     original must be provided to the Election Division,



     15     Valerie, to preserve for the record.



     16          If the Commission finds that a committee has



     17     violated the campaign finance statutes, state law



     18     requires a unanimous vote of all four commissioners



     19     to waive or reduce the amount of the penalty set by



     20     state law.



     21          If the Commission makes a decision at this



     22     meeting to either fine the committee or dismiss the



     23     case against the committee, then the Election



     24     Division will prepare a final order for the



     25     Commission to approve at a later meeting.  If a
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      1     committee is fined today, the committee will



      2     receive a notice from the Election Division to pay



      3     the fine after the Commission adopts the final



      4     order.  So it may be some time after today before a



      5     committee will be required to pay the fine.



      6          The Commission will recognize committees to



      7     make a presentation beginning from the committees



      8     seated in the front of the room.  It's very helpful



      9     if you can speak up and say the cause number or



     10     numbers of your hearing notice so that the



     11     Commission and staff can quickly look it up in the



     12     spreadsheet.  Remember to identify yourself when



     13     you start speaking and to indicate if you took the



     14     oath administered earlier in the meeting.  If you



     15     did not, I will ask Mr. Kochevar to administer the



     16     oath to you.



     17          Is there a second to this motion?



     18          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Second.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any questions or objections



     20     from the Commission members?



     21          If there is no further discussion, the



     22     question is on the adoption of the motion.  All in



     23     favor say "aye."



     24          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     25          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.
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      1          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



      2          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed say "nay."



      3          The "ayes" have it, and the motion is



      4     approved.



      5          Okay.  The Commission will proceed to open its



      6     hearings on campaign finance enforcement actions.



      7     Okay.  So let's start from the front of the room.



      8     We're going to do the same thing.  Is there



      9     anyone -- or not everybody jump up at once.



     10          MS. WARYCHA:  This is VSTOP right here.



     11          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Oh, okay.  So, sir, I think



     12     you're on.



     13          MR. GUTRICH:  Okay.  So my name first?  My



     14     name is William, or Bill, Gutrich, spelled G, like



     15     George, -u-t-r-i-c-h.  And I guess these cause



     16     numbers are -385 and -388.  Do you need more



     17     numbers?



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Give us just one second.



     19          MS. TAYLOR:  It's on page 11 and 12, bottom of



     20     11 and top of 12.



     21          MR. GUTRICH:  So five minutes, I didn't



     22     rehearse for that.



     23          MS. TAYLOR:  Madam Chairman, members of the



     24     Commission, this is Gutrich for Indiana, Cause



     25     No. 2025-7832-385 for a proposed civil penalty of
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      1     $1,000 and surprise mail cost; and the second cause



      2     is 2025-7832-388 for a proposed civil penalty of



      3     $1,000 and a surprise mail cost.



      4          MR. WESTERCAMP:  What's the nature of the



      5     offense that's alleged?



      6          MS. THOMPSON:  This is actually a motion to



      7     reconsider.  Mr. Gutrich was -- and he can explain.



      8     He was not able to make it at the last meeting, and



      9     so he asked for a motion to reconsider the fine.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.



     11          MR. GUTRICH:  Yeah.  I, unbeknownst, ended up



     12     in the hospital getting a stent in my coronary



     13     artery, so apologize for missing.  I was kind of



     14     busy that day.  But if I can start my five minutes.



     15          MS. WARYCHA:  Yeah.  Go ahead, please.



     16          MR. GUTRICH:  So my name is Bill Gutrich, and



     17     I am sitting before you because about two years ago



     18     I made what is becoming more and more so a stupid



     19     decision to decide to offer myself to serve my



     20     fellow citizens as a local public servant.  I had



     21     never run for office before.  I come from a family



     22     of policemen, firemen, teachers, and nurses, and



     23     it's always been in me, although my dad said, "If



     24     you become a cop, I'll shoot you myself."



     25          So I pursued a career in business, and
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      1     35 years later, just knowing a local politician in



      2     Hamilton County, a friend who serves in Hamilton



      3     County government encouraged me to run when our



      4     state rep announced she was retiring.  I ran



      5     against who is our current state rep, who is from



      6     Zionsville.  The district is 94 percent Hamilton



      7     County and 65 percent Westfield, and being



      8     Westfield the faster growing city in Indiana, one



      9     of Indiana's bigger cities, everybody wanted



     10     somebody from Westfield, me, to run and not have



     11     two state reps from Zionsville.  The person that I



     12     lost to is also a former Colts player, and the



     13     political consultant said I could beat him, and



     14     they were dead wrong.  With an uninformed



     15     electorate and mass popularity of somebody's name,



     16     it's just not possible.



     17          But anyway, I offered myself when I was asked



     18     to serve and gave up six months of my life working



     19     every living breathing minute when I wasn't working



     20     to knock doors, to call people.  Ended up having to



     21     raise $100,000.  I was told to hire a political



     22     consultant at $4,000 a month over five months, and



     23     I was told to hire a fund-raiser.  Did all that and



     24     still, at the end of it, the campaign came up



     25     $14,000 short of our expenses, which meant I had to
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      1     go into a home equity line and pull $14,000 of my



      2     own money out along with all the time and effort I



      3     had given to try and offer myself.



      4          What I found out is the political consultant



      5     had promised -- that's Coverdale Consulting in



      6     Fishers.  They were handling many campaigns and I



      7     was just being told use these guys, do this.  They



      8     said, "We'll handle all the finance -- the filing



      9     of your campaign finance stuff," and they were



     10     filing this each week apparently.  But apparently



     11     they didn't bother to do it the last two weeks, and



     12     I had no idea.



     13          So about two, three -- or a month or so or



     14     whatever after I had lost the primary and they were



     15     no longer interested in me and I was no longer



     16     paying them, of course, I get notice in the mail



     17     saying that there was not filings made for the last



     18     two weeks of my campaign for donations and



     19     legitimate donations that came in.



     20          And so not having any help from them, I spent



     21     the better part of a day studying and trying to



     22     understand the very intricate stuff to get this



     23     filed, which is very hard for a citizen to just



     24     figure out and understand.  It really feels like



     25     the establishment people know all this stuff, and I
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      1     certainly didn't.  But with great help from the



      2     office -- and thank you for that -- I was able to



      3     figure it out and got filed what had not been



      4     filed.  But then I was told with these letters



      5     that, well, that was supposed to be filed during



      6     that week.  So I had two $1,000 donations, one in



      7     each week, that required filing that week, and



      8     because it was not filed that week, I am told that



      9     I am fined $1,000 for each of those.



     10          I ask the mercy of this committee that, you



     11     know, I gave my heart and soul just to be a public



     12     servant and some of my own money, which I'll never



     13     get back.  It shouldn't be this hard for people to



     14     step up and run for office.  But what this says is



     15     that, well, dive into your money some more for



     16     another $2,000 because somebody who said that they



     17     were going to do something for you didn't do it and



     18     didn't care because you were no longer valuable to



     19     them because you didn't win.



     20          So I filed it.  It was legitimate donations.



     21     There was -- it's just a matter of timing that they



     22     weren't filed in time, so there was no fraud or



     23     anything else.  I do understand the purpose of



     24     these laws to protect from fraud and these kind of



     25     things, but I'm just a citizen who tried to run for
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      1     office, and I beg the mercy of this committee to



      2     not make my paying $2,000 greater.



      3          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  If I could ask, I'm



      4     assuming then that a default was entered at the



      5     last hearing.  Is that what I'm hearing?



      6          MS. THOMPSON:  Correct, yes.



      7          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So a total of $2,000



      8     has already been imposed.



      9          MS. THOMPSON:  Yes.



     10          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So the question is,



     11     number one, whether we're willing to, I guess,



     12     reconsider that.



     13          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     14          MS. THOMPSON:  Correct.



     15          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So we have to rule on



     16     that, we have to make that determination first



     17     before we go to the merits; right?



     18          MR. KING:  Yes.



     19          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Can I ask a question before



     20     we go to that?



     21          So is your campaign committee an LLC,



     22     Mr. Gutrich?



     23          MR. GUTRICH:  I don't even know.  No.  I



     24     mean -- well, I don't remember how we set it up.



     25     It was Gutrich -- my name, Gutrich for Indiana,
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      1     shut it down right away when we lost the primary,



      2     and I'm not sure, honestly.



      3          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Okay.  Thank you.



      4          MR. GUTRICH:  I wish I did know that.



      5          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any other questions?



      6          MR. GUTRICH:  I suppose it is, though.  I



      7     don't know.



      8          MS. TAYLOR:  I just want to let you know the



      9     committee is still open.  You have not closed it,



     10     so you will owe a report in January.  I believe the



     11     deadline is January 21, 2026.  The balance is zero,



     12     so you can go ahead and close it, but it is still



     13     open, and I don't want you to have another



     14     surprise.



     15          MR. GUTRICH:  Well, I will take that advice



     16     and get it closed, and I'll never do this again.  I



     17     swear, I tell people, they say, "Well, you should



     18     run again," and I'm like, "Not in a million years.



     19     Thank you."



     20          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any other questions?



     21          Okay.  I'll declare the hearing on this -- I'm



     22     sorry.



     23          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I was going to move



     24     that we grant the motion to reconsider.



     25          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I second that.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  All those in favor



      2     signify by saying "aye."



      3          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



      4          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



      5          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



      7          The motion passes.



      8          Okay.  So now --



      9          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I would move to waive the fee



     10     for both of those matters for Mr. Gutrich here.



     11          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  To waive the fee completely?



     12          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Yes.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Do we have a second or any



     14     thoughts, discussion?



     15          MR. CLAYTOR:  Madam Chairman, may I ask a



     16     question?



     17          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I think we need a



     18     second.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We need a second.



     20          Okay.  I'll second that, but I would -- if



     21     it's okay, I don't really agree with waiving it



     22     completely.  I feel like at this point, you know,



     23     the 25 percent is something that we've entered into



     24     with many, many campaigns and committees and



     25     individuals, and I could see us doing that, but I
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      1     do not agree with dropping it completely.



      2          MR. WESTERCAMP:  You're suggesting a



      3     25 percent?



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes, which is what we would



      5     have offered many others.



      6          Any other questions?



      7          MR. CLAYTOR:  Just when you describe -- other



      8     than reliance on your consultant, were there any



      9     other things that prevented you from timely filing?



     10          MR. GUTRICH:  Yeah, no.  So, you know, I was



     11     led along by people that, you know, I run for



     12     office and know what they're doing kind of thing.



     13     They told me, honestly, get out every waking moment



     14     you have and knock on doors.  I knocked on 3,800



     15     doors in those weeks that this applied to, and they



     16     didn't want me doing anything but, if I was awake,



     17     go talk to voters.  Funny enough, I won those.  I



     18     went to eight precincts and actually won that, but



     19     you can't get to 60 precincts.  So it was just that



     20     every waking moment I had I was told to go out and



     21     knock doors or make phone calls.  And so people



     22     told me, "We'll take care of this," and then I just



     23     honestly found out they didn't take care of it.



     24          MR. CLAYTOR:  Okay.  But you mentioned illness



     25     and having a stent.  You weren't laying in a
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      1     hospital bed --



      2          MR. GUTRICH:  No.  I was supposed to be at a



      3     hearing --



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Here.



      5          MR. GUTRICH:  -- on the 23rd.



      6          MR. CLAYTOR:  I misunderstood that.  Thank



      7     you.



      8          MR. GUTRICH:  Yes.  And I ended up in the



      9     hospital getting a stent.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  That was recent.



     11          MR. GUTRICH:  Yes.  And I asked for this



     12     continuance to today.  Thank you.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes, right.



     14          Any other discussion?  So the motion on the



     15     floor is to waive it completely.



     16          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Are you moving to change it?



     17     Is that what your motion is?



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes.



     19          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I'll second that motion.



     20          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.



     21          MR. GUTRICH:  Could I ask a question about



     22     that?



     23          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sure.



     24          MR. GUTRICH:  I understand, as a committee,



     25     wanting to be consistent perhaps with what you did
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      1     before.  I get that.  But just -- whether it's



      2     $2,000 or $5,000, I can afford to pay it.  I just



      3     don't think either number is right, honestly.  I



      4     think I acted in good faith.  This was a timing



      5     issue.  The donations were legitimate.  They were



      6     accurately filed.  I ask the mercy.  I guess just



      7     what's the purpose of the fine?  Because it was



      8     late?  Is that $500 because it was late?  Is that



      9     what we're saying?



     10          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Well, if I might,



     11     since I've been sitting on here -- I've been on



     12     this Commission probably way longer than I should



     13     be.  So sorry.



     14          MR. GUTRICH:  Well, thank you for your



     15     service.



     16          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Well, I appreciate



     17     it.  I was out of town and got home at 11:30 and



     18     thought, oh, I've got to be at this meeting at



     19     10:00 this morning, so you kind of rethink your



     20     life choices sometimes.



     21          Anyway, sorry.  All that aside, so the reason



     22     I'm speaking up is because I've been involved in a



     23     lot of these hearings, and so the reason for the



     24     fines, so there's an entire statutory framework



     25     that establishes how elections are run and financed
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      1     in the state of Indiana, and there's similar



      2     structure at the federal level.



      3          And those rules are really important because



      4     there are reporting requirements so that people at



      5     the time can see what candidates are up to, that



      6     they can see who is donating to campaigns, so the



      7     electorate can see that, so other people running



      8     for office can see it.  And the fines are there



      9     because, you know, I guess we've learned,



     10     unfortunately, that carrots -- I don't know what



     11     the carrot would be in these instances, so using



     12     some sticks to say you've got to comply with the



     13     statute or the fines are going to be imposed.



     14          And, historically, when we waive the fines --



     15     because you, as the person running for office, I



     16     mean, it is your campaign and it's your campaign



     17     finance committee.  And we've had lots of folks



     18     come in who their treasurers have, you know, been



     19     on vacation and forgot to file the reports, they



     20     didn't know what the rule -- what we hear is



     21     everything from, We didn't know, I didn't



     22     understand what the rules were, I haven't done this



     23     before, to, I thought someone else had done it, I



     24     thought someone else was going to do it, to, quite



     25     literally, I think we really did get a, My dog ate
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      1     the -- I mean, we've had it all.  We've had all of



      2     that, right?



      3          And I understand because there are a lot of



      4     people who miss the deadlines, and that's why we've



      5     been pretty -- it takes a very extreme situation,



      6     which I think is why Mr. Claytor asked about when



      7     it was you were in the hospital, which may sound



      8     like not a very nice question to ask, but some of



      9     those situations are ones where we have actually



     10     decided to waive.



     11          MR. GUTRICH:  I understand.



     12          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  This is our time to



     13     speak.  So anyway, that's the explanation, and



     14     that's why -- I think we have to vote on the motion



     15     that's in front of us, but that's why I'll be



     16     voting against that particular motion.



     17          MS. WARYCHA:  I was just going to say, just so



     18     that we're all clear on the motion, Beth, do you



     19     want to state your motion so it's in the record



     20     properly.



     21          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sure.  So there's a motion



     22     and a second to impose, since this is his first



     23     time being before the Commission --



     24          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Wait, I thought we



     25     had a motion to waive.
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      1          MR. CLAYTOR:  There's a motion to waive, so



      2     are you amending that motion?



      3          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Yeah.  We haven't



      4     voted on that.



      5          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I amended the motion.



      6          MS. WARYCHA:  She said that she was starting



      7     to amend it, but it was kind of quiet to John, so I



      8     thought she should say it louder for everybody.



      9          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes.  I'm so sorry.  So I --



     10     I apologize.  I did amend that, to make it



     11     consistent with the action of the Commission, to be



     12     a 25 percent penalty.  So I guess back to this, so



     13     it would be 500, 250 and 250, and then the mailing



     14     cost is not reflected on here so whatever that



     15     amount.



     16          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Like 73 cents.



     17          MS. TAYLOR:  I believe it was 68 cents.  I



     18     know it was 68 cents.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  All the others are 66.  So



     20     that's 68 cents on each one?



     21          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     22          MR. GUTRICH:  Can I ask --



     23          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Just one second.



     24          So my motion would be to keep consistent with



     25     what we've done and do the 25 percent penalty for
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      1     both cause numbers, and John --



      2          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I seconded it.  I'm sorry if



      3     you didn't hear it.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So I apologize.



      5          MR. CLAYTOR:  Not being a pain, are we



      6     amending the original motion --



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes.



      8          MR. CLAYTOR:  -- or are we going to defeat the



      9     original motion and have a new motion?



     10          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Is there a difference?



     11          MR. CLAYTOR:  The difference is we would be



     12     voting on the amendment, and then we would vote on



     13     the main motion.



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I would defer.  Could



     15     co-counsel --



     16          MR. KOCHEVAR:  I can answer that, yes.  So we



     17     technically haven't adopted Robert's Rules of



     18     Order, but that's the best procedure that I know of



     19     and what most people follow.  So if we treat this



     20     as a motion to amend, you would vote to amend the



     21     main motion that Commissioner Westercamp had made.



     22          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  And then vote.



     23          MR. KOCHEVAR:  And then that would become the



     24     main motion, and then you would need to, when



     25     discussion was done, vote on that.  And whatever
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      1     that -- we'll call that the second vote.  The



      2     majority votes yes on that second vote, then you



      3     have approved that motion as amended.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So the second vote is



      5     the approval?



      6          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Yes.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So -- Valerie?



      8          MS. WARYCHA:  No.  I agree, yes.



      9          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So we will take a vote now to



     10     amend the original motion, which would mean that



     11     we're amending the original from a 0 percent



     12     penalty to a 25 percent penalty.  All those in



     13     favor of the amendment signify by saying "aye."



     14          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     15          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     16          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     17          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



     18          The motion passes.



     19          So now we need a motion and a second to



     20     approve the agreement.



     21          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  No.



     22          MR. CLAYTOR:  So we're now voting on the



     23     amended motion; right?



     24          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Yes.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  I apologize.  Okay.
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      1     So now we need a motion --



      2          MR. WESTERCAMP:  No.



      3          MR. KING:  No.  We just need a vote.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Oh, we don't need another



      5     motion.  I'm sorry.  Thank you for your patience.



      6          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  It's okay.



      7          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Motion to motion.



      8          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So now we're going to



      9     vote on that.  All those in favor signify by saying



     10     "aye."



     11          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     12          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     13          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



     15          The motion passes.  Thank you.  My apologies.



     16          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So for clarity, what



     17     we just did is assess a $250 penalty for each



     18     violation, so $500, plus 68 cents in mailing costs



     19     for each.



     20          MS. TAYLOR:  $501.36 for a grand total.



     21          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  501.36.  Thank you.



     22          MR. GUTRICH:  Yeah.  I just didn't understand



     23     why you didn't vote on the first motion and then



     24     vote on the second motion --



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.
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      1          MR. GUTRICH:  -- because he made a motion.



      2          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Next -- oh, and, sir,



      3     I think you left your papers.



      4          MR. GUTRICH:  Oh, I don't really need them.



      5          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Are there any campaign



      6     finance violations that need to be heard now?



      7          MS. TAYLOR:  I know there are two more.  We



      8     may have more, but I know that there are two.



      9          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We're moving from the front



     10     backwards.



     11          MR. HOSTETTLER:  I apologize.  I thought it



     12     was the whole first row.



     13          MS. WARYCHA:  That's okay.  They're for a



     14     different matter.



     15          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I'm sorry.  Yes.  If you



     16     could state your name and spell it.



     17          MR. HOSTETTLER:  My name is Matthew Douglas



     18     Hostettler.  M-a-t-t-h-e-w, Douglas is



     19     D-o-u-g-l-a-s, Hostettler is H-o-s-t-e-t-t-l-e-r.



     20     My administrative cause number is 2025-420.



     21          MS. THOMPSON:  Madam Chairman, this isn't in



     22     the spreadsheet.  It's the pink little tab at the



     23     back.



     24          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.



     25          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Representative Hostettler, I
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      1     have a question.  So did the staff raise this issue



      2     with you or did you self-report without being



      3     prompted by the Election Division staff?



      4          MR. HOSTETTLER:  I self -- so if I could share



      5     briefly kind of how things transpired.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  You have five minutes.



      7          MR. HOSTETTLER:  Okay.  Thank you.  And thank



      8     you for the continuance.  The 23rd was Rosh



      9     Hashanah, so I really appreciate your guys'



     10     patience with everything.



     11          So it was either November or December, but



     12     towards the end of 2024, my campaign committee



     13     address received a contribution from the Meijer



     14     Political Action Committee, and it was given to my



     15     treasurer with my usual no hurry, because she's a



     16     volunteer.  Most volunteers are always doing



     17     something.  And then during the first week of



     18     session, I received a text message saying "I



     19     finally got that check deposited."  Oof.



     20          So immediately we issued a check for the



     21     amount back to Meijer Political Action Committee.



     22     I believe it was issued on the 12th or 13th of



     23     January.  I self-reported.  We sent the letter.



     24     That check never cleared with Meijer.  We waited



     25     for nine months, and we just simply sent it to the
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      1     address that was on the contribution.  After



      2     tracking them down, we found another address and



      3     someone specifically to send it to and FedEx'd



      4     that, and that check -- that returned check was



      5     finally cashed last Friday.



      6          So in full transparency, the one that was sent



      7     with the letter, that was never deposited.  So it



      8     has been -- it was self-reported.  It's been



      9     returned twice, but we canceled the first check,



     10     and the other one finally cleared Friday.



     11          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So what was the



     12     proposed penalty for this?  There's no other



     13     information other than the letter.



     14          MS. THOMPSON:  The report hasn't been filed



     15     yet, so I don't have any information on that



     16     transaction.



     17          MR. KOCHEVAR:  I can tell you what statutorily



     18     the proposed penalty can be.  It is equal to the



     19     greater of the following plus investigative costs:



     20     Two times the amount of any contributions



     21     received -- it would be received and accepted since



     22     we've changed the law -- or $1,000.  So I know it



     23     can be $1,000, but without knowing the amount of



     24     the contribution that was accepted by the



     25     committee, I can't tell you what the potential
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      1     higher amount would be.



      2          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Is this matter ripe for



      3     consideration by the committee?  And if it's not



      4     ripe, then why are we hearing it today?



      5          MS. WARYCHA:  It doesn't feel like it's ripe.



      6     I'm not sure that it is.



      7          MR. KOCHEVAR:  I would agree since we don't



      8     know if the proposed penalty can be above $1,000,



      9     so I would agree with my counterpart on this.



     10          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Can we decide -- so since



     11     Representative Hostettler is here today, is there a



     12     way that we can decide this now for efficiency



     13     purposes?



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I wouldn't think so.



     15          MR. KOCHEVAR:  I would probably recommend --



     16     this is just me saying -- to table this until a



     17     Commission meeting after January 21, 2026, when the



     18     committee's annual report is due, so that would be



     19     sometime February probably.



     20          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sure.  Then we would have a



     21     more complete picture.



     22          MS. WARYCHA:  That does make sense.



     23          Question for campaign finance staff:  I'm



     24     assuming you got this from Representative



     25     Hostettler and just wanted to put it before the
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      1     Commission as soon as you got it?



      2          MS. TAYLOR:  Correct, yes.



      3          MS. WARYCHA:  Okay.  Thank you for the



      4     verification.



      5          MS. NUSSMEYER:  And if I might add, the



      6     representative does not have to appear at the



      7     hearing.  He can send a proxy, for lack of a better



      8     term.  He can have a motion -- an appearance motion



      9     to allow someone else to present on his behalf, if



     10     that were the case.



     11          MR. HOSTETTLER:  May I?



     12          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I don't think his



     13     five minutes is up.



     14          MS. WARYCHA:  It was not.  He was at 3:22.  I



     15     can hit -- go ahead.



     16          MR. HOSTETTLER:  I respect the decision of the



     17     Commission, the committee.  If the contribution was



     18     for $500 and it was returned for $500, if you would



     19     like to make that consideration in the interest of



     20     your time.  I can be back in January.  I just



     21     wondered if that helps you guys in the moment to



     22     save possibly some time in January.  That's the



     23     only reason I offer that information and respect



     24     your decision either now or then.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I think we would feel more
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      1     comfortable waiting.



      2          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I would move that we



      3     table it until sometime after the report is



      4     actually filed.



      5          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Thank you for self-reporting.



      6     We encourage all campaigns to self-report.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  There's a motion on



      8     the floor.  Do we have a second?



      9          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Second.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  We have a motion and a



     11     second to table this issue until a later date.  All



     12     those in favor please signify by saying "aye."



     13          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     14          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     15          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     16          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



     17          Motion passes.



     18          MR. CLAYTOR:  Madam Chairman, I'd like to



     19     explain my vote.  I have a lovely disagreement with



     20     staff and attorneys and their belief that the only



     21     indicia of receiving a contribution is when it is



     22     deposited.  I disagree with that heartily.  And if



     23     I were on the other side of the table, I would be



     24     arguing that, if you got a check prior to the start



     25     of session, whether or not you deposited it during
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      1     session, it is not a violation.



      2          Unfortunately, I will not be here at the



      3     meeting when this comes back up.  That is a



      4     personal opinion, and just throwing it out there



      5     for edification, or if you could get the statute



      6     amended in January or Organization Day.



      7          MR. HOSTETTLER:  Respectfully, that probably



      8     would not look very good.  But may I ask, do you



      9     need any information from me between now or will



     10     the report that's due in January be sufficient?



     11     Should I just wait, just do that normally, or is



     12     there anything else that I should get in the



     13     meantime?



     14          MS. TAYLOR:  I don't speak for them, but I



     15     don't think there's anything else we need from you



     16     before the report is filed.



     17          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  In the meantime, yeah.



     18          MS. WARYCHA:  That would be all I could think



     19     of.  Generally the Commission will look at the



     20     reports.  Your self-reporting, you just beat us to



     21     the punch as far as doing the reports, but



     22     appreciate it.



     23          MR. HOSTETTLER:  Sorry for making life harder.



     24          MS. WARYCHA:  No, you did not.  We appreciate



     25     the self-reporting.
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      1          MS. NUSSMEYER:  If I may -- I'm sorry -- may I



      2     ask a question of staff?  So typically for



      3     corporate contributions that are in excess of a



      4     certain dollar amount, we do send out a settlement



      5     agreement, do we not?



      6          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



      7          MS. NUSSMEYER:  So we do that --



      8          MS. TAYLOR:  This is not a corporate



      9     contribution.



     10          MS. NUSSMEYER:  I understand that, but it's



     11     substantially similar, right, that this is a



     12     contribution that was received during long session



     13     that has a civil penalty assigned to it in Title 3.



     14     So would a similar letter go out to the committee



     15     just so that the representative would be looking



     16     out for it?  Is it something we should direct staff



     17     to do?  That is the question.



     18          MS. THOMPSON:  This is the first time we've



     19     brought this before the Commission.  It's not



     20     happened before, so this is all new precedent for



     21     us.



     22          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Well, that's an



     23     interesting point because you said received and



     24     this is deposited, so actually the question when it



     25     was received is a question.
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      1          MR. CLAYTOR:  And that's not the first time



      2     I've seen it before the Commission.



      3          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Was it a cashier's check or



      4     was it a normal check?



      5          MR. HOSTETTLER:  It was a normal check.  And



      6     it was -- I believe that the -- just speaking



      7     frankly, I don't believe I have the envelope to



      8     show the postmark.  I mean, it would simply be



      9     there's the date on the check.  It might have -- I



     10     honestly couldn't tell you without seeing it.



     11          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Well, we've tabled



     12     it, so we should probably stop talking about it.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



     14          MR. HOSTETTLER:  All right.  Thank you.  Have



     15     a good day.



     16          MS. NUSSMEYER:  If I could add one more thing,



     17     the statute does say received and accepted now, so



     18     it's no longer just received.  It's received and



     19     accepted, and what accepted means in terms of the



     20     overarching discussion for January...



     21          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Okay.



     22          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



     23          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Fun times ahead.



     24          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Next.



     25          Please state your name and spell it for us,
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      1     please.



      2          MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  Good morning.



      3          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Good morning.



      4          MR. CURTIS:  My name is Tod Curtis, T-o-d,



      5     C-u-r-t-i-s, and my cause number is 2025-7783-167.



      6          MS. THOMPSON:  Madam Chairman, it's on page 5.



      7     It's Fight Back Indiana, Cause No. 2025-7783-167,



      8     has not been before the Commission before, and has



      9     a proposed civil penalty of $1,000.66.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.



     11          MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.



     12          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Go ahead.



     13          MR. CURTIS:  Okay.  First of all, I started



     14     this PAC, Fight Back Indiana, as a nonpartisan PAC



     15     to try to bring people to the middle in Indiana and



     16     kind of even out government, do something good.



     17     But what I found was, after all the organizational



     18     steps and setting everything up and getting



     19     everything ready and having a website and



     20     everything looking the way that I wanted it to,



     21     there was no response whatsoever to a nonpartisan



     22     PAC.  So we took in no money, and we had no



     23     expenses other than the startup expenses we paid



     24     out of our own pocket.  That was in April of 2023.



     25          In October of 2023 would be our first filing,
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      1     the pre-election filing.  I did receive a notice



      2     from the State saying that it would be due on that



      3     date, so I pulled out the instructions on how to



      4     fill out that form.  And on the third paragraph



      5     down, it says "This instruction applies to all



      6     statewide candidates, state legislative candidates,



      7     and any political action committee that, 1, is



      8     required to file with the Election Division," which



      9     is true, "and, 2, which received more than $50,000



     10     in contributions since the close of the previous



     11     reporting period," which did not apply.



     12          Now, my misunderstanding was that it meant the



     13     following instruction after that sentence, which



     14     says "This form must be filed electronically with



     15     the Election Division.  Contact Division at," blah,



     16     blah, blah.  So I looked at it and thought we've



     17     done no business, and we certainly haven't taken in



     18     $50,000, so we do not meet the requirements to have



     19     to file this at this time.  That's not what this



     20     form means, but that's what the form says.



     21          So to add to the problem, after that, someone



     22     rammed their car through the front of the UPS store



     23     and tore up all the mailboxes and the store closed,



     24     so I could not receive my -- any mail from the



     25     Election Division.  I didn't receive a notice until
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      1     December that I had missed this filing, at which



      2     time I panicked and contacted the State and filed



      3     and did everything that I possibly could to try to



      4     correct that problem.  And as I said, there was



      5     something to file.  It was about $600 maybe in



      6     mailbox expense, website expense, things like that.



      7          So we did that, I filed all the other forms



      8     correctly, and then in April of 2024, which had



      9     been about a year, I could see this was going



     10     nowhere, so I officially closed the PAC and did no



     11     other business.  In between, every other filing was



     12     for zeros and zeros.



     13          So I guess I'm here, first of all, because, as



     14     you were mentioning -- on the way up my wife asked



     15     me why is there such a huge fine for filing late,



     16     and I said because it's a fairness issue.  When a



     17     candidate is running for office, that's public



     18     record where the money is coming from and what



     19     they're bringing in.  For us, it doesn't really



     20     make much sense, but that's the law, and that's why



     21     we're here this morning.  That's why you're here to



     22     hear me out.



     23          I really have nothing other to state other



     24     than I don't know that we've caused any real harm,



     25     and I think this form needs to be corrected to at
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      1     least say "The following instruction" or a colon



      2     after "This instruction" so that it's clear that



      3     it's the remainder of the paragraph that it's



      4     referring to and not this form completely.



      5          So at this time, I guess, I will entertain



      6     questions.



      7          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Could we see the



      8     form?



      9          MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  And I don't have access to



     10     my email account for this anymore, but I did



     11     vociferously defend the wording on the form and how



     12     I stated it at the time as the cause of the



     13     mistake.



     14          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So to summarize your



     15     position, you're saying that there was a misleading



     16     form, state form, that caused you to not take the



     17     steps that were necessary which made you violate



     18     the law; is that right?  Is that your position?



     19          MR. CURTIS:  Correct.  There is no more law



     20     abiding person in the state than me.



     21          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Okay.



     22          MR. CURTIS:  And so it's very embarrassing to



     23     be in this situation to begin with.



     24          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Does the staff have a



     25     counterpoint?  I mean, I want to be sure that our
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      1     forms are not misleading to people that want to



      2     comply with the law.  Is there something, in your



      3     opinion, that is misleading or do our forms need to



      4     be updated?  Is there something that's being missed



      5     that we should consider?



      6          MS. TAYLOR:  I don't know what the paragraph



      7     looks like.  I thought it was only for PACs over



      8     $50,000 who had to file electronically.  I'm not



      9     sure what the back of that looks like.  I think the



     10     bigger problem --



     11          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I was going to say, this is



     12     sort of out of context.



     13          MR. CURTIS:  I do have the rest of it.



     14          MS. TAYLOR:  I know that's the back of the



     15     summary sheet of the CFA form, but I also think the



     16     bigger issue here, if I may speak, before you is



     17     that the UPS store was taken out, so he didn't get



     18     any of our notice that the report was due, which



     19     clearly states if you receive this, you have to



     20     file.  That's the first sentence on the form, if



     21     you are in receipt of this notice, you have to file



     22     with the Election Division.  Filing anywhere else



     23     is not sufficient.



     24          So I think -- I don't know what the back of



     25     the form says.  It might -- I don't know what that
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      1     paragraph says.  I may fully agree with you.  But I



      2     think the bigger issue is the UPS store being



      3     crashed into and he can't --



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Not receiving the mail.



      5          MS. TAYLOR:  Right.



      6          MR. CURTIS:  And I might add, the State had



      7     communicated electronically by email for everything



      8     up to that time, so the only thing that I was



      9     getting in that mailbox was junk mail from whoever



     10     found the new address for the PAC.



     11          MS. TAYLOR:  We don't email any campaign



     12     finance documentation, short of if you've logged in



     13     and you've filed, it's an auto-generated email.



     14          MR. CURTIS:  I didn't know anything would be



     15     coming.



     16          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I want to put aside the UPS



     17     store for a second.  Do we have any consensus among



     18     us that this was a required filing fact based on



     19     this?  Because if this mailing was sent in error,



     20     if this wasn't actually required, we don't have to



     21     even talk about the UPS truck situation.



     22          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I think it was



     23     required.  It's just the electronic component of it



     24     isn't required because of the size of the -- not



     25     reaching that contribution level.
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      1          MR. CURTIS:  That's the understanding I came



      2     to afterwards.  You have to file electronically if



      3     it's more than 50,000.  I thought it just meant you



      4     don't have to file.  I didn't know you could even



      5     file by paper.



      6          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I see.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any other thoughts,



      8     questions?



      9          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I have a question.  So this



     10     is your first campaign finance violation.  Why



     11     didn't you take the deal that we had offered at the



     12     beginning of this hearing?



     13          MR. CURTIS:  Well, first of all, I didn't know



     14     there was going to be some kind of a deal offered.



     15     I might have settled a long time ago just to get it



     16     off the plate.



     17          But in all honesty, I don't know that it



     18     really -- I have a strong sense of justice, I



     19     guess, and I will take whatever penalty is imposed,



     20     but at least it needed to be brought up in the



     21     record that the average person -- I mean, I have



     22     multiple college degrees.  I read things as they're



     23     stated, and the average person trying to do this on



     24     their own could read that form and be completely



     25     stymied like I was.  So in the interest of the
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      1     record, I think the form needs to be updated, so I



      2     thought I would drive up and see.



      3          I don't know how government works inside.  I



      4     ran for Congress in 2017 for the 2018 year, and so



      5     I had finance committee, I had all that.  I



      6     understand how government works, and I understand



      7     how elections work.  This was just something that



      8     was a little odd, I guess, that this fine seems to



      9     be disproportionally high compared to the damage



     10     caused, which really is probably zero.  But I



     11     thought I would put myself at the mercy of the



     12     committee.  I'll take whatever the committee



     13     decides.



     14          MR. CLAYTOR:  When you were operating the



     15     committee, starting the committee, did you avail



     16     yourself of the information on the State's website



     17     that has the Campaign Finance Manual?



     18          MR. CURTIS:  Absolutely.  I have everything in



     19     front of me right here.  I did everything exactly



     20     by the book, and I thought I was doing everything



     21     exactly by the book when I did not file at that



     22     time because I didn't think I met the threshold for



     23     filing.  And I didn't find out until -- maybe if I



     24     had found out the next day that it would be a $50



     25     fine, I'd say, well, that's fine.  But since I
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      1     didn't have notice that something was wrong for



      2     two months, then I racked up the full $1,000 fine.



      3          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So this is the back of -- it



      4     says "this form."  Is the form they're referring to



      5     just for PACs?



      6          MS. TAYLOR:  No.  The CFA-4 is for all



      7     committees, candidates, committees.



      8          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Because I would argue that --



      9     or I don't want to be argumentative, but I would



     10     say that, if you had run for State Representative,



     11     then --



     12          MR. CURTIS:  No, I didn't run for State



     13     Representative.



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I thought you just



     15     mentioned --



     16          MR. CURTIS:  I ran for Congress.



     17          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Congress.  I'm sorry.



     18          MR. CURTIS:  That was federal election, yes.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I'm sorry about that, but



     20     that you were familiar with the requirements and



     21     the forms obviously through that.



     22          MR. CURTIS:  I never had to fill out a form.



     23     I had a full campaign team, finance director,



     24     campaign director, all of that that were handling



     25     all those things at that time.  This is more of a
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      1     grassroots type of try-to-do-it-on-my-own-type



      2     operation.  I do run businesses.  I mean, I'm an



      3     orthodontist; I have an orthodontic business.  I



      4     have a property business.  So I'm familiar with



      5     filing for businesses, yes.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any other questions?



      7          MR. CLAYTOR:  Just a point of information, I



      8     guess.  The Campaign Finance Manual very clearly



      9     states, I believe, that for each PAC they must file



     10     three reports per year, at a minimum, in election



     11     years and one report in nonelection years.  And



     12     that's a -- it's several places in the Campaign



     13     Finance Manual.



     14          MR. CURTIS:  Right.  But the instructions for



     15     filling out that particular form, which I just



     16     stated, says that the qualifications for filling



     17     out that form, one is that there's more than



     18     $50,000.  That's exactly what that paragraph says,



     19     so that's why I had to go with the paragraph on the



     20     form.  To file that form, I was following the



     21     instructions on the form.



     22          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  File electronically.



     23          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Valerie, do you have



     24     something, or Brad?



     25          MS. WARYCHA:  I was going to defer to Brad.
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      1     Go ahead.



      2          MR. KING:  I was just going to -- speaking to



      3     Valerie with regard to an issue that arises in a



      4     wide variety of legal contexts, not just election



      5     law, in construing statutes and forms, it's in pari



      6     materia, which means basically to understand the



      7     meaning of a law -- or the code of law, campaign



      8     finance code, you have to look at the entirety of



      9     the law, not just an isolated piece to understand



     10     how that isolated piece is going to work, which



     11     addresses Commissioner Claytor's point with regard



     12     to the Campaign Finance Manual being part of that



     13     summary of the larger body of law that is what



     14     those who interpret the law are required to use.



     15          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



     16          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So the committee is



     17     closed?



     18          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     19          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  And there's no --



     20          MS. TAYLOR:  Correct.



     21          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  -- because there's no



     22     money?



     23          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Questions, thoughts?



     24          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I just want to say I agree



     25     with Michael that this says this instruction
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      1     applies to these things, but that does not mean



      2     that there's not other instructions or obligations



      3     in other areas.  So I think your point is well



      4     taken that the Campaign Finance Manual says these



      5     are -- it's a requirement, and this in no way



      6     contradicts that underlying requirement that's in



      7     the manual.



      8          MR. CLAYTOR:  Madam Chairman, if I may, I



      9     regret that our friend did not come forward during



     10     the settlement offer, but I'll make a motion and



     11     see if I can buy a second over here that we assess



     12     a fine of 25 percent against the campaign.  I know



     13     we normally don't do that once the time is over,



     14     but there's obviously some misunderstanding here,



     15     and the entity is now closed.  So I would move that



     16     we assess a fine of 25 percent, which would be



     17     $250.66.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We have a motion.  Do we have



     19     a second?



     20          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Second.



     21          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  We have a motion and a



     22     second to impose a 25 percent penalty, which would



     23     be $250 and the mailing cost of 66 cents.  All



     24     those in favor signify by saying "aye."



     25          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.
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      1          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



      2          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



      3          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



      4          Motion passes.



      5          MR. CURTIS:  I appreciate that.  And I would



      6     suggest just a colon at the end of that sentence



      7     and that form would make it clearer that this means



      8     the next part of that.



      9          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



     10          MR. CURTIS:  One other question too, I guess,



     11     from a legal aspect.



     12          MS. WARYCHA:  I'm sorry.  This is not really



     13     the forum for that.  You're welcome to stay to the



     14     end and I would be happy to chat with you, but for



     15     the moment the Commission has other hearings.



     16          MR. CURTIS:  I just wondered, I mean, if a



     17     closed PAC can actually be fined.



     18          MS. WARYCHA:  Yes.



     19          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     20          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Sorry.  Yes.



     21          MR. CURTIS:  Just quick.



     22          MS. WARYCHA:  Yeah.



     23          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Next.



     24          MS. DOYLE:  Hello, Commissioners.  I am



     25     Brittany Doyle, B-r-i-t-t-a-n-y, D-o-y-l-e, here
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      1     for Cause No. 2025-6797-414, McCormick for



      2     Governor.  This is a continuance from the last



      3     hearing.



      4          MS. TAYLOR:  It's on page 17, Cause



      5     No. 2025-6797-414.  It was tabled at the hearing on



      6     September 23rd.  This was a late CFA-11 caused by a



      7     refund.



      8          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So before Brittany starts,



      9     could I hear from the campaign finance staff how



     10     this matter falls into a contribution.  What's the



     11     argument?



     12          MS. TAYLOR:  It's income.  They entered it



     13     into the system as income because we only have in



     14     or out.  There's no other definition.  They entered



     15     the contribution into the system, and it



     16     auto-generated, because it was over 10,000, the



     17     CFA-11 to be filed within seven days.  They entered



     18     it in July when they were filing their semiannual



     19     report and went "Ope" because, again, it's a



     20     refund.  But, again, we only have in or out, so



     21     there's no separate definition for a refund.



     22          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I know that last time we



     23     asked for a briefing on this, and only Ms. Doyle



     24     submitted briefing.  Was there a reason why the



     25     campaign finance staff didn't submit an argument?
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      1          MS. TAYLOR:  We were waiting for Matthew and



      2     Valerie to talk to Brittany.  That's --



      3          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Just as a matter going



      4     forward, if we ask for briefing on a legal



      5     question, can we get your assurances that you'll



      6     provide something in writing, because the State has



      7     the burden to provide a prima facie case on this;



      8     otherwise, we have to give judgment to Ms. Doyle.



      9          MS. WARYCHA:  I will say that Matthew and I



     10     have discussed, and neither of us -- I don't want



     11     to speak for you, Matthew -- felt this met the



     12     definition of contribution.  It's just caught up in



     13     the system because there's nothing else to put it



     14     on because we're working on a 1990s computer



     15     system.



     16          So when you read the definition of



     17     contribution, contribution means a donation of



     18     property that satisfies both of the following:  The



     19     donation is made for the purpose of influencing any



     20     of the following:  The nomination or election to



     21     office of a candidate, the election of delegates to



     22     a state constitutional convention, the outcome of a



     23     public question.  The donation is accepted by any



     24     of the following:  A candidate, a candidate's



     25     committee, a regular party committee, a political
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      1     action committee, and legislative caucus committee.



      2     Whenever funds are transferred from one committee



      3     to another or a donation of funds to influence an



      4     election on a public question is accepted as a



      5     contribution, the accepting committee is considered



      6     to be receiving a contribution in the amount of the



      7     funds transferred.



      8          And I could keep reading, but I'll just tell



      9     you that there's not anything in there that, to me,



     10     makes this contribution work on a 1990s system.



     11          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So if that's the case, does



     12     the Division want to withdraw this complaint?



     13          MS. WARYCHA:  I don't believe we can because



     14     we are staff and we cannot make that decision;



     15     therefore, we have to bring it to you as the



     16     Commission to make that decision.



     17          MS. NUSSMEYER:  If I might, Madam Chair, I'm



     18     not disagreeing with Matthew or Valerie.  Matthew



     19     and I have gone around and around on this



     20     particular issue.  Whether it is a computer system



     21     or a paper CFA-4 document, it is still income, and



     22     that income has to be reported.  So if you were not



     23     filing it electronically and you were on paper, you



     24     would have to report that refund of $85,000 on



     25     paper.
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      1          Now, I agree it's not a contribution because



      2     it's not used to effectuate the support or defeat



      3     of a public question, but, to me, there's a larger



      4     issue here that perhaps the legislature needs to



      5     tackle to create a different schedule where it is



      6     not a contribution, where it is something like a



      7     refund so that, one, our 1990s computer system



      8     won't trigger these reports to do different



      9     filings, but also address these rare instances



     10     where you have a refund that is not a contribution,



     11     because at the end of the day, that $85,000 impacts



     12     their bank account, it impacts their cash on hand,



     13     and it needs to be organized in such a way.



     14     Matthew might argue with me, because he has, that



     15     it's an unitemized contribution, but I see how you



     16     can say with a straight face $85,000 is an



     17     unitemized contribution.



     18          So I appreciate Ms. Doyle bringing forward



     19     this very novel legal question and whether or not



     20     it should be considered a contribution or not, but,



     21     to me, there's a bigger issue at play that the



     22     Commission can't decide today necessarily about



     23     what to do, but I do think it's a larger question



     24     to bring to the legislature to determine how you



     25     classify this type of income.
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      1          MR. CLAYTOR:  Madam Chair, can I -- if I could



      2     ask anyone in the room that wants to answer except



      3     the guys from VSTOP.  When I am entering in the



      4     system, there's a drop-down.



      5          MS. TAYLOR:  Yeah.



      6          MR. CLAYTOR:  And something is either direct,



      7     unitemized, or interest.  Is there a selection for



      8     refund?  I don't remember.



      9          MS. TAYLOR:  No.  There's a selection for



     10     other, and I think it was -- I don't have it in



     11     front of me, but I believe it was entered as other,



     12     refund and explanation.



     13          MR. CLAYTOR:  So let me ask, since there is



     14     specifically an interest selection in the



     15     drop-down, if I had $1,000 of interest in the stub



     16     reporting period, would I have to file for an over



     17     $1,000?



     18          MS. TAYLOR:  It would trigger the CFA-11.



     19          MR. CLAYTOR:  It would trigger the CFA-11?



     20          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes, yes.



     21          MR. CLAYTOR:  Okay.  That doesn't make a damn



     22     bit of sense to me.



     23          MR. WESTERCAMP:  That's a good question.  I



     24     had two other hypotheticals that would go into this



     25     bucket that are not refunds, so it doesn't sound
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      1     like you have any accusers here among the staff, so



      2     I won't accuse you either.  But if you went to



      3     Walmart as a campaign and you bought something for



      4     $10 and you handed the cashier a $20 bill and then



      5     you left, went to the parking lot, the cashier came



      6     out and gave you $10 back, is that a contribution?



      7     I don't think there's anybody that would say that's



      8     a contribution even though there's money that's



      9     going back to the committee.



     10          I'll give you another example.  A lot of big



     11     committees get credit cards, and some of these



     12     American Express credit cards, if you spend



     13     $10,000, you're going to get $1,000 back.  It's a



     14     standard contractual thing.  I would say that I



     15     can't imagine anybody saying that a reduction of



     16     your credit card bill by $1,000 from American



     17     Express by opening a credit card would be a



     18     contribution.



     19          And so there's got to be a way to address



     20     these sorts of scenarios where money is coming to a



     21     campaign but it does not define contribution.  I



     22     appreciate you bringing this up, writing a brief



     23     explaining it.  I think there needs to be some



     24     legislative fix here that doesn't flag us.



     25          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I'm curious, is there
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      1     a way -- it's been a long time since I filled out



      2     one of these reports, thank goodness, but I



      3     remember -- well, because you were talking about



      4     the expense.  So there are the expenses of the



      5     campaign, the expenses of the campaign, expenses of



      6     the PAC, whatever the entity is, you know, like the



      7     office paying for rent or whatever.  Is there a



      8     way, when you're entering that type -- well, I



      9     guess can negative numbers be entered?



     10          MS. TAYLOR:  No.



     11          MS. DOYLE:  No.



     12          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  See, that would



     13     alleviate that.  I'm thinking, yeah, you enter a



     14     negative because that would -- the theme this year



     15     is the computer system.



     16          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     17          MR. KING:  Madam Chair, the Commission has



     18     identified an ongoing skirmish in the battle



     19     between humanity and technology.  But let me



     20     address that with another general legal principle



     21     that I think is relevant here, and that is, because



     22     the statute involved here raises the possibility of



     23     penalty being imposed, there is abundant case law



     24     which says that, if there's any ambiguity, that



     25     ambiguity has to be construed in favor of the
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      1     individual entity and against the State with regard



      2     to imposing a penalty.  And so I would bring that



      3     to the attention of the Commission for



      4     consideration.



      5          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I was going to say -- well,



      6     let me real quick, Brittany, I feel like we didn't



      7     give you a chance to say anything.



      8          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Yeah, you don't get



      9     to talk.  Sorry.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So let's back up just a



     11     minute before we make our decision.



     12          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Start the five-minute



     13     clock right now.



     14          MS. WARYCHA:  Go.



     15          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Is there anything -- I just



     16     wanted to give you due time so you can break in.



     17          MS. DOYLE:  No problem.  I'll take any



     18     questions you have on the memo I submitted, but I



     19     don't have any additional presentation at this



     20     time.



     21          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Can you state your name for --



     22          MS. DOYLE:  Brittany Doyle.



     23          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We literally got nowhere at



     24     the beginning.



     25          MR. KOCHEVAR:  I would just like to put on the
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      1     record, because Valerie did say that she didn't



      2     want to speak for me, I have had a chance to read



      3     the memo.  I have studied the issue since the



      4     committee.  I do agree what was in the memo, what



      5     constitutes a contribution, and so I do want to say



      6     that I agree with my counterpart.



      7          I would also like to say to Commissioner



      8     Westercamp that I have notes now duly noted for



      9     myself, my co-counsel, if you or any other



     10     commissioners ask for a briefing before we continue



     11     a matter, we will have that memo for you or whoever



     12     requested it, obviously subject to going through



     13     our bosses, the co-directors.  So I will state for



     14     myself personally, I do apologize that we did not



     15     answer your call from the last meeting.  It will



     16     not happen again.



     17          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Thank you.  And as a general



     18     matter -- I know that people are playing the home



     19     game -- if there's unique circumstances that aren't



     20     factual, like the dog ate my homework sort of



     21     thing, that are legal, I found it extremely



     22     helpful, because when people come up, you get five



     23     minutes to think about something and decide



     24     something.  Ms. Doyle came at the end of like an



     25     all-day meeting, and so it was enormously helpful.
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      1          If somebody wants to submit a brief on a legal



      2     matter, if a reasonable length or a reasonable time



      3     before the meeting, like seven days before a



      4     meeting, I'll read it and consider it if it's a



      5     legal issue.  If it's a factual thing, the dog ate



      6     my homework, probably won't be persuasive.  But I



      7     wanted to put that out there for repeat players



      8     that it will give us a little bit more time to



      9     think about issues that come up like this one.



     10          MS. DOYLE:  Thank you, Commissioner.



     11          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  And just so I'm on the right



     12     page, what page is this?



     13          MS. TAYLOR:  Page 17.



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I'm sorry.  I feel like you



     15     already said that.  Okay.



     16          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I would move that



     17     we -- so I forget.  Are we dismissing, waiving?



     18          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Dismissing.



     19          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I would move that we



     20     dismiss the proposed fine.



     21          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I second that.



     22          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We have a motion and a second



     23     to dismiss the proposed fine.  All those in favor



     24     signify by saying "aye."



     25          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.
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      1          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



      2          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



      3          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



      4          Motion passes.



      5          MS. DOYLE:  Thank you very much.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



      7          Okay.  Any other -- I think we've made it



      8     through that portion.  Okay.  So I think we are



      9     through the enforcement portion of our meeting.  So



     10     on the issue of continuances, would the campaign



     11     finance staff identify any matters for which a



     12     motion of continuance was received for today's



     13     meeting.



     14          MS. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Madam Chair, we have a



     15     motion to reconsider.  It's A Better Option.  It's



     16     Cause No. 2025-7921-279.  It was --



     17          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  What page is that?  I'm



     18     sorry.  Oh, right here.  Six, page 6?



     19          MS. THOMPSON:  Yes, 6.



     20          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  I'm sorry.  Go ahead.



     21          MS. THOMPSON:  This is a motion to reconsider.



     22     It was a committee that received the letter in



     23     January with the wrong dates, and he took it before



     24     the Secretary of State's office instead of coming



     25     through our office at the beginning.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I know there was some email



      2     communication in our binders there.



      3          MS. THOMPSON:  Yeah.



      4          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Where in the binders?



      5          MS. TAYLOR:  Page 6 and then he wrote an email



      6     under the pink tab -- blue tab.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yeah.  I noticed here.



      8          MS. TAYLOR:  We had six or seven -- I don't



      9     remember the exact number -- committees at the last



     10     hearing where we sent the notice with the -- I



     11     mailed the 2020 notice instead of the '24 notice,



     12     so we had the January 20th deadline from 2021



     13     instead of the 15th.



     14          So he had reached out to Kegan and the



     15     Secretary's office from the jump.  We didn't know



     16     any of this.  And Kegan called him after the



     17     hearing to ask why he was not dismissed with



     18     everyone else at the hearing, but, again, I don't



     19     know Kegan.  I can't pick him out of a lineup of



     20     one.  So we would ask for this one to also be



     21     dismissed and apologize for having missed it the



     22     first time.



     23          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  But the first hearing he just



     24     didn't show up?



     25          MS. TAYLOR:  Right.
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      1          MS. WARYCHA:  And I believe that's because he



      2     had spoken to the Secretary of State's office,



      3     which is a separate --



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  But that's his fault, not the



      5     fault of the Commission.



      6          MS. WARYCHA:  That is fair.  I do believe the



      7     Secretary of State's staffer may have given him bad



      8     advice.  I just want to put that on the record.



      9          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.



     10          MS. WARYCHA:  Many people do not understand



     11     the Division is not part of the Secretary of



     12     State's office.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sure.  So he didn't show up



     14     for the first one because this email right here is



     15     dated the 24th, which we met on the 23rd.



     16          MS. TAYLOR:  Right, yes.  He called us both on



     17     the 24th to let us know that Kegan had informed him



     18     he was not dismissed at the hearing.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  What does he mention here,



     20     "I'm not sure why my complaints via phone were not



     21     recorded by your office"?



     22          MS. WARYCHA:  I believe that's him speaking to



     23     the Secretary of State staff.



     24          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sorry.  Okay.  Again --



     25          MS. WARYCHA:  No, no, no.  He was very
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      1     confused and very upset with the Election Division



      2     because he had been speaking to the Secretary of



      3     State's office, which I don't believe explained the



      4     difference of the Division and that they were not



      5     involved in this and may have given bad advice.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  And then so for today he



      7     references then this is this morning.



      8          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.  We were going to ask for



      9     this to be dismissed because, again, it was what we



     10     had goofed on, but I told him to go ahead and ask



     11     for a continuance because he called this morning



     12     and he was very sick.  And I said ask for the



     13     continuance because, if we don't get it dismissed,



     14     we'll have it continued and on the next agenda.



     15          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes.



     16          MR. KOCHEVAR:  I have a question for staff,



     17     and this may lead to a second question.  Was the



     18     final notice of penalty -- or the notice of -- no,



     19     let me go back.  The final order imposing a fine in



     20     the stack that was approved by the Commission at



     21     the beginning of the meeting, are they in that



     22     stack?



     23          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     24          MS. THOMPSON:  Yes, it is.



     25          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Okay.  So that goes to my
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      1     second one.  You have fully completed the



      2     requirements under AOPA to fine this committee.  If



      3     you want to grant his continuance for his motion to



      4     reconsider, I'm going to say this:  You may want to



      5     think about essentially pulling his final order and



      6     not issuing it.



      7          MS. WARYCHA:  Just because at the last meeting



      8     I do believe that we dismissed these complaints.



      9          MS. TAYLOR:  The other six, yes.



     10          MS. WARYCHA:  The other six were all



     11     dismissed, so I would say to be consistent, the



     12     motion would be to dismiss, if that was the will of



     13     the Commission.



     14          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Reconsider.



     15          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Yes, sure.



     16          MS. WARYCHA:  First they have to reconsider --



     17     Angie is correct -- but then a motion to dismiss.



     18          MR. KOCHEVAR:  I'd like to clarify my



     19     questions and comments.  Those are meant for if you



     20     were taking up his request for a continuance in



     21     case you wanted to hear from this committee at a



     22     future meeting as you took up the motion to



     23     reconsider.



     24          But if you do feel that you have enough



     25     evidence to act, then, yes, Valerie is absolutely
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      1     right because we just did one for a committee many



      2     minutes ago.



      3          MS. WARYCHA:  Yes, yes.



      4          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So when we voted on this at



      5     the last meeting, we dismissed a bunch of similarly



      6     situated cases.



      7          MS. WARYCHA:  Correct.



      8          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Why was his not incorporated



      9     in that?  Was it because he was not physically



     10     present?



     11          MS. WARYCHA:  No.



     12          MS. TAYLOR:  He had been speaking to the



     13     Secretary's office and not the Division, so we did



     14     not know.



     15          MS. WARYCHA:  We didn't know about it.  He got



     16     bad advice from the Secretary's office.



     17          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Got it.  Got it.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So at this point all we knew



     19     was he just didn't show up; correct?



     20          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     21          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We didn't have any



     22     supporting --



     23          MS. WARYCHA:  We did not have the information



     24     that he had given to the Secretary's office.



     25          MS. TAYLOR:  Of the 130 pages of that hearing,
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      1     he was on one of the pages.  We pulled out six



      2     other pages of those six committees.



      3          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So Valerie's point is to be



      4     consistent we would --



      5          MS. WARYCHA:  Correct.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  If the original argument is



      7     the date on the letter, we would dismiss.



      8          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So I would move to



      9     reconsider the order --



     10          MS. WARYCHA:  Correct.



     11          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  -- imposing the fine.



     12          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I'd second that motion.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So we have a motion



     14     and a second to reconsider.  All those in favor



     15     signify by saying "aye."



     16          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     17          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     18          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



     20          Motion passes.



     21          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  And I would move that



     22     we dismiss the fine based on the fact that he falls



     23     into the category of the folks who got the



     24     misleading letter.



     25          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Second.

�



                                                           82



      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So we have a motion



      2     and a second to dismiss the fine.  All those in



      3     favor signify by saying "aye."



      4          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



      5          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



      6          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



      8          Motion passes.



      9          MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.  And we do have



     10     continuances.  There were four committees who are



     11     asking for a second continuance.  They had



     12     continuances granted at the September 23rd hearing.



     13     The first is Hancock County for Progress.  They had



     14     three causes, 2025-7277-60, -151, and -349; Martin



     15     Del Rio for Indiana, Cause Nos. 2025-7610-96 and



     16     -253; Committee to Elect Shemanski, Cause



     17     No. 2025-7642-101; and Jay County Democrats, Cause



     18     No. 2025-7838-292 and -323.  They are all asking



     19     for a second continuance.



     20          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Are there any that the staff



     21     opposed?



     22          MS. TAYLOR:  No.



     23          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  On that, just for



     24     clarification because I'm new, is there reason



     25     given or we just sort of blanket approve those?
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      1          MS. TAYLOR:  Their emails are under the blue



      2     tab kind of explaining why they're asking for



      3     another continuance.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Each one is obviously



      5     different.



      6          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.  They're separate.  Some are



      7     two pages.  Most are just --



      8          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  In the past, once



      9     they've gotten two requests, haven't we said okay,



     10     if we grant it, but really next time you need to be



     11     here, that this is it?



     12          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.  Historically the Commission



     13     will grant the second continuance as a final



     14     continuance, has been what we've done for the last



     15     few years.



     16          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I move for a continuance of



     17     all the committees that were just referenced.



     18          MR. CLAYTOR:  Second.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So we have a motion



     20     and a second to grant those continuances that were



     21     mentioned.  All those in favor signify by saying



     22     "aye."



     23          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     24          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     25          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



      2          Motion passes.



      3          Okay.  Defaults --



      4          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Hang on.



      5          MS. TAYLOR:  I believe someone just walked in.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Would you like to come



      7     up and have a seat.  Mr. Kochevar will need to



      8     swear you in.



      9          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Please raise your right hand



     10     and say "I do" after recitation of the oath.



     11          Do you solemnly swear or affirm, under the



     12     penalties of perjury, that the testimony you are



     13     about to give to the Indiana Election Commission is



     14     the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the



     15     truth?



     16          MS. HATCHER:  I do.



     17          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Thank you.



     18          MS. HATCHER:  Thank you.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  If you could please state



     20     your name and spell it for us.



     21          MS. HATCHER:  Ragen Hatcher, R-a-g-e-n,



     22     H-a-t-c-h-e-r.



     23          MS. TAYLOR:  Madam Chairman, members of the



     24     Commission, this is on pages 12 and 13.  The first



     25     is Cause No. 2025-7150-393 with a proposed civil
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      1     penalty of $350.68.  The second is Cause



      2     No. 2025-7150-394 with a proposed civil penalty of



      3     $350.68.  This is their third time before the



      4     Commission.



      5          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So you were not here



      6     when we started.



      7          MS. HATCHER:  Yes.



      8          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So I will quickly -- or if



      9     you want to, I can defer to our vice chair.  We did



     10     sort of go through with other members that were at



     11     this hearing, we have been offering sort of what



     12     we'll call a deal to different committees for



     13     campaigns.



     14          MS. HATCHER:  Okay.



     15          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  If you want to forgo this



     16     hearing portion, you could take the deal, which



     17     means it would be 75 percent of the proposed



     18     penalty if just accepting the delinquencies, and



     19     you would pay 75 percent of the fine and waive this



     20     hearing.



     21          MS. HATCHER:  I'm not sure if -- I read



     22     through the statute.  I'm not sure if my reasoning



     23     is a good enough reason to be dismissed or not



     24     dismissed.  And so both of my issues are because I



     25     didn't file the supplemental report for the over
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      1     $1,000.  And it's because of the date that I used



      2     and not necessarily the date that I received it but



      3     the date that was on the check itself when I filed



      4     my report.



      5          Since that time and since this last issue,



      6     which occurred in 2023 for 2024, the Indiana



      7     Democratic -- we had kind of a meeting about how to



      8     fill out the reports best, and I had been



      9     apparently using the wrong date.



     10          If that is not sufficient for the reason that



     11     it was filed late even though from the time I



     12     received it it went into the system within



     13     24 hours, not from the time the check was written



     14     did it go into the system within 24 hours, I think



     15     that will be my only question because that's my



     16     only defense, that I'm putting it in based on the



     17     date on the check and not on the date I received



     18     it.  And I only do that because it keeps things



     19     easier for me when I am going through my reports



     20     and filling out reports for the biannual -- on the



     21     biannual basis.  It's just different with the



     22     $1,000 ones because they have to be in within a



     23     certain time.



     24          So I'm not quite sure what to do.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So obviously we want to
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      1     engage in discussion.  So I would say, if it's



      2     okay, maybe for clarification if we could sort of



      3     back up and you describe to us, if that's okay.



      4          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So before we take up your



      5     matter, what we've done with other campaign



      6     committees is that they've had to decide are they



      7     going to take a deal.  In this case, you would get



      8     a 25 percent haircut on what you owe.



      9          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  This is her third time,



     10     right, so it would be 75 percent.



     11          MR. WESTERCAMP:  The haircut is 25 percent.



     12          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Oh, yes.  I'm sorry.  Yeah.



     13          MR. WESTERCAMP:  We're saying the same thing.



     14     You've got to pay 75 percent.  You would get a



     15     25 percent reduction.



     16          MS. HATCHER:  Got you.



     17          MR. WESTERCAMP:  If you do that, then we're



     18     done.  If you want to take your chances and make a



     19     case to us, you just need to decide that now.



     20          MS. HATCHER:  I'd like to take my chances



     21     then.



     22          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Okay.  You're forgoing the



     23     deal?



     24          MS. HATCHER:  Yes.  Thank you.  And thank you



     25     for the offer.

�



                                                           88



      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So let's start over.



      2     You have five minutes for your portion.  So you



      3     just tell us a little more clearly what happened.



      4          MS. HATCHER:  Thank you.  First, I've been in



      5     politics for a while, but going back to county



      6     where we were filing the county, I was a city



      7     councilman.  This is -- since 2019, and I suspect



      8     it's probably the first time, I can't recall the



      9     first time I was in front of the Commission, but I



     10     think it was for a late report.  It wasn't for this



     11     situation.



     12          But when I do my reports, I go back, I pull



     13     out all my checks, and I put in the date that the



     14     check is written, the written date of the check,



     15     and not the date that I deposit it.  About a year



     16     ago, after this last one, I started writing and



     17     using the date that I actually pick it up from the



     18     P.O. Box and I actually put in the deposit.  So if



     19     you look at my newer records, you'll see a number



     20     of checks are received on the very same day.  It's



     21     the day that I pick them up and the day that I



     22     deposit them into the bank.  Going back here,



     23     though, I was still using the date of the check



     24     when I came and wrote my final report out to submit



     25     to the State for processing.

�



                                                           89



      1          So I know that's what the problem is.  I know



      2     that's where the mistake lies.  But as I said



      3     before, that seems like a mistake that's more on my



      4     end than on the Commission's end, and so I'm just



      5     asking for -- especially since I have corrected the



      6     problem now and understand what the issue is.  I do



      7     have all checks go to my P.O. Box.  None of them



      8     come straight to my house.  I usually pick that up,



      9     especially during election season, at least once a



     10     week, sometimes it may be once every two weeks, but



     11     yes.



     12          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So the issue is that



     13     you -- so if a check is dated December 1st, you



     14     received it December 15th, but you're entering it



     15     into the lovely antiquated system we keep talking



     16     about --



     17          MS. HATCHER:  I'm glad I didn't say it.



     18          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  -- with the



     19     December 1st date, is what you're saying?



     20          MS. HATCHER:  Yes, the date that's actually on



     21     the check.



     22          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Okay.  So do you have



     23     records indicating -- for these checks that



     24     prompted these penalties, do you have anything



     25     indicating when you received those particular
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      1     checks?



      2          MS. HATCHER:  So not necessarily.  Like I



      3     don't have anything that says I went to the P.O.



      4     Box on this day and picked this check up.  But I



      5     think what you will see is that the date that's on



      6     the actual check is the date that's being used to



      7     submit to the State.



      8          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  And I guess we don't



      9     have that.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We don't have that.



     11          MS. TAYLOR:  We don't have copies of any



     12     checks for anything.



     13          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So the staff's position is



     14     that the date that should have been used for the



     15     representative is the date that the money hit the



     16     bank account?



     17          MS. TAYLOR:  The date that she deposited the



     18     check to the bank account.



     19          MR. WESTERCAMP:  And you obviously have bank



     20     statements that would show that; right?



     21          MS. HATCHER:  Right.  So the one that I



     22     suspect that we're talking about, I think it's the



     23     one --



     24          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  It says there's one



     25     from Thomas Cappas and one from Greater Gary PAC.
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      1          MS. HATCHER:  So I have Cappas.  It says 5/1.



      2     That's the date it was written.



      3          MS. TAYLOR:  And you put 5/2 in the system,



      4     neither here nor there.



      5          MS. HATCHER:  Okay.  And 5/2 was probably --



      6     that was the date that I deposited it.  And then



      7     what is this?  Greater Gary, so Greater Gary is



      8     4/30.



      9          MS. TAYLOR:  You also have 5/2.  So that



     10     probably is the date you deposited them.



     11          MS. HATCHER:  Yeah.  So where would the



     12     problem come in?



     13          MS. TAYLOR:  You entered them in the system as



     14     received on May 2nd.  You didn't file the report



     15     until May 12th.  They were due May 4th, but that



     16     fell on a Saturday, so it rolled to May 6th.



     17          MS. HATCHER:  Yes.  So maybe I do have a bit



     18     of a problem here.



     19          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Abbey, which report are you



     20     speaking about specifically?



     21          MS. TAYLOR:  This is the CFA-11.



     22          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Due in 2024, 2023?



     23          MS. TAYLOR:  Due May 6th of 2024.



     24          MS. HATCHER:  Forty-eight hours from?



     25          MS. TAYLOR:  Forty-eight hours from receipt.
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      1          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Okay.  And what was the filing



      2     window for the 2024 CFA-11?



      3          MS. TAYLOR:  The 2024 CFA-11 was April -- let



      4     me look at a calendar.  April 13, 2024, through



      5     May 5, 2024.



      6          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Okay.



      7          MS. WARYCHA:  That was the five minutes.



      8          MS. HATCHER:  I don't know if I have a good



      9     one for this then.  I thought that was the ones



     10     that I was using the date of deposit for.  And is



     11     it because I have my --



     12          MS. TAYLOR:  So these were due within 48 hours



     13     of receipt, which would have been May 6th because



     14     the 4th was a weekend, and you didn't file these



     15     until the 12th.



     16          MS. HATCHER:  So I do have a problem.  Okay.



     17     So I need to pay the fine.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Questions or thoughts on



     19     this?



     20          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I would move to impose the



     21     penalty -- or is penalty the right word?  Okay.



     22          MS. HATCHER:  Can I pay one penalty instead of



     23     two penalties since they both happened on the same



     24     report?  It's the same report, same dates.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Unfortunately, it's a penalty
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      1     on each.



      2          MS. HATCHER:  Okay.



      3          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  I'm sorry.  So we have



      4     a motion on the floor, and yours would be to impose



      5     the fine at 100 percent.



      6          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Yes.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Which for each one it's $350,



      8     and it says the mail cost on both were 68 cents.



      9          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Do we have any discussion or



     11     a second?



     12          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Is there a second?



     13          MS. HATCHER:  Can I ask when that will be due?



     14          MS. WARYCHA:  Hang on just a second.



     15          MR. WESTERCAMP:  We're discussing the matter.



     16          MS. HATCHER:  Oh, okay.



     17          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Second.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So we have a motion



     19     and a second on the penalty, again, being $350 for



     20     each violation and 68 cents mail cost for each.



     21     All those in favor signify by saying "aye."



     22          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     23          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     24          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."
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      1          Motion passes.



      2          As far as the payment, once this is processed,



      3     then we'd have to accept all these at the next



      4     meeting.



      5          MS. TAYLOR:  And then we'll adopt the orders,



      6     and then we will mail the orders, and then they



      7     each have a 30-day window for payment.  You'll have



      8     some time.



      9          MS. HATCHER:  Okay.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So it's a little bit of time.



     11          MS. HATCHER:  Okay.  Is that it?



     12          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes.  Thank you very much.



     13          MR. CLAYTOR:  It's no consolation, but I'm old



     14     enough to have worked with Richard Hatcher and



     15     enjoyed that.



     16          MS. HATCHER:  Well, I'm sure he's unhappy with



     17     me today.  So thank you.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you very much.  Okay.



     19     Any others?  I don't think so.



     20          Okay.  So we dealt with the continuances.  On



     21     the issue of any defaults, is anyone present to



     22     testify on any remaining campaign finance hearings



     23     scheduled for today?



     24          If not, I declare the hearings on all



     25     remaining campaign finance matters scheduled for
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      1     today closed.  Is there a motion to impose the



      2     entire amount --



      3          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Can I just ask one question?



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes.



      5          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So I think Senator Young was



      6     here last time speaking several times.  Did he ask



      7     for a continuance?



      8          MS. TAYLOR:  We have not heard from him since



      9     that hearing.  He and I worked at the back and got



     10     it all situated to match up ours with his, and we



     11     have not heard since.



     12          MR. WESTERCAMP:  But you sent him notice today



     13     of the thing?



     14          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes, yes.



     15          MR. WESTERCAMP:  And the General Assembly is



     16     not in session.



     17          MS. TAYLOR:  Correct.



     18          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So we just have nothing from



     19     him.



     20          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  And, again, since I'm new and



     21     I know John is newer to the committee, how are



     22     those things handled if there is no communication?



     23          MS. TAYLOR:  Just like the rest of these



     24     causes, they'll get the full fine imposed.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  And then after today
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      1     those notifications get mailed?



      2          MS. TAYLOR:  Once we meet again and we adopt



      3     the orders, then we'll mail them.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.



      5          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Madam Chairman, though, just



      6     for you both, the committee can still file a motion



      7     to reconsider --



      8          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



      9          MS. NUSSMEYER:  -- even after the fines are



     10     assessed.  So Senator Young or any other committee



     11     that is in default today, once they receive that



     12     order, they can request a motion to reconsider,



     13     similar to what we had happen earlier today.



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  And we do give deference to



     15     that.



     16          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     17          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So do we need to vote



     18     on the defaults?  Yes.  Okay.  I just want to make



     19     sure.  Thank you.



     20          Okay.  Is there a motion to impose the entire



     21     amount of the proposed penalty plus mailing costs



     22     in all remaining campaign finance enforcement



     23     actions?



     24          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So moved.



     25          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Second.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Further discussion?



      2          All in favor of the motion please signify by



      3     saying "aye."



      4          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



      5          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



      6          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed say "nay."



      8          The "ayes" have it, and the motion to impose



      9     the penalty is adopted.



     10          Okay.  So this part of our hearing is



     11     completed.  We're going to move on to the voting



     12     system approval protocols report.  The Chair



     13     recognizes the Co-Directors to provide a report



     14     regarding the protocols for the Commission to



     15     consider applications for approval of a new voting



     16     system.  The chair will then recognize



     17     representatives of the Voting Systems Technical



     18     Advisory Program, VSTOP, to provide information



     19     regarding the proposed 2025 protocols for voting



     20     system approval.



     21          MR. KING:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, members of



     22     the Commission, I think it's important,



     23     particularly for those who may not have been



     24     present at the last meeting, to review the sequence



     25     in which these two categories of voting systems
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      1     generally fall under.  There is a process for



      2     recertification of a voting system that has been



      3     approved at some point during the previous



      4     four-year cycle.  Each cycle ends on October 1st



      5     following a presidential election year.



      6          Because there were changes made during the



      7     2025 General Assembly that had potential impact on



      8     voting system standards, the Commission, at its



      9     previous meeting, adopted amendments to the



     10     existing protocols to reflect those legislative



     11     changes.  However, there are voting systems that



     12     will be brought forward presumably, depending upon



     13     the due diligence of the vendor and the



     14     availability of the Voting System Technical



     15     Oversight Program to review once submitted, that



     16     would come under new 2025 protocols, as I will use



     17     as a shorthand designation.



     18          Those 2025 protocols were reviewed by myself



     19     and my counterpart and by Co-Counsel and provided



     20     to VSTOP.  And so at this point for VSTOP to do its



     21     work for the November 10th meeting, the 2025



     22     protocols are the documents before the Commission,



     23     and I believe they're included in your binder



     24     material.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I think the blue tab;
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      1     correct?



      2          MR. KING:  And then I'll defer to our



      3     counterparts to add and supplement.



      4          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Yes.  And I would probably



      5     defer over to Co-Director Nussmeyer, but this just



      6     a matter of how you consider this.  This new



      7     protocol has new procedures for VSTOP to test, as



      8     Mr. King said, on changes in 2025, the biggest



      9     being ballot retraction.



     10          But while we still have today and on



     11     November 10th renewal of voting systems currently



     12     pending, I would recommend that, if you do adopt



     13     this today, that you make it very clear that this



     14     protocol, this amendment, applies to any new voting



     15     system and any what we call modifications or



     16     changes to voting systems that are approved for use



     17     in Indiana, I'm going to say, after November 10,



     18     2025.  That is so that we don't have, say,



     19     procedurally, maybe possibly legally, issues with



     20     the three ES&S systems that are pending renewal.



     21     But that, I believe, will be on the agenda on the



     22     November 10th meeting next Monday.  So I'd like to



     23     just state that as you consider that and consider



     24     your motion.



     25          I'll defer over to Co-Director Nussmeyer on
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      1     anything about the protocols or anything else you



      2     may want to add on my point.



      3          MS. NUSSMEYER:  If I might, Madam Chair, this



      4     is actually a question for VSTOP, so I don't know



      5     if Spencer or Dr. Kinsella.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  If you all want to come up



      7     and state your names, if that's appropriate.  Let's



      8     do that.



      9          MR. DRUMM:  Spencer Drumm, D-r-u-m-m.



     10          MS. WARYCHA:  Into the microphone so that



     11     those watching online can hear it.



     12          MR. DRUMM:  Spencer Drumm.



     13          MS. WARYCHA:  Thank you.



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  And maybe for me too, those



     15     of us that are new, who you are with and maybe your



     16     titles, just a little more background.



     17          MR. DRUMM:  Yes.  I'm with VSTOP.  I'm a



     18     certification specialist for voting systems.



     19          MR. CHATOT:  Marc Chatot.  That's M-a-r-c,



     20     C-h-a-t-o-t.  I'm the program manager at VSTOP.



     21          MR. KINSELLA:  Chad Kinsella, K-i-n-s-e-l-l-a,



     22     co-director and associate professor.



     23          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



     24          MS. NUSSMEYER:  So if I may, for today, both



     25     Unisyn and MicroVote were tested under the 2021
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      1     standard with the revision that we did at the



      2     September meeting; correct?



      3          MR. DRUMM:  Correct.



      4          MS. NUSSMEYER:  The 2025 revision.  For the



      5     November 10th meeting potentially, we will have



      6     ES&S.  Now, ES&S has two recertifications, and a



      7     third is a new system that was tested in February



      8     of 2024 that they then were retested under the 2021



      9     protocol with the addendum made from the September



     10     meeting; correct?



     11          MR. DRUMM:  There's three systems.



     12          MS. NUSSMEYER:  But two are recertification



     13     and one is a new system.



     14          MR. DRUMM:  No.  There's four total.



     15          MS. NUSSMEYER:  There's four all day.  Okay.



     16     Correct.



     17          MR. DRUMM:  Yeah.



     18          MS. NUSSMEYER:  So three recertifications --



     19          MR. DRUMM:  Correct.



     20          MS. NUSSMEYER:  -- one new, all of them under



     21     the 2021 amendment.



     22          MR. DRUMM:  Correct.



     23          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Okay, for testing.  Hart has



     24     also applied, but they have applied for a new



     25     voting system.
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      1          MR. DRUMM:  Correct.



      2          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Will they be on the agenda for



      3     November 10th?  I have not seen anything scheduled



      4     for a field test.



      5          MR. DRUMM:  We haven't received a TDP from



      6     them, so we haven't gotten that far.



      7          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Okay.  So if I may at least



      8     make a recommendation to my members and the full



      9     Commission, I would recommend, to ensure that we



     10     can get through the November 10th meeting with the



     11     three systems that are here for recertification



     12     plus the new system that is under the 2021



     13     protocols, that perhaps we table the discussion for



     14     the 2025 certification and do it at the



     15     November 10th meeting so that it is clean, that it



     16     is clear that the machines that are being tested



     17     under the 2021 protocols, that that is still a



     18     protocol that is ripe and usable for VSTOP.



     19          And then after the November 10th meeting, that



     20     would be the last order of business, to adopt the



     21     2025 protocols, so that when Hart does finish their



     22     reporting to VSTOP, then they can be tested under



     23     the new protocols, and any other system.  It's one



     24     week, and that would be my suggestion or



     25     recommendation to the full Commission, but I would
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      1     defer to my colleagues, of course.



      2          MR. KING:  Madam Chair and members of the



      3     Commission, I appreciate my counterpart's



      4     delineation of the lots of moving parts that are in



      5     play here.  I think there's a couple points of



      6     concern.



      7          I do want to add that the proposed protocols



      8     have been published on our website and then



      9     provided to vendors, and, to my knowledge, our



     10     office has certainly not received any comments, and



     11     I'm not aware of any comments that VSTOP received,



     12     at least that took written form, from anyone.



     13          I think the only potential risk of mixing



     14     apples and oranges here is that if, in fact, the



     15     2025 protocols are not approved today but the



     16     Commission decides on November 10th to make further



     17     modifications for whatever reason, it then becomes



     18     unclear whether the Commission could proceed with



     19     the certification of new systems in accordance with



     20     those 2025 protocols.  And so I think, again,



     21     thinking back to 2021, when we had an initial



     22     recertify by Election Division staff, the model we



     23     brought forward to you was based on the procedures



     24     used in 2021, the last time in this cycle this



     25     process came up.
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      1          And so I'm hearing this for the first time at



      2     this moment, so I haven't had time to fully think



      3     through all the potential alternatives, but I think



      4     instinctively, to me, it is more efficient, if the



      5     Commission is comfortable, to approve the 2025



      6     protocols today for purposes of VSTOP's work, and



      7     then, if further amendments or tweaks are



      8     identified, nothing precludes you from amending



      9     those on November 10th just in the same way that



     10     you amended the 2021 protocols in September.  So



     11     I'm, in essence, saying proceeding with the plan



     12     that we originally brought forward to you as a way



     13     to go forward.



     14          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Well, if I may, this is also



     15     my first opportunity to have a conversation about



     16     the agenda, and so, when it comes to the testing



     17     protocol, I don't see a reason why the Commission



     18     can't have a conversation or discussion on the 2025



     19     protocol and raise any issues that they may have



     20     with the work the Division did and VSTOP in the



     21     vendor review and identify places of concern and



     22     direct staff to make amendments to the protocol and



     23     then adopt the amended protocol one week from



     24     today, which is November 10th.



     25          MR. KING:  And, Madam Chair, if I can briefly
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      1     respond.



      2          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sure.



      3          MR. KING:  Again, I think the operative



      4     sequence here is that, so long as the 2025



      5     protocols are not deferred in their entirety until



      6     a week from today, November 10th, that gives VSTOP



      7     and the vendors and the potential county customers,



      8     depending upon what variety of contractual



      9     arrangement a vendor might have with a county, time



     10     to address any concerns, to expeditiously approve



     11     the system if it meets the qualification of the



     12     statute.



     13          MS. NUSSMEYER:  But if I may, VSTOP just on



     14     the record said that they have no system -- any



     15     vendor that has applied for a new voting system



     16     beyond the ES&S system that was requested under the



     17     2021 protocols where a report was filed in February



     18     of 2025.  Correct?  There is no other voting system



     19     before VSTOP at this point that would be tested



     20     under their revised 2025 protocols, so we would



     21     not, in effect, be holding up your work or work for



     22     the county; is that correct?



     23          MR. DRUMM:  Correct.



     24          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Thank you.



     25          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Well, I guess my
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      1     thought would be it seems odd to approve the 2025



      2     protocols now if it seems like we're contemplating



      3     the possibility that we may be somehow revising



      4     them in a week and if they're not going to be



      5     affecting anything that is being considered in the



      6     next week, which is what I'm hearing.



      7          So it seems like I agree with Co-Director



      8     Nussmeyer that, if what we're contemplating -- it



      9     sounds like there is contemplation that there might



     10     be revision to these protocols, so it seems like



     11     that's something to discuss perhaps now but then to



     12     take final action next week.  And I agree also it



     13     sounds like it makes sense to avoid confusion as to



     14     which protocols are in play at any given period of



     15     time.



     16          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Do you all have anything



     17     you'd like to --



     18          MR. DRUMM:  To add to it?  I don't believe so.



     19          MR. CHATOT:  No.  No vendor reply.



     20          MR. DRUMM:  Yeah.  We got no replies from the



     21     vendors other than they had no comments.



     22          MS. WARYCHA:  I do have a question.  We kept



     23     hearing from ES&S specifically in Marion County



     24     that they were concerned about being able to sell



     25     equipment.  Does this -- and I'm not advocating for
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      1     any vendor.  Please don't take it as that.  But I



      2     did hear from them that they were concerned about



      3     being able to meet some deadlines of selling



      4     equipment to Marion County because Marion County



      5     needed new equipment.



      6          MS. NUSSMEYER:  So if I might, this is the



      7     system that VSTOP provided a report to us in



      8     February of 2025 that had to then be



      9     re-field-tested under the amended protocol, which



     10     VSTOP has done.  It is not on today's agenda.  So I



     11     don't know exactly why ES&S is not part of today's



     12     agenda.  Maybe that is something VSTOP can tell us.



     13     But as soon as they can be on the agenda, then --



     14     because Marion County, you're correct, a new



     15     system, they can't market, sell, or lease it until



     16     the Commission approves it.



     17          MS. WARYCHA:  Okay.  And I was thinking, based



     18     off what I had seen, we had talked -- Commissioner



     19     Boyce had mentioned at the meeting a month ago that



     20     we would put this up for 30 days, which we did, and



     21     then we would come back at the November 10th



     22     meeting to approve new systems.



     23          So just to make sure I'm clear, isn't that



     24     what ES&S is asking for in the November 10th is to



     25     approve their new system so they can sell it to
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      1     Marion County?



      2          MR. DRUMM:  I don't know the Marion County



      3     part, but the 6500, yes.



      4          MS. WARYCHA:  Yeah.  So I just want to put



      5     that out there.



      6          MS. NUSSMEYER:  But that is not accurate.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  The what?



      8          MS. WARYCHA:  The 6500 is a system.



      9          MS. NUSSMEYER:  But that is not under the 2025



     10     protocol because they were originally tested under



     11     2021, and we met with ES&S, as you recall.



     12          MS. WARYCHA:  Right.



     13          MS. NUSSMEYER:  And we said when that report



     14     is amended to include the school board questions



     15     and other things, that we would ask that they do a



     16     field test on that portion only, can they do the



     17     school board --



     18          MS. WARYCHA:  Correct.



     19          MS. NUSSMEYER:  -- nonpartisan races and so on



     20     and so forth.  That is a new system tested under



     21     the 2021 protocols as amended at the September



     22     meeting.  The 2025 protocols that are before us



     23     right now are for new systems moving forward after



     24     October 1, 2025.  So these protocols would not



     25     apply to anything right now before VSTOP.  Hart
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      1     will be the first system on the 2025 protocols when



      2     and if they file.



      3          MS. WARYCHA:  Yes.



      4          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I move to move forward with



      5     the approval of the procedures -- the protocol,



      6     sorry, the 2025 protocol to be adopted.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  I'd like to second



      8     that.



      9          Okay.  So we have a motion and a second to



     10     approve the proposed 2025 protocols.  All in favor



     11     signify by saying "aye."



     12          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Aye.



     14          Opposed "nay."



     15          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Nay.



     16          MR. CLAYTOR:  Nay.



     17          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So we have a two-two



     18     vote.



     19          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I move to exhaust



     20     administrative remedies in the event of appeal to



     21     court.



     22          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I'll make a second.



     23          Any discussion?



     24          MR. KOCHEVAR:  I'm sorry.  That's the first



     25     time I've ever heard the motion at a Commission
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      1     meeting, so I'm looking at my co-counsel who will



      2     help me.



      3          MS. WARYCHA:  You're worried about the



      4     administrative remedies?



      5          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Yes, Commissioner Westercamp's



      6     motion.  Sorry.  I normally do AOPA here, so,



      7     again, as I stated in other meetings --



      8          MR. WESTERCAMP:  It's the counterpart, yes.



      9          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Okay.  My apologies.



     10          MS. NUSSMEYER:  But in the past what we've



     11     typically done is make the counter motion --



     12          MS. WARYCHA:  Correct.



     13          MS. NUSSMEYER:  -- rather than doing it in a



     14     more broad fashion, as you motioned.



     15          MS. WARYCHA:  It's still proper.  You're okay.



     16          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Okay.



     17          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So there's been a motion and



     18     a second.  All those in favor signify by saying



     19     "aye."



     20          Aye.



     21          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     22          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



     23          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Nay.



     24          MR. CLAYTOR:  Nay.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  The motion fails since
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      1     it has not received the three votes required for



      2     the official action by the Commission.



      3          Okay.  Voting system applications for



      4     recertification.  The Chair recognizes the Election



      5     Division Co-Counsels to provide information



      6     regarding the legal requirements applicable to a



      7     previously certified voting system whose



      8     certification expired October 1, 2025.



      9          MS. WARYCHA:  Sure.  Matthew, if you're okay,



     10     I'll go ahead and start.



     11          So there's two statutes to look at, one for



     12     ballot card voting systems, and that's going to be



     13     Indiana Code 3-11-7-19; and then the code for



     14     electronic voting systems is 3-11-7.5-82.  And



     15     these provisions are generally the same, and what



     16     they start out by saying is that all of our voting



     17     systems expired on October 1, 2025, as Mr. King



     18     explained earlier.



     19          Vendors may then send an application to the



     20     Election Division to request renewal of their



     21     system.  Once we get that, we, as the Election



     22     Division, send it to the county clerks in the



     23     counties who are using that system so that they



     24     have an opportunity to speak up if something is not



     25     working with that system.  And, in addition, the
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      1     Commission gets a report from VSTOP, which, I



      2     believe, is what is in all of your binders, and it



      3     indicates the hardware, firmware, software included



      4     in the application for renewal is identical to the



      5     previously approved certification.



      6          And the Commission report also -- after



      7     receiving the Commission report, if you get any



      8     comments from interested persons, we would share



      9     those with you.  I do not believe we got any



     10     comments at all, so there won't be any of those in



     11     your binder.



     12          And then so once the Commission shall approve



     13     the application if it complies with the standards



     14     prescribed in this chapter, so under 3-11-7, and



     15     that's in your binder report from VSTOP, if the



     16     system has worked effectively if it's been used



     17     previously, which we have had no comments from a



     18     county saying that it wasn't working properly, and



     19     then if it's been adequately supported by the



     20     vendor, which, again, this is an opportunity for



     21     the county to pipe up and say my vendor is not



     22     supporting me and at this time we have none of



     23     those comments, we have the report from VSTOP



     24     recommending recertification.



     25          And, Mr. Kochevar, if there's anything else
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      1     you'd like to add, please do.



      2          MR. KOCHEVAR:  First, I will say that I agree



      3     with my counterpart on her explanation of the



      4     statutes for renewal of voting systems.  I will



      5     also state that the necessary documentation were



      6     sent to the counties that are using the voting



      7     systems in question.  They were sent by Mr. McLain,



      8     who is sitting in the back over there, as well as



      9     myself because we had some large documents that we



     10     had to share on One Drive.  You know how these



     11     things work.



     12          I will note, and this will be more for your



     13     agenda, that I just want to note there is an



     14     engineering change order with the Unisyn renewal.



     15     I'm going to use an assumption, and just based on



     16     how the agenda is done, this is -- ECOs along with



     17     renewals is nothing new.  This happens all the



     18     time.  They're just something like a small change



     19     in the voting system that's pending during renewal.



     20          I believe, because of how the agenda has been



     21     ordered, that our past precedence has been, when



     22     you have something like this before you, you want



     23     to take up and make sure to approve the ECO first



     24     and then approve the renewal.  VSTOP keeps great



     25     notes for four years from now so, in case the
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      1     voting system comes back for renewal, they will



      2     keep track of this additional ECO as this was part



      3     of the system that was, in this case, subtly



      4     changed.  This is how we describe ECOs, there being



      5     de minimus changes.  So I just want to add on that



      6     extra note on top of my counterpart's excellent



      7     summary, and I have nothing further.



      8          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



      9          MR. KING:  And, Madam Chair, members of the



     10     Commission, I would simply add I entirely agree



     11     with Mr. Kochevar with regard to his



     12     characterization of engineering change orders and



     13     the rationale of having, in this case, what appears



     14     to be a very mechanical, nonelectronic type of



     15     change to a voting system be considered as part of



     16     the process for recertification of the larger



     17     system overall.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.



     19          The Chair will now recognize representatives



     20     from VSTOP to provide information regarding the



     21     voting systems whose vendors have filed



     22     applications for recertification beginning with the



     23     Unisyn OpenElect 2.2.2 ballot card voting system.



     24          MR. DRUMM:  Thank you, Madam Chairman.  Do you



     25     want me to go over the ECO first?
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes, please.



      2          MR. DRUMM:  So this is ECO NCC 1031, and it



      3     introduces a larger capacity 8 gig flash drive for



      4     in-field high-use cases where large ballot images



      5     can exceed the capacity of the 1 gig model.  ECO



      6     NCC 1031 does not adversely impact the



      7     functionality, performance, accessibility,



      8     usability, safety, or security of the components or



      9     the system or alter the overall configuration of



     10     the certified system.  No change to firmware or



     11     software is required.



     12          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So I think --



     13          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Is there any discussion from



     14     other members on this?



     15          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We will need a motion and a



     16     second to adopt this change order.



     17          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I move to approve the ECO



     18     NCC 1031.



     19          MR. CLAYTOR:  Second.



     20          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We have a motion and a



     21     second.  All those in favor please signify by



     22     saying "aye."



     23          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     24          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     25          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



      2          Motion passes.



      3          Okay.  So then next is the engineering change



      4     order.



      5          MS. NUSSMEYER:  We just did the engineering



      6     change order.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Oh, I'm sorry.



      8     Recertification.  On to the next one.  I'm sorry.



      9     Go ahead.



     10          MR. DRUMM:  The Unisyn OpenElect voting system



     11     provides a complete system for election definition,



     12     ballot printing, voting at the polls, as well as



     13     early voting, handling absentee and provisional



     14     ballots at the central site for tabulation,



     15     accumulation, and reporting results.  The OVS is a



     16     ballot precinct voting system that offers both



     17     precinct and central tabulation.  The OVS consists



     18     of the OpenElect Central Suite, or OCS, installed



     19     at election headquarters location; the OpenElect



     20     Voting Device, or OVD, for use at the polls or



     21     early voting; and OpenElect Voting Central Scans,



     22     or OVCS bulk scanners, for use at central



     23     locations.



     24          This system was certified by the U.S. Election



     25     Assistance Commission, EAC, on November 18 of 2021
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      1     and is in compliance with the Voluntary Voting



      2     System Guidelines 1.0.  This voting system is a



      3     modification of the OpenElect 2.1, which was



      4     certified in Indiana until that certification



      5     expired October 1st of 2021.  OpenElect 2.2 was



      6     certified on February 24, 2022, as a New Voting



      7     System, and it has -- ECO 3476 was a modification



      8     to OpenElect 2.2 that introduced changes to extend



      9     ballot insertion time to avoid jams, and that



     10     updated the OpenElect version to 2.2.2 on



     11     December 7th of 2022.



     12          This voting system was reviewed and



     13     field-tested by using the Indiana Voting Systems



     14     Certification Protocol approved by the Indiana



     15     Election Commission on November 15th of 2021 and



     16     tested to the updated sections in Amendment 1



     17     version of the protocol approved on September 23rd



     18     of 2025.  The review and testing included all



     19     sections of the Protocol, including the recent



     20     legislative requirements such as software hash



     21     verification and review of the complete ballot



     22     creation and deployment process.



     23          Per the requirements of the Protocol, this



     24     report includes the completed Appendix A, the field



     25     test; Appendix B, the accessibility testing;
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      1     Appendix F, procedures for renewal; Appendix G, the



      2     VSTOP certification checklist; and Appendix 8, the



      3     test ballot samples.



      4          On the basis of VSTOP's review and evaluation,



      5     the voting system referenced herein, with the scope



      6     and certification, meets all the requirements of



      7     the Indiana Code for use in the state of Indiana.



      8     This finding includes compliance with the legal



      9     requirements for voters with disabilities.



     10          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I move to recertify Unisyn



     11     Voting Systems OpenElect 2.2.2.



     12          MR. CLAYTOR:  Second.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We have a motion and a second



     14     for the recertification.  All those in favor



     15     signify by saying -- oh, I apologize.



     16          Any question?



     17          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Yeah.  Could we have



     18     some discussion about it before we proceed with the



     19     vote?



     20          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sure.



     21          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Did staff have any



     22     comments about the recertification?



     23          MS. NUSSMEYER:  I just -- just for on the



     24     record with VSTOP, to be clear, for the Unisyn



     25     system, ballot retraction was not part of the
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      1     recertification, it was not tested, and the vendor



      2     is clear that ballot retraction, at least as



      3     currently being considered for recertification, is



      4     not part of what can be deployed in Indiana until



      5     such a time they supply new application and ask for



      6     testing under the 2025 protocols, whenever those



      7     are adopted?



      8          MR. DRUMM:  Correct.



      9          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Thank you.  That was my



     10     question.



     11          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  That's what I was



     12     going to ask.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Very good.  Any other



     14     discussion, questions?



     15          MR. KING:  Madam Chair, members of the



     16     Commission, if I can just add briefly to supplement



     17     the remarks of my counterpart.  There was also



     18     legislation regarding retraction adopted in the



     19     2025 legislative session which is very complicated,



     20     and I'll give you the executive summary for this



     21     purpose, which was to say that in the version



     22     signed into law, retraction ability was made



     23     permissible.  It's authorized but not required for



     24     each type of voting system used in Indiana with the



     25     stated goal of not either benefiting or harming any
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      1     particular vendor based on the current nature of



      2     their product.



      3          And so as a result, some systems like Unisyn,



      4     which do not have the ability to retract currently,



      5     were not subject to an additional requirement based



      6     on that new statute.



      7          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Right.  But if they



      8     do have a retraction -- if they try to have a



      9     retraction feature, they have to comply with the



     10     requirements of the statute?



     11          MR. KING:  Yes, Commissioner, that is correct.



     12          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Great.  Any other comments?



     13          MR. KOCHEVAR:  To add on to the answer to the



     14     vice chair's question, I would also say in



     15     addition, at least for this Unisyn system, they



     16     would also need to seek a modification.  I want to



     17     make that clear.  They must seek a modification



     18     under law, come before this Commission to, I'm



     19     going to use the words, turn on the ballot



     20     retraction feature that is well-known among



     21     election administrators is available in certain



     22     Unisyn systems and that I can tell you and attest



     23     that at least one circuit court clerk that uses



     24     this Unisyn system is just dying to have it for



     25     their elections.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



      2          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  But, again, it's not



      3     part of this?



      4          MR. KOCHEVAR:  It's not part of this.



      5          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I was going to say



      6     let's not confuse things.



      7          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Yes, yes, yes.



      8          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Any other questions,



      9     discussion?



     10          If not, we have a motion and a second on the



     11     floor for this recertification.  So all those in



     12     favor signify by saying "aye."



     13          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     14          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     15          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     16          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



     17          The motion is adopted, and the application for



     18     recertification of this voting system is approved.



     19          Okay.  The Chair will now recognize VSTOP to



     20     provide information regarding the application for



     21     recertification of the MicroVote General



     22     Corporation Direct Record Electronic Ballot System.



     23          MR. DRUMM:  Yes.  So EMS 4.4-IN is hardware,



     24     including the VVPAT, software, and firmware, is



     25     compatible with all existing Indiana certified
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      1     hardware components.  The EMS 4.4-IN revision



      2     includes an updated panel which includes the



      3     Windows 10 operating system with a bright color



      4     display.  The system also includes election



      5     management software enhancements to provide



      6     equipment tracking and status and election night



      7     reporting by location.  In addition to the



      8     mandatory precinct reporting, the equipment is now



      9     optionally assigned to locations and then election



     10     reports can be viewed for individual locations or



     11     aggregated across multiple select locations.



     12          This system was certified by the U.S. Election



     13     Assistance Commission on May 1, 2020, and is



     14     compliant with the Voluntary Voting Systems



     15     Guidelines.  Since 2022, there's been a few



     16     engineering changes to it.  136, 137, 139 have been



     17     approved on EMS 4.4-IN.



     18          This voting system was reviewed and



     19     field-tested by using the Indiana Voting System



     20     Certification Protocol approved by the Indiana



     21     Election Commission on November 15, 2021, and



     22     tested to the updates found in the 2021 Amendment 1



     23     protocol approved on September 23, 2025.  The



     24     review and testing included all sections of the



     25     Protocol, including the recent legislative
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      1     requirements updated by Amendment 1.



      2          Per the requirements for the Protocol, this



      3     report includes the completed Appendix A, field



      4     test; B, the accessibility testing; F, the



      5     procedures for renewal; Appendix G, the



      6     certification checklist, and then also the test



      7     ballot samples.



      8          On the basis of VSTOP's review and evaluation,



      9     we find the voting system referenced herein, and



     10     within the scope of certification, meets all



     11     requirements of the Indiana Code for use in the



     12     state of Indiana.  This finding includes compliance



     13     with the legal requirements for voters with



     14     disabilities.



     15          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Can we have



     16     discussion now?



     17          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yeah.  Questions, comments?



     18          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So --



     19          MR. KING:  We want a motion.



     20          MR. WESTERCAMP:  We do need a motion?  Okay.



     21     I move to recertify MicroVote General Corporation



     22     EMS 4.4-IN.



     23          MR. CLAYTOR:  Second.



     24          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So we have a motion and a



     25     second.  Discussion?
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      1          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So my understanding



      2     is that MicroVote has a retraction feature.  Or



      3     does their recertification include a retraction



      4     feature, a ballot retraction feature?



      5          MR. CHATOT:  Yes.  It was previously



      6     certified.



      7          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Okay.  So do we know



      8     what methodology they use for retraction for



      9     identifying the ballots that are to be retracted at



     10     this time?  I mean, because there was a past



     11     meeting where they said that they actually use the



     12     voter ID number for retraction.



     13          MR. CHATOT:  I don't recall the exact



     14     specifics of it.  That could be a part of it.  I



     15     hoped a representative would be here to answer



     16     that, but it seems it's just us.  So I don't want



     17     to speak to that officially at this time.  I don't



     18     know the exact answer.  It would take a while to



     19     look up.



     20          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I mean, my



     21     understanding is that they said -- that they had



     22     said in the past they use a voter ID number but



     23     they could also use a randomized digit.  Under



     24     Indiana law, the voter ID number is linked to



     25     personal information that, under Indiana law, isn't
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      1     supposed to be used for this process.  So during



      2     the evaluation, did MicroVote address how they were



      3     going to be handling retraction?



      4          MR. DRUMM:  The recent testing that we did



      5     only covered the updates to Amendment 1, so we did



      6     the school board testing.  We didn't go into



      7     anything else beyond that.



      8          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So when the equipment



      9     was -- when the system, I guess, was certified



     10     previously and they had the retraction capability



     11     in it, were there limitations placed on how they



     12     would effectuate ballot retraction?



     13          MR. CHATOT:  I don't believe so, but I can't



     14     recall exactly.



     15          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  And your report



     16     doesn't impose -- although maybe it's not up to



     17     VSTOP; maybe it's up to us.  I guess this is a



     18     question for staff.  So in terms of making sure



     19     MicroVote understands that they've got to comply



     20     with state law in terms of -- the new state law in



     21     terms of the retraction requirements, is that a



     22     condition we impose on the recertification?



     23          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Yes.  To answer that question,



     24     I believe, yes, you can impose that condition



     25     because there is a matter of Statute 3-11-15-26,
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      1     and more specifically subsection B, on what the



      2     ballot retraction ID can and cannot be.



      3          I will recall that many years ago, when ballot



      4     retraction actually came up, the Commission did



      5     impose -- it was an advisory opinion, which is now



      6     moot.  I will admit that under law.  But at that



      7     time I would -- essentially saying another way, the



      8     Commission made a statement to voting system



      9     vendors that there are certain things that the



     10     Commission will not approve in a voting system



     11     application, certification, modification, or



     12     renewal.



     13          So certainly in your motion to renew you can



     14     put in specific matters here about the ballot



     15     retraction as well, and precedence backs you on the



     16     matter.



     17          MS. NUSSMEYER:  But if I could add just for



     18     some additional background, the direct report



     19     electronic voting system, of which MicroVote is,



     20     they also have an optical scanning component for



     21     absentee voting, but the DRE system, in and of



     22     itself, at least as far as I know, when the law was



     23     originally passed for DREs, they always had to have



     24     a ballot retraction, but it was never defined in



     25     state law what it could or could not be.  The law
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      1     has changed to say what it can and can't be.



      2          To me, I think there's a novel -- again, a



      3     novel legal question before the Commission today



      4     because the legislature does permit the use of a



      5     voter ID number for retraction, but it does not



      6     allow for things like a person's driver's license



      7     number.  A voter ID number can be a driver's



      8     license number.  A voter ID number can be an SSN



      9     four plus date of birth.  SSN four and date of



     10     birth cannot be used for ballot retraction.  There



     11     is a unique identifier for voters who may have



     12     registered to vote prior to SVRS -- prior to



     13     federal and state law changing where they truly do



     14     get a unique identifier assigned to them, but that



     15     is a very small universe of voters.



     16          And so, at least from our staff perspective, a



     17     ballot retraction number, although state law says



     18     voter ID number may be used, that voter ID number



     19     is comprised of personally identifying information



     20     that state law prohibits from being used.  So if a



     21     person would go to a MicroVote voting system, their



     22     voter ID number could be their driver's license



     23     number, which is precluded from being used under



     24     state law, although the SVRS voter ID number can be



     25     used.  So how do you square those two things?  If
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      1     you use a voter ID number that is wholly comprised



      2     of a person's DLN number, that is not allowed for



      3     use under state law.



      4          And I will say that MicroVote has had members



      5     testify before the Commission in meeting minutes



      6     that we can certainly pull for the Commission where



      7     they have stated that they can do either.  They use



      8     a voter ID number, it's easier for the counties



      9     because they put the voter ID number on a card



     10     that's then inserted directly from the poll book



     11     and put into the system, or they can do a



     12     randomized number.  It takes a little bit longer



     13     time for the voter to be processed if you go that



     14     route.



     15          So those are the concerns that I raised with



     16     my commissioners and the reason for the vice



     17     chair's questions today.



     18          MS. WARYCHA:  I would just supplement, I



     19     cannot recall all of the legislative discussion,



     20     but I do believe this came up during committee with



     21     the legislature, and that is when they did amend,



     22     as Matthew mentioned, the 3-11-15-26.  And I am not



     23     the MicroVote lobbyist or any vendor's lobbyist,



     24     but I do recall this coming in session and the



     25     General Assembly deciding that they could continue
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      1     using their ballot retraction feature that had the



      2     voter's SVRS identification number, for lack of a



      3     better term.  So the legislature did set policy on



      4     that, I would just want to bring forward to the



      5     Commission.



      6          MR. KING:  And, Madam Chair, members of the



      7     Commission, I would add to that again to say that



      8     throughout the process the particular bill was



      9     amended in response to vendor concerns, again, to



     10     strike a balance to not impose an additional



     11     hardship on a vendor that currently had a



     12     retraction feature nor to require a retraction



     13     feature for a system that did not currently have



     14     one.



     15          MS. WARYCHA:  Go ahead.



     16          MR. KING:  But that, again, it comes back, I



     17     think, to the larger question of construing



     18     statutes to say we can't pick and choose; they have



     19     to be read in their entirety.  And so that's



     20     already been discussed, so I don't need to go into



     21     great detail on that.



     22          At this point, in the absence of a



     23     representative from MicroVote to further testify



     24     regarding the matter, the Commission may wish to



     25     consider tabling the motion until November 10th to
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      1     provide an opportunity for additional information



      2     from the vendor to further address the question.



      3          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Will there be any kind of



      4     notice to the vendor where we'll have some



      5     guarantee that some -- or do we have any confidence



      6     that a representative will be here in a week?



      7          MS. NUSSMEYER:  They're based in Indianapolis.



      8          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Not much reason for



      9     them not to be here today.



     10          MR. KOCHEVAR:  We certainly can extend that



     11     invitation on your behalf to them.



     12          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Yes.



     13          MR. KING:  We ordinarily -- we certainly would



     14     contact the vendor, either directly or as part of



     15     the application process, to ensure that that would



     16     be the case.



     17          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  And I remember



     18     actually the meeting where they were very



     19     noncommittal about their willingness to assign just



     20     random numbers.  I remember that.  It was just they



     21     were -- well, it's hard.  They didn't want to do



     22     the work, the more difficult thing.



     23          MS. NUSSMEYER:  And the distinction between



     24     the DRE and the optical scan piece too is that a



     25     DRE, the number is stored electronically, they have
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      1     a double blind system, so on and so forth.  But a



      2     voter ID number printed on a ballot card where it



      3     goes into -- where a person's driver's license



      4     number would be printed on a ballot card that



      5     directly links a person to their vote, I appreciate



      6     that the legislature excluded voter ID number, but



      7     they also said no personally identifying



      8     information.



      9          And so, from my perspective, if we want to use



     10     a voter ID number, it's incumbent on us to make



     11     sure that the voter ID number in SVRS then is truly



     12     unique.  Even then, it's a record that can be tied



     13     directly back to the voter, and that is a chief



     14     concern of mine, and the Commission does have the



     15     authority under law to administer the election laws



     16     and consider novel issues.  So thank you.



     17          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Madam Chair, I'd like to



     18     withdraw my motion.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So --



     20          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  And I'd move that we



     21     table -- do we have to vote --



     22          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Do we have to vote on the



     23     withdrawal?



     24          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Honestly, you don't have to



     25     withdraw your motion.  You can make a motion to
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      1     table your motion to the next meeting, so then,



      2     when it's brought back up from the table, you don't



      3     have to redo your motion.



      4          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Okay.  So moved.



      5          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  What he said.



      6          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I'll second that.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So we have a motion



      8     and a second to table this matter until the next



      9     meeting of the Commission.  All those in favor



     10     signify by saying "aye."



     11          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     12          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     13          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



     15          The motion is adopted, and that is officially



     16     tabled until our meeting on November 10th.



     17          MR. CLAYTOR:  Can I ask a stupid question?



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sure.  There are no stupid



     19     questions, trust me.



     20          MR. CLAYTOR:  Oh, yes, there are.



     21          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Trust me.



     22          MR. CLAYTOR:  Mr. King, I wasn't sure I



     23     understood.  Are you seeing a conflict within the



     24     statute that I think Mr. Kochevar and Ms. Nussmeyer



     25     are seeing?
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      1          MR. KING:  No, not a conflict, but, again,



      2     it's a question of statutory interpretation to say



      3     that, again, the entire body -- in pari materia is



      4     the legal Latin phrase to say you have to consider



      5     all the different statutes, not individual pieces,



      6     in determining what's the applicable law.



      7          MR. CLAYTOR:  Sure.  And it would not be the



      8     first time at least I think I've seen that the



      9     legislature thought they did something and didn't.



     10          MR. KING:  Theoretically, that can happen,



     11     yes.



     12          MR. CLAYTOR:  Yes.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  That could be a whole nother



     14     meeting.



     15          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Just for the avoidance of



     16     doubt, can whoever the appropriate staff is that



     17     sends notices make sure that MicroChip -- I'm



     18     sorry -- MicroVote understands that we expect to



     19     see them here next week and prepared to answer



     20     questions for our staff and the commissioners?



     21          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Absolutely.



     22          MR. KING:  Uh-huh.



     23          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Great.



     24          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Great.  Thank you.  The



     25     Indiana Election Commission has finished its
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      1     business for today.  Is there a motion to adjourn?



      2          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So moved.



      3          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Second.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  All those in favor say "aye."



      5          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



      6          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



      7          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



      8          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



      9          The "ayes" have it, and the Indiana Election



     10     Commission meeting is adjourned.



     11          (The Indiana Election Commission Public



     12     Session was adjourned at 12:30 p.m.)
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· This meeting of the


·2· ·Indiana Election Commission is called to order.


·3· ·Thank you for being patient.· Sorry about the


·4· ·delay.


·5· · · · The following members of the Commission are


·6· ·present:· Myself, our chair, Beth Boyce; Suzannah


·7· ·Wilson Overholt, our vice chair; we have with us


·8· ·today Mr. Michael Claytor, who is a proxy, and we


·9· ·have it in our packets the appropriate form that


10· ·was filed, he is here on behalf of Karen


11· ·Celestino-Horseman; and member John Westercamp.


12· · · · We also have with us the Indiana Election


13· ·Division staff:· Co-Director Brad King and


14· ·Co-Director Angie Nussmeyer; Co-General Counsels


15· ·Matthew Kochevar and Valerie Warycha.· We also are


16· ·joined by our court reporter, Maria Collier, from


17· ·Stewart Richardson Deposition Services.


18· · · · And I want to make a note, before we continue


19· ·the meeting, to remind everyone on behalf of the


20· ·court reporter to identify yourself when beginning


21· ·to speak, spell your name when identifying


22· ·yourself, speak clearly, and do not speak at the


23· ·same time as others.


24· · · · I also wanted to make a note, staff has asked,


25· ·there are sign-in sheets in the back.· I think
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·1· ·there are several kind of on various rows.· So if


·2· ·everyone that's here -- yeah, on a clipboard.


·3· ·Thank you.· So if everyone that's here could just


·4· ·register their attendance on one of those sheets,


·5· ·we would appreciate it.


·6· · · · We want to reference the documentation of


·7· ·compliance with the Open Door Law.· I request that


·8· ·the co-directors confirm that the Commission


·9· ·meeting has been properly noticed as required under


10· ·the Open Door Law.


11· · · · MR. KING:· Madam Chair and members of the


12· ·Commission, speaking on behalf of myself and


13· ·Co-Director Nussmeyer, we certify that notice was


14· ·given of this meeting in accordance with the


15· ·requirements of the Open Door Law.


16· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.


17· · · · Next up we'll have the approval of our


18· ·September 23, 2025, Indiana Election Commission


19· ·minutes.· I recognize the co-directors to present


20· ·the minutes of the referenced meeting.


21· · · · MR. KING:· Madam Chair and members of the


22· ·Commission, on behalf of myself and Co-Director


23· ·Nussmeyer, we have reviewed the September 23, 2025,


24· ·minutes and recommend them to you for your


25· ·approval.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Is there a motion to approve


·2· ·each of the minutes as presented?


·3· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So moved.


·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Is there a second?


·5· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Second.


·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any discussion?


·7· · · · Hearing none, all in favor say "aye."


·8· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


·9· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


10· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


11· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· The "ayes" have it, and the


12· ·motion to approve each of the minutes is adopted.


13· · · · Is there consent from each of the members to


14· ·authorize the Indiana Election Division to use our


15· ·individual signature stamps to document our


16· ·approval of the documents at this meeting?


17· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Consent.


18· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Consent.


19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· And then I assume, with him


20· ·being a proxy, it's Karen's signature.


21· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Uh-huh.


22· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· The Election Division


23· ·is authorized to act accordingly.


24· · · · Up next, adoption of the campaign finance


25· ·orders.· The Election Division staff has prepared
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·1· ·drafts of Indiana Election Commission Orders


·2· ·2025-300 through 2025-676, which reflects the


·3· ·actions of the Commission regarding campaign


·4· ·finance hearings conducted at the September 23rd


·5· ·meeting.


·6· · · · Is there a motion to adopt these orders as


·7· ·presented?


·8· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So moved.


·9· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Second.


10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any discussion?


11· · · · Hearing none, all in favor say "aye."


12· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


13· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


14· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


15· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed say "nay."


16· · · · The "ayes" have it, and the motion to approve


17· ·the orders is adopted.


18· · · · Up next, I recognize the Election Division's


19· ·campaign finance staff, Ms. Taylor and


20· ·Ms. Thompson, to present information concerning


21· ·several campaign finance settlement agreements


22· ·entered into on behalf of the Commission.


23· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Madam Chair, members of the


24· ·Commission, in your binder there, there's a list of


25· ·committees that are ready to ratify that have
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·1· ·agreed to pay the settlement agreement and waive a


·2· ·hearing.


·3· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· It's the first page.


·4· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So it's only two?


·5· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· It's only two, yes.


·6· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Okay.· I was confused


·7· ·because when you said several, I was expecting a


·8· ·longer list.· Okay.· So it's just these two.


·9· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Uh-huh.


10· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Versus the last hearing we


11· ·had where there was --


12· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Many.


13· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· There were many.


14· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I'm sorry.· What is


15· ·Indiana PA PAC?


16· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Physicians assistants PAC.


17· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Okay.· Thank you.


18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Is there a motion to


19· ·ratify the campaign finance settlement agreements


20· ·as presented?


21· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So moved.


22· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Second?


23· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Second.


24· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Any discussion?


25· · · · Hearing none, all in favor say "aye."
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·1· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


·2· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


·3· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed say "nay."


·5· · · · The "ayes" have it, and the motion to ratify


·6· ·the agreements is adopted.


·7· · · · Up next, we want to go through the


·8· ·administration of the oath.· If any person here


·9· ·plans to testify at today's meeting on any matter,


10· ·please stand for the administration of the oath.


11· · · · I recognize Matthew Kochevar to administer the


12· ·oath.


13· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Thank you, Madam Chair.


14· · · · All those who will testify before the Indiana


15· ·Election Commission, please raise your right hand


16· ·and say "I do" after recitation of the oath.


17· · · · Do you solemnly swear or affirm, under the


18· ·penalties of perjury, that the testimony you are


19· ·about to give to the Indiana Election Commission is


20· ·the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the


21· ·truth?· Please say "I do."


22· · · · ALL:· I do.


23· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Thank you.


24· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you very much.


25· · · · We'll move on to campaign finance enforcement
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·1· ·matters.· Before proceeding with campaign finance


·2· ·enforcement actions, we have customarily given any


·3· ·committee present the final opportunity to pay a


·4· ·reduced civil penalty by waiving the right to


·5· ·present evidence and arguments to the Commission.


·6· ·Of course, any committee is welcome to present


·7· ·evidence and arguments for the proposed penalty to


·8· ·be waived or reduced, but this has been an


·9· ·opportunity for those who want to waive any


10· ·presentation and accept a reduced penalty without


11· ·making argument or presentation.


12· · · · Therefore, I move the adoption of the


13· ·following arrangements:· If this is the committee's


14· ·first violation, the arrangement is for the


15· ·committee to agree to pay 25 percent of the


16· ·proposed fine plus mailing costs.· If this is the


17· ·committee's second violation, the arrangement is


18· ·for the committee to agree to pay 50 percent of the


19· ·proposed fine plus mailing costs.· If this is the


20· ·committee's third violation, the committee would


21· ·agree to pay 75 percent of the proposed violation


22· ·plus mailing costs.


23· · · · For purposes of this arrangement, a previous


24· ·settlement agreement entered into by the committee


25· ·will be counted as one violation.· Likewise, if
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·1· ·more than one alleged violation occurred on the


·2· ·same calendar day, that group of violations shall


·3· ·be counted as one.


·4· · · · Is there a second to this motion?


·5· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Second.


·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any discussion?


·7· · · · If there is no discussion, then I would like


·8· ·to see who is in favor.· All in favor say "aye."


·9· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


10· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


11· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


12· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed say "nay."


13· · · · The "ayes" have it, and the motion is adopted.


14· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· And before we


15· ·continue, can I give our little speech we give --


16· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sure, sure.


17· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· -- to encourage


18· ·people to do this, although it seems like we have a


19· ·small gathering today.


20· · · · But just in terms of that kind of potential


21· ·settlement arrangement that the Chair just


22· ·described, I just wanted to emphasize that this is


23· ·the only time it's available during this hearing


24· ·process.· So if you don't -- because in a minute


25· ·people are going to be invited to come up to say
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·1· ·whether they want to take that deal or not, and if


·2· ·you don't take it now and want to argue the merits


·3· ·of the proposed fine or why you think you shouldn't


·4· ·be fined or penalized, that deal, the deal


·5· ·structure that we just went over, is off the table,


·6· ·so you would likely be required to pay more than if


·7· ·you came up to us now.


·8· · · · So this is kind of the one and only time to do


·9· ·it.· We encourage you to do it if you are hoping to


10· ·get out of here paying less than the proposed


11· ·penalty.


12· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Very good.


13· · · · The Commission will begin with the committees


14· ·whose representatives are seated in the front row


15· ·of the room and ask those who wish to accept these


16· ·arrangements to please step forward and be


17· ·recognized to confirm the committee's acceptance of


18· ·the arrangement.


19· · · · Remember, this is not a time for anyone to


20· ·make their case to ask for the reduction or waiver


21· ·of any proposed penalty.· Simply state your name,


22· ·the name of the committee, and your enforcement


23· ·action cause number, if you have that available for


24· ·staff, and confirm verbally that you are accepting


25· ·this arrangement.
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·1· · · · If you do wish to make any other statement or


·2· ·explanation regarding your case, please wait until


·3· ·the other committees in the room have indicated


·4· ·their agreement to the arrangement.


·5· · · · MR. RADICE:· I'm sorry.· I've never done this


·6· ·before.· Forgive me for my novice --


·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Hold on one second.· So we


·8· ·need you to stand up and identify yourself.


·9· · · · MR. RADICE:· Sorry.


10· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Would you come to the


11· ·microphone.


12· · · · MR. RADICE:· Oh, yeah, sure, sure.· No


13· ·problem.· Forgive me for my -- my name is Timothy


14· ·Michael Radice.· Pleasure to meet you.· It's a


15· ·pleasure to meet you finally, Mr. King.


16· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· You'll need to spell your


17· ·name.


18· · · · MR. RADICE:· Oh, I'm sorry.· I'm sorry.· So my


19· ·name is Timothy Michael Radice.· It's spelled


20· ·T-i-m-o-t-h-y, and it's going to be M-i-c-h-a-e-l,


21· ·last name is going to be R-a-d-i-c-e.


22· · · · So I'm okay with taking the 25 percent


23· ·penalty.· It was just a mistake.· I mistakenly


24· ·filed --


25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Hold on a second.· So if you
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·1· ·want to take the agreement, that comes without


·2· ·explanation.· So if you're wanting to kind of state


·3· ·your case, then that would have to come at a later


·4· ·time.


·5· · · · MR. RADICE:· Oh, okay, sure.· Yeah,


·6· ·25 percent, I'll do that.· That's fine.


·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Do you have your cause


·8· ·number, please?


·9· · · · MR. RADICE:· I think it's 2025-7669-107, if


10· ·I'm not mistaken.


11· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So hold on just one second.


12· · · · MR. RADICE:· Sure.


13· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Yeah.· Madam Chairman, it's on


14· ·page 3.


15· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Oh, at the bottom.· I see.


16· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Citizens for Tim Radice.


17· · · · MR. RADICE:· Yes.


18· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Cause No. 2025-7669-107, has


19· ·not been before the Commission before, and has a


20· ·proposed civil penalty of $400.66.


21· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So if you are


22· ·interested in the agreement, it would be


23· ·25 percent.


24· · · · MR. RADICE:· Uh-huh.


25· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Plus expenses.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Plus the mailing.


·2· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So $100.66.


·3· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So all those in favor


·4· ·of -- oh, I'm sorry.· I need a motion and a second.


·5· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So moved.


·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sorry.


·7· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Second.


·8· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· All those in favor of


·9· ·this settlement agreement in the amount of $100.66


10· ·please signify by saying "aye."


11· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


12· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


13· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any opposed "nay."


15· · · · The "ayes" have it, and the motion is adopted.


16· · · · MR. RADICE:· Thank you folks so much for your


17· ·mercy.


18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.


19· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Madam Chair, if I might, just


20· ·a reminder to folks in this room, you do not pay


21· ·today.· The Commission will have to adopt orders at


22· ·the next meeting, and then an invoice is sent to


23· ·you for payment.


24· · · · MR. RADICE:· Okay.


25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.
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·1· · · · MR. RADICE:· Am I free to leave?


·2· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes.


·3· · · · MR. RADICE:· Oh, thank you.· I need to use the


·4· ·restroom.· Have a nice one, everyone.


·5· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So as I was


·6· ·mentioning, we're going to work from the front of


·7· ·the room back, so I think he was kind of up in the


·8· ·front over here.· Are there any other committees or


·9· ·individuals that would like to -- okay.· If you


10· ·could come up and come to the microphone.


11· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· And Matthew will need to swear


12· ·him in because he came in late.


13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.


14· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· Sit down?


15· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Yes, please.


16· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes.· Hold on one second,


17· ·sir.


18· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Actually, sir, before you do, I


19· ·have to swear you in.· You have to take the oath.


20· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· Sure.


21· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Raise your right hand and say


22· ·"I do" after recitation of the oath.


23· · · · Do you solemnly swear or affirm, under the


24· ·penalties of perjury, that the testimony you are


25· ·about to give to the Indiana Election Commission is
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·1· ·the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the


·2· ·truth?


·3· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· The Lord I serve is the truth,


·4· ·and I speak the truth because my Lord is the truth.


·5· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Thank you.


·6· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· You're welcome.· Well --


·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· If you could let us


·8· ·know your name.


·9· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· My name is Watermelon Jim.


10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· And please spell your full


11· ·name.


12· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· James Lee Phillips.


13· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Could you spell that.


14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Could you spell that for our


15· ·court reporter, please.


16· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· Yes.· James is J-a-m-e-s, and


17· ·Phillips is P-h-i-l-l-i-p-s.


18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Do you have your cause


19· ·number?


20· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· I don't know what my cause


21· ·number is, but I've got --


22· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Madam Chairman, this is on the


23· ·first page.· It's Watermelon Jim for State


24· ·Representative, Cause No. 2025-7944-1, has not been


25· ·before the Commission before and has a proposed
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·1· ·civil penalty of $350.66.


·2· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.


·3· · · · Having not been before the Commission before,


·4· ·the agreement would be for a payment of 25 percent


·5· ·of that penalty plus the mailing costs.


·6· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· It's $87.50 plus 66 cents of mail


·7· ·costs so $88.16.


·8· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· I'm tickled to death to get out


·9· ·of this mess.· I didn't have no computer, and I


10· ·learned one thing:· If you're going to run for


11· ·office, you better get a computer.


12· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Any discussion,


13· ·questions?· If not, I'd look for a motion and a


14· ·second to --


15· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I move to reduce the amount


16· ·to $88.16.


17· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Second.


18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So I have a motion and


19· ·second.· Any discussion?


20· · · · If not, all those in favor please signify by


21· ·saying "aye."


22· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


23· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


24· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any opposed "nay."
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·1· · · · Motion passes.


·2· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· Thank you very much.· God bless


·3· ·you and stay safe.


·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.· You too.


·5· · · · MR. PHILLIPS:· I went through the big


·6· ·building, and everywhere you look down there, you


·7· ·can't get in unless you're authorized.· Thank you


·8· ·all very much.


·9· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Have a good day.· Thank you.


10· · · · Okay.· Any others?


11· · · · Yes, sir.· Please come forward and state your


12· ·name and please spell it.


13· · · · MR. BELLAMY:· I was certain you said from


14· ·front to back, so I just want the record to reflect


15· ·I was following the rules.


16· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yeah.· He jumped up before


17· ·you did.


18· · · · MR. BELLAMY:· He's much more known than I am.


19· ·I am Jeff Bellamy, B-e-l-l-a-m-y.· I am an attorney


20· ·with offices at 8440 Woodfield Crossing Boulevard,


21· ·Suite 310, here in the city of Indianapolis.· I'm


22· ·here on behalf of a matter entitled Grassroots PAC


23· ·with an administrative cause number 2025-7551-317.


24· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· You have two causes.· Did you


25· ·know that?· The second is 2025-7551-89 and then
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·1· ·-317, so there are two causes.· The first is on


·2· ·page 2; the second is on page 8.


·3· · · · Madam Chair and members of the Commission,


·4· ·this is Grassroots PAC, Causes 2025-751-89 and


·5· ·2025-7551-317.· They've been before the Commission


·6· ·one other time and paid a settlement agreement, so


·7· ·this is the third time.· Proposed civil penalty of


·8· ·$1,000.66 in the Cause -89 and proposed civil


·9· ·penalty of $1,000.73 in Cause -317.


10· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So that would be $750


11· ·for each, right, at the 75 percent?


12· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.


13· · · · MR. BELLAMY:· Well, wouldn't the second one be


14· ·second and the next one be third?


15· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· It could be third and fourth, but


16· ·this is one hearing, so we'll just do them together


17· ·as a hearing instead of causes, is what we usually


18· ·do.


19· · · · MR. BELLAMY:· I just want to understand


20· ·accurately.· I thought you said there was one prior


21· ·and there's two today or there's two prior and two


22· ·today?


23· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Two prior and two today.


24· · · · MR. BELLAMY:· Thank you.· That's what I needed


25· ·to know.
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·1· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So this counts as the


·2· ·third; right?


·3· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· The third, yes.


·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So for each 750 and then --


·5· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Plus postage.


·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· -- 66 cents on the first one.


·7· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· And 73 on the second


·8· ·one.


·9· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· $1.39.


10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.· Okay.


11· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So 1,501.39?


12· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yeah.


13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So just to recap that,


14· ·so the total of the two cause numbers at a


15· ·75 percent rate would be $1,501.39.· Do we have a


16· ·motion and a second to approve?


17· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So moved.


18· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Second.


19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any discussion?


20· · · · Hearing none, all those in favor signify by


21· ·saying "aye."


22· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


23· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


24· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."


Page 22
·1· · · · Motion passes.


·2· · · · MR. BELLAMY:· Thank you for your attention.


·3· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Thank you.


·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Any other -- okay.  I


·5· ·think we are good there.


·6· · · · Okay.· The Commission will proceed to open its


·7· ·hearing on campaign finance enforcement actions.


·8· ·Members, the binders or other material provided to


·9· ·you include a campaign finance spreadsheet prepared


10· ·by Abbey and Michelle.· After presentation -- I'm


11· ·sorry.· Okay.· Hold on.· So where is this


12· ·spreadsheet?


13· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· It's what we've just


14· ·been looking at.


15· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Oh, I'm sorry.· Okay.· Even


16· ·though it's not in a spreadsheet form.· Sorry.


17· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· I think in 1997 technology when


18· ·it was created, it might have been a spreadsheet,


19· ·but...


20· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I apologize.· Yeah.· I wasn't


21· ·thinking.· Doesn't seem like a spreadsheet the way


22· ·it's printed.


23· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Loosely characterized


24· ·as a spreadsheet.


25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Spreadsheet.· Okay.
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·1· · · · So now we need to move on to those campaign


·2· ·finance matters that would require discussion.· And


·3· ·I think we will proceed in the same manner, moving


·4· ·front to back.


·5· · · · Hold on a second.· I need to get myself


·6· ·situated here.· I'm sorry, everybody.


·7· · · · Okay.· I apologize.· The remaining committees


·8· ·will be called to permit the presentation of


·9· ·evidence in these campaign finance matters.· Before


10· ·doing so, I want to note that in the past the


11· ·Commission has followed certain procedures for


12· ·conducting campaign finance hearings, and I move


13· ·that the Commission use the following procedures


14· ·today:


15· · · · One, when the campaign finance matter is


16· ·called, hearing will begin with recognizing


17· ·campaign finance staff to provide information about


18· ·the documents in this matter provided to Commission


19· ·members, including letters from committees and the


20· ·notice given to the campaign committee.


21· · · · Two, unless there is objection, the documents


22· ·provided to the Commission by the Election Division


23· ·will be entered into the record of this meeting.


24· · · · Three, after campaign finance staff completes


25· ·presentation, a representative of the committee
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·1· ·will be recognized first and may present their case


·2· ·for no more than five minutes.· Next, Commission


·3· ·members may ask questions during the presentation,


·4· ·but the time spent answering these questions will


·5· ·not be counted against a presenter's time.· The


·6· ·Election Division may signal the chair when a


·7· ·presenter's time is up.


·8· · · · And I think last time Valerie will be our


·9· ·official time keeper now that she has her phone.


10· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Yes.


11· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· If the presenter offers


12· ·additional documentation or other physical evidence


13· ·not previously received by the Commission, then the


14· ·original must be provided to the Election Division,


15· ·Valerie, to preserve for the record.


16· · · · If the Commission finds that a committee has


17· ·violated the campaign finance statutes, state law


18· ·requires a unanimous vote of all four commissioners


19· ·to waive or reduce the amount of the penalty set by


20· ·state law.


21· · · · If the Commission makes a decision at this


22· ·meeting to either fine the committee or dismiss the


23· ·case against the committee, then the Election


24· ·Division will prepare a final order for the


25· ·Commission to approve at a later meeting.· If a
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·1· ·committee is fined today, the committee will


·2· ·receive a notice from the Election Division to pay


·3· ·the fine after the Commission adopts the final


·4· ·order.· So it may be some time after today before a


·5· ·committee will be required to pay the fine.


·6· · · · The Commission will recognize committees to


·7· ·make a presentation beginning from the committees


·8· ·seated in the front of the room.· It's very helpful


·9· ·if you can speak up and say the cause number or


10· ·numbers of your hearing notice so that the


11· ·Commission and staff can quickly look it up in the


12· ·spreadsheet.· Remember to identify yourself when


13· ·you start speaking and to indicate if you took the


14· ·oath administered earlier in the meeting.· If you


15· ·did not, I will ask Mr. Kochevar to administer the


16· ·oath to you.


17· · · · Is there a second to this motion?


18· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Second.


19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any questions or objections


20· ·from the Commission members?


21· · · · If there is no further discussion, the


22· ·question is on the adoption of the motion.· All in


23· ·favor say "aye."


24· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


25· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.
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·1· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


·2· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed say "nay."


·3· · · · The "ayes" have it, and the motion is


·4· ·approved.


·5· · · · Okay.· The Commission will proceed to open its


·6· ·hearings on campaign finance enforcement actions.


·7· ·Okay.· So let's start from the front of the room.


·8· ·We're going to do the same thing.· Is there


·9· ·anyone -- or not everybody jump up at once.


10· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· This is VSTOP right here.


11· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Oh, okay.· So, sir, I think


12· ·you're on.


13· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Okay.· So my name first?· My


14· ·name is William, or Bill, Gutrich, spelled G, like


15· ·George, -u-t-r-i-c-h.· And I guess these cause


16· ·numbers are -385 and -388.· Do you need more


17· ·numbers?


18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Give us just one second.


19· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· It's on page 11 and 12, bottom of


20· ·11 and top of 12.


21· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· So five minutes, I didn't


22· ·rehearse for that.


23· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Madam Chairman, members of the


24· ·Commission, this is Gutrich for Indiana, Cause


25· ·No. 2025-7832-385 for a proposed civil penalty of
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·1· ·$1,000 and surprise mail cost; and the second cause


·2· ·is 2025-7832-388 for a proposed civil penalty of


·3· ·$1,000 and a surprise mail cost.


·4· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· What's the nature of the


·5· ·offense that's alleged?


·6· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· This is actually a motion to


·7· ·reconsider.· Mr. Gutrich was -- and he can explain.


·8· ·He was not able to make it at the last meeting, and


·9· ·so he asked for a motion to reconsider the fine.


10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.


11· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Yeah.· I, unbeknownst, ended up


12· ·in the hospital getting a stent in my coronary


13· ·artery, so apologize for missing.· I was kind of


14· ·busy that day.· But if I can start my five minutes.


15· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Yeah.· Go ahead, please.


16· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· So my name is Bill Gutrich, and


17· ·I am sitting before you because about two years ago


18· ·I made what is becoming more and more so a stupid


19· ·decision to decide to offer myself to serve my


20· ·fellow citizens as a local public servant.· I had


21· ·never run for office before.· I come from a family


22· ·of policemen, firemen, teachers, and nurses, and


23· ·it's always been in me, although my dad said, "If


24· ·you become a cop, I'll shoot you myself."


25· · · · So I pursued a career in business, and
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·1· ·35 years later, just knowing a local politician in


·2· ·Hamilton County, a friend who serves in Hamilton


·3· ·County government encouraged me to run when our


·4· ·state rep announced she was retiring.· I ran


·5· ·against who is our current state rep, who is from


·6· ·Zionsville.· The district is 94 percent Hamilton


·7· ·County and 65 percent Westfield, and being


·8· ·Westfield the faster growing city in Indiana, one


·9· ·of Indiana's bigger cities, everybody wanted


10· ·somebody from Westfield, me, to run and not have


11· ·two state reps from Zionsville.· The person that I


12· ·lost to is also a former Colts player, and the


13· ·political consultant said I could beat him, and


14· ·they were dead wrong.· With an uninformed


15· ·electorate and mass popularity of somebody's name,


16· ·it's just not possible.


17· · · · But anyway, I offered myself when I was asked


18· ·to serve and gave up six months of my life working


19· ·every living breathing minute when I wasn't working


20· ·to knock doors, to call people.· Ended up having to


21· ·raise $100,000.· I was told to hire a political


22· ·consultant at $4,000 a month over five months, and


23· ·I was told to hire a fund-raiser.· Did all that and


24· ·still, at the end of it, the campaign came up


25· ·$14,000 short of our expenses, which meant I had to
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·1· ·go into a home equity line and pull $14,000 of my


·2· ·own money out along with all the time and effort I


·3· ·had given to try and offer myself.


·4· · · · What I found out is the political consultant


·5· ·had promised -- that's Coverdale Consulting in


·6· ·Fishers.· They were handling many campaigns and I


·7· ·was just being told use these guys, do this.· They


·8· ·said, "We'll handle all the finance -- the filing


·9· ·of your campaign finance stuff," and they were


10· ·filing this each week apparently.· But apparently


11· ·they didn't bother to do it the last two weeks, and


12· ·I had no idea.


13· · · · So about two, three -- or a month or so or


14· ·whatever after I had lost the primary and they were


15· ·no longer interested in me and I was no longer


16· ·paying them, of course, I get notice in the mail


17· ·saying that there was not filings made for the last


18· ·two weeks of my campaign for donations and


19· ·legitimate donations that came in.


20· · · · And so not having any help from them, I spent


21· ·the better part of a day studying and trying to


22· ·understand the very intricate stuff to get this


23· ·filed, which is very hard for a citizen to just


24· ·figure out and understand.· It really feels like


25· ·the establishment people know all this stuff, and I
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·1· ·certainly didn't.· But with great help from the


·2· ·office -- and thank you for that -- I was able to


·3· ·figure it out and got filed what had not been


·4· ·filed.· But then I was told with these letters


·5· ·that, well, that was supposed to be filed during


·6· ·that week.· So I had two $1,000 donations, one in


·7· ·each week, that required filing that week, and


·8· ·because it was not filed that week, I am told that


·9· ·I am fined $1,000 for each of those.


10· · · · I ask the mercy of this committee that, you


11· ·know, I gave my heart and soul just to be a public


12· ·servant and some of my own money, which I'll never


13· ·get back.· It shouldn't be this hard for people to


14· ·step up and run for office.· But what this says is


15· ·that, well, dive into your money some more for


16· ·another $2,000 because somebody who said that they


17· ·were going to do something for you didn't do it and


18· ·didn't care because you were no longer valuable to


19· ·them because you didn't win.


20· · · · So I filed it.· It was legitimate donations.


21· ·There was -- it's just a matter of timing that they


22· ·weren't filed in time, so there was no fraud or


23· ·anything else.· I do understand the purpose of


24· ·these laws to protect from fraud and these kind of


25· ·things, but I'm just a citizen who tried to run for
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·1· ·office, and I beg the mercy of this committee to


·2· ·not make my paying $2,000 greater.


·3· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· If I could ask, I'm


·4· ·assuming then that a default was entered at the


·5· ·last hearing.· Is that what I'm hearing?


·6· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Correct, yes.


·7· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So a total of $2,000


·8· ·has already been imposed.


·9· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Yes.


10· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So the question is,


11· ·number one, whether we're willing to, I guess,


12· ·reconsider that.


13· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.


14· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Correct.


15· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So we have to rule on


16· ·that, we have to make that determination first


17· ·before we go to the merits; right?


18· · · · MR. KING:· Yes.


19· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Can I ask a question before


20· ·we go to that?


21· · · · So is your campaign committee an LLC,


22· ·Mr. Gutrich?


23· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· I don't even know.· No.  I


24· ·mean -- well, I don't remember how we set it up.


25· ·It was Gutrich -- my name, Gutrich for Indiana,
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·1· ·shut it down right away when we lost the primary,


·2· ·and I'm not sure, honestly.


·3· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Okay.· Thank you.


·4· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· I wish I did know that.


·5· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any other questions?


·6· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· I suppose it is, though.  I


·7· ·don't know.


·8· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· I just want to let you know the


·9· ·committee is still open.· You have not closed it,


10· ·so you will owe a report in January.· I believe the


11· ·deadline is January 21, 2026.· The balance is zero,


12· ·so you can go ahead and close it, but it is still


13· ·open, and I don't want you to have another


14· ·surprise.


15· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Well, I will take that advice


16· ·and get it closed, and I'll never do this again.  I


17· ·swear, I tell people, they say, "Well, you should


18· ·run again," and I'm like, "Not in a million years.


19· ·Thank you."


20· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any other questions?


21· · · · Okay.· I'll declare the hearing on this -- I'm


22· ·sorry.


23· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I was going to move


24· ·that we grant the motion to reconsider.


25· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I second that.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· All those in favor


·2· ·signify by saying "aye."


·3· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


·4· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


·5· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."


·7· · · · The motion passes.


·8· · · · Okay.· So now --


·9· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I would move to waive the fee


10· ·for both of those matters for Mr. Gutrich here.


11· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· To waive the fee completely?


12· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Yes.


13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Do we have a second or any


14· ·thoughts, discussion?


15· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Madam Chairman, may I ask a


16· ·question?


17· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I think we need a


18· ·second.


19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We need a second.


20· · · · Okay.· I'll second that, but I would -- if


21· ·it's okay, I don't really agree with waiving it


22· ·completely.· I feel like at this point, you know,


23· ·the 25 percent is something that we've entered into


24· ·with many, many campaigns and committees and


25· ·individuals, and I could see us doing that, but I
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·1· ·do not agree with dropping it completely.


·2· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· You're suggesting a


·3· ·25 percent?


·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes, which is what we would


·5· ·have offered many others.


·6· · · · Any other questions?


·7· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Just when you describe -- other


·8· ·than reliance on your consultant, were there any


·9· ·other things that prevented you from timely filing?


10· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Yeah, no.· So, you know, I was


11· ·led along by people that, you know, I run for


12· ·office and know what they're doing kind of thing.


13· ·They told me, honestly, get out every waking moment


14· ·you have and knock on doors.· I knocked on 3,800


15· ·doors in those weeks that this applied to, and they


16· ·didn't want me doing anything but, if I was awake,


17· ·go talk to voters.· Funny enough, I won those.  I


18· ·went to eight precincts and actually won that, but


19· ·you can't get to 60 precincts.· So it was just that


20· ·every waking moment I had I was told to go out and


21· ·knock doors or make phone calls.· And so people


22· ·told me, "We'll take care of this," and then I just


23· ·honestly found out they didn't take care of it.


24· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Okay.· But you mentioned illness


25· ·and having a stent.· You weren't laying in a
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·1· ·hospital bed --


·2· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· No.· I was supposed to be at a


·3· ·hearing --


·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Here.


·5· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· -- on the 23rd.


·6· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· I misunderstood that.· Thank


·7· ·you.


·8· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Yes.· And I ended up in the


·9· ·hospital getting a stent.


10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· That was recent.


11· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Yes.· And I asked for this


12· ·continuance to today.· Thank you.


13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes, right.


14· · · · Any other discussion?· So the motion on the


15· ·floor is to waive it completely.


16· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Are you moving to change it?


17· ·Is that what your motion is?


18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes.


19· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I'll second that motion.


20· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.


21· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Could I ask a question about


22· ·that?


23· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sure.


24· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· I understand, as a committee,


25· ·wanting to be consistent perhaps with what you did
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·1· ·before.· I get that.· But just -- whether it's


·2· ·$2,000 or $5,000, I can afford to pay it.· I just


·3· ·don't think either number is right, honestly.  I


·4· ·think I acted in good faith.· This was a timing


·5· ·issue.· The donations were legitimate.· They were


·6· ·accurately filed.· I ask the mercy.· I guess just


·7· ·what's the purpose of the fine?· Because it was


·8· ·late?· Is that $500 because it was late?· Is that


·9· ·what we're saying?


10· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Well, if I might,


11· ·since I've been sitting on here -- I've been on


12· ·this Commission probably way longer than I should


13· ·be.· So sorry.


14· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Well, thank you for your


15· ·service.


16· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Well, I appreciate


17· ·it.· I was out of town and got home at 11:30 and


18· ·thought, oh, I've got to be at this meeting at


19· ·10:00 this morning, so you kind of rethink your


20· ·life choices sometimes.


21· · · · Anyway, sorry.· All that aside, so the reason


22· ·I'm speaking up is because I've been involved in a


23· ·lot of these hearings, and so the reason for the


24· ·fines, so there's an entire statutory framework


25· ·that establishes how elections are run and financed
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·1· ·in the state of Indiana, and there's similar


·2· ·structure at the federal level.


·3· · · · And those rules are really important because


·4· ·there are reporting requirements so that people at


·5· ·the time can see what candidates are up to, that


·6· ·they can see who is donating to campaigns, so the


·7· ·electorate can see that, so other people running


·8· ·for office can see it.· And the fines are there


·9· ·because, you know, I guess we've learned,


10· ·unfortunately, that carrots -- I don't know what


11· ·the carrot would be in these instances, so using


12· ·some sticks to say you've got to comply with the


13· ·statute or the fines are going to be imposed.


14· · · · And, historically, when we waive the fines --


15· ·because you, as the person running for office, I


16· ·mean, it is your campaign and it's your campaign


17· ·finance committee.· And we've had lots of folks


18· ·come in who their treasurers have, you know, been


19· ·on vacation and forgot to file the reports, they


20· ·didn't know what the rule -- what we hear is


21· ·everything from, We didn't know, I didn't


22· ·understand what the rules were, I haven't done this


23· ·before, to, I thought someone else had done it, I


24· ·thought someone else was going to do it, to, quite


25· ·literally, I think we really did get a, My dog ate
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·1· ·the -- I mean, we've had it all.· We've had all of


·2· ·that, right?


·3· · · · And I understand because there are a lot of


·4· ·people who miss the deadlines, and that's why we've


·5· ·been pretty -- it takes a very extreme situation,


·6· ·which I think is why Mr. Claytor asked about when


·7· ·it was you were in the hospital, which may sound


·8· ·like not a very nice question to ask, but some of


·9· ·those situations are ones where we have actually


10· ·decided to waive.


11· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· I understand.


12· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· This is our time to


13· ·speak.· So anyway, that's the explanation, and


14· ·that's why -- I think we have to vote on the motion


15· ·that's in front of us, but that's why I'll be


16· ·voting against that particular motion.


17· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· I was just going to say, just so


18· ·that we're all clear on the motion, Beth, do you


19· ·want to state your motion so it's in the record


20· ·properly.


21· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sure.· So there's a motion


22· ·and a second to impose, since this is his first


23· ·time being before the Commission --


24· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Wait, I thought we


25· ·had a motion to waive.
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·1· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· There's a motion to waive, so


·2· ·are you amending that motion?


·3· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Yeah.· We haven't


·4· ·voted on that.


·5· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I amended the motion.


·6· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· She said that she was starting


·7· ·to amend it, but it was kind of quiet to John, so I


·8· ·thought she should say it louder for everybody.


·9· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes.· I'm so sorry.· So I --


10· ·I apologize.· I did amend that, to make it


11· ·consistent with the action of the Commission, to be


12· ·a 25 percent penalty.· So I guess back to this, so


13· ·it would be 500, 250 and 250, and then the mailing


14· ·cost is not reflected on here so whatever that


15· ·amount.


16· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Like 73 cents.


17· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· I believe it was 68 cents.  I


18· ·know it was 68 cents.


19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· All the others are 66.· So


20· ·that's 68 cents on each one?


21· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.


22· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Can I ask --


23· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Just one second.


24· · · · So my motion would be to keep consistent with


25· ·what we've done and do the 25 percent penalty for
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·1· ·both cause numbers, and John --


·2· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I seconded it.· I'm sorry if


·3· ·you didn't hear it.


·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So I apologize.


·5· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Not being a pain, are we


·6· ·amending the original motion --


·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes.


·8· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· -- or are we going to defeat the


·9· ·original motion and have a new motion?


10· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Is there a difference?


11· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· The difference is we would be


12· ·voting on the amendment, and then we would vote on


13· ·the main motion.


14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I would defer.· Could


15· ·co-counsel --


16· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· I can answer that, yes.· So we


17· ·technically haven't adopted Robert's Rules of


18· ·Order, but that's the best procedure that I know of


19· ·and what most people follow.· So if we treat this


20· ·as a motion to amend, you would vote to amend the


21· ·main motion that Commissioner Westercamp had made.


22· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· And then vote.


23· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· And then that would become the


24· ·main motion, and then you would need to, when


25· ·discussion was done, vote on that.· And whatever
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·1· ·that -- we'll call that the second vote.· The


·2· ·majority votes yes on that second vote, then you


·3· ·have approved that motion as amended.


·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So the second vote is


·5· ·the approval?


·6· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Yes.


·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So -- Valerie?


·8· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· No.· I agree, yes.


·9· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So we will take a vote now to


10· ·amend the original motion, which would mean that


11· ·we're amending the original from a 0 percent


12· ·penalty to a 25 percent penalty.· All those in


13· ·favor of the amendment signify by saying "aye."


14· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


15· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


16· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


17· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."


18· · · · The motion passes.


19· · · · So now we need a motion and a second to


20· ·approve the agreement.


21· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· No.


22· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· So we're now voting on the


23· ·amended motion; right?


24· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Yes.


25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· I apologize.· Okay.
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·1· ·So now we need a motion --


·2· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· No.


·3· · · · MR. KING:· No.· We just need a vote.


·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Oh, we don't need another


·5· ·motion.· I'm sorry.· Thank you for your patience.


·6· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· It's okay.


·7· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Motion to motion.


·8· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So now we're going to


·9· ·vote on that.· All those in favor signify by saying


10· ·"aye."


11· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


12· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


13· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."


15· · · · The motion passes.· Thank you.· My apologies.


16· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So for clarity, what


17· ·we just did is assess a $250 penalty for each


18· ·violation, so $500, plus 68 cents in mailing costs


19· ·for each.


20· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· $501.36 for a grand total.


21· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· 501.36.· Thank you.


22· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Yeah.· I just didn't understand


23· ·why you didn't vote on the first motion and then


24· ·vote on the second motion --


25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.
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·1· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· -- because he made a motion.


·2· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Next -- oh, and, sir,


·3· ·I think you left your papers.


·4· · · · MR. GUTRICH:· Oh, I don't really need them.


·5· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Are there any campaign


·6· ·finance violations that need to be heard now?


·7· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· I know there are two more.· We


·8· ·may have more, but I know that there are two.


·9· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We're moving from the front


10· ·backwards.


11· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· I apologize.· I thought it


12· ·was the whole first row.


13· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· That's okay.· They're for a


14· ·different matter.


15· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I'm sorry.· Yes.· If you


16· ·could state your name and spell it.


17· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· My name is Matthew Douglas


18· ·Hostettler.· M-a-t-t-h-e-w, Douglas is


19· ·D-o-u-g-l-a-s, Hostettler is H-o-s-t-e-t-t-l-e-r.


20· ·My administrative cause number is 2025-420.


21· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Madam Chairman, this isn't in


22· ·the spreadsheet.· It's the pink little tab at the


23· ·back.


24· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.


25· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Representative Hostettler, I
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·1· ·have a question.· So did the staff raise this issue


·2· ·with you or did you self-report without being


·3· ·prompted by the Election Division staff?


·4· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· I self -- so if I could share


·5· ·briefly kind of how things transpired.


·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· You have five minutes.


·7· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· Okay.· Thank you.· And thank


·8· ·you for the continuance.· The 23rd was Rosh


·9· ·Hashanah, so I really appreciate your guys'


10· ·patience with everything.


11· · · · So it was either November or December, but


12· ·towards the end of 2024, my campaign committee


13· ·address received a contribution from the Meijer


14· ·Political Action Committee, and it was given to my


15· ·treasurer with my usual no hurry, because she's a


16· ·volunteer.· Most volunteers are always doing


17· ·something.· And then during the first week of


18· ·session, I received a text message saying "I


19· ·finally got that check deposited."· Oof.


20· · · · So immediately we issued a check for the


21· ·amount back to Meijer Political Action Committee.


22· ·I believe it was issued on the 12th or 13th of


23· ·January.· I self-reported.· We sent the letter.


24· ·That check never cleared with Meijer.· We waited


25· ·for nine months, and we just simply sent it to the







Page 45
·1· ·address that was on the contribution.· After


·2· ·tracking them down, we found another address and


·3· ·someone specifically to send it to and FedEx'd


·4· ·that, and that check -- that returned check was


·5· ·finally cashed last Friday.


·6· · · · So in full transparency, the one that was sent


·7· ·with the letter, that was never deposited.· So it


·8· ·has been -- it was self-reported.· It's been


·9· ·returned twice, but we canceled the first check,


10· ·and the other one finally cleared Friday.


11· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So what was the


12· ·proposed penalty for this?· There's no other


13· ·information other than the letter.


14· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· The report hasn't been filed


15· ·yet, so I don't have any information on that


16· ·transaction.


17· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· I can tell you what statutorily


18· ·the proposed penalty can be.· It is equal to the


19· ·greater of the following plus investigative costs:


20· ·Two times the amount of any contributions


21· ·received -- it would be received and accepted since


22· ·we've changed the law -- or $1,000.· So I know it


23· ·can be $1,000, but without knowing the amount of


24· ·the contribution that was accepted by the


25· ·committee, I can't tell you what the potential
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·1· ·higher amount would be.


·2· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Is this matter ripe for


·3· ·consideration by the committee?· And if it's not


·4· ·ripe, then why are we hearing it today?


·5· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· It doesn't feel like it's ripe.


·6· ·I'm not sure that it is.


·7· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· I would agree since we don't


·8· ·know if the proposed penalty can be above $1,000,


·9· ·so I would agree with my counterpart on this.


10· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Can we decide -- so since


11· ·Representative Hostettler is here today, is there a


12· ·way that we can decide this now for efficiency


13· ·purposes?


14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I wouldn't think so.


15· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· I would probably recommend --


16· ·this is just me saying -- to table this until a


17· ·Commission meeting after January 21, 2026, when the


18· ·committee's annual report is due, so that would be


19· ·sometime February probably.


20· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sure.· Then we would have a


21· ·more complete picture.


22· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· That does make sense.


23· · · · Question for campaign finance staff:· I'm


24· ·assuming you got this from Representative


25· ·Hostettler and just wanted to put it before the
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·1· ·Commission as soon as you got it?


·2· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Correct, yes.


·3· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Okay.· Thank you for the


·4· ·verification.


·5· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· And if I might add, the


·6· ·representative does not have to appear at the


·7· ·hearing.· He can send a proxy, for lack of a better


·8· ·term.· He can have a motion -- an appearance motion


·9· ·to allow someone else to present on his behalf, if


10· ·that were the case.


11· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· May I?


12· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I don't think his


13· ·five minutes is up.


14· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· It was not.· He was at 3:22.  I


15· ·can hit -- go ahead.


16· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· I respect the decision of the


17· ·Commission, the committee.· If the contribution was


18· ·for $500 and it was returned for $500, if you would


19· ·like to make that consideration in the interest of


20· ·your time.· I can be back in January.· I just


21· ·wondered if that helps you guys in the moment to


22· ·save possibly some time in January.· That's the


23· ·only reason I offer that information and respect


24· ·your decision either now or then.


25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I think we would feel more


Page 48
·1· ·comfortable waiting.


·2· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I would move that we


·3· ·table it until sometime after the report is


·4· ·actually filed.


·5· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Thank you for self-reporting.


·6· ·We encourage all campaigns to self-report.


·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· There's a motion on


·8· ·the floor.· Do we have a second?


·9· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Second.


10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· We have a motion and a


11· ·second to table this issue until a later date.· All


12· ·those in favor please signify by saying "aye."


13· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


14· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


15· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


16· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."


17· · · · Motion passes.


18· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Madam Chairman, I'd like to


19· ·explain my vote.· I have a lovely disagreement with


20· ·staff and attorneys and their belief that the only


21· ·indicia of receiving a contribution is when it is


22· ·deposited.· I disagree with that heartily.· And if


23· ·I were on the other side of the table, I would be


24· ·arguing that, if you got a check prior to the start


25· ·of session, whether or not you deposited it during
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·1· ·session, it is not a violation.


·2· · · · Unfortunately, I will not be here at the


·3· ·meeting when this comes back up.· That is a


·4· ·personal opinion, and just throwing it out there


·5· ·for edification, or if you could get the statute


·6· ·amended in January or Organization Day.


·7· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· Respectfully, that probably


·8· ·would not look very good.· But may I ask, do you


·9· ·need any information from me between now or will


10· ·the report that's due in January be sufficient?


11· ·Should I just wait, just do that normally, or is


12· ·there anything else that I should get in the


13· ·meantime?


14· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· I don't speak for them, but I


15· ·don't think there's anything else we need from you


16· ·before the report is filed.


17· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· In the meantime, yeah.


18· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· That would be all I could think


19· ·of.· Generally the Commission will look at the


20· ·reports.· Your self-reporting, you just beat us to


21· ·the punch as far as doing the reports, but


22· ·appreciate it.


23· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· Sorry for making life harder.


24· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· No, you did not.· We appreciate


25· ·the self-reporting.
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·1· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· If I may -- I'm sorry -- may I


·2· ·ask a question of staff?· So typically for


·3· ·corporate contributions that are in excess of a


·4· ·certain dollar amount, we do send out a settlement


·5· ·agreement, do we not?


·6· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.


·7· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· So we do that --


·8· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· This is not a corporate


·9· ·contribution.


10· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· I understand that, but it's


11· ·substantially similar, right, that this is a


12· ·contribution that was received during long session


13· ·that has a civil penalty assigned to it in Title 3.


14· ·So would a similar letter go out to the committee


15· ·just so that the representative would be looking


16· ·out for it?· Is it something we should direct staff


17· ·to do?· That is the question.


18· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· This is the first time we've


19· ·brought this before the Commission.· It's not


20· ·happened before, so this is all new precedent for


21· ·us.


22· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Well, that's an


23· ·interesting point because you said received and


24· ·this is deposited, so actually the question when it


25· ·was received is a question.
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·1· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· And that's not the first time


·2· ·I've seen it before the Commission.


·3· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Was it a cashier's check or


·4· ·was it a normal check?


·5· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· It was a normal check.· And


·6· ·it was -- I believe that the -- just speaking


·7· ·frankly, I don't believe I have the envelope to


·8· ·show the postmark.· I mean, it would simply be


·9· ·there's the date on the check.· It might have -- I


10· ·honestly couldn't tell you without seeing it.


11· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Well, we've tabled


12· ·it, so we should probably stop talking about it.


13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.


14· · · · MR. HOSTETTLER:· All right.· Thank you.· Have


15· ·a good day.


16· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· If I could add one more thing,


17· ·the statute does say received and accepted now, so


18· ·it's no longer just received.· It's received and


19· ·accepted, and what accepted means in terms of the


20· ·overarching discussion for January...


21· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Okay.


22· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.


23· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Fun times ahead.


24· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Thank you.· Next.


25· · · · Please state your name and spell it for us,
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·1· ·please.


·2· · · · MR. CURTIS:· Yes.· Good morning.


·3· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Good morning.


·4· · · · MR. CURTIS:· My name is Tod Curtis, T-o-d,


·5· ·C-u-r-t-i-s, and my cause number is 2025-7783-167.


·6· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Madam Chairman, it's on page 5.


·7· ·It's Fight Back Indiana, Cause No. 2025-7783-167,


·8· ·has not been before the Commission before, and has


·9· ·a proposed civil penalty of $1,000.66.


10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.


11· · · · MR. CURTIS:· That is correct.


12· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Go ahead.


13· · · · MR. CURTIS:· Okay.· First of all, I started


14· ·this PAC, Fight Back Indiana, as a nonpartisan PAC


15· ·to try to bring people to the middle in Indiana and


16· ·kind of even out government, do something good.


17· ·But what I found was, after all the organizational


18· ·steps and setting everything up and getting


19· ·everything ready and having a website and


20· ·everything looking the way that I wanted it to,


21· ·there was no response whatsoever to a nonpartisan


22· ·PAC.· So we took in no money, and we had no


23· ·expenses other than the startup expenses we paid


24· ·out of our own pocket.· That was in April of 2023.


25· · · · In October of 2023 would be our first filing,
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·1· ·the pre-election filing.· I did receive a notice


·2· ·from the State saying that it would be due on that


·3· ·date, so I pulled out the instructions on how to


·4· ·fill out that form.· And on the third paragraph


·5· ·down, it says "This instruction applies to all


·6· ·statewide candidates, state legislative candidates,


·7· ·and any political action committee that, 1, is


·8· ·required to file with the Election Division," which


·9· ·is true, "and, 2, which received more than $50,000


10· ·in contributions since the close of the previous


11· ·reporting period," which did not apply.


12· · · · Now, my misunderstanding was that it meant the


13· ·following instruction after that sentence, which


14· ·says "This form must be filed electronically with


15· ·the Election Division.· Contact Division at," blah,


16· ·blah, blah.· So I looked at it and thought we've


17· ·done no business, and we certainly haven't taken in


18· ·$50,000, so we do not meet the requirements to have


19· ·to file this at this time.· That's not what this


20· ·form means, but that's what the form says.


21· · · · So to add to the problem, after that, someone


22· ·rammed their car through the front of the UPS store


23· ·and tore up all the mailboxes and the store closed,


24· ·so I could not receive my -- any mail from the


25· ·Election Division.· I didn't receive a notice until
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·1· ·December that I had missed this filing, at which


·2· ·time I panicked and contacted the State and filed


·3· ·and did everything that I possibly could to try to


·4· ·correct that problem.· And as I said, there was


·5· ·something to file.· It was about $600 maybe in


·6· ·mailbox expense, website expense, things like that.


·7· · · · So we did that, I filed all the other forms


·8· ·correctly, and then in April of 2024, which had


·9· ·been about a year, I could see this was going


10· ·nowhere, so I officially closed the PAC and did no


11· ·other business.· In between, every other filing was


12· ·for zeros and zeros.


13· · · · So I guess I'm here, first of all, because, as


14· ·you were mentioning -- on the way up my wife asked


15· ·me why is there such a huge fine for filing late,


16· ·and I said because it's a fairness issue.· When a


17· ·candidate is running for office, that's public


18· ·record where the money is coming from and what


19· ·they're bringing in.· For us, it doesn't really


20· ·make much sense, but that's the law, and that's why


21· ·we're here this morning.· That's why you're here to


22· ·hear me out.


23· · · · I really have nothing other to state other


24· ·than I don't know that we've caused any real harm,


25· ·and I think this form needs to be corrected to at
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·1· ·least say "The following instruction" or a colon


·2· ·after "This instruction" so that it's clear that


·3· ·it's the remainder of the paragraph that it's


·4· ·referring to and not this form completely.


·5· · · · So at this time, I guess, I will entertain


·6· ·questions.


·7· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Could we see the


·8· ·form?


·9· · · · MR. CURTIS:· Yes.· And I don't have access to


10· ·my email account for this anymore, but I did


11· ·vociferously defend the wording on the form and how


12· ·I stated it at the time as the cause of the


13· ·mistake.


14· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So to summarize your


15· ·position, you're saying that there was a misleading


16· ·form, state form, that caused you to not take the


17· ·steps that were necessary which made you violate


18· ·the law; is that right?· Is that your position?


19· · · · MR. CURTIS:· Correct.· There is no more law


20· ·abiding person in the state than me.


21· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Okay.


22· · · · MR. CURTIS:· And so it's very embarrassing to


23· ·be in this situation to begin with.


24· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Does the staff have a


25· ·counterpoint?· I mean, I want to be sure that our
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·1· ·forms are not misleading to people that want to


·2· ·comply with the law.· Is there something, in your


·3· ·opinion, that is misleading or do our forms need to


·4· ·be updated?· Is there something that's being missed


·5· ·that we should consider?


·6· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· I don't know what the paragraph


·7· ·looks like.· I thought it was only for PACs over


·8· ·$50,000 who had to file electronically.· I'm not


·9· ·sure what the back of that looks like.· I think the


10· ·bigger problem --


11· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I was going to say, this is


12· ·sort of out of context.


13· · · · MR. CURTIS:· I do have the rest of it.


14· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· I know that's the back of the


15· ·summary sheet of the CFA form, but I also think the


16· ·bigger issue here, if I may speak, before you is


17· ·that the UPS store was taken out, so he didn't get


18· ·any of our notice that the report was due, which


19· ·clearly states if you receive this, you have to


20· ·file.· That's the first sentence on the form, if


21· ·you are in receipt of this notice, you have to file


22· ·with the Election Division.· Filing anywhere else


23· ·is not sufficient.


24· · · · So I think -- I don't know what the back of


25· ·the form says.· It might -- I don't know what that
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·1· ·paragraph says.· I may fully agree with you.· But I


·2· ·think the bigger issue is the UPS store being


·3· ·crashed into and he can't --


·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Not receiving the mail.


·5· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Right.


·6· · · · MR. CURTIS:· And I might add, the State had


·7· ·communicated electronically by email for everything


·8· ·up to that time, so the only thing that I was


·9· ·getting in that mailbox was junk mail from whoever


10· ·found the new address for the PAC.


11· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· We don't email any campaign


12· ·finance documentation, short of if you've logged in


13· ·and you've filed, it's an auto-generated email.


14· · · · MR. CURTIS:· I didn't know anything would be


15· ·coming.


16· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I want to put aside the UPS


17· ·store for a second.· Do we have any consensus among


18· ·us that this was a required filing fact based on


19· ·this?· Because if this mailing was sent in error,


20· ·if this wasn't actually required, we don't have to


21· ·even talk about the UPS truck situation.


22· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I think it was


23· ·required.· It's just the electronic component of it


24· ·isn't required because of the size of the -- not


25· ·reaching that contribution level.
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·1· · · · MR. CURTIS:· That's the understanding I came


·2· ·to afterwards.· You have to file electronically if


·3· ·it's more than 50,000.· I thought it just meant you


·4· ·don't have to file.· I didn't know you could even


·5· ·file by paper.


·6· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I see.


·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any other thoughts,


·8· ·questions?


·9· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I have a question.· So this


10· ·is your first campaign finance violation.· Why


11· ·didn't you take the deal that we had offered at the


12· ·beginning of this hearing?


13· · · · MR. CURTIS:· Well, first of all, I didn't know


14· ·there was going to be some kind of a deal offered.


15· ·I might have settled a long time ago just to get it


16· ·off the plate.


17· · · · But in all honesty, I don't know that it


18· ·really -- I have a strong sense of justice, I


19· ·guess, and I will take whatever penalty is imposed,


20· ·but at least it needed to be brought up in the


21· ·record that the average person -- I mean, I have


22· ·multiple college degrees.· I read things as they're


23· ·stated, and the average person trying to do this on


24· ·their own could read that form and be completely


25· ·stymied like I was.· So in the interest of the
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·1· ·record, I think the form needs to be updated, so I


·2· ·thought I would drive up and see.


·3· · · · I don't know how government works inside.  I


·4· ·ran for Congress in 2017 for the 2018 year, and so


·5· ·I had finance committee, I had all that.  I


·6· ·understand how government works, and I understand


·7· ·how elections work.· This was just something that


·8· ·was a little odd, I guess, that this fine seems to


·9· ·be disproportionally high compared to the damage


10· ·caused, which really is probably zero.· But I


11· ·thought I would put myself at the mercy of the


12· ·committee.· I'll take whatever the committee


13· ·decides.


14· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· When you were operating the


15· ·committee, starting the committee, did you avail


16· ·yourself of the information on the State's website


17· ·that has the Campaign Finance Manual?


18· · · · MR. CURTIS:· Absolutely.· I have everything in


19· ·front of me right here.· I did everything exactly


20· ·by the book, and I thought I was doing everything


21· ·exactly by the book when I did not file at that


22· ·time because I didn't think I met the threshold for


23· ·filing.· And I didn't find out until -- maybe if I


24· ·had found out the next day that it would be a $50


25· ·fine, I'd say, well, that's fine.· But since I
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·1· ·didn't have notice that something was wrong for


·2· ·two months, then I racked up the full $1,000 fine.


·3· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So this is the back of -- it


·4· ·says "this form."· Is the form they're referring to


·5· ·just for PACs?


·6· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· No.· The CFA-4 is for all


·7· ·committees, candidates, committees.


·8· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Because I would argue that --


·9· ·or I don't want to be argumentative, but I would


10· ·say that, if you had run for State Representative,


11· ·then --


12· · · · MR. CURTIS:· No, I didn't run for State


13· ·Representative.


14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I thought you just


15· ·mentioned --


16· · · · MR. CURTIS:· I ran for Congress.


17· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Congress.· I'm sorry.


18· · · · MR. CURTIS:· That was federal election, yes.


19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I'm sorry about that, but


20· ·that you were familiar with the requirements and


21· ·the forms obviously through that.


22· · · · MR. CURTIS:· I never had to fill out a form.


23· ·I had a full campaign team, finance director,


24· ·campaign director, all of that that were handling


25· ·all those things at that time.· This is more of a
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·1· ·grassroots type of try-to-do-it-on-my-own-type


·2· ·operation.· I do run businesses.· I mean, I'm an


·3· ·orthodontist; I have an orthodontic business.  I


·4· ·have a property business.· So I'm familiar with


·5· ·filing for businesses, yes.


·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Any other questions?


·7· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Just a point of information, I


·8· ·guess.· The Campaign Finance Manual very clearly


·9· ·states, I believe, that for each PAC they must file


10· ·three reports per year, at a minimum, in election


11· ·years and one report in nonelection years.· And


12· ·that's a -- it's several places in the Campaign


13· ·Finance Manual.


14· · · · MR. CURTIS:· Right.· But the instructions for


15· ·filling out that particular form, which I just


16· ·stated, says that the qualifications for filling


17· ·out that form, one is that there's more than


18· ·$50,000.· That's exactly what that paragraph says,


19· ·so that's why I had to go with the paragraph on the


20· ·form.· To file that form, I was following the


21· ·instructions on the form.


22· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· File electronically.


23· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Valerie, do you have


24· ·something, or Brad?


25· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· I was going to defer to Brad.
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·1· ·Go ahead.


·2· · · · MR. KING:· I was just going to -- speaking to


·3· ·Valerie with regard to an issue that arises in a


·4· ·wide variety of legal contexts, not just election


·5· ·law, in construing statutes and forms, it's in pari


·6· ·materia, which means basically to understand the


·7· ·meaning of a law -- or the code of law, campaign


·8· ·finance code, you have to look at the entirety of


·9· ·the law, not just an isolated piece to understand


10· ·how that isolated piece is going to work, which


11· ·addresses Commissioner Claytor's point with regard


12· ·to the Campaign Finance Manual being part of that


13· ·summary of the larger body of law that is what


14· ·those who interpret the law are required to use.


15· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.


16· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So the committee is


17· ·closed?


18· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.


19· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· And there's no --


20· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Correct.


21· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· -- because there's no


22· ·money?


23· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Questions, thoughts?


24· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I just want to say I agree


25· ·with Michael that this says this instruction
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·1· ·applies to these things, but that does not mean


·2· ·that there's not other instructions or obligations


·3· ·in other areas.· So I think your point is well


·4· ·taken that the Campaign Finance Manual says these


·5· ·are -- it's a requirement, and this in no way


·6· ·contradicts that underlying requirement that's in


·7· ·the manual.


·8· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Madam Chairman, if I may, I


·9· ·regret that our friend did not come forward during


10· ·the settlement offer, but I'll make a motion and


11· ·see if I can buy a second over here that we assess


12· ·a fine of 25 percent against the campaign.· I know


13· ·we normally don't do that once the time is over,


14· ·but there's obviously some misunderstanding here,


15· ·and the entity is now closed.· So I would move that


16· ·we assess a fine of 25 percent, which would be


17· ·$250.66.


18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We have a motion.· Do we have


19· ·a second?


20· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Second.


21· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· We have a motion and a


22· ·second to impose a 25 percent penalty, which would


23· ·be $250 and the mailing cost of 66 cents.· All


24· ·those in favor signify by saying "aye."


25· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.
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·1· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


·2· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


·3· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."


·4· · · · Motion passes.


·5· · · · MR. CURTIS:· I appreciate that.· And I would


·6· ·suggest just a colon at the end of that sentence


·7· ·and that form would make it clearer that this means


·8· ·the next part of that.


·9· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.


10· · · · MR. CURTIS:· One other question too, I guess,


11· ·from a legal aspect.


12· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· I'm sorry.· This is not really


13· ·the forum for that.· You're welcome to stay to the


14· ·end and I would be happy to chat with you, but for


15· ·the moment the Commission has other hearings.


16· · · · MR. CURTIS:· I just wondered, I mean, if a


17· ·closed PAC can actually be fined.


18· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Yes.


19· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.


20· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Sorry.· Yes.


21· · · · MR. CURTIS:· Just quick.


22· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Yeah.


23· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Next.


24· · · · MS. DOYLE:· Hello, Commissioners.· I am


25· ·Brittany Doyle, B-r-i-t-t-a-n-y, D-o-y-l-e, here
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·1· ·for Cause No. 2025-6797-414, McCormick for


·2· ·Governor.· This is a continuance from the last


·3· ·hearing.


·4· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· It's on page 17, Cause


·5· ·No. 2025-6797-414.· It was tabled at the hearing on


·6· ·September 23rd.· This was a late CFA-11 caused by a


·7· ·refund.


·8· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So before Brittany starts,


·9· ·could I hear from the campaign finance staff how


10· ·this matter falls into a contribution.· What's the


11· ·argument?


12· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· It's income.· They entered it


13· ·into the system as income because we only have in


14· ·or out.· There's no other definition.· They entered


15· ·the contribution into the system, and it


16· ·auto-generated, because it was over 10,000, the


17· ·CFA-11 to be filed within seven days.· They entered


18· ·it in July when they were filing their semiannual


19· ·report and went "Ope" because, again, it's a


20· ·refund.· But, again, we only have in or out, so


21· ·there's no separate definition for a refund.


22· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I know that last time we


23· ·asked for a briefing on this, and only Ms. Doyle


24· ·submitted briefing.· Was there a reason why the


25· ·campaign finance staff didn't submit an argument?
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·1· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· We were waiting for Matthew and


·2· ·Valerie to talk to Brittany.· That's --


·3· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Just as a matter going


·4· ·forward, if we ask for briefing on a legal


·5· ·question, can we get your assurances that you'll


·6· ·provide something in writing, because the State has


·7· ·the burden to provide a prima facie case on this;


·8· ·otherwise, we have to give judgment to Ms. Doyle.


·9· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· I will say that Matthew and I


10· ·have discussed, and neither of us -- I don't want


11· ·to speak for you, Matthew -- felt this met the


12· ·definition of contribution.· It's just caught up in


13· ·the system because there's nothing else to put it


14· ·on because we're working on a 1990s computer


15· ·system.


16· · · · So when you read the definition of


17· ·contribution, contribution means a donation of


18· ·property that satisfies both of the following:· The


19· ·donation is made for the purpose of influencing any


20· ·of the following:· The nomination or election to


21· ·office of a candidate, the election of delegates to


22· ·a state constitutional convention, the outcome of a


23· ·public question.· The donation is accepted by any


24· ·of the following:· A candidate, a candidate's


25· ·committee, a regular party committee, a political
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·1· ·action committee, and legislative caucus committee.


·2· ·Whenever funds are transferred from one committee


·3· ·to another or a donation of funds to influence an


·4· ·election on a public question is accepted as a


·5· ·contribution, the accepting committee is considered


·6· ·to be receiving a contribution in the amount of the


·7· ·funds transferred.


·8· · · · And I could keep reading, but I'll just tell


·9· ·you that there's not anything in there that, to me,


10· ·makes this contribution work on a 1990s system.


11· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So if that's the case, does


12· ·the Division want to withdraw this complaint?


13· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· I don't believe we can because


14· ·we are staff and we cannot make that decision;


15· ·therefore, we have to bring it to you as the


16· ·Commission to make that decision.


17· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· If I might, Madam Chair, I'm


18· ·not disagreeing with Matthew or Valerie.· Matthew


19· ·and I have gone around and around on this


20· ·particular issue.· Whether it is a computer system


21· ·or a paper CFA-4 document, it is still income, and


22· ·that income has to be reported.· So if you were not


23· ·filing it electronically and you were on paper, you


24· ·would have to report that refund of $85,000 on


25· ·paper.
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·1· · · · Now, I agree it's not a contribution because


·2· ·it's not used to effectuate the support or defeat


·3· ·of a public question, but, to me, there's a larger


·4· ·issue here that perhaps the legislature needs to


·5· ·tackle to create a different schedule where it is


·6· ·not a contribution, where it is something like a


·7· ·refund so that, one, our 1990s computer system


·8· ·won't trigger these reports to do different


·9· ·filings, but also address these rare instances


10· ·where you have a refund that is not a contribution,


11· ·because at the end of the day, that $85,000 impacts


12· ·their bank account, it impacts their cash on hand,


13· ·and it needs to be organized in such a way.


14· ·Matthew might argue with me, because he has, that


15· ·it's an unitemized contribution, but I see how you


16· ·can say with a straight face $85,000 is an


17· ·unitemized contribution.


18· · · · So I appreciate Ms. Doyle bringing forward


19· ·this very novel legal question and whether or not


20· ·it should be considered a contribution or not, but,


21· ·to me, there's a bigger issue at play that the


22· ·Commission can't decide today necessarily about


23· ·what to do, but I do think it's a larger question


24· ·to bring to the legislature to determine how you


25· ·classify this type of income.
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·1· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Madam Chair, can I -- if I could


·2· ·ask anyone in the room that wants to answer except


·3· ·the guys from VSTOP.· When I am entering in the


·4· ·system, there's a drop-down.


·5· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yeah.


·6· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· And something is either direct,


·7· ·unitemized, or interest.· Is there a selection for


·8· ·refund?· I don't remember.


·9· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· No.· There's a selection for


10· ·other, and I think it was -- I don't have it in


11· ·front of me, but I believe it was entered as other,


12· ·refund and explanation.


13· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· So let me ask, since there is


14· ·specifically an interest selection in the


15· ·drop-down, if I had $1,000 of interest in the stub


16· ·reporting period, would I have to file for an over


17· ·$1,000?


18· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· It would trigger the CFA-11.


19· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· It would trigger the CFA-11?


20· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes, yes.


21· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Okay.· That doesn't make a damn


22· ·bit of sense to me.


23· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· That's a good question.  I


24· ·had two other hypotheticals that would go into this


25· ·bucket that are not refunds, so it doesn't sound
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·1· ·like you have any accusers here among the staff, so


·2· ·I won't accuse you either.· But if you went to


·3· ·Walmart as a campaign and you bought something for


·4· ·$10 and you handed the cashier a $20 bill and then


·5· ·you left, went to the parking lot, the cashier came


·6· ·out and gave you $10 back, is that a contribution?


·7· ·I don't think there's anybody that would say that's


·8· ·a contribution even though there's money that's


·9· ·going back to the committee.


10· · · · I'll give you another example.· A lot of big


11· ·committees get credit cards, and some of these


12· ·American Express credit cards, if you spend


13· ·$10,000, you're going to get $1,000 back.· It's a


14· ·standard contractual thing.· I would say that I


15· ·can't imagine anybody saying that a reduction of


16· ·your credit card bill by $1,000 from American


17· ·Express by opening a credit card would be a


18· ·contribution.


19· · · · And so there's got to be a way to address


20· ·these sorts of scenarios where money is coming to a


21· ·campaign but it does not define contribution.  I


22· ·appreciate you bringing this up, writing a brief


23· ·explaining it.· I think there needs to be some


24· ·legislative fix here that doesn't flag us.


25· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I'm curious, is there
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·1· ·a way -- it's been a long time since I filled out


·2· ·one of these reports, thank goodness, but I


·3· ·remember -- well, because you were talking about


·4· ·the expense.· So there are the expenses of the


·5· ·campaign, the expenses of the campaign, expenses of


·6· ·the PAC, whatever the entity is, you know, like the


·7· ·office paying for rent or whatever.· Is there a


·8· ·way, when you're entering that type -- well, I


·9· ·guess can negative numbers be entered?


10· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· No.


11· · · · MS. DOYLE:· No.


12· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· See, that would


13· ·alleviate that.· I'm thinking, yeah, you enter a


14· ·negative because that would -- the theme this year


15· ·is the computer system.


16· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.


17· · · · MR. KING:· Madam Chair, the Commission has


18· ·identified an ongoing skirmish in the battle


19· ·between humanity and technology.· But let me


20· ·address that with another general legal principle


21· ·that I think is relevant here, and that is, because


22· ·the statute involved here raises the possibility of


23· ·penalty being imposed, there is abundant case law


24· ·which says that, if there's any ambiguity, that


25· ·ambiguity has to be construed in favor of the
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·1· ·individual entity and against the State with regard


·2· ·to imposing a penalty.· And so I would bring that


·3· ·to the attention of the Commission for


·4· ·consideration.


·5· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I was going to say -- well,


·6· ·let me real quick, Brittany, I feel like we didn't


·7· ·give you a chance to say anything.


·8· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Yeah, you don't get


·9· ·to talk.· Sorry.


10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So let's back up just a


11· ·minute before we make our decision.


12· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Start the five-minute


13· ·clock right now.


14· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Go.


15· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Is there anything -- I just


16· ·wanted to give you due time so you can break in.


17· · · · MS. DOYLE:· No problem.· I'll take any


18· ·questions you have on the memo I submitted, but I


19· ·don't have any additional presentation at this


20· ·time.


21· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Can you state your name for --


22· · · · MS. DOYLE:· Brittany Doyle.


23· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We literally got nowhere at


24· ·the beginning.


25· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· I would just like to put on the
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·1· ·record, because Valerie did say that she didn't


·2· ·want to speak for me, I have had a chance to read


·3· ·the memo.· I have studied the issue since the


·4· ·committee.· I do agree what was in the memo, what


·5· ·constitutes a contribution, and so I do want to say


·6· ·that I agree with my counterpart.


·7· · · · I would also like to say to Commissioner


·8· ·Westercamp that I have notes now duly noted for


·9· ·myself, my co-counsel, if you or any other


10· ·commissioners ask for a briefing before we continue


11· ·a matter, we will have that memo for you or whoever


12· ·requested it, obviously subject to going through


13· ·our bosses, the co-directors.· So I will state for


14· ·myself personally, I do apologize that we did not


15· ·answer your call from the last meeting.· It will


16· ·not happen again.


17· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Thank you.· And as a general


18· ·matter -- I know that people are playing the home


19· ·game -- if there's unique circumstances that aren't


20· ·factual, like the dog ate my homework sort of


21· ·thing, that are legal, I found it extremely


22· ·helpful, because when people come up, you get five


23· ·minutes to think about something and decide


24· ·something.· Ms. Doyle came at the end of like an


25· ·all-day meeting, and so it was enormously helpful.
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·1· · · · If somebody wants to submit a brief on a legal


·2· ·matter, if a reasonable length or a reasonable time


·3· ·before the meeting, like seven days before a


·4· ·meeting, I'll read it and consider it if it's a


·5· ·legal issue.· If it's a factual thing, the dog ate


·6· ·my homework, probably won't be persuasive.· But I


·7· ·wanted to put that out there for repeat players


·8· ·that it will give us a little bit more time to


·9· ·think about issues that come up like this one.


10· · · · MS. DOYLE:· Thank you, Commissioner.


11· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· And just so I'm on the right


12· ·page, what page is this?


13· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Page 17.


14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I'm sorry.· I feel like you


15· ·already said that.· Okay.


16· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I would move that


17· ·we -- so I forget.· Are we dismissing, waiving?


18· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Dismissing.


19· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I would move that we


20· ·dismiss the proposed fine.


21· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I second that.


22· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We have a motion and a second


23· ·to dismiss the proposed fine.· All those in favor


24· ·signify by saying "aye."


25· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.
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·1· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


·2· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


·3· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."


·4· · · · Motion passes.


·5· · · · MS. DOYLE:· Thank you very much.


·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.


·7· · · · Okay.· Any other -- I think we've made it


·8· ·through that portion.· Okay.· So I think we are


·9· ·through the enforcement portion of our meeting.· So


10· ·on the issue of continuances, would the campaign


11· ·finance staff identify any matters for which a


12· ·motion of continuance was received for today's


13· ·meeting.


14· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Yes.· Madam Chair, we have a


15· ·motion to reconsider.· It's A Better Option.· It's


16· ·Cause No. 2025-7921-279.· It was --


17· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· What page is that?· I'm


18· ·sorry.· Oh, right here.· Six, page 6?


19· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Yes, 6.


20· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· I'm sorry.· Go ahead.


21· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· This is a motion to reconsider.


22· ·It was a committee that received the letter in


23· ·January with the wrong dates, and he took it before


24· ·the Secretary of State's office instead of coming


25· ·through our office at the beginning.


Page 76
·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I know there was some email


·2· ·communication in our binders there.


·3· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Yeah.


·4· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Where in the binders?


·5· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Page 6 and then he wrote an email


·6· ·under the pink tab -- blue tab.


·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yeah.· I noticed here.


·8· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· We had six or seven -- I don't


·9· ·remember the exact number -- committees at the last


10· ·hearing where we sent the notice with the -- I


11· ·mailed the 2020 notice instead of the '24 notice,


12· ·so we had the January 20th deadline from 2021


13· ·instead of the 15th.


14· · · · So he had reached out to Kegan and the


15· ·Secretary's office from the jump.· We didn't know


16· ·any of this.· And Kegan called him after the


17· ·hearing to ask why he was not dismissed with


18· ·everyone else at the hearing, but, again, I don't


19· ·know Kegan.· I can't pick him out of a lineup of


20· ·one.· So we would ask for this one to also be


21· ·dismissed and apologize for having missed it the


22· ·first time.


23· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· But the first hearing he just


24· ·didn't show up?


25· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Right.
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·1· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· And I believe that's because he


·2· ·had spoken to the Secretary of State's office,


·3· ·which is a separate --


·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· But that's his fault, not the


·5· ·fault of the Commission.


·6· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· That is fair.· I do believe the


·7· ·Secretary of State's staffer may have given him bad


·8· ·advice.· I just want to put that on the record.


·9· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.


10· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Many people do not understand


11· ·the Division is not part of the Secretary of


12· ·State's office.


13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sure.· So he didn't show up


14· ·for the first one because this email right here is


15· ·dated the 24th, which we met on the 23rd.


16· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Right, yes.· He called us both on


17· ·the 24th to let us know that Kegan had informed him


18· ·he was not dismissed at the hearing.


19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· What does he mention here,


20· ·"I'm not sure why my complaints via phone were not


21· ·recorded by your office"?


22· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· I believe that's him speaking to


23· ·the Secretary of State staff.


24· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sorry.· Okay.· Again --


25· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· No, no, no.· He was very
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·1· ·confused and very upset with the Election Division


·2· ·because he had been speaking to the Secretary of


·3· ·State's office, which I don't believe explained the


·4· ·difference of the Division and that they were not


·5· ·involved in this and may have given bad advice.


·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· And then so for today he


·7· ·references then this is this morning.


·8· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.· We were going to ask for


·9· ·this to be dismissed because, again, it was what we


10· ·had goofed on, but I told him to go ahead and ask


11· ·for a continuance because he called this morning


12· ·and he was very sick.· And I said ask for the


13· ·continuance because, if we don't get it dismissed,


14· ·we'll have it continued and on the next agenda.


15· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes.


16· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· I have a question for staff,


17· ·and this may lead to a second question.· Was the


18· ·final notice of penalty -- or the notice of -- no,


19· ·let me go back.· The final order imposing a fine in


20· ·the stack that was approved by the Commission at


21· ·the beginning of the meeting, are they in that


22· ·stack?


23· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.


24· · · · MS. THOMPSON:· Yes, it is.


25· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Okay.· So that goes to my
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·1· ·second one.· You have fully completed the


·2· ·requirements under AOPA to fine this committee.· If


·3· ·you want to grant his continuance for his motion to


·4· ·reconsider, I'm going to say this:· You may want to


·5· ·think about essentially pulling his final order and


·6· ·not issuing it.


·7· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Just because at the last meeting


·8· ·I do believe that we dismissed these complaints.


·9· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· The other six, yes.


10· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· The other six were all


11· ·dismissed, so I would say to be consistent, the


12· ·motion would be to dismiss, if that was the will of


13· ·the Commission.


14· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Reconsider.


15· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Yes, sure.


16· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· First they have to reconsider --


17· ·Angie is correct -- but then a motion to dismiss.


18· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· I'd like to clarify my


19· ·questions and comments.· Those are meant for if you


20· ·were taking up his request for a continuance in


21· ·case you wanted to hear from this committee at a


22· ·future meeting as you took up the motion to


23· ·reconsider.


24· · · · But if you do feel that you have enough


25· ·evidence to act, then, yes, Valerie is absolutely
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·1· ·right because we just did one for a committee many


·2· ·minutes ago.


·3· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Yes, yes.


·4· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So when we voted on this at


·5· ·the last meeting, we dismissed a bunch of similarly


·6· ·situated cases.


·7· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Correct.


·8· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Why was his not incorporated


·9· ·in that?· Was it because he was not physically


10· ·present?


11· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· No.


12· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· He had been speaking to the


13· ·Secretary's office and not the Division, so we did


14· ·not know.


15· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· We didn't know about it.· He got


16· ·bad advice from the Secretary's office.


17· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Got it.· Got it.


18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So at this point all we knew


19· ·was he just didn't show up; correct?


20· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.


21· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We didn't have any


22· ·supporting --


23· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· We did not have the information


24· ·that he had given to the Secretary's office.


25· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Of the 130 pages of that hearing,
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·1· ·he was on one of the pages.· We pulled out six


·2· ·other pages of those six committees.


·3· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So Valerie's point is to be


·4· ·consistent we would --


·5· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Correct.


·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· If the original argument is


·7· ·the date on the letter, we would dismiss.


·8· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So I would move to


·9· ·reconsider the order --


10· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Correct.


11· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· -- imposing the fine.


12· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I'd second that motion.


13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So we have a motion


14· ·and a second to reconsider.· All those in favor


15· ·signify by saying "aye."


16· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


17· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


18· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."


20· · · · Motion passes.


21· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· And I would move that


22· ·we dismiss the fine based on the fact that he falls


23· ·into the category of the folks who got the


24· ·misleading letter.


25· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Second.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So we have a motion


·2· ·and a second to dismiss the fine.· All those in


·3· ·favor signify by saying "aye."


·4· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


·5· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


·6· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."


·8· · · · Motion passes.


·9· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Okay.· And we do have


10· ·continuances.· There were four committees who are


11· ·asking for a second continuance.· They had


12· ·continuances granted at the September 23rd hearing.


13· ·The first is Hancock County for Progress.· They had


14· ·three causes, 2025-7277-60, -151, and -349; Martin


15· ·Del Rio for Indiana, Cause Nos. 2025-7610-96 and


16· ·-253; Committee to Elect Shemanski, Cause


17· ·No. 2025-7642-101; and Jay County Democrats, Cause


18· ·No. 2025-7838-292 and -323.· They are all asking


19· ·for a second continuance.


20· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Are there any that the staff


21· ·opposed?


22· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· No.


23· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· On that, just for


24· ·clarification because I'm new, is there reason


25· ·given or we just sort of blanket approve those?
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·1· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Their emails are under the blue


·2· ·tab kind of explaining why they're asking for


·3· ·another continuance.


·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Each one is obviously


·5· ·different.


·6· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.· They're separate.· Some are


·7· ·two pages.· Most are just --


·8· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· In the past, once


·9· ·they've gotten two requests, haven't we said okay,


10· ·if we grant it, but really next time you need to be


11· ·here, that this is it?


12· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.· Historically the Commission


13· ·will grant the second continuance as a final


14· ·continuance, has been what we've done for the last


15· ·few years.


16· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I move for a continuance of


17· ·all the committees that were just referenced.


18· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Second.


19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So we have a motion


20· ·and a second to grant those continuances that were


21· ·mentioned.· All those in favor signify by saying


22· ·"aye."


23· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


24· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


25· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."


·2· · · · Motion passes.


·3· · · · Okay.· Defaults --


·4· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Hang on.


·5· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· I believe someone just walked in.


·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Would you like to come


·7· ·up and have a seat.· Mr. Kochevar will need to


·8· ·swear you in.


·9· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Please raise your right hand


10· ·and say "I do" after recitation of the oath.


11· · · · Do you solemnly swear or affirm, under the


12· ·penalties of perjury, that the testimony you are


13· ·about to give to the Indiana Election Commission is


14· ·the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the


15· ·truth?


16· · · · MS. HATCHER:· I do.


17· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Thank you.


18· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Thank you.


19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· If you could please state


20· ·your name and spell it for us.


21· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Ragen Hatcher, R-a-g-e-n,


22· ·H-a-t-c-h-e-r.


23· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Madam Chairman, members of the


24· ·Commission, this is on pages 12 and 13.· The first


25· ·is Cause No. 2025-7150-393 with a proposed civil
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·1· ·penalty of $350.68.· The second is Cause


·2· ·No. 2025-7150-394 with a proposed civil penalty of


·3· ·$350.68.· This is their third time before the


·4· ·Commission.


·5· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So you were not here


·6· ·when we started.


·7· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Yes.


·8· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So I will quickly -- or if


·9· ·you want to, I can defer to our vice chair.· We did


10· ·sort of go through with other members that were at


11· ·this hearing, we have been offering sort of what


12· ·we'll call a deal to different committees for


13· ·campaigns.


14· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Okay.


15· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· If you want to forgo this


16· ·hearing portion, you could take the deal, which


17· ·means it would be 75 percent of the proposed


18· ·penalty if just accepting the delinquencies, and


19· ·you would pay 75 percent of the fine and waive this


20· ·hearing.


21· · · · MS. HATCHER:· I'm not sure if -- I read


22· ·through the statute.· I'm not sure if my reasoning


23· ·is a good enough reason to be dismissed or not


24· ·dismissed.· And so both of my issues are because I


25· ·didn't file the supplemental report for the over
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·1· ·$1,000.· And it's because of the date that I used


·2· ·and not necessarily the date that I received it but


·3· ·the date that was on the check itself when I filed


·4· ·my report.


·5· · · · Since that time and since this last issue,


·6· ·which occurred in 2023 for 2024, the Indiana


·7· ·Democratic -- we had kind of a meeting about how to


·8· ·fill out the reports best, and I had been


·9· ·apparently using the wrong date.


10· · · · If that is not sufficient for the reason that


11· ·it was filed late even though from the time I


12· ·received it it went into the system within


13· ·24 hours, not from the time the check was written


14· ·did it go into the system within 24 hours, I think


15· ·that will be my only question because that's my


16· ·only defense, that I'm putting it in based on the


17· ·date on the check and not on the date I received


18· ·it.· And I only do that because it keeps things


19· ·easier for me when I am going through my reports


20· ·and filling out reports for the biannual -- on the


21· ·biannual basis.· It's just different with the


22· ·$1,000 ones because they have to be in within a


23· ·certain time.


24· · · · So I'm not quite sure what to do.


25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So obviously we want to
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·1· ·engage in discussion.· So I would say, if it's


·2· ·okay, maybe for clarification if we could sort of


·3· ·back up and you describe to us, if that's okay.


·4· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So before we take up your


·5· ·matter, what we've done with other campaign


·6· ·committees is that they've had to decide are they


·7· ·going to take a deal.· In this case, you would get


·8· ·a 25 percent haircut on what you owe.


·9· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· This is her third time,


10· ·right, so it would be 75 percent.


11· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· The haircut is 25 percent.


12· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Oh, yes.· I'm sorry.· Yeah.


13· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· We're saying the same thing.


14· ·You've got to pay 75 percent.· You would get a


15· ·25 percent reduction.


16· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Got you.


17· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· If you do that, then we're


18· ·done.· If you want to take your chances and make a


19· ·case to us, you just need to decide that now.


20· · · · MS. HATCHER:· I'd like to take my chances


21· ·then.


22· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Okay.· You're forgoing the


23· ·deal?


24· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Yes.· Thank you.· And thank you


25· ·for the offer.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So let's start over.


·2· ·You have five minutes for your portion.· So you


·3· ·just tell us a little more clearly what happened.


·4· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Thank you.· First, I've been in


·5· ·politics for a while, but going back to county


·6· ·where we were filing the county, I was a city


·7· ·councilman.· This is -- since 2019, and I suspect


·8· ·it's probably the first time, I can't recall the


·9· ·first time I was in front of the Commission, but I


10· ·think it was for a late report.· It wasn't for this


11· ·situation.


12· · · · But when I do my reports, I go back, I pull


13· ·out all my checks, and I put in the date that the


14· ·check is written, the written date of the check,


15· ·and not the date that I deposit it.· About a year


16· ·ago, after this last one, I started writing and


17· ·using the date that I actually pick it up from the


18· ·P.O. Box and I actually put in the deposit.· So if


19· ·you look at my newer records, you'll see a number


20· ·of checks are received on the very same day.· It's


21· ·the day that I pick them up and the day that I


22· ·deposit them into the bank.· Going back here,


23· ·though, I was still using the date of the check


24· ·when I came and wrote my final report out to submit


25· ·to the State for processing.
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·1· · · · So I know that's what the problem is.· I know


·2· ·that's where the mistake lies.· But as I said


·3· ·before, that seems like a mistake that's more on my


·4· ·end than on the Commission's end, and so I'm just


·5· ·asking for -- especially since I have corrected the


·6· ·problem now and understand what the issue is.· I do


·7· ·have all checks go to my P.O. Box.· None of them


·8· ·come straight to my house.· I usually pick that up,


·9· ·especially during election season, at least once a


10· ·week, sometimes it may be once every two weeks, but


11· ·yes.


12· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So the issue is that


13· ·you -- so if a check is dated December 1st, you


14· ·received it December 15th, but you're entering it


15· ·into the lovely antiquated system we keep talking


16· ·about --


17· · · · MS. HATCHER:· I'm glad I didn't say it.


18· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· -- with the


19· ·December 1st date, is what you're saying?


20· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Yes, the date that's actually on


21· ·the check.


22· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Okay.· So do you have


23· ·records indicating -- for these checks that


24· ·prompted these penalties, do you have anything


25· ·indicating when you received those particular
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·1· ·checks?


·2· · · · MS. HATCHER:· So not necessarily.· Like I


·3· ·don't have anything that says I went to the P.O.


·4· ·Box on this day and picked this check up.· But I


·5· ·think what you will see is that the date that's on


·6· ·the actual check is the date that's being used to


·7· ·submit to the State.


·8· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· And I guess we don't


·9· ·have that.


10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We don't have that.


11· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· We don't have copies of any


12· ·checks for anything.


13· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So the staff's position is


14· ·that the date that should have been used for the


15· ·representative is the date that the money hit the


16· ·bank account?


17· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· The date that she deposited the


18· ·check to the bank account.


19· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· And you obviously have bank


20· ·statements that would show that; right?


21· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Right.· So the one that I


22· ·suspect that we're talking about, I think it's the


23· ·one --


24· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· It says there's one


25· ·from Thomas Cappas and one from Greater Gary PAC.
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·1· · · · MS. HATCHER:· So I have Cappas.· It says 5/1.


·2· ·That's the date it was written.


·3· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· And you put 5/2 in the system,


·4· ·neither here nor there.


·5· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Okay.· And 5/2 was probably --


·6· ·that was the date that I deposited it.· And then


·7· ·what is this?· Greater Gary, so Greater Gary is


·8· ·4/30.


·9· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· You also have 5/2.· So that


10· ·probably is the date you deposited them.


11· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Yeah.· So where would the


12· ·problem come in?


13· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· You entered them in the system as


14· ·received on May 2nd.· You didn't file the report


15· ·until May 12th.· They were due May 4th, but that


16· ·fell on a Saturday, so it rolled to May 6th.


17· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Yes.· So maybe I do have a bit


18· ·of a problem here.


19· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Abbey, which report are you


20· ·speaking about specifically?


21· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· This is the CFA-11.


22· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Due in 2024, 2023?


23· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Due May 6th of 2024.


24· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Forty-eight hours from?


25· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Forty-eight hours from receipt.


Page 92
·1· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Okay.· And what was the filing


·2· ·window for the 2024 CFA-11?


·3· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· The 2024 CFA-11 was April -- let


·4· ·me look at a calendar.· April 13, 2024, through


·5· ·May 5, 2024.


·6· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Okay.


·7· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· That was the five minutes.


·8· · · · MS. HATCHER:· I don't know if I have a good


·9· ·one for this then.· I thought that was the ones


10· ·that I was using the date of deposit for.· And is


11· ·it because I have my --


12· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· So these were due within 48 hours


13· ·of receipt, which would have been May 6th because


14· ·the 4th was a weekend, and you didn't file these


15· ·until the 12th.


16· · · · MS. HATCHER:· So I do have a problem.· Okay.


17· ·So I need to pay the fine.


18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Questions or thoughts on


19· ·this?


20· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I would move to impose the


21· ·penalty -- or is penalty the right word?· Okay.


22· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Can I pay one penalty instead of


23· ·two penalties since they both happened on the same


24· ·report?· It's the same report, same dates.


25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Unfortunately, it's a penalty
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·1· ·on each.


·2· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Okay.


·3· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· I'm sorry.· So we have


·4· ·a motion on the floor, and yours would be to impose


·5· ·the fine at 100 percent.


·6· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Yes.


·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Which for each one it's $350,


·8· ·and it says the mail cost on both were 68 cents.


·9· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.


10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Do we have any discussion or


11· ·a second?


12· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Is there a second?


13· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Can I ask when that will be due?


14· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Hang on just a second.


15· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· We're discussing the matter.


16· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Oh, okay.


17· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Second.


18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So we have a motion


19· ·and a second on the penalty, again, being $350 for


20· ·each violation and 68 cents mail cost for each.


21· ·All those in favor signify by saying "aye."


22· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


23· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


24· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."
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·1· · · · Motion passes.


·2· · · · As far as the payment, once this is processed,


·3· ·then we'd have to accept all these at the next


·4· ·meeting.


·5· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· And then we'll adopt the orders,


·6· ·and then we will mail the orders, and then they


·7· ·each have a 30-day window for payment.· You'll have


·8· ·some time.


·9· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Okay.


10· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So it's a little bit of time.


11· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Okay.· Is that it?


12· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes.· Thank you very much.


13· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· It's no consolation, but I'm old


14· ·enough to have worked with Richard Hatcher and


15· ·enjoyed that.


16· · · · MS. HATCHER:· Well, I'm sure he's unhappy with


17· ·me today.· So thank you.


18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you very much.· Okay.


19· ·Any others?· I don't think so.


20· · · · Okay.· So we dealt with the continuances.· On


21· ·the issue of any defaults, is anyone present to


22· ·testify on any remaining campaign finance hearings


23· ·scheduled for today?


24· · · · If not, I declare the hearings on all


25· ·remaining campaign finance matters scheduled for
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·1· ·today closed.· Is there a motion to impose the


·2· ·entire amount --


·3· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Can I just ask one question?


·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes.


·5· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So I think Senator Young was


·6· ·here last time speaking several times.· Did he ask


·7· ·for a continuance?


·8· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· We have not heard from him since


·9· ·that hearing.· He and I worked at the back and got


10· ·it all situated to match up ours with his, and we


11· ·have not heard since.


12· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· But you sent him notice today


13· ·of the thing?


14· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes, yes.


15· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· And the General Assembly is


16· ·not in session.


17· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Correct.


18· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· So we just have nothing from


19· ·him.


20· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· And, again, since I'm new and


21· ·I know John is newer to the committee, how are


22· ·those things handled if there is no communication?


23· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Just like the rest of these


24· ·causes, they'll get the full fine imposed.


25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· And then after today
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·1· ·those notifications get mailed?


·2· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Once we meet again and we adopt


·3· ·the orders, then we'll mail them.


·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.


·5· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Madam Chairman, though, just


·6· ·for you both, the committee can still file a motion


·7· ·to reconsider --


·8· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.


·9· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· -- even after the fines are


10· ·assessed.· So Senator Young or any other committee


11· ·that is in default today, once they receive that


12· ·order, they can request a motion to reconsider,


13· ·similar to what we had happen earlier today.


14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· And we do give deference to


15· ·that.


16· · · · MS. TAYLOR:· Yes.


17· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So do we need to vote


18· ·on the defaults?· Yes.· Okay.· I just want to make


19· ·sure.· Thank you.


20· · · · Okay.· Is there a motion to impose the entire


21· ·amount of the proposed penalty plus mailing costs


22· ·in all remaining campaign finance enforcement


23· ·actions?


24· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So moved.


25· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Second.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Further discussion?


·2· · · · All in favor of the motion please signify by


·3· ·saying "aye."


·4· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


·5· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


·6· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed say "nay."


·8· · · · The "ayes" have it, and the motion to impose


·9· ·the penalty is adopted.


10· · · · Okay.· So this part of our hearing is


11· ·completed.· We're going to move on to the voting


12· ·system approval protocols report.· The Chair


13· ·recognizes the Co-Directors to provide a report


14· ·regarding the protocols for the Commission to


15· ·consider applications for approval of a new voting


16· ·system.· The chair will then recognize


17· ·representatives of the Voting Systems Technical


18· ·Advisory Program, VSTOP, to provide information


19· ·regarding the proposed 2025 protocols for voting


20· ·system approval.


21· · · · MR. KING:· Thank you.· Madam Chair, members of


22· ·the Commission, I think it's important,


23· ·particularly for those who may not have been


24· ·present at the last meeting, to review the sequence


25· ·in which these two categories of voting systems
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·1· ·generally fall under.· There is a process for


·2· ·recertification of a voting system that has been


·3· ·approved at some point during the previous


·4· ·four-year cycle.· Each cycle ends on October 1st


·5· ·following a presidential election year.


·6· · · · Because there were changes made during the


·7· ·2025 General Assembly that had potential impact on


·8· ·voting system standards, the Commission, at its


·9· ·previous meeting, adopted amendments to the


10· ·existing protocols to reflect those legislative


11· ·changes.· However, there are voting systems that


12· ·will be brought forward presumably, depending upon


13· ·the due diligence of the vendor and the


14· ·availability of the Voting System Technical


15· ·Oversight Program to review once submitted, that


16· ·would come under new 2025 protocols, as I will use


17· ·as a shorthand designation.


18· · · · Those 2025 protocols were reviewed by myself


19· ·and my counterpart and by Co-Counsel and provided


20· ·to VSTOP.· And so at this point for VSTOP to do its


21· ·work for the November 10th meeting, the 2025


22· ·protocols are the documents before the Commission,


23· ·and I believe they're included in your binder


24· ·material.


25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I think the blue tab;
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·1· ·correct?


·2· · · · MR. KING:· And then I'll defer to our


·3· ·counterparts to add and supplement.


·4· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Yes.· And I would probably


·5· ·defer over to Co-Director Nussmeyer, but this just


·6· ·a matter of how you consider this.· This new


·7· ·protocol has new procedures for VSTOP to test, as


·8· ·Mr. King said, on changes in 2025, the biggest


·9· ·being ballot retraction.


10· · · · But while we still have today and on


11· ·November 10th renewal of voting systems currently


12· ·pending, I would recommend that, if you do adopt


13· ·this today, that you make it very clear that this


14· ·protocol, this amendment, applies to any new voting


15· ·system and any what we call modifications or


16· ·changes to voting systems that are approved for use


17· ·in Indiana, I'm going to say, after November 10,


18· ·2025.· That is so that we don't have, say,


19· ·procedurally, maybe possibly legally, issues with


20· ·the three ES&S systems that are pending renewal.


21· ·But that, I believe, will be on the agenda on the


22· ·November 10th meeting next Monday.· So I'd like to


23· ·just state that as you consider that and consider


24· ·your motion.


25· · · · I'll defer over to Co-Director Nussmeyer on
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·1· ·anything about the protocols or anything else you


·2· ·may want to add on my point.


·3· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· If I might, Madam Chair, this


·4· ·is actually a question for VSTOP, so I don't know


·5· ·if Spencer or Dr. Kinsella.


·6· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· If you all want to come up


·7· ·and state your names, if that's appropriate.· Let's


·8· ·do that.


·9· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Spencer Drumm, D-r-u-m-m.


10· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Into the microphone so that


11· ·those watching online can hear it.


12· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Spencer Drumm.


13· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Thank you.


14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· And maybe for me too, those


15· ·of us that are new, who you are with and maybe your


16· ·titles, just a little more background.


17· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Yes.· I'm with VSTOP.· I'm a


18· ·certification specialist for voting systems.


19· · · · MR. CHATOT:· Marc Chatot.· That's M-a-r-c,


20· ·C-h-a-t-o-t.· I'm the program manager at VSTOP.


21· · · · MR. KINSELLA:· Chad Kinsella, K-i-n-s-e-l-l-a,


22· ·co-director and associate professor.


23· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.


24· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· So if I may, for today, both


25· ·Unisyn and MicroVote were tested under the 2021
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·1· ·standard with the revision that we did at the


·2· ·September meeting; correct?


·3· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Correct.


·4· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· The 2025 revision.· For the


·5· ·November 10th meeting potentially, we will have


·6· ·ES&S.· Now, ES&S has two recertifications, and a


·7· ·third is a new system that was tested in February


·8· ·of 2024 that they then were retested under the 2021


·9· ·protocol with the addendum made from the September


10· ·meeting; correct?


11· · · · MR. DRUMM:· There's three systems.


12· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· But two are recertification


13· ·and one is a new system.


14· · · · MR. DRUMM:· No.· There's four total.


15· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· There's four all day.· Okay.


16· ·Correct.


17· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Yeah.


18· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· So three recertifications --


19· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Correct.


20· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· -- one new, all of them under


21· ·the 2021 amendment.


22· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Correct.


23· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Okay, for testing.· Hart has


24· ·also applied, but they have applied for a new


25· ·voting system.
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·1· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Correct.


·2· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Will they be on the agenda for


·3· ·November 10th?· I have not seen anything scheduled


·4· ·for a field test.


·5· · · · MR. DRUMM:· We haven't received a TDP from


·6· ·them, so we haven't gotten that far.


·7· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Okay.· So if I may at least


·8· ·make a recommendation to my members and the full


·9· ·Commission, I would recommend, to ensure that we


10· ·can get through the November 10th meeting with the


11· ·three systems that are here for recertification


12· ·plus the new system that is under the 2021


13· ·protocols, that perhaps we table the discussion for


14· ·the 2025 certification and do it at the


15· ·November 10th meeting so that it is clean, that it


16· ·is clear that the machines that are being tested


17· ·under the 2021 protocols, that that is still a


18· ·protocol that is ripe and usable for VSTOP.


19· · · · And then after the November 10th meeting, that


20· ·would be the last order of business, to adopt the


21· ·2025 protocols, so that when Hart does finish their


22· ·reporting to VSTOP, then they can be tested under


23· ·the new protocols, and any other system.· It's one


24· ·week, and that would be my suggestion or


25· ·recommendation to the full Commission, but I would
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·1· ·defer to my colleagues, of course.


·2· · · · MR. KING:· Madam Chair and members of the


·3· ·Commission, I appreciate my counterpart's


·4· ·delineation of the lots of moving parts that are in


·5· ·play here.· I think there's a couple points of


·6· ·concern.


·7· · · · I do want to add that the proposed protocols


·8· ·have been published on our website and then


·9· ·provided to vendors, and, to my knowledge, our


10· ·office has certainly not received any comments, and


11· ·I'm not aware of any comments that VSTOP received,


12· ·at least that took written form, from anyone.


13· · · · I think the only potential risk of mixing


14· ·apples and oranges here is that if, in fact, the


15· ·2025 protocols are not approved today but the


16· ·Commission decides on November 10th to make further


17· ·modifications for whatever reason, it then becomes


18· ·unclear whether the Commission could proceed with


19· ·the certification of new systems in accordance with


20· ·those 2025 protocols.· And so I think, again,


21· ·thinking back to 2021, when we had an initial


22· ·recertify by Election Division staff, the model we


23· ·brought forward to you was based on the procedures


24· ·used in 2021, the last time in this cycle this


25· ·process came up.
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·1· · · · And so I'm hearing this for the first time at


·2· ·this moment, so I haven't had time to fully think


·3· ·through all the potential alternatives, but I think


·4· ·instinctively, to me, it is more efficient, if the


·5· ·Commission is comfortable, to approve the 2025


·6· ·protocols today for purposes of VSTOP's work, and


·7· ·then, if further amendments or tweaks are


·8· ·identified, nothing precludes you from amending


·9· ·those on November 10th just in the same way that


10· ·you amended the 2021 protocols in September.· So


11· ·I'm, in essence, saying proceeding with the plan


12· ·that we originally brought forward to you as a way


13· ·to go forward.


14· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Well, if I may, this is also


15· ·my first opportunity to have a conversation about


16· ·the agenda, and so, when it comes to the testing


17· ·protocol, I don't see a reason why the Commission


18· ·can't have a conversation or discussion on the 2025


19· ·protocol and raise any issues that they may have


20· ·with the work the Division did and VSTOP in the


21· ·vendor review and identify places of concern and


22· ·direct staff to make amendments to the protocol and


23· ·then adopt the amended protocol one week from


24· ·today, which is November 10th.


25· · · · MR. KING:· And, Madam Chair, if I can briefly
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·1· ·respond.


·2· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sure.


·3· · · · MR. KING:· Again, I think the operative


·4· ·sequence here is that, so long as the 2025


·5· ·protocols are not deferred in their entirety until


·6· ·a week from today, November 10th, that gives VSTOP


·7· ·and the vendors and the potential county customers,


·8· ·depending upon what variety of contractual


·9· ·arrangement a vendor might have with a county, time


10· ·to address any concerns, to expeditiously approve


11· ·the system if it meets the qualification of the


12· ·statute.


13· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· But if I may, VSTOP just on


14· ·the record said that they have no system -- any


15· ·vendor that has applied for a new voting system


16· ·beyond the ES&S system that was requested under the


17· ·2021 protocols where a report was filed in February


18· ·of 2025.· Correct?· There is no other voting system


19· ·before VSTOP at this point that would be tested


20· ·under their revised 2025 protocols, so we would


21· ·not, in effect, be holding up your work or work for


22· ·the county; is that correct?


23· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Correct.


24· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Thank you.


25· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Well, I guess my
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·1· ·thought would be it seems odd to approve the 2025


·2· ·protocols now if it seems like we're contemplating


·3· ·the possibility that we may be somehow revising


·4· ·them in a week and if they're not going to be


·5· ·affecting anything that is being considered in the


·6· ·next week, which is what I'm hearing.


·7· · · · So it seems like I agree with Co-Director


·8· ·Nussmeyer that, if what we're contemplating -- it


·9· ·sounds like there is contemplation that there might


10· ·be revision to these protocols, so it seems like


11· ·that's something to discuss perhaps now but then to


12· ·take final action next week.· And I agree also it


13· ·sounds like it makes sense to avoid confusion as to


14· ·which protocols are in play at any given period of


15· ·time.


16· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Do you all have anything


17· ·you'd like to --


18· · · · MR. DRUMM:· To add to it?· I don't believe so.


19· · · · MR. CHATOT:· No.· No vendor reply.


20· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Yeah.· We got no replies from the


21· ·vendors other than they had no comments.


22· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· I do have a question.· We kept


23· ·hearing from ES&S specifically in Marion County


24· ·that they were concerned about being able to sell


25· ·equipment.· Does this -- and I'm not advocating for
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·1· ·any vendor.· Please don't take it as that.· But I


·2· ·did hear from them that they were concerned about


·3· ·being able to meet some deadlines of selling


·4· ·equipment to Marion County because Marion County


·5· ·needed new equipment.


·6· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· So if I might, this is the


·7· ·system that VSTOP provided a report to us in


·8· ·February of 2025 that had to then be


·9· ·re-field-tested under the amended protocol, which


10· ·VSTOP has done.· It is not on today's agenda.· So I


11· ·don't know exactly why ES&S is not part of today's


12· ·agenda.· Maybe that is something VSTOP can tell us.


13· ·But as soon as they can be on the agenda, then --


14· ·because Marion County, you're correct, a new


15· ·system, they can't market, sell, or lease it until


16· ·the Commission approves it.


17· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Okay.· And I was thinking, based


18· ·off what I had seen, we had talked -- Commissioner


19· ·Boyce had mentioned at the meeting a month ago that


20· ·we would put this up for 30 days, which we did, and


21· ·then we would come back at the November 10th


22· ·meeting to approve new systems.


23· · · · So just to make sure I'm clear, isn't that


24· ·what ES&S is asking for in the November 10th is to


25· ·approve their new system so they can sell it to
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·1· ·Marion County?


·2· · · · MR. DRUMM:· I don't know the Marion County


·3· ·part, but the 6500, yes.


·4· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Yeah.· So I just want to put


·5· ·that out there.


·6· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· But that is not accurate.


·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· The what?


·8· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· The 6500 is a system.


·9· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· But that is not under the 2025


10· ·protocol because they were originally tested under


11· ·2021, and we met with ES&S, as you recall.


12· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Right.


13· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· And we said when that report


14· ·is amended to include the school board questions


15· ·and other things, that we would ask that they do a


16· ·field test on that portion only, can they do the


17· ·school board --


18· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Correct.


19· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· -- nonpartisan races and so on


20· ·and so forth.· That is a new system tested under


21· ·the 2021 protocols as amended at the September


22· ·meeting.· The 2025 protocols that are before us


23· ·right now are for new systems moving forward after


24· ·October 1, 2025.· So these protocols would not


25· ·apply to anything right now before VSTOP.· Hart
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·1· ·will be the first system on the 2025 protocols when


·2· ·and if they file.


·3· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Yes.


·4· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I move to move forward with


·5· ·the approval of the procedures -- the protocol,


·6· ·sorry, the 2025 protocol to be adopted.


·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· I'd like to second


·8· ·that.


·9· · · · Okay.· So we have a motion and a second to


10· ·approve the proposed 2025 protocols.· All in favor


11· ·signify by saying "aye."


12· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Aye.


14· · · · Opposed "nay."


15· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Nay.


16· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Nay.


17· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So we have a two-two


18· ·vote.


19· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I move to exhaust


20· ·administrative remedies in the event of appeal to


21· ·court.


22· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· I'll make a second.


23· · · · Any discussion?


24· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· I'm sorry.· That's the first


25· ·time I've ever heard the motion at a Commission
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·1· ·meeting, so I'm looking at my co-counsel who will


·2· ·help me.


·3· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· You're worried about the


·4· ·administrative remedies?


·5· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Yes, Commissioner Westercamp's


·6· ·motion.· Sorry.· I normally do AOPA here, so,


·7· ·again, as I stated in other meetings --


·8· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· It's the counterpart, yes.


·9· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Okay.· My apologies.


10· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· But in the past what we've


11· ·typically done is make the counter motion --


12· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Correct.


13· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· -- rather than doing it in a


14· ·more broad fashion, as you motioned.


15· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· It's still proper.· You're okay.


16· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Okay.


17· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So there's been a motion and


18· ·a second.· All those in favor signify by saying


19· ·"aye."


20· · · · Aye.


21· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


22· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."


23· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Nay.


24· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Nay.


25· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· The motion fails since
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·1· ·it has not received the three votes required for


·2· ·the official action by the Commission.


·3· · · · Okay.· Voting system applications for


·4· ·recertification.· The Chair recognizes the Election


·5· ·Division Co-Counsels to provide information


·6· ·regarding the legal requirements applicable to a


·7· ·previously certified voting system whose


·8· ·certification expired October 1, 2025.


·9· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Sure.· Matthew, if you're okay,


10· ·I'll go ahead and start.


11· · · · So there's two statutes to look at, one for


12· ·ballot card voting systems, and that's going to be


13· ·Indiana Code 3-11-7-19; and then the code for


14· ·electronic voting systems is 3-11-7.5-82.· And


15· ·these provisions are generally the same, and what


16· ·they start out by saying is that all of our voting


17· ·systems expired on October 1, 2025, as Mr. King


18· ·explained earlier.


19· · · · Vendors may then send an application to the


20· ·Election Division to request renewal of their


21· ·system.· Once we get that, we, as the Election


22· ·Division, send it to the county clerks in the


23· ·counties who are using that system so that they


24· ·have an opportunity to speak up if something is not


25· ·working with that system.· And, in addition, the
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·1· ·Commission gets a report from VSTOP, which, I


·2· ·believe, is what is in all of your binders, and it


·3· ·indicates the hardware, firmware, software included


·4· ·in the application for renewal is identical to the


·5· ·previously approved certification.


·6· · · · And the Commission report also -- after


·7· ·receiving the Commission report, if you get any


·8· ·comments from interested persons, we would share


·9· ·those with you.· I do not believe we got any


10· ·comments at all, so there won't be any of those in


11· ·your binder.


12· · · · And then so once the Commission shall approve


13· ·the application if it complies with the standards


14· ·prescribed in this chapter, so under 3-11-7, and


15· ·that's in your binder report from VSTOP, if the


16· ·system has worked effectively if it's been used


17· ·previously, which we have had no comments from a


18· ·county saying that it wasn't working properly, and


19· ·then if it's been adequately supported by the


20· ·vendor, which, again, this is an opportunity for


21· ·the county to pipe up and say my vendor is not


22· ·supporting me and at this time we have none of


23· ·those comments, we have the report from VSTOP


24· ·recommending recertification.


25· · · · And, Mr. Kochevar, if there's anything else
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·1· ·you'd like to add, please do.


·2· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· First, I will say that I agree


·3· ·with my counterpart on her explanation of the


·4· ·statutes for renewal of voting systems.· I will


·5· ·also state that the necessary documentation were


·6· ·sent to the counties that are using the voting


·7· ·systems in question.· They were sent by Mr. McLain,


·8· ·who is sitting in the back over there, as well as


·9· ·myself because we had some large documents that we


10· ·had to share on One Drive.· You know how these


11· ·things work.


12· · · · I will note, and this will be more for your


13· ·agenda, that I just want to note there is an


14· ·engineering change order with the Unisyn renewal.


15· ·I'm going to use an assumption, and just based on


16· ·how the agenda is done, this is -- ECOs along with


17· ·renewals is nothing new.· This happens all the


18· ·time.· They're just something like a small change


19· ·in the voting system that's pending during renewal.


20· · · · I believe, because of how the agenda has been


21· ·ordered, that our past precedence has been, when


22· ·you have something like this before you, you want


23· ·to take up and make sure to approve the ECO first


24· ·and then approve the renewal.· VSTOP keeps great


25· ·notes for four years from now so, in case the
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·1· ·voting system comes back for renewal, they will


·2· ·keep track of this additional ECO as this was part


·3· ·of the system that was, in this case, subtly


·4· ·changed.· This is how we describe ECOs, there being


·5· ·de minimus changes.· So I just want to add on that


·6· ·extra note on top of my counterpart's excellent


·7· ·summary, and I have nothing further.


·8· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.


·9· · · · MR. KING:· And, Madam Chair, members of the


10· ·Commission, I would simply add I entirely agree


11· ·with Mr. Kochevar with regard to his


12· ·characterization of engineering change orders and


13· ·the rationale of having, in this case, what appears


14· ·to be a very mechanical, nonelectronic type of


15· ·change to a voting system be considered as part of


16· ·the process for recertification of the larger


17· ·system overall.


18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Thank you very much.


19· · · · The Chair will now recognize representatives


20· ·from VSTOP to provide information regarding the


21· ·voting systems whose vendors have filed


22· ·applications for recertification beginning with the


23· ·Unisyn OpenElect 2.2.2 ballot card voting system.


24· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Thank you, Madam Chairman.· Do you


25· ·want me to go over the ECO first?
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yes, please.


·2· · · · MR. DRUMM:· So this is ECO NCC 1031, and it


·3· ·introduces a larger capacity 8 gig flash drive for


·4· ·in-field high-use cases where large ballot images


·5· ·can exceed the capacity of the 1 gig model.· ECO


·6· ·NCC 1031 does not adversely impact the


·7· ·functionality, performance, accessibility,


·8· ·usability, safety, or security of the components or


·9· ·the system or alter the overall configuration of


10· ·the certified system.· No change to firmware or


11· ·software is required.


12· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So I think --


13· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Is there any discussion from


14· ·other members on this?


15· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We will need a motion and a


16· ·second to adopt this change order.


17· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I move to approve the ECO


18· ·NCC 1031.


19· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Second.


20· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We have a motion and a


21· ·second.· All those in favor please signify by


22· ·saying "aye."


23· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


24· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


25· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."


·2· · · · Motion passes.


·3· · · · Okay.· So then next is the engineering change


·4· ·order.


·5· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· We just did the engineering


·6· ·change order.


·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Oh, I'm sorry.


·8· ·Recertification.· On to the next one.· I'm sorry.


·9· ·Go ahead.


10· · · · MR. DRUMM:· The Unisyn OpenElect voting system


11· ·provides a complete system for election definition,


12· ·ballot printing, voting at the polls, as well as


13· ·early voting, handling absentee and provisional


14· ·ballots at the central site for tabulation,


15· ·accumulation, and reporting results.· The OVS is a


16· ·ballot precinct voting system that offers both


17· ·precinct and central tabulation.· The OVS consists


18· ·of the OpenElect Central Suite, or OCS, installed


19· ·at election headquarters location; the OpenElect


20· ·Voting Device, or OVD, for use at the polls or


21· ·early voting; and OpenElect Voting Central Scans,


22· ·or OVCS bulk scanners, for use at central


23· ·locations.


24· · · · This system was certified by the U.S. Election


25· ·Assistance Commission, EAC, on November 18 of 2021
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·1· ·and is in compliance with the Voluntary Voting


·2· ·System Guidelines 1.0.· This voting system is a


·3· ·modification of the OpenElect 2.1, which was


·4· ·certified in Indiana until that certification


·5· ·expired October 1st of 2021.· OpenElect 2.2 was


·6· ·certified on February 24, 2022, as a New Voting


·7· ·System, and it has -- ECO 3476 was a modification


·8· ·to OpenElect 2.2 that introduced changes to extend


·9· ·ballot insertion time to avoid jams, and that


10· ·updated the OpenElect version to 2.2.2 on


11· ·December 7th of 2022.


12· · · · This voting system was reviewed and


13· ·field-tested by using the Indiana Voting Systems


14· ·Certification Protocol approved by the Indiana


15· ·Election Commission on November 15th of 2021 and


16· ·tested to the updated sections in Amendment 1


17· ·version of the protocol approved on September 23rd


18· ·of 2025.· The review and testing included all


19· ·sections of the Protocol, including the recent


20· ·legislative requirements such as software hash


21· ·verification and review of the complete ballot


22· ·creation and deployment process.


23· · · · Per the requirements of the Protocol, this


24· ·report includes the completed Appendix A, the field


25· ·test; Appendix B, the accessibility testing;
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·1· ·Appendix F, procedures for renewal; Appendix G, the


·2· ·VSTOP certification checklist; and Appendix 8, the


·3· ·test ballot samples.


·4· · · · On the basis of VSTOP's review and evaluation,


·5· ·the voting system referenced herein, with the scope


·6· ·and certification, meets all the requirements of


·7· ·the Indiana Code for use in the state of Indiana.


·8· ·This finding includes compliance with the legal


·9· ·requirements for voters with disabilities.


10· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· I move to recertify Unisyn


11· ·Voting Systems OpenElect 2.2.2.


12· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Second.


13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· We have a motion and a second


14· ·for the recertification.· All those in favor


15· ·signify by saying -- oh, I apologize.


16· · · · Any question?


17· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Yeah.· Could we have


18· ·some discussion about it before we proceed with the


19· ·vote?


20· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sure.


21· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Did staff have any


22· ·comments about the recertification?


23· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· I just -- just for on the


24· ·record with VSTOP, to be clear, for the Unisyn


25· ·system, ballot retraction was not part of the


Page 119
·1· ·recertification, it was not tested, and the vendor


·2· ·is clear that ballot retraction, at least as


·3· ·currently being considered for recertification, is


·4· ·not part of what can be deployed in Indiana until


·5· ·such a time they supply new application and ask for


·6· ·testing under the 2025 protocols, whenever those


·7· ·are adopted?


·8· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Correct.


·9· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· Thank you.· That was my


10· ·question.


11· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· That's what I was


12· ·going to ask.


13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Very good.· Any other


14· ·discussion, questions?


15· · · · MR. KING:· Madam Chair, members of the


16· ·Commission, if I can just add briefly to supplement


17· ·the remarks of my counterpart.· There was also


18· ·legislation regarding retraction adopted in the


19· ·2025 legislative session which is very complicated,


20· ·and I'll give you the executive summary for this


21· ·purpose, which was to say that in the version


22· ·signed into law, retraction ability was made


23· ·permissible.· It's authorized but not required for


24· ·each type of voting system used in Indiana with the


25· ·stated goal of not either benefiting or harming any
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·1· ·particular vendor based on the current nature of


·2· ·their product.


·3· · · · And so as a result, some systems like Unisyn,


·4· ·which do not have the ability to retract currently,


·5· ·were not subject to an additional requirement based


·6· ·on that new statute.


·7· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Right.· But if they


·8· ·do have a retraction -- if they try to have a


·9· ·retraction feature, they have to comply with the


10· ·requirements of the statute?


11· · · · MR. KING:· Yes, Commissioner, that is correct.


12· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Great.· Any other comments?


13· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· To add on to the answer to the


14· ·vice chair's question, I would also say in


15· ·addition, at least for this Unisyn system, they


16· ·would also need to seek a modification.· I want to


17· ·make that clear.· They must seek a modification


18· ·under law, come before this Commission to, I'm


19· ·going to use the words, turn on the ballot


20· ·retraction feature that is well-known among


21· ·election administrators is available in certain


22· ·Unisyn systems and that I can tell you and attest


23· ·that at least one circuit court clerk that uses


24· ·this Unisyn system is just dying to have it for


25· ·their elections.
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·1· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Thank you.


·2· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· But, again, it's not


·3· ·part of this?


·4· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· It's not part of this.


·5· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I was going to say


·6· ·let's not confuse things.


·7· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Yes, yes, yes.


·8· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· Any other questions,


·9· ·discussion?


10· · · · If not, we have a motion and a second on the


11· ·floor for this recertification.· So all those in


12· ·favor signify by saying "aye."


13· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


14· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


15· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


16· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."


17· · · · The motion is adopted, and the application for


18· ·recertification of this voting system is approved.


19· · · · Okay.· The Chair will now recognize VSTOP to


20· ·provide information regarding the application for


21· ·recertification of the MicroVote General


22· ·Corporation Direct Record Electronic Ballot System.


23· · · · MR. DRUMM:· Yes.· So EMS 4.4-IN is hardware,


24· ·including the VVPAT, software, and firmware, is


25· ·compatible with all existing Indiana certified
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·1· ·hardware components.· The EMS 4.4-IN revision


·2· ·includes an updated panel which includes the


·3· ·Windows 10 operating system with a bright color


·4· ·display.· The system also includes election


·5· ·management software enhancements to provide


·6· ·equipment tracking and status and election night


·7· ·reporting by location.· In addition to the


·8· ·mandatory precinct reporting, the equipment is now


·9· ·optionally assigned to locations and then election


10· ·reports can be viewed for individual locations or


11· ·aggregated across multiple select locations.


12· · · · This system was certified by the U.S. Election


13· ·Assistance Commission on May 1, 2020, and is


14· ·compliant with the Voluntary Voting Systems


15· ·Guidelines.· Since 2022, there's been a few


16· ·engineering changes to it.· 136, 137, 139 have been


17· ·approved on EMS 4.4-IN.


18· · · · This voting system was reviewed and


19· ·field-tested by using the Indiana Voting System


20· ·Certification Protocol approved by the Indiana


21· ·Election Commission on November 15, 2021, and


22· ·tested to the updates found in the 2021 Amendment 1


23· ·protocol approved on September 23, 2025.· The


24· ·review and testing included all sections of the


25· ·Protocol, including the recent legislative
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·1· ·requirements updated by Amendment 1.


·2· · · · Per the requirements for the Protocol, this


·3· ·report includes the completed Appendix A, field


·4· ·test; B, the accessibility testing; F, the


·5· ·procedures for renewal; Appendix G, the


·6· ·certification checklist, and then also the test


·7· ·ballot samples.


·8· · · · On the basis of VSTOP's review and evaluation,


·9· ·we find the voting system referenced herein, and


10· ·within the scope of certification, meets all


11· ·requirements of the Indiana Code for use in the


12· ·state of Indiana.· This finding includes compliance


13· ·with the legal requirements for voters with


14· ·disabilities.


15· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Can we have


16· ·discussion now?


17· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Yeah.· Questions, comments?


18· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So --


19· · · · MR. KING:· We want a motion.


20· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· We do need a motion?· Okay.


21· ·I move to recertify MicroVote General Corporation


22· ·EMS 4.4-IN.


23· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Second.


24· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· So we have a motion and a


25· ·second.· Discussion?
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·1· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So my understanding


·2· ·is that MicroVote has a retraction feature.· Or


·3· ·does their recertification include a retraction


·4· ·feature, a ballot retraction feature?


·5· · · · MR. CHATOT:· Yes.· It was previously


·6· ·certified.


·7· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Okay.· So do we know


·8· ·what methodology they use for retraction for


·9· ·identifying the ballots that are to be retracted at


10· ·this time?· I mean, because there was a past


11· ·meeting where they said that they actually use the


12· ·voter ID number for retraction.


13· · · · MR. CHATOT:· I don't recall the exact


14· ·specifics of it.· That could be a part of it.  I


15· ·hoped a representative would be here to answer


16· ·that, but it seems it's just us.· So I don't want


17· ·to speak to that officially at this time.· I don't


18· ·know the exact answer.· It would take a while to


19· ·look up.


20· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I mean, my


21· ·understanding is that they said -- that they had


22· ·said in the past they use a voter ID number but


23· ·they could also use a randomized digit.· Under


24· ·Indiana law, the voter ID number is linked to


25· ·personal information that, under Indiana law, isn't
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·1· ·supposed to be used for this process.· So during


·2· ·the evaluation, did MicroVote address how they were


·3· ·going to be handling retraction?


·4· · · · MR. DRUMM:· The recent testing that we did


·5· ·only covered the updates to Amendment 1, so we did


·6· ·the school board testing.· We didn't go into


·7· ·anything else beyond that.


·8· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So when the equipment


·9· ·was -- when the system, I guess, was certified


10· ·previously and they had the retraction capability


11· ·in it, were there limitations placed on how they


12· ·would effectuate ballot retraction?


13· · · · MR. CHATOT:· I don't believe so, but I can't


14· ·recall exactly.


15· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· And your report


16· ·doesn't impose -- although maybe it's not up to


17· ·VSTOP; maybe it's up to us.· I guess this is a


18· ·question for staff.· So in terms of making sure


19· ·MicroVote understands that they've got to comply


20· ·with state law in terms of -- the new state law in


21· ·terms of the retraction requirements, is that a


22· ·condition we impose on the recertification?


23· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Yes.· To answer that question,


24· ·I believe, yes, you can impose that condition


25· ·because there is a matter of Statute 3-11-15-26,
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·1· ·and more specifically subsection B, on what the


·2· ·ballot retraction ID can and cannot be.


·3· · · · I will recall that many years ago, when ballot


·4· ·retraction actually came up, the Commission did


·5· ·impose -- it was an advisory opinion, which is now


·6· ·moot.· I will admit that under law.· But at that


·7· ·time I would -- essentially saying another way, the


·8· ·Commission made a statement to voting system


·9· ·vendors that there are certain things that the


10· ·Commission will not approve in a voting system


11· ·application, certification, modification, or


12· ·renewal.


13· · · · So certainly in your motion to renew you can


14· ·put in specific matters here about the ballot


15· ·retraction as well, and precedence backs you on the


16· ·matter.


17· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· But if I could add just for


18· ·some additional background, the direct report


19· ·electronic voting system, of which MicroVote is,


20· ·they also have an optical scanning component for


21· ·absentee voting, but the DRE system, in and of


22· ·itself, at least as far as I know, when the law was


23· ·originally passed for DREs, they always had to have


24· ·a ballot retraction, but it was never defined in


25· ·state law what it could or could not be.· The law
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·1· ·has changed to say what it can and can't be.


·2· · · · To me, I think there's a novel -- again, a


·3· ·novel legal question before the Commission today


·4· ·because the legislature does permit the use of a


·5· ·voter ID number for retraction, but it does not


·6· ·allow for things like a person's driver's license


·7· ·number.· A voter ID number can be a driver's


·8· ·license number.· A voter ID number can be an SSN


·9· ·four plus date of birth.· SSN four and date of


10· ·birth cannot be used for ballot retraction.· There


11· ·is a unique identifier for voters who may have


12· ·registered to vote prior to SVRS -- prior to


13· ·federal and state law changing where they truly do


14· ·get a unique identifier assigned to them, but that


15· ·is a very small universe of voters.


16· · · · And so, at least from our staff perspective, a


17· ·ballot retraction number, although state law says


18· ·voter ID number may be used, that voter ID number


19· ·is comprised of personally identifying information


20· ·that state law prohibits from being used.· So if a


21· ·person would go to a MicroVote voting system, their


22· ·voter ID number could be their driver's license


23· ·number, which is precluded from being used under


24· ·state law, although the SVRS voter ID number can be


25· ·used.· So how do you square those two things?· If
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·1· ·you use a voter ID number that is wholly comprised


·2· ·of a person's DLN number, that is not allowed for


·3· ·use under state law.


·4· · · · And I will say that MicroVote has had members


·5· ·testify before the Commission in meeting minutes


·6· ·that we can certainly pull for the Commission where


·7· ·they have stated that they can do either.· They use


·8· ·a voter ID number, it's easier for the counties


·9· ·because they put the voter ID number on a card


10· ·that's then inserted directly from the poll book


11· ·and put into the system, or they can do a


12· ·randomized number.· It takes a little bit longer


13· ·time for the voter to be processed if you go that


14· ·route.


15· · · · So those are the concerns that I raised with


16· ·my commissioners and the reason for the vice


17· ·chair's questions today.


18· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· I would just supplement, I


19· ·cannot recall all of the legislative discussion,


20· ·but I do believe this came up during committee with


21· ·the legislature, and that is when they did amend,


22· ·as Matthew mentioned, the 3-11-15-26.· And I am not


23· ·the MicroVote lobbyist or any vendor's lobbyist,


24· ·but I do recall this coming in session and the


25· ·General Assembly deciding that they could continue
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·1· ·using their ballot retraction feature that had the


·2· ·voter's SVRS identification number, for lack of a


·3· ·better term.· So the legislature did set policy on


·4· ·that, I would just want to bring forward to the


·5· ·Commission.


·6· · · · MR. KING:· And, Madam Chair, members of the


·7· ·Commission, I would add to that again to say that


·8· ·throughout the process the particular bill was


·9· ·amended in response to vendor concerns, again, to


10· ·strike a balance to not impose an additional


11· ·hardship on a vendor that currently had a


12· ·retraction feature nor to require a retraction


13· ·feature for a system that did not currently have


14· ·one.


15· · · · MS. WARYCHA:· Go ahead.


16· · · · MR. KING:· But that, again, it comes back, I


17· ·think, to the larger question of construing


18· ·statutes to say we can't pick and choose; they have


19· ·to be read in their entirety.· And so that's


20· ·already been discussed, so I don't need to go into


21· ·great detail on that.


22· · · · At this point, in the absence of a


23· ·representative from MicroVote to further testify


24· ·regarding the matter, the Commission may wish to


25· ·consider tabling the motion until November 10th to


Page 130
·1· ·provide an opportunity for additional information


·2· ·from the vendor to further address the question.


·3· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Will there be any kind of


·4· ·notice to the vendor where we'll have some


·5· ·guarantee that some -- or do we have any confidence


·6· ·that a representative will be here in a week?


·7· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· They're based in Indianapolis.


·8· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Not much reason for


·9· ·them not to be here today.


10· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· We certainly can extend that


11· ·invitation on your behalf to them.


12· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Yes.


13· · · · MR. KING:· We ordinarily -- we certainly would


14· ·contact the vendor, either directly or as part of


15· ·the application process, to ensure that that would


16· ·be the case.


17· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· And I remember


18· ·actually the meeting where they were very


19· ·noncommittal about their willingness to assign just


20· ·random numbers.· I remember that.· It was just they


21· ·were -- well, it's hard.· They didn't want to do


22· ·the work, the more difficult thing.


23· · · · MS. NUSSMEYER:· And the distinction between


24· ·the DRE and the optical scan piece too is that a


25· ·DRE, the number is stored electronically, they have
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·1· ·a double blind system, so on and so forth.· But a


·2· ·voter ID number printed on a ballot card where it


·3· ·goes into -- where a person's driver's license


·4· ·number would be printed on a ballot card that


·5· ·directly links a person to their vote, I appreciate


·6· ·that the legislature excluded voter ID number, but


·7· ·they also said no personally identifying


·8· ·information.


·9· · · · And so, from my perspective, if we want to use


10· ·a voter ID number, it's incumbent on us to make


11· ·sure that the voter ID number in SVRS then is truly


12· ·unique.· Even then, it's a record that can be tied


13· ·directly back to the voter, and that is a chief


14· ·concern of mine, and the Commission does have the


15· ·authority under law to administer the election laws


16· ·and consider novel issues.· So thank you.


17· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Madam Chair, I'd like to


18· ·withdraw my motion.


19· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So --


20· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· And I'd move that we


21· ·table -- do we have to vote --


22· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Do we have to vote on the


23· ·withdrawal?


24· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Honestly, you don't have to


25· ·withdraw your motion.· You can make a motion to
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·1· ·table your motion to the next meeting, so then,


·2· ·when it's brought back up from the table, you don't


·3· ·have to redo your motion.


·4· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Okay.· So moved.


·5· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· What he said.


·6· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· I'll second that.


·7· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Okay.· So we have a motion


·8· ·and a second to table this matter until the next


·9· ·meeting of the Commission.· All those in favor


10· ·signify by saying "aye."


11· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


12· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


13· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


14· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."


15· · · · The motion is adopted, and that is officially


16· ·tabled until our meeting on November 10th.


17· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Can I ask a stupid question?


18· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Sure.· There are no stupid


19· ·questions, trust me.


20· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Oh, yes, there are.


21· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Trust me.


22· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Mr. King, I wasn't sure I


23· ·understood.· Are you seeing a conflict within the


24· ·statute that I think Mr. Kochevar and Ms. Nussmeyer


25· ·are seeing?
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·1· · · · MR. KING:· No, not a conflict, but, again,


·2· ·it's a question of statutory interpretation to say


·3· ·that, again, the entire body -- in pari materia is


·4· ·the legal Latin phrase to say you have to consider


·5· ·all the different statutes, not individual pieces,


·6· ·in determining what's the applicable law.


·7· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Sure.· And it would not be the


·8· ·first time at least I think I've seen that the


·9· ·legislature thought they did something and didn't.


10· · · · MR. KING:· Theoretically, that can happen,


11· ·yes.


12· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Yes.


13· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· That could be a whole nother


14· ·meeting.


15· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Just for the avoidance of


16· ·doubt, can whoever the appropriate staff is that


17· ·sends notices make sure that MicroChip -- I'm


18· ·sorry -- MicroVote understands that we expect to


19· ·see them here next week and prepared to answer


20· ·questions for our staff and the commissioners?


21· · · · MR. KOCHEVAR:· Absolutely.


22· · · · MR. KING:· Uh-huh.


23· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Great.


24· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Great.· Thank you.· The


25· ·Indiana Election Commission has finished its
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·1· ·business for today.· Is there a motion to adjourn?


·2· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· So moved.


·3· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Second.


·4· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· All those in favor say "aye."


·5· · · · VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:· Aye.


·6· · · · MR. CLAYTOR:· Aye.


·7· · · · MR. WESTERCAMP:· Aye.


·8· · · · CHAIRMAN BOYCE:· Opposed "nay."


·9· · · · The "ayes" have it, and the Indiana Election


10· ·Commission meeting is adjourned.


11· · · · (The Indiana Election Commission Public


12· ·Session was adjourned at 12:30 p.m.)
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·1· STATE OF INDIANA


·2· COUNTY OF HAMILTON


·3· · · · · I, Maria W. Collier, a Notary Public in and


·4· for said county and state, do hereby certify that the


·5· foregoing public session was taken at the time and


·6· place heretofore mentioned between 10:04 a.m. and


·7· 12:30 p.m.;


·8· · · · · That said public session was taken down in


·9· stenograph notes and afterwards reduced to typewriting


10· under my direction; and that the typewritten


11· transcript is a true record of the public session.


12· · · · · IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my


13· hand and affixed my notarial seal this 19th day of


14· November, 2025.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  This meeting of the



      2     Indiana Election Commission is called to order.



      3     Thank you for being patient.  Sorry about the



      4     delay.



      5          The following members of the Commission are



      6     present:  Myself, our chair, Beth Boyce; Suzannah



      7     Wilson Overholt, our vice chair; we have with us



      8     today Mr. Michael Claytor, who is a proxy, and we



      9     have it in our packets the appropriate form that



     10     was filed, he is here on behalf of Karen



     11     Celestino-Horseman; and member John Westercamp.



     12          We also have with us the Indiana Election



     13     Division staff:  Co-Director Brad King and



     14     Co-Director Angie Nussmeyer; Co-General Counsels



     15     Matthew Kochevar and Valerie Warycha.  We also are



     16     joined by our court reporter, Maria Collier, from



     17     Stewart Richardson Deposition Services.



     18          And I want to make a note, before we continue



     19     the meeting, to remind everyone on behalf of the



     20     court reporter to identify yourself when beginning



     21     to speak, spell your name when identifying



     22     yourself, speak clearly, and do not speak at the



     23     same time as others.



     24          I also wanted to make a note, staff has asked,



     25     there are sign-in sheets in the back.  I think
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      1     there are several kind of on various rows.  So if



      2     everyone that's here -- yeah, on a clipboard.



      3     Thank you.  So if everyone that's here could just



      4     register their attendance on one of those sheets,



      5     we would appreciate it.



      6          We want to reference the documentation of



      7     compliance with the Open Door Law.  I request that



      8     the co-directors confirm that the Commission



      9     meeting has been properly noticed as required under



     10     the Open Door Law.



     11          MR. KING:  Madam Chair and members of the



     12     Commission, speaking on behalf of myself and



     13     Co-Director Nussmeyer, we certify that notice was



     14     given of this meeting in accordance with the



     15     requirements of the Open Door Law.



     16          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



     17          Next up we'll have the approval of our



     18     September 23, 2025, Indiana Election Commission



     19     minutes.  I recognize the co-directors to present



     20     the minutes of the referenced meeting.



     21          MR. KING:  Madam Chair and members of the



     22     Commission, on behalf of myself and Co-Director



     23     Nussmeyer, we have reviewed the September 23, 2025,



     24     minutes and recommend them to you for your



     25     approval.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Is there a motion to approve



      2     each of the minutes as presented?



      3          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So moved.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Is there a second?



      5          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Second.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any discussion?



      7          Hearing none, all in favor say "aye."



      8          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



      9          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     10          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     11          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  The "ayes" have it, and the



     12     motion to approve each of the minutes is adopted.



     13          Is there consent from each of the members to



     14     authorize the Indiana Election Division to use our



     15     individual signature stamps to document our



     16     approval of the documents at this meeting?



     17          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Consent.



     18          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Consent.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  And then I assume, with him



     20     being a proxy, it's Karen's signature.



     21          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Uh-huh.



     22          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  The Election Division



     23     is authorized to act accordingly.



     24          Up next, adoption of the campaign finance



     25     orders.  The Election Division staff has prepared
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      1     drafts of Indiana Election Commission Orders



      2     2025-300 through 2025-676, which reflects the



      3     actions of the Commission regarding campaign



      4     finance hearings conducted at the September 23rd



      5     meeting.



      6          Is there a motion to adopt these orders as



      7     presented?



      8          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So moved.



      9          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Second.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any discussion?



     11          Hearing none, all in favor say "aye."



     12          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     13          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     14          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     15          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed say "nay."



     16          The "ayes" have it, and the motion to approve



     17     the orders is adopted.



     18          Up next, I recognize the Election Division's



     19     campaign finance staff, Ms. Taylor and



     20     Ms. Thompson, to present information concerning



     21     several campaign finance settlement agreements



     22     entered into on behalf of the Commission.



     23          MS. THOMPSON:  Madam Chair, members of the



     24     Commission, in your binder there, there's a list of



     25     committees that are ready to ratify that have
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      1     agreed to pay the settlement agreement and waive a



      2     hearing.



      3          MS. TAYLOR:  It's the first page.



      4          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So it's only two?



      5          MS. TAYLOR:  It's only two, yes.



      6          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Okay.  I was confused



      7     because when you said several, I was expecting a



      8     longer list.  Okay.  So it's just these two.



      9          MS. TAYLOR:  Uh-huh.



     10          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Versus the last hearing we



     11     had where there was --



     12          MS. TAYLOR:  Many.



     13          MR. WESTERCAMP:  There were many.



     14          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I'm sorry.  What is



     15     Indiana PA PAC?



     16          MS. TAYLOR:  Physicians assistants PAC.



     17          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Okay.  Thank you.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Is there a motion to



     19     ratify the campaign finance settlement agreements



     20     as presented?



     21          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So moved.



     22          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Second?



     23          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Second.



     24          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Any discussion?



     25          Hearing none, all in favor say "aye."
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      1          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



      2          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



      3          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed say "nay."



      5          The "ayes" have it, and the motion to ratify



      6     the agreements is adopted.



      7          Up next, we want to go through the



      8     administration of the oath.  If any person here



      9     plans to testify at today's meeting on any matter,



     10     please stand for the administration of the oath.



     11          I recognize Matthew Kochevar to administer the



     12     oath.



     13          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.



     14          All those who will testify before the Indiana



     15     Election Commission, please raise your right hand



     16     and say "I do" after recitation of the oath.



     17          Do you solemnly swear or affirm, under the



     18     penalties of perjury, that the testimony you are



     19     about to give to the Indiana Election Commission is



     20     the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the



     21     truth?  Please say "I do."



     22          ALL:  I do.



     23          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Thank you.



     24          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you very much.



     25          We'll move on to campaign finance enforcement
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      1     matters.  Before proceeding with campaign finance



      2     enforcement actions, we have customarily given any



      3     committee present the final opportunity to pay a



      4     reduced civil penalty by waiving the right to



      5     present evidence and arguments to the Commission.



      6     Of course, any committee is welcome to present



      7     evidence and arguments for the proposed penalty to



      8     be waived or reduced, but this has been an



      9     opportunity for those who want to waive any



     10     presentation and accept a reduced penalty without



     11     making argument or presentation.



     12          Therefore, I move the adoption of the



     13     following arrangements:  If this is the committee's



     14     first violation, the arrangement is for the



     15     committee to agree to pay 25 percent of the



     16     proposed fine plus mailing costs.  If this is the



     17     committee's second violation, the arrangement is



     18     for the committee to agree to pay 50 percent of the



     19     proposed fine plus mailing costs.  If this is the



     20     committee's third violation, the committee would



     21     agree to pay 75 percent of the proposed violation



     22     plus mailing costs.



     23          For purposes of this arrangement, a previous



     24     settlement agreement entered into by the committee



     25     will be counted as one violation.  Likewise, if
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      1     more than one alleged violation occurred on the



      2     same calendar day, that group of violations shall



      3     be counted as one.



      4          Is there a second to this motion?



      5          MR. CLAYTOR:  Second.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any discussion?



      7          If there is no discussion, then I would like



      8     to see who is in favor.  All in favor say "aye."



      9          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     10          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     11          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     12          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed say "nay."



     13          The "ayes" have it, and the motion is adopted.



     14          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  And before we



     15     continue, can I give our little speech we give --



     16          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sure, sure.



     17          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  -- to encourage



     18     people to do this, although it seems like we have a



     19     small gathering today.



     20          But just in terms of that kind of potential



     21     settlement arrangement that the Chair just



     22     described, I just wanted to emphasize that this is



     23     the only time it's available during this hearing



     24     process.  So if you don't -- because in a minute



     25     people are going to be invited to come up to say
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      1     whether they want to take that deal or not, and if



      2     you don't take it now and want to argue the merits



      3     of the proposed fine or why you think you shouldn't



      4     be fined or penalized, that deal, the deal



      5     structure that we just went over, is off the table,



      6     so you would likely be required to pay more than if



      7     you came up to us now.



      8          So this is kind of the one and only time to do



      9     it.  We encourage you to do it if you are hoping to



     10     get out of here paying less than the proposed



     11     penalty.



     12          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Very good.



     13          The Commission will begin with the committees



     14     whose representatives are seated in the front row



     15     of the room and ask those who wish to accept these



     16     arrangements to please step forward and be



     17     recognized to confirm the committee's acceptance of



     18     the arrangement.



     19          Remember, this is not a time for anyone to



     20     make their case to ask for the reduction or waiver



     21     of any proposed penalty.  Simply state your name,



     22     the name of the committee, and your enforcement



     23     action cause number, if you have that available for



     24     staff, and confirm verbally that you are accepting



     25     this arrangement.
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      1          If you do wish to make any other statement or



      2     explanation regarding your case, please wait until



      3     the other committees in the room have indicated



      4     their agreement to the arrangement.



      5          MR. RADICE:  I'm sorry.  I've never done this



      6     before.  Forgive me for my novice --



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Hold on one second.  So we



      8     need you to stand up and identify yourself.



      9          MR. RADICE:  Sorry.



     10          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Would you come to the



     11     microphone.



     12          MR. RADICE:  Oh, yeah, sure, sure.  No



     13     problem.  Forgive me for my -- my name is Timothy



     14     Michael Radice.  Pleasure to meet you.  It's a



     15     pleasure to meet you finally, Mr. King.



     16          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  You'll need to spell your



     17     name.



     18          MR. RADICE:  Oh, I'm sorry.  I'm sorry.  So my



     19     name is Timothy Michael Radice.  It's spelled



     20     T-i-m-o-t-h-y, and it's going to be M-i-c-h-a-e-l,



     21     last name is going to be R-a-d-i-c-e.



     22          So I'm okay with taking the 25 percent



     23     penalty.  It was just a mistake.  I mistakenly



     24     filed --



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Hold on a second.  So if you
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      1     want to take the agreement, that comes without



      2     explanation.  So if you're wanting to kind of state



      3     your case, then that would have to come at a later



      4     time.



      5          MR. RADICE:  Oh, okay, sure.  Yeah,



      6     25 percent, I'll do that.  That's fine.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Do you have your cause



      8     number, please?



      9          MR. RADICE:  I think it's 2025-7669-107, if



     10     I'm not mistaken.



     11          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So hold on just one second.



     12          MR. RADICE:  Sure.



     13          MS. THOMPSON:  Yeah.  Madam Chairman, it's on



     14     page 3.



     15          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Oh, at the bottom.  I see.



     16          MS. THOMPSON:  Citizens for Tim Radice.



     17          MR. RADICE:  Yes.



     18          MS. THOMPSON:  Cause No. 2025-7669-107, has



     19     not been before the Commission before, and has a



     20     proposed civil penalty of $400.66.



     21          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So if you are



     22     interested in the agreement, it would be



     23     25 percent.



     24          MR. RADICE:  Uh-huh.



     25          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Plus expenses.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Plus the mailing.



      2          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So $100.66.



      3          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So all those in favor



      4     of -- oh, I'm sorry.  I need a motion and a second.



      5          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So moved.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sorry.



      7          MR. CLAYTOR:  Second.



      8          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  All those in favor of



      9     this settlement agreement in the amount of $100.66



     10     please signify by saying "aye."



     11          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     12          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     13          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any opposed "nay."



     15          The "ayes" have it, and the motion is adopted.



     16          MR. RADICE:  Thank you folks so much for your



     17     mercy.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



     19          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Madam Chair, if I might, just



     20     a reminder to folks in this room, you do not pay



     21     today.  The Commission will have to adopt orders at



     22     the next meeting, and then an invoice is sent to



     23     you for payment.



     24          MR. RADICE:  Okay.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.
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      1          MR. RADICE:  Am I free to leave?



      2          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes.



      3          MR. RADICE:  Oh, thank you.  I need to use the



      4     restroom.  Have a nice one, everyone.



      5          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So as I was



      6     mentioning, we're going to work from the front of



      7     the room back, so I think he was kind of up in the



      8     front over here.  Are there any other committees or



      9     individuals that would like to -- okay.  If you



     10     could come up and come to the microphone.



     11          MS. WARYCHA:  And Matthew will need to swear



     12     him in because he came in late.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



     14          MR. PHILLIPS:  Sit down?



     15          MS. WARYCHA:  Yes, please.



     16          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes.  Hold on one second,



     17     sir.



     18          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Actually, sir, before you do, I



     19     have to swear you in.  You have to take the oath.



     20          MR. PHILLIPS:  Sure.



     21          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Raise your right hand and say



     22     "I do" after recitation of the oath.



     23          Do you solemnly swear or affirm, under the



     24     penalties of perjury, that the testimony you are



     25     about to give to the Indiana Election Commission is
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      1     the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the



      2     truth?



      3          MR. PHILLIPS:  The Lord I serve is the truth,



      4     and I speak the truth because my Lord is the truth.



      5          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Thank you.



      6          MR. PHILLIPS:  You're welcome.  Well --



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  If you could let us



      8     know your name.



      9          MR. PHILLIPS:  My name is Watermelon Jim.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  And please spell your full



     11     name.



     12          MR. PHILLIPS:  James Lee Phillips.



     13          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Could you spell that.



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Could you spell that for our



     15     court reporter, please.



     16          MR. PHILLIPS:  Yes.  James is J-a-m-e-s, and



     17     Phillips is P-h-i-l-l-i-p-s.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Do you have your cause



     19     number?



     20          MR. PHILLIPS:  I don't know what my cause



     21     number is, but I've got --



     22          MS. THOMPSON:  Madam Chairman, this is on the



     23     first page.  It's Watermelon Jim for State



     24     Representative, Cause No. 2025-7944-1, has not been



     25     before the Commission before and has a proposed
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      1     civil penalty of $350.66.



      2          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



      3          Having not been before the Commission before,



      4     the agreement would be for a payment of 25 percent



      5     of that penalty plus the mailing costs.



      6          MS. TAYLOR:  It's $87.50 plus 66 cents of mail



      7     costs so $88.16.



      8          MR. PHILLIPS:  I'm tickled to death to get out



      9     of this mess.  I didn't have no computer, and I



     10     learned one thing:  If you're going to run for



     11     office, you better get a computer.



     12          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Any discussion,



     13     questions?  If not, I'd look for a motion and a



     14     second to --



     15          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I move to reduce the amount



     16     to $88.16.



     17          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Second.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So I have a motion and



     19     second.  Any discussion?



     20          If not, all those in favor please signify by



     21     saying "aye."



     22          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     23          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     24          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any opposed "nay."
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      1          Motion passes.



      2          MR. PHILLIPS:  Thank you very much.  God bless



      3     you and stay safe.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.  You too.



      5          MR. PHILLIPS:  I went through the big



      6     building, and everywhere you look down there, you



      7     can't get in unless you're authorized.  Thank you



      8     all very much.



      9          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Have a good day.  Thank you.



     10          Okay.  Any others?



     11          Yes, sir.  Please come forward and state your



     12     name and please spell it.



     13          MR. BELLAMY:  I was certain you said from



     14     front to back, so I just want the record to reflect



     15     I was following the rules.



     16          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yeah.  He jumped up before



     17     you did.



     18          MR. BELLAMY:  He's much more known than I am.



     19     I am Jeff Bellamy, B-e-l-l-a-m-y.  I am an attorney



     20     with offices at 8440 Woodfield Crossing Boulevard,



     21     Suite 310, here in the city of Indianapolis.  I'm



     22     here on behalf of a matter entitled Grassroots PAC



     23     with an administrative cause number 2025-7551-317.



     24          MS. TAYLOR:  You have two causes.  Did you



     25     know that?  The second is 2025-7551-89 and then
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      1     -317, so there are two causes.  The first is on



      2     page 2; the second is on page 8.



      3          Madam Chair and members of the Commission,



      4     this is Grassroots PAC, Causes 2025-751-89 and



      5     2025-7551-317.  They've been before the Commission



      6     one other time and paid a settlement agreement, so



      7     this is the third time.  Proposed civil penalty of



      8     $1,000.66 in the Cause -89 and proposed civil



      9     penalty of $1,000.73 in Cause -317.



     10          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So that would be $750



     11     for each, right, at the 75 percent?



     12          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     13          MR. BELLAMY:  Well, wouldn't the second one be



     14     second and the next one be third?



     15          MS. TAYLOR:  It could be third and fourth, but



     16     this is one hearing, so we'll just do them together



     17     as a hearing instead of causes, is what we usually



     18     do.



     19          MR. BELLAMY:  I just want to understand



     20     accurately.  I thought you said there was one prior



     21     and there's two today or there's two prior and two



     22     today?



     23          MS. TAYLOR:  Two prior and two today.



     24          MR. BELLAMY:  Thank you.  That's what I needed



     25     to know.
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      1          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So this counts as the



      2     third; right?



      3          MS. TAYLOR:  The third, yes.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So for each 750 and then --



      5          MR. CLAYTOR:  Plus postage.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  -- 66 cents on the first one.



      7          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  And 73 on the second



      8     one.



      9          MS. NUSSMEYER:  $1.39.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.  Okay.



     11          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So 1,501.39?



     12          MS. TAYLOR:  Yeah.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So just to recap that,



     14     so the total of the two cause numbers at a



     15     75 percent rate would be $1,501.39.  Do we have a



     16     motion and a second to approve?



     17          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So moved.



     18          MR. CLAYTOR:  Second.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any discussion?



     20          Hearing none, all those in favor signify by



     21     saying "aye."



     22          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     23          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     24          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."
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      1          Motion passes.



      2          MR. BELLAMY:  Thank you for your attention.



      3          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Thank you.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Any other -- okay.  I



      5     think we are good there.



      6          Okay.  The Commission will proceed to open its



      7     hearing on campaign finance enforcement actions.



      8     Members, the binders or other material provided to



      9     you include a campaign finance spreadsheet prepared



     10     by Abbey and Michelle.  After presentation -- I'm



     11     sorry.  Okay.  Hold on.  So where is this



     12     spreadsheet?



     13          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  It's what we've just



     14     been looking at.



     15          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Okay.  Even



     16     though it's not in a spreadsheet form.  Sorry.



     17          MS. TAYLOR:  I think in 1997 technology when



     18     it was created, it might have been a spreadsheet,



     19     but...



     20          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I apologize.  Yeah.  I wasn't



     21     thinking.  Doesn't seem like a spreadsheet the way



     22     it's printed.



     23          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Loosely characterized



     24     as a spreadsheet.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Spreadsheet.  Okay.
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      1          So now we need to move on to those campaign



      2     finance matters that would require discussion.  And



      3     I think we will proceed in the same manner, moving



      4     front to back.



      5          Hold on a second.  I need to get myself



      6     situated here.  I'm sorry, everybody.



      7          Okay.  I apologize.  The remaining committees



      8     will be called to permit the presentation of



      9     evidence in these campaign finance matters.  Before



     10     doing so, I want to note that in the past the



     11     Commission has followed certain procedures for



     12     conducting campaign finance hearings, and I move



     13     that the Commission use the following procedures



     14     today:



     15          One, when the campaign finance matter is



     16     called, hearing will begin with recognizing



     17     campaign finance staff to provide information about



     18     the documents in this matter provided to Commission



     19     members, including letters from committees and the



     20     notice given to the campaign committee.



     21          Two, unless there is objection, the documents



     22     provided to the Commission by the Election Division



     23     will be entered into the record of this meeting.



     24          Three, after campaign finance staff completes



     25     presentation, a representative of the committee
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      1     will be recognized first and may present their case



      2     for no more than five minutes.  Next, Commission



      3     members may ask questions during the presentation,



      4     but the time spent answering these questions will



      5     not be counted against a presenter's time.  The



      6     Election Division may signal the chair when a



      7     presenter's time is up.



      8          And I think last time Valerie will be our



      9     official time keeper now that she has her phone.



     10          MS. WARYCHA:  Yes.



     11          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  If the presenter offers



     12     additional documentation or other physical evidence



     13     not previously received by the Commission, then the



     14     original must be provided to the Election Division,



     15     Valerie, to preserve for the record.



     16          If the Commission finds that a committee has



     17     violated the campaign finance statutes, state law



     18     requires a unanimous vote of all four commissioners



     19     to waive or reduce the amount of the penalty set by



     20     state law.



     21          If the Commission makes a decision at this



     22     meeting to either fine the committee or dismiss the



     23     case against the committee, then the Election



     24     Division will prepare a final order for the



     25     Commission to approve at a later meeting.  If a
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      1     committee is fined today, the committee will



      2     receive a notice from the Election Division to pay



      3     the fine after the Commission adopts the final



      4     order.  So it may be some time after today before a



      5     committee will be required to pay the fine.



      6          The Commission will recognize committees to



      7     make a presentation beginning from the committees



      8     seated in the front of the room.  It's very helpful



      9     if you can speak up and say the cause number or



     10     numbers of your hearing notice so that the



     11     Commission and staff can quickly look it up in the



     12     spreadsheet.  Remember to identify yourself when



     13     you start speaking and to indicate if you took the



     14     oath administered earlier in the meeting.  If you



     15     did not, I will ask Mr. Kochevar to administer the



     16     oath to you.



     17          Is there a second to this motion?



     18          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Second.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any questions or objections



     20     from the Commission members?



     21          If there is no further discussion, the



     22     question is on the adoption of the motion.  All in



     23     favor say "aye."



     24          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     25          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.
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      1          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



      2          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed say "nay."



      3          The "ayes" have it, and the motion is



      4     approved.



      5          Okay.  The Commission will proceed to open its



      6     hearings on campaign finance enforcement actions.



      7     Okay.  So let's start from the front of the room.



      8     We're going to do the same thing.  Is there



      9     anyone -- or not everybody jump up at once.



     10          MS. WARYCHA:  This is VSTOP right here.



     11          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Oh, okay.  So, sir, I think



     12     you're on.



     13          MR. GUTRICH:  Okay.  So my name first?  My



     14     name is William, or Bill, Gutrich, spelled G, like



     15     George, -u-t-r-i-c-h.  And I guess these cause



     16     numbers are -385 and -388.  Do you need more



     17     numbers?



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Give us just one second.



     19          MS. TAYLOR:  It's on page 11 and 12, bottom of



     20     11 and top of 12.



     21          MR. GUTRICH:  So five minutes, I didn't



     22     rehearse for that.



     23          MS. TAYLOR:  Madam Chairman, members of the



     24     Commission, this is Gutrich for Indiana, Cause



     25     No. 2025-7832-385 for a proposed civil penalty of
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      1     $1,000 and surprise mail cost; and the second cause



      2     is 2025-7832-388 for a proposed civil penalty of



      3     $1,000 and a surprise mail cost.



      4          MR. WESTERCAMP:  What's the nature of the



      5     offense that's alleged?



      6          MS. THOMPSON:  This is actually a motion to



      7     reconsider.  Mr. Gutrich was -- and he can explain.



      8     He was not able to make it at the last meeting, and



      9     so he asked for a motion to reconsider the fine.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.



     11          MR. GUTRICH:  Yeah.  I, unbeknownst, ended up



     12     in the hospital getting a stent in my coronary



     13     artery, so apologize for missing.  I was kind of



     14     busy that day.  But if I can start my five minutes.



     15          MS. WARYCHA:  Yeah.  Go ahead, please.



     16          MR. GUTRICH:  So my name is Bill Gutrich, and



     17     I am sitting before you because about two years ago



     18     I made what is becoming more and more so a stupid



     19     decision to decide to offer myself to serve my



     20     fellow citizens as a local public servant.  I had



     21     never run for office before.  I come from a family



     22     of policemen, firemen, teachers, and nurses, and



     23     it's always been in me, although my dad said, "If



     24     you become a cop, I'll shoot you myself."



     25          So I pursued a career in business, and
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      1     35 years later, just knowing a local politician in



      2     Hamilton County, a friend who serves in Hamilton



      3     County government encouraged me to run when our



      4     state rep announced she was retiring.  I ran



      5     against who is our current state rep, who is from



      6     Zionsville.  The district is 94 percent Hamilton



      7     County and 65 percent Westfield, and being



      8     Westfield the faster growing city in Indiana, one



      9     of Indiana's bigger cities, everybody wanted



     10     somebody from Westfield, me, to run and not have



     11     two state reps from Zionsville.  The person that I



     12     lost to is also a former Colts player, and the



     13     political consultant said I could beat him, and



     14     they were dead wrong.  With an uninformed



     15     electorate and mass popularity of somebody's name,



     16     it's just not possible.



     17          But anyway, I offered myself when I was asked



     18     to serve and gave up six months of my life working



     19     every living breathing minute when I wasn't working



     20     to knock doors, to call people.  Ended up having to



     21     raise $100,000.  I was told to hire a political



     22     consultant at $4,000 a month over five months, and



     23     I was told to hire a fund-raiser.  Did all that and



     24     still, at the end of it, the campaign came up



     25     $14,000 short of our expenses, which meant I had to
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      1     go into a home equity line and pull $14,000 of my



      2     own money out along with all the time and effort I



      3     had given to try and offer myself.



      4          What I found out is the political consultant



      5     had promised -- that's Coverdale Consulting in



      6     Fishers.  They were handling many campaigns and I



      7     was just being told use these guys, do this.  They



      8     said, "We'll handle all the finance -- the filing



      9     of your campaign finance stuff," and they were



     10     filing this each week apparently.  But apparently



     11     they didn't bother to do it the last two weeks, and



     12     I had no idea.



     13          So about two, three -- or a month or so or



     14     whatever after I had lost the primary and they were



     15     no longer interested in me and I was no longer



     16     paying them, of course, I get notice in the mail



     17     saying that there was not filings made for the last



     18     two weeks of my campaign for donations and



     19     legitimate donations that came in.



     20          And so not having any help from them, I spent



     21     the better part of a day studying and trying to



     22     understand the very intricate stuff to get this



     23     filed, which is very hard for a citizen to just



     24     figure out and understand.  It really feels like



     25     the establishment people know all this stuff, and I
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      1     certainly didn't.  But with great help from the



      2     office -- and thank you for that -- I was able to



      3     figure it out and got filed what had not been



      4     filed.  But then I was told with these letters



      5     that, well, that was supposed to be filed during



      6     that week.  So I had two $1,000 donations, one in



      7     each week, that required filing that week, and



      8     because it was not filed that week, I am told that



      9     I am fined $1,000 for each of those.



     10          I ask the mercy of this committee that, you



     11     know, I gave my heart and soul just to be a public



     12     servant and some of my own money, which I'll never



     13     get back.  It shouldn't be this hard for people to



     14     step up and run for office.  But what this says is



     15     that, well, dive into your money some more for



     16     another $2,000 because somebody who said that they



     17     were going to do something for you didn't do it and



     18     didn't care because you were no longer valuable to



     19     them because you didn't win.



     20          So I filed it.  It was legitimate donations.



     21     There was -- it's just a matter of timing that they



     22     weren't filed in time, so there was no fraud or



     23     anything else.  I do understand the purpose of



     24     these laws to protect from fraud and these kind of



     25     things, but I'm just a citizen who tried to run for
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      1     office, and I beg the mercy of this committee to



      2     not make my paying $2,000 greater.



      3          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  If I could ask, I'm



      4     assuming then that a default was entered at the



      5     last hearing.  Is that what I'm hearing?



      6          MS. THOMPSON:  Correct, yes.



      7          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So a total of $2,000



      8     has already been imposed.



      9          MS. THOMPSON:  Yes.



     10          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So the question is,



     11     number one, whether we're willing to, I guess,



     12     reconsider that.



     13          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     14          MS. THOMPSON:  Correct.



     15          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So we have to rule on



     16     that, we have to make that determination first



     17     before we go to the merits; right?



     18          MR. KING:  Yes.



     19          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Can I ask a question before



     20     we go to that?



     21          So is your campaign committee an LLC,



     22     Mr. Gutrich?



     23          MR. GUTRICH:  I don't even know.  No.  I



     24     mean -- well, I don't remember how we set it up.



     25     It was Gutrich -- my name, Gutrich for Indiana,
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      1     shut it down right away when we lost the primary,



      2     and I'm not sure, honestly.



      3          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Okay.  Thank you.



      4          MR. GUTRICH:  I wish I did know that.



      5          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any other questions?



      6          MR. GUTRICH:  I suppose it is, though.  I



      7     don't know.



      8          MS. TAYLOR:  I just want to let you know the



      9     committee is still open.  You have not closed it,



     10     so you will owe a report in January.  I believe the



     11     deadline is January 21, 2026.  The balance is zero,



     12     so you can go ahead and close it, but it is still



     13     open, and I don't want you to have another



     14     surprise.



     15          MR. GUTRICH:  Well, I will take that advice



     16     and get it closed, and I'll never do this again.  I



     17     swear, I tell people, they say, "Well, you should



     18     run again," and I'm like, "Not in a million years.



     19     Thank you."



     20          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any other questions?



     21          Okay.  I'll declare the hearing on this -- I'm



     22     sorry.



     23          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I was going to move



     24     that we grant the motion to reconsider.



     25          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I second that.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  All those in favor



      2     signify by saying "aye."



      3          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



      4          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



      5          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



      7          The motion passes.



      8          Okay.  So now --



      9          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I would move to waive the fee



     10     for both of those matters for Mr. Gutrich here.



     11          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  To waive the fee completely?



     12          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Yes.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Do we have a second or any



     14     thoughts, discussion?



     15          MR. CLAYTOR:  Madam Chairman, may I ask a



     16     question?



     17          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I think we need a



     18     second.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We need a second.



     20          Okay.  I'll second that, but I would -- if



     21     it's okay, I don't really agree with waiving it



     22     completely.  I feel like at this point, you know,



     23     the 25 percent is something that we've entered into



     24     with many, many campaigns and committees and



     25     individuals, and I could see us doing that, but I
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      1     do not agree with dropping it completely.



      2          MR. WESTERCAMP:  You're suggesting a



      3     25 percent?



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes, which is what we would



      5     have offered many others.



      6          Any other questions?



      7          MR. CLAYTOR:  Just when you describe -- other



      8     than reliance on your consultant, were there any



      9     other things that prevented you from timely filing?



     10          MR. GUTRICH:  Yeah, no.  So, you know, I was



     11     led along by people that, you know, I run for



     12     office and know what they're doing kind of thing.



     13     They told me, honestly, get out every waking moment



     14     you have and knock on doors.  I knocked on 3,800



     15     doors in those weeks that this applied to, and they



     16     didn't want me doing anything but, if I was awake,



     17     go talk to voters.  Funny enough, I won those.  I



     18     went to eight precincts and actually won that, but



     19     you can't get to 60 precincts.  So it was just that



     20     every waking moment I had I was told to go out and



     21     knock doors or make phone calls.  And so people



     22     told me, "We'll take care of this," and then I just



     23     honestly found out they didn't take care of it.



     24          MR. CLAYTOR:  Okay.  But you mentioned illness



     25     and having a stent.  You weren't laying in a
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      1     hospital bed --



      2          MR. GUTRICH:  No.  I was supposed to be at a



      3     hearing --



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Here.



      5          MR. GUTRICH:  -- on the 23rd.



      6          MR. CLAYTOR:  I misunderstood that.  Thank



      7     you.



      8          MR. GUTRICH:  Yes.  And I ended up in the



      9     hospital getting a stent.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  That was recent.



     11          MR. GUTRICH:  Yes.  And I asked for this



     12     continuance to today.  Thank you.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes, right.



     14          Any other discussion?  So the motion on the



     15     floor is to waive it completely.



     16          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Are you moving to change it?



     17     Is that what your motion is?



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes.



     19          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I'll second that motion.



     20          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.



     21          MR. GUTRICH:  Could I ask a question about



     22     that?



     23          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sure.



     24          MR. GUTRICH:  I understand, as a committee,



     25     wanting to be consistent perhaps with what you did

�



                                                           36



      1     before.  I get that.  But just -- whether it's



      2     $2,000 or $5,000, I can afford to pay it.  I just



      3     don't think either number is right, honestly.  I



      4     think I acted in good faith.  This was a timing



      5     issue.  The donations were legitimate.  They were



      6     accurately filed.  I ask the mercy.  I guess just



      7     what's the purpose of the fine?  Because it was



      8     late?  Is that $500 because it was late?  Is that



      9     what we're saying?



     10          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Well, if I might,



     11     since I've been sitting on here -- I've been on



     12     this Commission probably way longer than I should



     13     be.  So sorry.



     14          MR. GUTRICH:  Well, thank you for your



     15     service.



     16          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Well, I appreciate



     17     it.  I was out of town and got home at 11:30 and



     18     thought, oh, I've got to be at this meeting at



     19     10:00 this morning, so you kind of rethink your



     20     life choices sometimes.



     21          Anyway, sorry.  All that aside, so the reason



     22     I'm speaking up is because I've been involved in a



     23     lot of these hearings, and so the reason for the



     24     fines, so there's an entire statutory framework



     25     that establishes how elections are run and financed
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      1     in the state of Indiana, and there's similar



      2     structure at the federal level.



      3          And those rules are really important because



      4     there are reporting requirements so that people at



      5     the time can see what candidates are up to, that



      6     they can see who is donating to campaigns, so the



      7     electorate can see that, so other people running



      8     for office can see it.  And the fines are there



      9     because, you know, I guess we've learned,



     10     unfortunately, that carrots -- I don't know what



     11     the carrot would be in these instances, so using



     12     some sticks to say you've got to comply with the



     13     statute or the fines are going to be imposed.



     14          And, historically, when we waive the fines --



     15     because you, as the person running for office, I



     16     mean, it is your campaign and it's your campaign



     17     finance committee.  And we've had lots of folks



     18     come in who their treasurers have, you know, been



     19     on vacation and forgot to file the reports, they



     20     didn't know what the rule -- what we hear is



     21     everything from, We didn't know, I didn't



     22     understand what the rules were, I haven't done this



     23     before, to, I thought someone else had done it, I



     24     thought someone else was going to do it, to, quite



     25     literally, I think we really did get a, My dog ate
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      1     the -- I mean, we've had it all.  We've had all of



      2     that, right?



      3          And I understand because there are a lot of



      4     people who miss the deadlines, and that's why we've



      5     been pretty -- it takes a very extreme situation,



      6     which I think is why Mr. Claytor asked about when



      7     it was you were in the hospital, which may sound



      8     like not a very nice question to ask, but some of



      9     those situations are ones where we have actually



     10     decided to waive.



     11          MR. GUTRICH:  I understand.



     12          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  This is our time to



     13     speak.  So anyway, that's the explanation, and



     14     that's why -- I think we have to vote on the motion



     15     that's in front of us, but that's why I'll be



     16     voting against that particular motion.



     17          MS. WARYCHA:  I was just going to say, just so



     18     that we're all clear on the motion, Beth, do you



     19     want to state your motion so it's in the record



     20     properly.



     21          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sure.  So there's a motion



     22     and a second to impose, since this is his first



     23     time being before the Commission --



     24          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Wait, I thought we



     25     had a motion to waive.
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      1          MR. CLAYTOR:  There's a motion to waive, so



      2     are you amending that motion?



      3          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Yeah.  We haven't



      4     voted on that.



      5          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I amended the motion.



      6          MS. WARYCHA:  She said that she was starting



      7     to amend it, but it was kind of quiet to John, so I



      8     thought she should say it louder for everybody.



      9          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes.  I'm so sorry.  So I --



     10     I apologize.  I did amend that, to make it



     11     consistent with the action of the Commission, to be



     12     a 25 percent penalty.  So I guess back to this, so



     13     it would be 500, 250 and 250, and then the mailing



     14     cost is not reflected on here so whatever that



     15     amount.



     16          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Like 73 cents.



     17          MS. TAYLOR:  I believe it was 68 cents.  I



     18     know it was 68 cents.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  All the others are 66.  So



     20     that's 68 cents on each one?



     21          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     22          MR. GUTRICH:  Can I ask --



     23          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Just one second.



     24          So my motion would be to keep consistent with



     25     what we've done and do the 25 percent penalty for
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      1     both cause numbers, and John --



      2          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I seconded it.  I'm sorry if



      3     you didn't hear it.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So I apologize.



      5          MR. CLAYTOR:  Not being a pain, are we



      6     amending the original motion --



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes.



      8          MR. CLAYTOR:  -- or are we going to defeat the



      9     original motion and have a new motion?



     10          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Is there a difference?



     11          MR. CLAYTOR:  The difference is we would be



     12     voting on the amendment, and then we would vote on



     13     the main motion.



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I would defer.  Could



     15     co-counsel --



     16          MR. KOCHEVAR:  I can answer that, yes.  So we



     17     technically haven't adopted Robert's Rules of



     18     Order, but that's the best procedure that I know of



     19     and what most people follow.  So if we treat this



     20     as a motion to amend, you would vote to amend the



     21     main motion that Commissioner Westercamp had made.



     22          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  And then vote.



     23          MR. KOCHEVAR:  And then that would become the



     24     main motion, and then you would need to, when



     25     discussion was done, vote on that.  And whatever
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      1     that -- we'll call that the second vote.  The



      2     majority votes yes on that second vote, then you



      3     have approved that motion as amended.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So the second vote is



      5     the approval?



      6          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Yes.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So -- Valerie?



      8          MS. WARYCHA:  No.  I agree, yes.



      9          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So we will take a vote now to



     10     amend the original motion, which would mean that



     11     we're amending the original from a 0 percent



     12     penalty to a 25 percent penalty.  All those in



     13     favor of the amendment signify by saying "aye."



     14          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     15          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     16          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     17          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



     18          The motion passes.



     19          So now we need a motion and a second to



     20     approve the agreement.



     21          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  No.



     22          MR. CLAYTOR:  So we're now voting on the



     23     amended motion; right?



     24          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Yes.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  I apologize.  Okay.
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      1     So now we need a motion --



      2          MR. WESTERCAMP:  No.



      3          MR. KING:  No.  We just need a vote.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Oh, we don't need another



      5     motion.  I'm sorry.  Thank you for your patience.



      6          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  It's okay.



      7          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Motion to motion.



      8          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So now we're going to



      9     vote on that.  All those in favor signify by saying



     10     "aye."



     11          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     12          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     13          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



     15          The motion passes.  Thank you.  My apologies.



     16          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So for clarity, what



     17     we just did is assess a $250 penalty for each



     18     violation, so $500, plus 68 cents in mailing costs



     19     for each.



     20          MS. TAYLOR:  $501.36 for a grand total.



     21          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  501.36.  Thank you.



     22          MR. GUTRICH:  Yeah.  I just didn't understand



     23     why you didn't vote on the first motion and then



     24     vote on the second motion --



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.
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      1          MR. GUTRICH:  -- because he made a motion.



      2          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Next -- oh, and, sir,



      3     I think you left your papers.



      4          MR. GUTRICH:  Oh, I don't really need them.



      5          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Are there any campaign



      6     finance violations that need to be heard now?



      7          MS. TAYLOR:  I know there are two more.  We



      8     may have more, but I know that there are two.



      9          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We're moving from the front



     10     backwards.



     11          MR. HOSTETTLER:  I apologize.  I thought it



     12     was the whole first row.



     13          MS. WARYCHA:  That's okay.  They're for a



     14     different matter.



     15          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I'm sorry.  Yes.  If you



     16     could state your name and spell it.



     17          MR. HOSTETTLER:  My name is Matthew Douglas



     18     Hostettler.  M-a-t-t-h-e-w, Douglas is



     19     D-o-u-g-l-a-s, Hostettler is H-o-s-t-e-t-t-l-e-r.



     20     My administrative cause number is 2025-420.



     21          MS. THOMPSON:  Madam Chairman, this isn't in



     22     the spreadsheet.  It's the pink little tab at the



     23     back.



     24          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.



     25          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Representative Hostettler, I
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      1     have a question.  So did the staff raise this issue



      2     with you or did you self-report without being



      3     prompted by the Election Division staff?



      4          MR. HOSTETTLER:  I self -- so if I could share



      5     briefly kind of how things transpired.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  You have five minutes.



      7          MR. HOSTETTLER:  Okay.  Thank you.  And thank



      8     you for the continuance.  The 23rd was Rosh



      9     Hashanah, so I really appreciate your guys'



     10     patience with everything.



     11          So it was either November or December, but



     12     towards the end of 2024, my campaign committee



     13     address received a contribution from the Meijer



     14     Political Action Committee, and it was given to my



     15     treasurer with my usual no hurry, because she's a



     16     volunteer.  Most volunteers are always doing



     17     something.  And then during the first week of



     18     session, I received a text message saying "I



     19     finally got that check deposited."  Oof.



     20          So immediately we issued a check for the



     21     amount back to Meijer Political Action Committee.



     22     I believe it was issued on the 12th or 13th of



     23     January.  I self-reported.  We sent the letter.



     24     That check never cleared with Meijer.  We waited



     25     for nine months, and we just simply sent it to the
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      1     address that was on the contribution.  After



      2     tracking them down, we found another address and



      3     someone specifically to send it to and FedEx'd



      4     that, and that check -- that returned check was



      5     finally cashed last Friday.



      6          So in full transparency, the one that was sent



      7     with the letter, that was never deposited.  So it



      8     has been -- it was self-reported.  It's been



      9     returned twice, but we canceled the first check,



     10     and the other one finally cleared Friday.



     11          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So what was the



     12     proposed penalty for this?  There's no other



     13     information other than the letter.



     14          MS. THOMPSON:  The report hasn't been filed



     15     yet, so I don't have any information on that



     16     transaction.



     17          MR. KOCHEVAR:  I can tell you what statutorily



     18     the proposed penalty can be.  It is equal to the



     19     greater of the following plus investigative costs:



     20     Two times the amount of any contributions



     21     received -- it would be received and accepted since



     22     we've changed the law -- or $1,000.  So I know it



     23     can be $1,000, but without knowing the amount of



     24     the contribution that was accepted by the



     25     committee, I can't tell you what the potential
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      1     higher amount would be.



      2          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Is this matter ripe for



      3     consideration by the committee?  And if it's not



      4     ripe, then why are we hearing it today?



      5          MS. WARYCHA:  It doesn't feel like it's ripe.



      6     I'm not sure that it is.



      7          MR. KOCHEVAR:  I would agree since we don't



      8     know if the proposed penalty can be above $1,000,



      9     so I would agree with my counterpart on this.



     10          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Can we decide -- so since



     11     Representative Hostettler is here today, is there a



     12     way that we can decide this now for efficiency



     13     purposes?



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I wouldn't think so.



     15          MR. KOCHEVAR:  I would probably recommend --



     16     this is just me saying -- to table this until a



     17     Commission meeting after January 21, 2026, when the



     18     committee's annual report is due, so that would be



     19     sometime February probably.



     20          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sure.  Then we would have a



     21     more complete picture.



     22          MS. WARYCHA:  That does make sense.



     23          Question for campaign finance staff:  I'm



     24     assuming you got this from Representative



     25     Hostettler and just wanted to put it before the
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      1     Commission as soon as you got it?



      2          MS. TAYLOR:  Correct, yes.



      3          MS. WARYCHA:  Okay.  Thank you for the



      4     verification.



      5          MS. NUSSMEYER:  And if I might add, the



      6     representative does not have to appear at the



      7     hearing.  He can send a proxy, for lack of a better



      8     term.  He can have a motion -- an appearance motion



      9     to allow someone else to present on his behalf, if



     10     that were the case.



     11          MR. HOSTETTLER:  May I?



     12          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I don't think his



     13     five minutes is up.



     14          MS. WARYCHA:  It was not.  He was at 3:22.  I



     15     can hit -- go ahead.



     16          MR. HOSTETTLER:  I respect the decision of the



     17     Commission, the committee.  If the contribution was



     18     for $500 and it was returned for $500, if you would



     19     like to make that consideration in the interest of



     20     your time.  I can be back in January.  I just



     21     wondered if that helps you guys in the moment to



     22     save possibly some time in January.  That's the



     23     only reason I offer that information and respect



     24     your decision either now or then.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I think we would feel more
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      1     comfortable waiting.



      2          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I would move that we



      3     table it until sometime after the report is



      4     actually filed.



      5          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Thank you for self-reporting.



      6     We encourage all campaigns to self-report.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  There's a motion on



      8     the floor.  Do we have a second?



      9          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Second.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  We have a motion and a



     11     second to table this issue until a later date.  All



     12     those in favor please signify by saying "aye."



     13          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     14          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     15          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     16          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



     17          Motion passes.



     18          MR. CLAYTOR:  Madam Chairman, I'd like to



     19     explain my vote.  I have a lovely disagreement with



     20     staff and attorneys and their belief that the only



     21     indicia of receiving a contribution is when it is



     22     deposited.  I disagree with that heartily.  And if



     23     I were on the other side of the table, I would be



     24     arguing that, if you got a check prior to the start



     25     of session, whether or not you deposited it during
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      1     session, it is not a violation.



      2          Unfortunately, I will not be here at the



      3     meeting when this comes back up.  That is a



      4     personal opinion, and just throwing it out there



      5     for edification, or if you could get the statute



      6     amended in January or Organization Day.



      7          MR. HOSTETTLER:  Respectfully, that probably



      8     would not look very good.  But may I ask, do you



      9     need any information from me between now or will



     10     the report that's due in January be sufficient?



     11     Should I just wait, just do that normally, or is



     12     there anything else that I should get in the



     13     meantime?



     14          MS. TAYLOR:  I don't speak for them, but I



     15     don't think there's anything else we need from you



     16     before the report is filed.



     17          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  In the meantime, yeah.



     18          MS. WARYCHA:  That would be all I could think



     19     of.  Generally the Commission will look at the



     20     reports.  Your self-reporting, you just beat us to



     21     the punch as far as doing the reports, but



     22     appreciate it.



     23          MR. HOSTETTLER:  Sorry for making life harder.



     24          MS. WARYCHA:  No, you did not.  We appreciate



     25     the self-reporting.
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      1          MS. NUSSMEYER:  If I may -- I'm sorry -- may I



      2     ask a question of staff?  So typically for



      3     corporate contributions that are in excess of a



      4     certain dollar amount, we do send out a settlement



      5     agreement, do we not?



      6          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



      7          MS. NUSSMEYER:  So we do that --



      8          MS. TAYLOR:  This is not a corporate



      9     contribution.



     10          MS. NUSSMEYER:  I understand that, but it's



     11     substantially similar, right, that this is a



     12     contribution that was received during long session



     13     that has a civil penalty assigned to it in Title 3.



     14     So would a similar letter go out to the committee



     15     just so that the representative would be looking



     16     out for it?  Is it something we should direct staff



     17     to do?  That is the question.



     18          MS. THOMPSON:  This is the first time we've



     19     brought this before the Commission.  It's not



     20     happened before, so this is all new precedent for



     21     us.



     22          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Well, that's an



     23     interesting point because you said received and



     24     this is deposited, so actually the question when it



     25     was received is a question.
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      1          MR. CLAYTOR:  And that's not the first time



      2     I've seen it before the Commission.



      3          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Was it a cashier's check or



      4     was it a normal check?



      5          MR. HOSTETTLER:  It was a normal check.  And



      6     it was -- I believe that the -- just speaking



      7     frankly, I don't believe I have the envelope to



      8     show the postmark.  I mean, it would simply be



      9     there's the date on the check.  It might have -- I



     10     honestly couldn't tell you without seeing it.



     11          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Well, we've tabled



     12     it, so we should probably stop talking about it.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



     14          MR. HOSTETTLER:  All right.  Thank you.  Have



     15     a good day.



     16          MS. NUSSMEYER:  If I could add one more thing,



     17     the statute does say received and accepted now, so



     18     it's no longer just received.  It's received and



     19     accepted, and what accepted means in terms of the



     20     overarching discussion for January...



     21          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Okay.



     22          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



     23          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Fun times ahead.



     24          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Next.



     25          Please state your name and spell it for us,
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      1     please.



      2          MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  Good morning.



      3          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Good morning.



      4          MR. CURTIS:  My name is Tod Curtis, T-o-d,



      5     C-u-r-t-i-s, and my cause number is 2025-7783-167.



      6          MS. THOMPSON:  Madam Chairman, it's on page 5.



      7     It's Fight Back Indiana, Cause No. 2025-7783-167,



      8     has not been before the Commission before, and has



      9     a proposed civil penalty of $1,000.66.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.



     11          MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.



     12          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Go ahead.



     13          MR. CURTIS:  Okay.  First of all, I started



     14     this PAC, Fight Back Indiana, as a nonpartisan PAC



     15     to try to bring people to the middle in Indiana and



     16     kind of even out government, do something good.



     17     But what I found was, after all the organizational



     18     steps and setting everything up and getting



     19     everything ready and having a website and



     20     everything looking the way that I wanted it to,



     21     there was no response whatsoever to a nonpartisan



     22     PAC.  So we took in no money, and we had no



     23     expenses other than the startup expenses we paid



     24     out of our own pocket.  That was in April of 2023.



     25          In October of 2023 would be our first filing,
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      1     the pre-election filing.  I did receive a notice



      2     from the State saying that it would be due on that



      3     date, so I pulled out the instructions on how to



      4     fill out that form.  And on the third paragraph



      5     down, it says "This instruction applies to all



      6     statewide candidates, state legislative candidates,



      7     and any political action committee that, 1, is



      8     required to file with the Election Division," which



      9     is true, "and, 2, which received more than $50,000



     10     in contributions since the close of the previous



     11     reporting period," which did not apply.



     12          Now, my misunderstanding was that it meant the



     13     following instruction after that sentence, which



     14     says "This form must be filed electronically with



     15     the Election Division.  Contact Division at," blah,



     16     blah, blah.  So I looked at it and thought we've



     17     done no business, and we certainly haven't taken in



     18     $50,000, so we do not meet the requirements to have



     19     to file this at this time.  That's not what this



     20     form means, but that's what the form says.



     21          So to add to the problem, after that, someone



     22     rammed their car through the front of the UPS store



     23     and tore up all the mailboxes and the store closed,



     24     so I could not receive my -- any mail from the



     25     Election Division.  I didn't receive a notice until
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      1     December that I had missed this filing, at which



      2     time I panicked and contacted the State and filed



      3     and did everything that I possibly could to try to



      4     correct that problem.  And as I said, there was



      5     something to file.  It was about $600 maybe in



      6     mailbox expense, website expense, things like that.



      7          So we did that, I filed all the other forms



      8     correctly, and then in April of 2024, which had



      9     been about a year, I could see this was going



     10     nowhere, so I officially closed the PAC and did no



     11     other business.  In between, every other filing was



     12     for zeros and zeros.



     13          So I guess I'm here, first of all, because, as



     14     you were mentioning -- on the way up my wife asked



     15     me why is there such a huge fine for filing late,



     16     and I said because it's a fairness issue.  When a



     17     candidate is running for office, that's public



     18     record where the money is coming from and what



     19     they're bringing in.  For us, it doesn't really



     20     make much sense, but that's the law, and that's why



     21     we're here this morning.  That's why you're here to



     22     hear me out.



     23          I really have nothing other to state other



     24     than I don't know that we've caused any real harm,



     25     and I think this form needs to be corrected to at
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      1     least say "The following instruction" or a colon



      2     after "This instruction" so that it's clear that



      3     it's the remainder of the paragraph that it's



      4     referring to and not this form completely.



      5          So at this time, I guess, I will entertain



      6     questions.



      7          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Could we see the



      8     form?



      9          MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  And I don't have access to



     10     my email account for this anymore, but I did



     11     vociferously defend the wording on the form and how



     12     I stated it at the time as the cause of the



     13     mistake.



     14          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So to summarize your



     15     position, you're saying that there was a misleading



     16     form, state form, that caused you to not take the



     17     steps that were necessary which made you violate



     18     the law; is that right?  Is that your position?



     19          MR. CURTIS:  Correct.  There is no more law



     20     abiding person in the state than me.



     21          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Okay.



     22          MR. CURTIS:  And so it's very embarrassing to



     23     be in this situation to begin with.



     24          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Does the staff have a



     25     counterpoint?  I mean, I want to be sure that our
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      1     forms are not misleading to people that want to



      2     comply with the law.  Is there something, in your



      3     opinion, that is misleading or do our forms need to



      4     be updated?  Is there something that's being missed



      5     that we should consider?



      6          MS. TAYLOR:  I don't know what the paragraph



      7     looks like.  I thought it was only for PACs over



      8     $50,000 who had to file electronically.  I'm not



      9     sure what the back of that looks like.  I think the



     10     bigger problem --



     11          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I was going to say, this is



     12     sort of out of context.



     13          MR. CURTIS:  I do have the rest of it.



     14          MS. TAYLOR:  I know that's the back of the



     15     summary sheet of the CFA form, but I also think the



     16     bigger issue here, if I may speak, before you is



     17     that the UPS store was taken out, so he didn't get



     18     any of our notice that the report was due, which



     19     clearly states if you receive this, you have to



     20     file.  That's the first sentence on the form, if



     21     you are in receipt of this notice, you have to file



     22     with the Election Division.  Filing anywhere else



     23     is not sufficient.



     24          So I think -- I don't know what the back of



     25     the form says.  It might -- I don't know what that
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      1     paragraph says.  I may fully agree with you.  But I



      2     think the bigger issue is the UPS store being



      3     crashed into and he can't --



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Not receiving the mail.



      5          MS. TAYLOR:  Right.



      6          MR. CURTIS:  And I might add, the State had



      7     communicated electronically by email for everything



      8     up to that time, so the only thing that I was



      9     getting in that mailbox was junk mail from whoever



     10     found the new address for the PAC.



     11          MS. TAYLOR:  We don't email any campaign



     12     finance documentation, short of if you've logged in



     13     and you've filed, it's an auto-generated email.



     14          MR. CURTIS:  I didn't know anything would be



     15     coming.



     16          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I want to put aside the UPS



     17     store for a second.  Do we have any consensus among



     18     us that this was a required filing fact based on



     19     this?  Because if this mailing was sent in error,



     20     if this wasn't actually required, we don't have to



     21     even talk about the UPS truck situation.



     22          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I think it was



     23     required.  It's just the electronic component of it



     24     isn't required because of the size of the -- not



     25     reaching that contribution level.
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      1          MR. CURTIS:  That's the understanding I came



      2     to afterwards.  You have to file electronically if



      3     it's more than 50,000.  I thought it just meant you



      4     don't have to file.  I didn't know you could even



      5     file by paper.



      6          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I see.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any other thoughts,



      8     questions?



      9          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I have a question.  So this



     10     is your first campaign finance violation.  Why



     11     didn't you take the deal that we had offered at the



     12     beginning of this hearing?



     13          MR. CURTIS:  Well, first of all, I didn't know



     14     there was going to be some kind of a deal offered.



     15     I might have settled a long time ago just to get it



     16     off the plate.



     17          But in all honesty, I don't know that it



     18     really -- I have a strong sense of justice, I



     19     guess, and I will take whatever penalty is imposed,



     20     but at least it needed to be brought up in the



     21     record that the average person -- I mean, I have



     22     multiple college degrees.  I read things as they're



     23     stated, and the average person trying to do this on



     24     their own could read that form and be completely



     25     stymied like I was.  So in the interest of the
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      1     record, I think the form needs to be updated, so I



      2     thought I would drive up and see.



      3          I don't know how government works inside.  I



      4     ran for Congress in 2017 for the 2018 year, and so



      5     I had finance committee, I had all that.  I



      6     understand how government works, and I understand



      7     how elections work.  This was just something that



      8     was a little odd, I guess, that this fine seems to



      9     be disproportionally high compared to the damage



     10     caused, which really is probably zero.  But I



     11     thought I would put myself at the mercy of the



     12     committee.  I'll take whatever the committee



     13     decides.



     14          MR. CLAYTOR:  When you were operating the



     15     committee, starting the committee, did you avail



     16     yourself of the information on the State's website



     17     that has the Campaign Finance Manual?



     18          MR. CURTIS:  Absolutely.  I have everything in



     19     front of me right here.  I did everything exactly



     20     by the book, and I thought I was doing everything



     21     exactly by the book when I did not file at that



     22     time because I didn't think I met the threshold for



     23     filing.  And I didn't find out until -- maybe if I



     24     had found out the next day that it would be a $50



     25     fine, I'd say, well, that's fine.  But since I
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      1     didn't have notice that something was wrong for



      2     two months, then I racked up the full $1,000 fine.



      3          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So this is the back of -- it



      4     says "this form."  Is the form they're referring to



      5     just for PACs?



      6          MS. TAYLOR:  No.  The CFA-4 is for all



      7     committees, candidates, committees.



      8          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Because I would argue that --



      9     or I don't want to be argumentative, but I would



     10     say that, if you had run for State Representative,



     11     then --



     12          MR. CURTIS:  No, I didn't run for State



     13     Representative.



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I thought you just



     15     mentioned --



     16          MR. CURTIS:  I ran for Congress.



     17          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Congress.  I'm sorry.



     18          MR. CURTIS:  That was federal election, yes.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I'm sorry about that, but



     20     that you were familiar with the requirements and



     21     the forms obviously through that.



     22          MR. CURTIS:  I never had to fill out a form.



     23     I had a full campaign team, finance director,



     24     campaign director, all of that that were handling



     25     all those things at that time.  This is more of a
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      1     grassroots type of try-to-do-it-on-my-own-type



      2     operation.  I do run businesses.  I mean, I'm an



      3     orthodontist; I have an orthodontic business.  I



      4     have a property business.  So I'm familiar with



      5     filing for businesses, yes.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Any other questions?



      7          MR. CLAYTOR:  Just a point of information, I



      8     guess.  The Campaign Finance Manual very clearly



      9     states, I believe, that for each PAC they must file



     10     three reports per year, at a minimum, in election



     11     years and one report in nonelection years.  And



     12     that's a -- it's several places in the Campaign



     13     Finance Manual.



     14          MR. CURTIS:  Right.  But the instructions for



     15     filling out that particular form, which I just



     16     stated, says that the qualifications for filling



     17     out that form, one is that there's more than



     18     $50,000.  That's exactly what that paragraph says,



     19     so that's why I had to go with the paragraph on the



     20     form.  To file that form, I was following the



     21     instructions on the form.



     22          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  File electronically.



     23          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Valerie, do you have



     24     something, or Brad?



     25          MS. WARYCHA:  I was going to defer to Brad.
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      1     Go ahead.



      2          MR. KING:  I was just going to -- speaking to



      3     Valerie with regard to an issue that arises in a



      4     wide variety of legal contexts, not just election



      5     law, in construing statutes and forms, it's in pari



      6     materia, which means basically to understand the



      7     meaning of a law -- or the code of law, campaign



      8     finance code, you have to look at the entirety of



      9     the law, not just an isolated piece to understand



     10     how that isolated piece is going to work, which



     11     addresses Commissioner Claytor's point with regard



     12     to the Campaign Finance Manual being part of that



     13     summary of the larger body of law that is what



     14     those who interpret the law are required to use.



     15          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



     16          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So the committee is



     17     closed?



     18          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     19          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  And there's no --



     20          MS. TAYLOR:  Correct.



     21          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  -- because there's no



     22     money?



     23          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Questions, thoughts?



     24          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I just want to say I agree



     25     with Michael that this says this instruction
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      1     applies to these things, but that does not mean



      2     that there's not other instructions or obligations



      3     in other areas.  So I think your point is well



      4     taken that the Campaign Finance Manual says these



      5     are -- it's a requirement, and this in no way



      6     contradicts that underlying requirement that's in



      7     the manual.



      8          MR. CLAYTOR:  Madam Chairman, if I may, I



      9     regret that our friend did not come forward during



     10     the settlement offer, but I'll make a motion and



     11     see if I can buy a second over here that we assess



     12     a fine of 25 percent against the campaign.  I know



     13     we normally don't do that once the time is over,



     14     but there's obviously some misunderstanding here,



     15     and the entity is now closed.  So I would move that



     16     we assess a fine of 25 percent, which would be



     17     $250.66.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We have a motion.  Do we have



     19     a second?



     20          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Second.



     21          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  We have a motion and a



     22     second to impose a 25 percent penalty, which would



     23     be $250 and the mailing cost of 66 cents.  All



     24     those in favor signify by saying "aye."



     25          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.
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      1          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



      2          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



      3          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



      4          Motion passes.



      5          MR. CURTIS:  I appreciate that.  And I would



      6     suggest just a colon at the end of that sentence



      7     and that form would make it clearer that this means



      8     the next part of that.



      9          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



     10          MR. CURTIS:  One other question too, I guess,



     11     from a legal aspect.



     12          MS. WARYCHA:  I'm sorry.  This is not really



     13     the forum for that.  You're welcome to stay to the



     14     end and I would be happy to chat with you, but for



     15     the moment the Commission has other hearings.



     16          MR. CURTIS:  I just wondered, I mean, if a



     17     closed PAC can actually be fined.



     18          MS. WARYCHA:  Yes.



     19          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     20          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Sorry.  Yes.



     21          MR. CURTIS:  Just quick.



     22          MS. WARYCHA:  Yeah.



     23          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Next.



     24          MS. DOYLE:  Hello, Commissioners.  I am



     25     Brittany Doyle, B-r-i-t-t-a-n-y, D-o-y-l-e, here
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      1     for Cause No. 2025-6797-414, McCormick for



      2     Governor.  This is a continuance from the last



      3     hearing.



      4          MS. TAYLOR:  It's on page 17, Cause



      5     No. 2025-6797-414.  It was tabled at the hearing on



      6     September 23rd.  This was a late CFA-11 caused by a



      7     refund.



      8          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So before Brittany starts,



      9     could I hear from the campaign finance staff how



     10     this matter falls into a contribution.  What's the



     11     argument?



     12          MS. TAYLOR:  It's income.  They entered it



     13     into the system as income because we only have in



     14     or out.  There's no other definition.  They entered



     15     the contribution into the system, and it



     16     auto-generated, because it was over 10,000, the



     17     CFA-11 to be filed within seven days.  They entered



     18     it in July when they were filing their semiannual



     19     report and went "Ope" because, again, it's a



     20     refund.  But, again, we only have in or out, so



     21     there's no separate definition for a refund.



     22          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I know that last time we



     23     asked for a briefing on this, and only Ms. Doyle



     24     submitted briefing.  Was there a reason why the



     25     campaign finance staff didn't submit an argument?
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      1          MS. TAYLOR:  We were waiting for Matthew and



      2     Valerie to talk to Brittany.  That's --



      3          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Just as a matter going



      4     forward, if we ask for briefing on a legal



      5     question, can we get your assurances that you'll



      6     provide something in writing, because the State has



      7     the burden to provide a prima facie case on this;



      8     otherwise, we have to give judgment to Ms. Doyle.



      9          MS. WARYCHA:  I will say that Matthew and I



     10     have discussed, and neither of us -- I don't want



     11     to speak for you, Matthew -- felt this met the



     12     definition of contribution.  It's just caught up in



     13     the system because there's nothing else to put it



     14     on because we're working on a 1990s computer



     15     system.



     16          So when you read the definition of



     17     contribution, contribution means a donation of



     18     property that satisfies both of the following:  The



     19     donation is made for the purpose of influencing any



     20     of the following:  The nomination or election to



     21     office of a candidate, the election of delegates to



     22     a state constitutional convention, the outcome of a



     23     public question.  The donation is accepted by any



     24     of the following:  A candidate, a candidate's



     25     committee, a regular party committee, a political
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      1     action committee, and legislative caucus committee.



      2     Whenever funds are transferred from one committee



      3     to another or a donation of funds to influence an



      4     election on a public question is accepted as a



      5     contribution, the accepting committee is considered



      6     to be receiving a contribution in the amount of the



      7     funds transferred.



      8          And I could keep reading, but I'll just tell



      9     you that there's not anything in there that, to me,



     10     makes this contribution work on a 1990s system.



     11          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So if that's the case, does



     12     the Division want to withdraw this complaint?



     13          MS. WARYCHA:  I don't believe we can because



     14     we are staff and we cannot make that decision;



     15     therefore, we have to bring it to you as the



     16     Commission to make that decision.



     17          MS. NUSSMEYER:  If I might, Madam Chair, I'm



     18     not disagreeing with Matthew or Valerie.  Matthew



     19     and I have gone around and around on this



     20     particular issue.  Whether it is a computer system



     21     or a paper CFA-4 document, it is still income, and



     22     that income has to be reported.  So if you were not



     23     filing it electronically and you were on paper, you



     24     would have to report that refund of $85,000 on



     25     paper.
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      1          Now, I agree it's not a contribution because



      2     it's not used to effectuate the support or defeat



      3     of a public question, but, to me, there's a larger



      4     issue here that perhaps the legislature needs to



      5     tackle to create a different schedule where it is



      6     not a contribution, where it is something like a



      7     refund so that, one, our 1990s computer system



      8     won't trigger these reports to do different



      9     filings, but also address these rare instances



     10     where you have a refund that is not a contribution,



     11     because at the end of the day, that $85,000 impacts



     12     their bank account, it impacts their cash on hand,



     13     and it needs to be organized in such a way.



     14     Matthew might argue with me, because he has, that



     15     it's an unitemized contribution, but I see how you



     16     can say with a straight face $85,000 is an



     17     unitemized contribution.



     18          So I appreciate Ms. Doyle bringing forward



     19     this very novel legal question and whether or not



     20     it should be considered a contribution or not, but,



     21     to me, there's a bigger issue at play that the



     22     Commission can't decide today necessarily about



     23     what to do, but I do think it's a larger question



     24     to bring to the legislature to determine how you



     25     classify this type of income.
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      1          MR. CLAYTOR:  Madam Chair, can I -- if I could



      2     ask anyone in the room that wants to answer except



      3     the guys from VSTOP.  When I am entering in the



      4     system, there's a drop-down.



      5          MS. TAYLOR:  Yeah.



      6          MR. CLAYTOR:  And something is either direct,



      7     unitemized, or interest.  Is there a selection for



      8     refund?  I don't remember.



      9          MS. TAYLOR:  No.  There's a selection for



     10     other, and I think it was -- I don't have it in



     11     front of me, but I believe it was entered as other,



     12     refund and explanation.



     13          MR. CLAYTOR:  So let me ask, since there is



     14     specifically an interest selection in the



     15     drop-down, if I had $1,000 of interest in the stub



     16     reporting period, would I have to file for an over



     17     $1,000?



     18          MS. TAYLOR:  It would trigger the CFA-11.



     19          MR. CLAYTOR:  It would trigger the CFA-11?



     20          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes, yes.



     21          MR. CLAYTOR:  Okay.  That doesn't make a damn



     22     bit of sense to me.



     23          MR. WESTERCAMP:  That's a good question.  I



     24     had two other hypotheticals that would go into this



     25     bucket that are not refunds, so it doesn't sound
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      1     like you have any accusers here among the staff, so



      2     I won't accuse you either.  But if you went to



      3     Walmart as a campaign and you bought something for



      4     $10 and you handed the cashier a $20 bill and then



      5     you left, went to the parking lot, the cashier came



      6     out and gave you $10 back, is that a contribution?



      7     I don't think there's anybody that would say that's



      8     a contribution even though there's money that's



      9     going back to the committee.



     10          I'll give you another example.  A lot of big



     11     committees get credit cards, and some of these



     12     American Express credit cards, if you spend



     13     $10,000, you're going to get $1,000 back.  It's a



     14     standard contractual thing.  I would say that I



     15     can't imagine anybody saying that a reduction of



     16     your credit card bill by $1,000 from American



     17     Express by opening a credit card would be a



     18     contribution.



     19          And so there's got to be a way to address



     20     these sorts of scenarios where money is coming to a



     21     campaign but it does not define contribution.  I



     22     appreciate you bringing this up, writing a brief



     23     explaining it.  I think there needs to be some



     24     legislative fix here that doesn't flag us.



     25          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I'm curious, is there
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      1     a way -- it's been a long time since I filled out



      2     one of these reports, thank goodness, but I



      3     remember -- well, because you were talking about



      4     the expense.  So there are the expenses of the



      5     campaign, the expenses of the campaign, expenses of



      6     the PAC, whatever the entity is, you know, like the



      7     office paying for rent or whatever.  Is there a



      8     way, when you're entering that type -- well, I



      9     guess can negative numbers be entered?



     10          MS. TAYLOR:  No.



     11          MS. DOYLE:  No.



     12          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  See, that would



     13     alleviate that.  I'm thinking, yeah, you enter a



     14     negative because that would -- the theme this year



     15     is the computer system.



     16          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     17          MR. KING:  Madam Chair, the Commission has



     18     identified an ongoing skirmish in the battle



     19     between humanity and technology.  But let me



     20     address that with another general legal principle



     21     that I think is relevant here, and that is, because



     22     the statute involved here raises the possibility of



     23     penalty being imposed, there is abundant case law



     24     which says that, if there's any ambiguity, that



     25     ambiguity has to be construed in favor of the
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      1     individual entity and against the State with regard



      2     to imposing a penalty.  And so I would bring that



      3     to the attention of the Commission for



      4     consideration.



      5          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I was going to say -- well,



      6     let me real quick, Brittany, I feel like we didn't



      7     give you a chance to say anything.



      8          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Yeah, you don't get



      9     to talk.  Sorry.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So let's back up just a



     11     minute before we make our decision.



     12          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Start the five-minute



     13     clock right now.



     14          MS. WARYCHA:  Go.



     15          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Is there anything -- I just



     16     wanted to give you due time so you can break in.



     17          MS. DOYLE:  No problem.  I'll take any



     18     questions you have on the memo I submitted, but I



     19     don't have any additional presentation at this



     20     time.



     21          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Can you state your name for --



     22          MS. DOYLE:  Brittany Doyle.



     23          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We literally got nowhere at



     24     the beginning.



     25          MR. KOCHEVAR:  I would just like to put on the
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      1     record, because Valerie did say that she didn't



      2     want to speak for me, I have had a chance to read



      3     the memo.  I have studied the issue since the



      4     committee.  I do agree what was in the memo, what



      5     constitutes a contribution, and so I do want to say



      6     that I agree with my counterpart.



      7          I would also like to say to Commissioner



      8     Westercamp that I have notes now duly noted for



      9     myself, my co-counsel, if you or any other



     10     commissioners ask for a briefing before we continue



     11     a matter, we will have that memo for you or whoever



     12     requested it, obviously subject to going through



     13     our bosses, the co-directors.  So I will state for



     14     myself personally, I do apologize that we did not



     15     answer your call from the last meeting.  It will



     16     not happen again.



     17          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Thank you.  And as a general



     18     matter -- I know that people are playing the home



     19     game -- if there's unique circumstances that aren't



     20     factual, like the dog ate my homework sort of



     21     thing, that are legal, I found it extremely



     22     helpful, because when people come up, you get five



     23     minutes to think about something and decide



     24     something.  Ms. Doyle came at the end of like an



     25     all-day meeting, and so it was enormously helpful.
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      1          If somebody wants to submit a brief on a legal



      2     matter, if a reasonable length or a reasonable time



      3     before the meeting, like seven days before a



      4     meeting, I'll read it and consider it if it's a



      5     legal issue.  If it's a factual thing, the dog ate



      6     my homework, probably won't be persuasive.  But I



      7     wanted to put that out there for repeat players



      8     that it will give us a little bit more time to



      9     think about issues that come up like this one.



     10          MS. DOYLE:  Thank you, Commissioner.



     11          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  And just so I'm on the right



     12     page, what page is this?



     13          MS. TAYLOR:  Page 17.



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I'm sorry.  I feel like you



     15     already said that.  Okay.



     16          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I would move that



     17     we -- so I forget.  Are we dismissing, waiving?



     18          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Dismissing.



     19          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I would move that we



     20     dismiss the proposed fine.



     21          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I second that.



     22          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We have a motion and a second



     23     to dismiss the proposed fine.  All those in favor



     24     signify by saying "aye."



     25          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.
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      1          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



      2          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



      3          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



      4          Motion passes.



      5          MS. DOYLE:  Thank you very much.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



      7          Okay.  Any other -- I think we've made it



      8     through that portion.  Okay.  So I think we are



      9     through the enforcement portion of our meeting.  So



     10     on the issue of continuances, would the campaign



     11     finance staff identify any matters for which a



     12     motion of continuance was received for today's



     13     meeting.



     14          MS. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Madam Chair, we have a



     15     motion to reconsider.  It's A Better Option.  It's



     16     Cause No. 2025-7921-279.  It was --



     17          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  What page is that?  I'm



     18     sorry.  Oh, right here.  Six, page 6?



     19          MS. THOMPSON:  Yes, 6.



     20          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  I'm sorry.  Go ahead.



     21          MS. THOMPSON:  This is a motion to reconsider.



     22     It was a committee that received the letter in



     23     January with the wrong dates, and he took it before



     24     the Secretary of State's office instead of coming



     25     through our office at the beginning.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I know there was some email



      2     communication in our binders there.



      3          MS. THOMPSON:  Yeah.



      4          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Where in the binders?



      5          MS. TAYLOR:  Page 6 and then he wrote an email



      6     under the pink tab -- blue tab.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yeah.  I noticed here.



      8          MS. TAYLOR:  We had six or seven -- I don't



      9     remember the exact number -- committees at the last



     10     hearing where we sent the notice with the -- I



     11     mailed the 2020 notice instead of the '24 notice,



     12     so we had the January 20th deadline from 2021



     13     instead of the 15th.



     14          So he had reached out to Kegan and the



     15     Secretary's office from the jump.  We didn't know



     16     any of this.  And Kegan called him after the



     17     hearing to ask why he was not dismissed with



     18     everyone else at the hearing, but, again, I don't



     19     know Kegan.  I can't pick him out of a lineup of



     20     one.  So we would ask for this one to also be



     21     dismissed and apologize for having missed it the



     22     first time.



     23          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  But the first hearing he just



     24     didn't show up?



     25          MS. TAYLOR:  Right.
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      1          MS. WARYCHA:  And I believe that's because he



      2     had spoken to the Secretary of State's office,



      3     which is a separate --



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  But that's his fault, not the



      5     fault of the Commission.



      6          MS. WARYCHA:  That is fair.  I do believe the



      7     Secretary of State's staffer may have given him bad



      8     advice.  I just want to put that on the record.



      9          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.



     10          MS. WARYCHA:  Many people do not understand



     11     the Division is not part of the Secretary of



     12     State's office.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sure.  So he didn't show up



     14     for the first one because this email right here is



     15     dated the 24th, which we met on the 23rd.



     16          MS. TAYLOR:  Right, yes.  He called us both on



     17     the 24th to let us know that Kegan had informed him



     18     he was not dismissed at the hearing.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  What does he mention here,



     20     "I'm not sure why my complaints via phone were not



     21     recorded by your office"?



     22          MS. WARYCHA:  I believe that's him speaking to



     23     the Secretary of State staff.



     24          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sorry.  Okay.  Again --



     25          MS. WARYCHA:  No, no, no.  He was very
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      1     confused and very upset with the Election Division



      2     because he had been speaking to the Secretary of



      3     State's office, which I don't believe explained the



      4     difference of the Division and that they were not



      5     involved in this and may have given bad advice.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  And then so for today he



      7     references then this is this morning.



      8          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.  We were going to ask for



      9     this to be dismissed because, again, it was what we



     10     had goofed on, but I told him to go ahead and ask



     11     for a continuance because he called this morning



     12     and he was very sick.  And I said ask for the



     13     continuance because, if we don't get it dismissed,



     14     we'll have it continued and on the next agenda.



     15          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes.



     16          MR. KOCHEVAR:  I have a question for staff,



     17     and this may lead to a second question.  Was the



     18     final notice of penalty -- or the notice of -- no,



     19     let me go back.  The final order imposing a fine in



     20     the stack that was approved by the Commission at



     21     the beginning of the meeting, are they in that



     22     stack?



     23          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     24          MS. THOMPSON:  Yes, it is.



     25          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Okay.  So that goes to my
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      1     second one.  You have fully completed the



      2     requirements under AOPA to fine this committee.  If



      3     you want to grant his continuance for his motion to



      4     reconsider, I'm going to say this:  You may want to



      5     think about essentially pulling his final order and



      6     not issuing it.



      7          MS. WARYCHA:  Just because at the last meeting



      8     I do believe that we dismissed these complaints.



      9          MS. TAYLOR:  The other six, yes.



     10          MS. WARYCHA:  The other six were all



     11     dismissed, so I would say to be consistent, the



     12     motion would be to dismiss, if that was the will of



     13     the Commission.



     14          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Reconsider.



     15          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Yes, sure.



     16          MS. WARYCHA:  First they have to reconsider --



     17     Angie is correct -- but then a motion to dismiss.



     18          MR. KOCHEVAR:  I'd like to clarify my



     19     questions and comments.  Those are meant for if you



     20     were taking up his request for a continuance in



     21     case you wanted to hear from this committee at a



     22     future meeting as you took up the motion to



     23     reconsider.



     24          But if you do feel that you have enough



     25     evidence to act, then, yes, Valerie is absolutely
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      1     right because we just did one for a committee many



      2     minutes ago.



      3          MS. WARYCHA:  Yes, yes.



      4          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So when we voted on this at



      5     the last meeting, we dismissed a bunch of similarly



      6     situated cases.



      7          MS. WARYCHA:  Correct.



      8          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Why was his not incorporated



      9     in that?  Was it because he was not physically



     10     present?



     11          MS. WARYCHA:  No.



     12          MS. TAYLOR:  He had been speaking to the



     13     Secretary's office and not the Division, so we did



     14     not know.



     15          MS. WARYCHA:  We didn't know about it.  He got



     16     bad advice from the Secretary's office.



     17          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Got it.  Got it.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So at this point all we knew



     19     was he just didn't show up; correct?



     20          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     21          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We didn't have any



     22     supporting --



     23          MS. WARYCHA:  We did not have the information



     24     that he had given to the Secretary's office.



     25          MS. TAYLOR:  Of the 130 pages of that hearing,

�



                                                           81



      1     he was on one of the pages.  We pulled out six



      2     other pages of those six committees.



      3          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So Valerie's point is to be



      4     consistent we would --



      5          MS. WARYCHA:  Correct.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  If the original argument is



      7     the date on the letter, we would dismiss.



      8          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So I would move to



      9     reconsider the order --



     10          MS. WARYCHA:  Correct.



     11          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  -- imposing the fine.



     12          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I'd second that motion.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So we have a motion



     14     and a second to reconsider.  All those in favor



     15     signify by saying "aye."



     16          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     17          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     18          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



     20          Motion passes.



     21          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  And I would move that



     22     we dismiss the fine based on the fact that he falls



     23     into the category of the folks who got the



     24     misleading letter.



     25          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Second.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So we have a motion



      2     and a second to dismiss the fine.  All those in



      3     favor signify by saying "aye."



      4          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



      5          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



      6          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



      8          Motion passes.



      9          MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.  And we do have



     10     continuances.  There were four committees who are



     11     asking for a second continuance.  They had



     12     continuances granted at the September 23rd hearing.



     13     The first is Hancock County for Progress.  They had



     14     three causes, 2025-7277-60, -151, and -349; Martin



     15     Del Rio for Indiana, Cause Nos. 2025-7610-96 and



     16     -253; Committee to Elect Shemanski, Cause



     17     No. 2025-7642-101; and Jay County Democrats, Cause



     18     No. 2025-7838-292 and -323.  They are all asking



     19     for a second continuance.



     20          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Are there any that the staff



     21     opposed?



     22          MS. TAYLOR:  No.



     23          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  On that, just for



     24     clarification because I'm new, is there reason



     25     given or we just sort of blanket approve those?
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      1          MS. TAYLOR:  Their emails are under the blue



      2     tab kind of explaining why they're asking for



      3     another continuance.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Each one is obviously



      5     different.



      6          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.  They're separate.  Some are



      7     two pages.  Most are just --



      8          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  In the past, once



      9     they've gotten two requests, haven't we said okay,



     10     if we grant it, but really next time you need to be



     11     here, that this is it?



     12          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.  Historically the Commission



     13     will grant the second continuance as a final



     14     continuance, has been what we've done for the last



     15     few years.



     16          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I move for a continuance of



     17     all the committees that were just referenced.



     18          MR. CLAYTOR:  Second.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So we have a motion



     20     and a second to grant those continuances that were



     21     mentioned.  All those in favor signify by saying



     22     "aye."



     23          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     24          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     25          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



      2          Motion passes.



      3          Okay.  Defaults --



      4          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Hang on.



      5          MS. TAYLOR:  I believe someone just walked in.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Would you like to come



      7     up and have a seat.  Mr. Kochevar will need to



      8     swear you in.



      9          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Please raise your right hand



     10     and say "I do" after recitation of the oath.



     11          Do you solemnly swear or affirm, under the



     12     penalties of perjury, that the testimony you are



     13     about to give to the Indiana Election Commission is



     14     the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the



     15     truth?



     16          MS. HATCHER:  I do.



     17          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Thank you.



     18          MS. HATCHER:  Thank you.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  If you could please state



     20     your name and spell it for us.



     21          MS. HATCHER:  Ragen Hatcher, R-a-g-e-n,



     22     H-a-t-c-h-e-r.



     23          MS. TAYLOR:  Madam Chairman, members of the



     24     Commission, this is on pages 12 and 13.  The first



     25     is Cause No. 2025-7150-393 with a proposed civil
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      1     penalty of $350.68.  The second is Cause



      2     No. 2025-7150-394 with a proposed civil penalty of



      3     $350.68.  This is their third time before the



      4     Commission.



      5          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So you were not here



      6     when we started.



      7          MS. HATCHER:  Yes.



      8          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So I will quickly -- or if



      9     you want to, I can defer to our vice chair.  We did



     10     sort of go through with other members that were at



     11     this hearing, we have been offering sort of what



     12     we'll call a deal to different committees for



     13     campaigns.



     14          MS. HATCHER:  Okay.



     15          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  If you want to forgo this



     16     hearing portion, you could take the deal, which



     17     means it would be 75 percent of the proposed



     18     penalty if just accepting the delinquencies, and



     19     you would pay 75 percent of the fine and waive this



     20     hearing.



     21          MS. HATCHER:  I'm not sure if -- I read



     22     through the statute.  I'm not sure if my reasoning



     23     is a good enough reason to be dismissed or not



     24     dismissed.  And so both of my issues are because I



     25     didn't file the supplemental report for the over
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      1     $1,000.  And it's because of the date that I used



      2     and not necessarily the date that I received it but



      3     the date that was on the check itself when I filed



      4     my report.



      5          Since that time and since this last issue,



      6     which occurred in 2023 for 2024, the Indiana



      7     Democratic -- we had kind of a meeting about how to



      8     fill out the reports best, and I had been



      9     apparently using the wrong date.



     10          If that is not sufficient for the reason that



     11     it was filed late even though from the time I



     12     received it it went into the system within



     13     24 hours, not from the time the check was written



     14     did it go into the system within 24 hours, I think



     15     that will be my only question because that's my



     16     only defense, that I'm putting it in based on the



     17     date on the check and not on the date I received



     18     it.  And I only do that because it keeps things



     19     easier for me when I am going through my reports



     20     and filling out reports for the biannual -- on the



     21     biannual basis.  It's just different with the



     22     $1,000 ones because they have to be in within a



     23     certain time.



     24          So I'm not quite sure what to do.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So obviously we want to
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      1     engage in discussion.  So I would say, if it's



      2     okay, maybe for clarification if we could sort of



      3     back up and you describe to us, if that's okay.



      4          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So before we take up your



      5     matter, what we've done with other campaign



      6     committees is that they've had to decide are they



      7     going to take a deal.  In this case, you would get



      8     a 25 percent haircut on what you owe.



      9          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  This is her third time,



     10     right, so it would be 75 percent.



     11          MR. WESTERCAMP:  The haircut is 25 percent.



     12          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Oh, yes.  I'm sorry.  Yeah.



     13          MR. WESTERCAMP:  We're saying the same thing.



     14     You've got to pay 75 percent.  You would get a



     15     25 percent reduction.



     16          MS. HATCHER:  Got you.



     17          MR. WESTERCAMP:  If you do that, then we're



     18     done.  If you want to take your chances and make a



     19     case to us, you just need to decide that now.



     20          MS. HATCHER:  I'd like to take my chances



     21     then.



     22          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Okay.  You're forgoing the



     23     deal?



     24          MS. HATCHER:  Yes.  Thank you.  And thank you



     25     for the offer.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So let's start over.



      2     You have five minutes for your portion.  So you



      3     just tell us a little more clearly what happened.



      4          MS. HATCHER:  Thank you.  First, I've been in



      5     politics for a while, but going back to county



      6     where we were filing the county, I was a city



      7     councilman.  This is -- since 2019, and I suspect



      8     it's probably the first time, I can't recall the



      9     first time I was in front of the Commission, but I



     10     think it was for a late report.  It wasn't for this



     11     situation.



     12          But when I do my reports, I go back, I pull



     13     out all my checks, and I put in the date that the



     14     check is written, the written date of the check,



     15     and not the date that I deposit it.  About a year



     16     ago, after this last one, I started writing and



     17     using the date that I actually pick it up from the



     18     P.O. Box and I actually put in the deposit.  So if



     19     you look at my newer records, you'll see a number



     20     of checks are received on the very same day.  It's



     21     the day that I pick them up and the day that I



     22     deposit them into the bank.  Going back here,



     23     though, I was still using the date of the check



     24     when I came and wrote my final report out to submit



     25     to the State for processing.
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      1          So I know that's what the problem is.  I know



      2     that's where the mistake lies.  But as I said



      3     before, that seems like a mistake that's more on my



      4     end than on the Commission's end, and so I'm just



      5     asking for -- especially since I have corrected the



      6     problem now and understand what the issue is.  I do



      7     have all checks go to my P.O. Box.  None of them



      8     come straight to my house.  I usually pick that up,



      9     especially during election season, at least once a



     10     week, sometimes it may be once every two weeks, but



     11     yes.



     12          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So the issue is that



     13     you -- so if a check is dated December 1st, you



     14     received it December 15th, but you're entering it



     15     into the lovely antiquated system we keep talking



     16     about --



     17          MS. HATCHER:  I'm glad I didn't say it.



     18          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  -- with the



     19     December 1st date, is what you're saying?



     20          MS. HATCHER:  Yes, the date that's actually on



     21     the check.



     22          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Okay.  So do you have



     23     records indicating -- for these checks that



     24     prompted these penalties, do you have anything



     25     indicating when you received those particular
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      1     checks?



      2          MS. HATCHER:  So not necessarily.  Like I



      3     don't have anything that says I went to the P.O.



      4     Box on this day and picked this check up.  But I



      5     think what you will see is that the date that's on



      6     the actual check is the date that's being used to



      7     submit to the State.



      8          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  And I guess we don't



      9     have that.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We don't have that.



     11          MS. TAYLOR:  We don't have copies of any



     12     checks for anything.



     13          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So the staff's position is



     14     that the date that should have been used for the



     15     representative is the date that the money hit the



     16     bank account?



     17          MS. TAYLOR:  The date that she deposited the



     18     check to the bank account.



     19          MR. WESTERCAMP:  And you obviously have bank



     20     statements that would show that; right?



     21          MS. HATCHER:  Right.  So the one that I



     22     suspect that we're talking about, I think it's the



     23     one --



     24          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  It says there's one



     25     from Thomas Cappas and one from Greater Gary PAC.
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      1          MS. HATCHER:  So I have Cappas.  It says 5/1.



      2     That's the date it was written.



      3          MS. TAYLOR:  And you put 5/2 in the system,



      4     neither here nor there.



      5          MS. HATCHER:  Okay.  And 5/2 was probably --



      6     that was the date that I deposited it.  And then



      7     what is this?  Greater Gary, so Greater Gary is



      8     4/30.



      9          MS. TAYLOR:  You also have 5/2.  So that



     10     probably is the date you deposited them.



     11          MS. HATCHER:  Yeah.  So where would the



     12     problem come in?



     13          MS. TAYLOR:  You entered them in the system as



     14     received on May 2nd.  You didn't file the report



     15     until May 12th.  They were due May 4th, but that



     16     fell on a Saturday, so it rolled to May 6th.



     17          MS. HATCHER:  Yes.  So maybe I do have a bit



     18     of a problem here.



     19          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Abbey, which report are you



     20     speaking about specifically?



     21          MS. TAYLOR:  This is the CFA-11.



     22          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Due in 2024, 2023?



     23          MS. TAYLOR:  Due May 6th of 2024.



     24          MS. HATCHER:  Forty-eight hours from?



     25          MS. TAYLOR:  Forty-eight hours from receipt.

�



                                                           92



      1          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Okay.  And what was the filing



      2     window for the 2024 CFA-11?



      3          MS. TAYLOR:  The 2024 CFA-11 was April -- let



      4     me look at a calendar.  April 13, 2024, through



      5     May 5, 2024.



      6          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Okay.



      7          MS. WARYCHA:  That was the five minutes.



      8          MS. HATCHER:  I don't know if I have a good



      9     one for this then.  I thought that was the ones



     10     that I was using the date of deposit for.  And is



     11     it because I have my --



     12          MS. TAYLOR:  So these were due within 48 hours



     13     of receipt, which would have been May 6th because



     14     the 4th was a weekend, and you didn't file these



     15     until the 12th.



     16          MS. HATCHER:  So I do have a problem.  Okay.



     17     So I need to pay the fine.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Questions or thoughts on



     19     this?



     20          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I would move to impose the



     21     penalty -- or is penalty the right word?  Okay.



     22          MS. HATCHER:  Can I pay one penalty instead of



     23     two penalties since they both happened on the same



     24     report?  It's the same report, same dates.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Unfortunately, it's a penalty
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      1     on each.



      2          MS. HATCHER:  Okay.



      3          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  I'm sorry.  So we have



      4     a motion on the floor, and yours would be to impose



      5     the fine at 100 percent.



      6          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Yes.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Which for each one it's $350,



      8     and it says the mail cost on both were 68 cents.



      9          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Do we have any discussion or



     11     a second?



     12          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Is there a second?



     13          MS. HATCHER:  Can I ask when that will be due?



     14          MS. WARYCHA:  Hang on just a second.



     15          MR. WESTERCAMP:  We're discussing the matter.



     16          MS. HATCHER:  Oh, okay.



     17          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Second.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So we have a motion



     19     and a second on the penalty, again, being $350 for



     20     each violation and 68 cents mail cost for each.



     21     All those in favor signify by saying "aye."



     22          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     23          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     24          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."
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      1          Motion passes.



      2          As far as the payment, once this is processed,



      3     then we'd have to accept all these at the next



      4     meeting.



      5          MS. TAYLOR:  And then we'll adopt the orders,



      6     and then we will mail the orders, and then they



      7     each have a 30-day window for payment.  You'll have



      8     some time.



      9          MS. HATCHER:  Okay.



     10          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So it's a little bit of time.



     11          MS. HATCHER:  Okay.  Is that it?



     12          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes.  Thank you very much.



     13          MR. CLAYTOR:  It's no consolation, but I'm old



     14     enough to have worked with Richard Hatcher and



     15     enjoyed that.



     16          MS. HATCHER:  Well, I'm sure he's unhappy with



     17     me today.  So thank you.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you very much.  Okay.



     19     Any others?  I don't think so.



     20          Okay.  So we dealt with the continuances.  On



     21     the issue of any defaults, is anyone present to



     22     testify on any remaining campaign finance hearings



     23     scheduled for today?



     24          If not, I declare the hearings on all



     25     remaining campaign finance matters scheduled for
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      1     today closed.  Is there a motion to impose the



      2     entire amount --



      3          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Can I just ask one question?



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes.



      5          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So I think Senator Young was



      6     here last time speaking several times.  Did he ask



      7     for a continuance?



      8          MS. TAYLOR:  We have not heard from him since



      9     that hearing.  He and I worked at the back and got



     10     it all situated to match up ours with his, and we



     11     have not heard since.



     12          MR. WESTERCAMP:  But you sent him notice today



     13     of the thing?



     14          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes, yes.



     15          MR. WESTERCAMP:  And the General Assembly is



     16     not in session.



     17          MS. TAYLOR:  Correct.



     18          MR. WESTERCAMP:  So we just have nothing from



     19     him.



     20          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  And, again, since I'm new and



     21     I know John is newer to the committee, how are



     22     those things handled if there is no communication?



     23          MS. TAYLOR:  Just like the rest of these



     24     causes, they'll get the full fine imposed.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  And then after today
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      1     those notifications get mailed?



      2          MS. TAYLOR:  Once we meet again and we adopt



      3     the orders, then we'll mail them.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.



      5          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Madam Chairman, though, just



      6     for you both, the committee can still file a motion



      7     to reconsider --



      8          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



      9          MS. NUSSMEYER:  -- even after the fines are



     10     assessed.  So Senator Young or any other committee



     11     that is in default today, once they receive that



     12     order, they can request a motion to reconsider,



     13     similar to what we had happen earlier today.



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  And we do give deference to



     15     that.



     16          MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.



     17          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So do we need to vote



     18     on the defaults?  Yes.  Okay.  I just want to make



     19     sure.  Thank you.



     20          Okay.  Is there a motion to impose the entire



     21     amount of the proposed penalty plus mailing costs



     22     in all remaining campaign finance enforcement



     23     actions?



     24          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So moved.



     25          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Second.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Further discussion?



      2          All in favor of the motion please signify by



      3     saying "aye."



      4          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



      5          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



      6          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed say "nay."



      8          The "ayes" have it, and the motion to impose



      9     the penalty is adopted.



     10          Okay.  So this part of our hearing is



     11     completed.  We're going to move on to the voting



     12     system approval protocols report.  The Chair



     13     recognizes the Co-Directors to provide a report



     14     regarding the protocols for the Commission to



     15     consider applications for approval of a new voting



     16     system.  The chair will then recognize



     17     representatives of the Voting Systems Technical



     18     Advisory Program, VSTOP, to provide information



     19     regarding the proposed 2025 protocols for voting



     20     system approval.



     21          MR. KING:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, members of



     22     the Commission, I think it's important,



     23     particularly for those who may not have been



     24     present at the last meeting, to review the sequence



     25     in which these two categories of voting systems
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      1     generally fall under.  There is a process for



      2     recertification of a voting system that has been



      3     approved at some point during the previous



      4     four-year cycle.  Each cycle ends on October 1st



      5     following a presidential election year.



      6          Because there were changes made during the



      7     2025 General Assembly that had potential impact on



      8     voting system standards, the Commission, at its



      9     previous meeting, adopted amendments to the



     10     existing protocols to reflect those legislative



     11     changes.  However, there are voting systems that



     12     will be brought forward presumably, depending upon



     13     the due diligence of the vendor and the



     14     availability of the Voting System Technical



     15     Oversight Program to review once submitted, that



     16     would come under new 2025 protocols, as I will use



     17     as a shorthand designation.



     18          Those 2025 protocols were reviewed by myself



     19     and my counterpart and by Co-Counsel and provided



     20     to VSTOP.  And so at this point for VSTOP to do its



     21     work for the November 10th meeting, the 2025



     22     protocols are the documents before the Commission,



     23     and I believe they're included in your binder



     24     material.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I think the blue tab;
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      1     correct?



      2          MR. KING:  And then I'll defer to our



      3     counterparts to add and supplement.



      4          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Yes.  And I would probably



      5     defer over to Co-Director Nussmeyer, but this just



      6     a matter of how you consider this.  This new



      7     protocol has new procedures for VSTOP to test, as



      8     Mr. King said, on changes in 2025, the biggest



      9     being ballot retraction.



     10          But while we still have today and on



     11     November 10th renewal of voting systems currently



     12     pending, I would recommend that, if you do adopt



     13     this today, that you make it very clear that this



     14     protocol, this amendment, applies to any new voting



     15     system and any what we call modifications or



     16     changes to voting systems that are approved for use



     17     in Indiana, I'm going to say, after November 10,



     18     2025.  That is so that we don't have, say,



     19     procedurally, maybe possibly legally, issues with



     20     the three ES&S systems that are pending renewal.



     21     But that, I believe, will be on the agenda on the



     22     November 10th meeting next Monday.  So I'd like to



     23     just state that as you consider that and consider



     24     your motion.



     25          I'll defer over to Co-Director Nussmeyer on
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      1     anything about the protocols or anything else you



      2     may want to add on my point.



      3          MS. NUSSMEYER:  If I might, Madam Chair, this



      4     is actually a question for VSTOP, so I don't know



      5     if Spencer or Dr. Kinsella.



      6          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  If you all want to come up



      7     and state your names, if that's appropriate.  Let's



      8     do that.



      9          MR. DRUMM:  Spencer Drumm, D-r-u-m-m.



     10          MS. WARYCHA:  Into the microphone so that



     11     those watching online can hear it.



     12          MR. DRUMM:  Spencer Drumm.



     13          MS. WARYCHA:  Thank you.



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  And maybe for me too, those



     15     of us that are new, who you are with and maybe your



     16     titles, just a little more background.



     17          MR. DRUMM:  Yes.  I'm with VSTOP.  I'm a



     18     certification specialist for voting systems.



     19          MR. CHATOT:  Marc Chatot.  That's M-a-r-c,



     20     C-h-a-t-o-t.  I'm the program manager at VSTOP.



     21          MR. KINSELLA:  Chad Kinsella, K-i-n-s-e-l-l-a,



     22     co-director and associate professor.



     23          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



     24          MS. NUSSMEYER:  So if I may, for today, both



     25     Unisyn and MicroVote were tested under the 2021
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      1     standard with the revision that we did at the



      2     September meeting; correct?



      3          MR. DRUMM:  Correct.



      4          MS. NUSSMEYER:  The 2025 revision.  For the



      5     November 10th meeting potentially, we will have



      6     ES&S.  Now, ES&S has two recertifications, and a



      7     third is a new system that was tested in February



      8     of 2024 that they then were retested under the 2021



      9     protocol with the addendum made from the September



     10     meeting; correct?



     11          MR. DRUMM:  There's three systems.



     12          MS. NUSSMEYER:  But two are recertification



     13     and one is a new system.



     14          MR. DRUMM:  No.  There's four total.



     15          MS. NUSSMEYER:  There's four all day.  Okay.



     16     Correct.



     17          MR. DRUMM:  Yeah.



     18          MS. NUSSMEYER:  So three recertifications --



     19          MR. DRUMM:  Correct.



     20          MS. NUSSMEYER:  -- one new, all of them under



     21     the 2021 amendment.



     22          MR. DRUMM:  Correct.



     23          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Okay, for testing.  Hart has



     24     also applied, but they have applied for a new



     25     voting system.
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      1          MR. DRUMM:  Correct.



      2          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Will they be on the agenda for



      3     November 10th?  I have not seen anything scheduled



      4     for a field test.



      5          MR. DRUMM:  We haven't received a TDP from



      6     them, so we haven't gotten that far.



      7          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Okay.  So if I may at least



      8     make a recommendation to my members and the full



      9     Commission, I would recommend, to ensure that we



     10     can get through the November 10th meeting with the



     11     three systems that are here for recertification



     12     plus the new system that is under the 2021



     13     protocols, that perhaps we table the discussion for



     14     the 2025 certification and do it at the



     15     November 10th meeting so that it is clean, that it



     16     is clear that the machines that are being tested



     17     under the 2021 protocols, that that is still a



     18     protocol that is ripe and usable for VSTOP.



     19          And then after the November 10th meeting, that



     20     would be the last order of business, to adopt the



     21     2025 protocols, so that when Hart does finish their



     22     reporting to VSTOP, then they can be tested under



     23     the new protocols, and any other system.  It's one



     24     week, and that would be my suggestion or



     25     recommendation to the full Commission, but I would
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      1     defer to my colleagues, of course.



      2          MR. KING:  Madam Chair and members of the



      3     Commission, I appreciate my counterpart's



      4     delineation of the lots of moving parts that are in



      5     play here.  I think there's a couple points of



      6     concern.



      7          I do want to add that the proposed protocols



      8     have been published on our website and then



      9     provided to vendors, and, to my knowledge, our



     10     office has certainly not received any comments, and



     11     I'm not aware of any comments that VSTOP received,



     12     at least that took written form, from anyone.



     13          I think the only potential risk of mixing



     14     apples and oranges here is that if, in fact, the



     15     2025 protocols are not approved today but the



     16     Commission decides on November 10th to make further



     17     modifications for whatever reason, it then becomes



     18     unclear whether the Commission could proceed with



     19     the certification of new systems in accordance with



     20     those 2025 protocols.  And so I think, again,



     21     thinking back to 2021, when we had an initial



     22     recertify by Election Division staff, the model we



     23     brought forward to you was based on the procedures



     24     used in 2021, the last time in this cycle this



     25     process came up.
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      1          And so I'm hearing this for the first time at



      2     this moment, so I haven't had time to fully think



      3     through all the potential alternatives, but I think



      4     instinctively, to me, it is more efficient, if the



      5     Commission is comfortable, to approve the 2025



      6     protocols today for purposes of VSTOP's work, and



      7     then, if further amendments or tweaks are



      8     identified, nothing precludes you from amending



      9     those on November 10th just in the same way that



     10     you amended the 2021 protocols in September.  So



     11     I'm, in essence, saying proceeding with the plan



     12     that we originally brought forward to you as a way



     13     to go forward.



     14          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Well, if I may, this is also



     15     my first opportunity to have a conversation about



     16     the agenda, and so, when it comes to the testing



     17     protocol, I don't see a reason why the Commission



     18     can't have a conversation or discussion on the 2025



     19     protocol and raise any issues that they may have



     20     with the work the Division did and VSTOP in the



     21     vendor review and identify places of concern and



     22     direct staff to make amendments to the protocol and



     23     then adopt the amended protocol one week from



     24     today, which is November 10th.



     25          MR. KING:  And, Madam Chair, if I can briefly
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      1     respond.



      2          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sure.



      3          MR. KING:  Again, I think the operative



      4     sequence here is that, so long as the 2025



      5     protocols are not deferred in their entirety until



      6     a week from today, November 10th, that gives VSTOP



      7     and the vendors and the potential county customers,



      8     depending upon what variety of contractual



      9     arrangement a vendor might have with a county, time



     10     to address any concerns, to expeditiously approve



     11     the system if it meets the qualification of the



     12     statute.



     13          MS. NUSSMEYER:  But if I may, VSTOP just on



     14     the record said that they have no system -- any



     15     vendor that has applied for a new voting system



     16     beyond the ES&S system that was requested under the



     17     2021 protocols where a report was filed in February



     18     of 2025.  Correct?  There is no other voting system



     19     before VSTOP at this point that would be tested



     20     under their revised 2025 protocols, so we would



     21     not, in effect, be holding up your work or work for



     22     the county; is that correct?



     23          MR. DRUMM:  Correct.



     24          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Thank you.



     25          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Well, I guess my
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      1     thought would be it seems odd to approve the 2025



      2     protocols now if it seems like we're contemplating



      3     the possibility that we may be somehow revising



      4     them in a week and if they're not going to be



      5     affecting anything that is being considered in the



      6     next week, which is what I'm hearing.



      7          So it seems like I agree with Co-Director



      8     Nussmeyer that, if what we're contemplating -- it



      9     sounds like there is contemplation that there might



     10     be revision to these protocols, so it seems like



     11     that's something to discuss perhaps now but then to



     12     take final action next week.  And I agree also it



     13     sounds like it makes sense to avoid confusion as to



     14     which protocols are in play at any given period of



     15     time.



     16          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Do you all have anything



     17     you'd like to --



     18          MR. DRUMM:  To add to it?  I don't believe so.



     19          MR. CHATOT:  No.  No vendor reply.



     20          MR. DRUMM:  Yeah.  We got no replies from the



     21     vendors other than they had no comments.



     22          MS. WARYCHA:  I do have a question.  We kept



     23     hearing from ES&S specifically in Marion County



     24     that they were concerned about being able to sell



     25     equipment.  Does this -- and I'm not advocating for

�



                                                          107



      1     any vendor.  Please don't take it as that.  But I



      2     did hear from them that they were concerned about



      3     being able to meet some deadlines of selling



      4     equipment to Marion County because Marion County



      5     needed new equipment.



      6          MS. NUSSMEYER:  So if I might, this is the



      7     system that VSTOP provided a report to us in



      8     February of 2025 that had to then be



      9     re-field-tested under the amended protocol, which



     10     VSTOP has done.  It is not on today's agenda.  So I



     11     don't know exactly why ES&S is not part of today's



     12     agenda.  Maybe that is something VSTOP can tell us.



     13     But as soon as they can be on the agenda, then --



     14     because Marion County, you're correct, a new



     15     system, they can't market, sell, or lease it until



     16     the Commission approves it.



     17          MS. WARYCHA:  Okay.  And I was thinking, based



     18     off what I had seen, we had talked -- Commissioner



     19     Boyce had mentioned at the meeting a month ago that



     20     we would put this up for 30 days, which we did, and



     21     then we would come back at the November 10th



     22     meeting to approve new systems.



     23          So just to make sure I'm clear, isn't that



     24     what ES&S is asking for in the November 10th is to



     25     approve their new system so they can sell it to
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      1     Marion County?



      2          MR. DRUMM:  I don't know the Marion County



      3     part, but the 6500, yes.



      4          MS. WARYCHA:  Yeah.  So I just want to put



      5     that out there.



      6          MS. NUSSMEYER:  But that is not accurate.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  The what?



      8          MS. WARYCHA:  The 6500 is a system.



      9          MS. NUSSMEYER:  But that is not under the 2025



     10     protocol because they were originally tested under



     11     2021, and we met with ES&S, as you recall.



     12          MS. WARYCHA:  Right.



     13          MS. NUSSMEYER:  And we said when that report



     14     is amended to include the school board questions



     15     and other things, that we would ask that they do a



     16     field test on that portion only, can they do the



     17     school board --



     18          MS. WARYCHA:  Correct.



     19          MS. NUSSMEYER:  -- nonpartisan races and so on



     20     and so forth.  That is a new system tested under



     21     the 2021 protocols as amended at the September



     22     meeting.  The 2025 protocols that are before us



     23     right now are for new systems moving forward after



     24     October 1, 2025.  So these protocols would not



     25     apply to anything right now before VSTOP.  Hart
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      1     will be the first system on the 2025 protocols when



      2     and if they file.



      3          MS. WARYCHA:  Yes.



      4          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I move to move forward with



      5     the approval of the procedures -- the protocol,



      6     sorry, the 2025 protocol to be adopted.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  I'd like to second



      8     that.



      9          Okay.  So we have a motion and a second to



     10     approve the proposed 2025 protocols.  All in favor



     11     signify by saying "aye."



     12          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Aye.



     14          Opposed "nay."



     15          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Nay.



     16          MR. CLAYTOR:  Nay.



     17          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So we have a two-two



     18     vote.



     19          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I move to exhaust



     20     administrative remedies in the event of appeal to



     21     court.



     22          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  I'll make a second.



     23          Any discussion?



     24          MR. KOCHEVAR:  I'm sorry.  That's the first



     25     time I've ever heard the motion at a Commission
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      1     meeting, so I'm looking at my co-counsel who will



      2     help me.



      3          MS. WARYCHA:  You're worried about the



      4     administrative remedies?



      5          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Yes, Commissioner Westercamp's



      6     motion.  Sorry.  I normally do AOPA here, so,



      7     again, as I stated in other meetings --



      8          MR. WESTERCAMP:  It's the counterpart, yes.



      9          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Okay.  My apologies.



     10          MS. NUSSMEYER:  But in the past what we've



     11     typically done is make the counter motion --



     12          MS. WARYCHA:  Correct.



     13          MS. NUSSMEYER:  -- rather than doing it in a



     14     more broad fashion, as you motioned.



     15          MS. WARYCHA:  It's still proper.  You're okay.



     16          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Okay.



     17          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So there's been a motion and



     18     a second.  All those in favor signify by saying



     19     "aye."



     20          Aye.



     21          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     22          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



     23          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Nay.



     24          MR. CLAYTOR:  Nay.



     25          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  The motion fails since
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      1     it has not received the three votes required for



      2     the official action by the Commission.



      3          Okay.  Voting system applications for



      4     recertification.  The Chair recognizes the Election



      5     Division Co-Counsels to provide information



      6     regarding the legal requirements applicable to a



      7     previously certified voting system whose



      8     certification expired October 1, 2025.



      9          MS. WARYCHA:  Sure.  Matthew, if you're okay,



     10     I'll go ahead and start.



     11          So there's two statutes to look at, one for



     12     ballot card voting systems, and that's going to be



     13     Indiana Code 3-11-7-19; and then the code for



     14     electronic voting systems is 3-11-7.5-82.  And



     15     these provisions are generally the same, and what



     16     they start out by saying is that all of our voting



     17     systems expired on October 1, 2025, as Mr. King



     18     explained earlier.



     19          Vendors may then send an application to the



     20     Election Division to request renewal of their



     21     system.  Once we get that, we, as the Election



     22     Division, send it to the county clerks in the



     23     counties who are using that system so that they



     24     have an opportunity to speak up if something is not



     25     working with that system.  And, in addition, the
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      1     Commission gets a report from VSTOP, which, I



      2     believe, is what is in all of your binders, and it



      3     indicates the hardware, firmware, software included



      4     in the application for renewal is identical to the



      5     previously approved certification.



      6          And the Commission report also -- after



      7     receiving the Commission report, if you get any



      8     comments from interested persons, we would share



      9     those with you.  I do not believe we got any



     10     comments at all, so there won't be any of those in



     11     your binder.



     12          And then so once the Commission shall approve



     13     the application if it complies with the standards



     14     prescribed in this chapter, so under 3-11-7, and



     15     that's in your binder report from VSTOP, if the



     16     system has worked effectively if it's been used



     17     previously, which we have had no comments from a



     18     county saying that it wasn't working properly, and



     19     then if it's been adequately supported by the



     20     vendor, which, again, this is an opportunity for



     21     the county to pipe up and say my vendor is not



     22     supporting me and at this time we have none of



     23     those comments, we have the report from VSTOP



     24     recommending recertification.



     25          And, Mr. Kochevar, if there's anything else
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      1     you'd like to add, please do.



      2          MR. KOCHEVAR:  First, I will say that I agree



      3     with my counterpart on her explanation of the



      4     statutes for renewal of voting systems.  I will



      5     also state that the necessary documentation were



      6     sent to the counties that are using the voting



      7     systems in question.  They were sent by Mr. McLain,



      8     who is sitting in the back over there, as well as



      9     myself because we had some large documents that we



     10     had to share on One Drive.  You know how these



     11     things work.



     12          I will note, and this will be more for your



     13     agenda, that I just want to note there is an



     14     engineering change order with the Unisyn renewal.



     15     I'm going to use an assumption, and just based on



     16     how the agenda is done, this is -- ECOs along with



     17     renewals is nothing new.  This happens all the



     18     time.  They're just something like a small change



     19     in the voting system that's pending during renewal.



     20          I believe, because of how the agenda has been



     21     ordered, that our past precedence has been, when



     22     you have something like this before you, you want



     23     to take up and make sure to approve the ECO first



     24     and then approve the renewal.  VSTOP keeps great



     25     notes for four years from now so, in case the
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      1     voting system comes back for renewal, they will



      2     keep track of this additional ECO as this was part



      3     of the system that was, in this case, subtly



      4     changed.  This is how we describe ECOs, there being



      5     de minimus changes.  So I just want to add on that



      6     extra note on top of my counterpart's excellent



      7     summary, and I have nothing further.



      8          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



      9          MR. KING:  And, Madam Chair, members of the



     10     Commission, I would simply add I entirely agree



     11     with Mr. Kochevar with regard to his



     12     characterization of engineering change orders and



     13     the rationale of having, in this case, what appears



     14     to be a very mechanical, nonelectronic type of



     15     change to a voting system be considered as part of



     16     the process for recertification of the larger



     17     system overall.



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.



     19          The Chair will now recognize representatives



     20     from VSTOP to provide information regarding the



     21     voting systems whose vendors have filed



     22     applications for recertification beginning with the



     23     Unisyn OpenElect 2.2.2 ballot card voting system.



     24          MR. DRUMM:  Thank you, Madam Chairman.  Do you



     25     want me to go over the ECO first?
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yes, please.



      2          MR. DRUMM:  So this is ECO NCC 1031, and it



      3     introduces a larger capacity 8 gig flash drive for



      4     in-field high-use cases where large ballot images



      5     can exceed the capacity of the 1 gig model.  ECO



      6     NCC 1031 does not adversely impact the



      7     functionality, performance, accessibility,



      8     usability, safety, or security of the components or



      9     the system or alter the overall configuration of



     10     the certified system.  No change to firmware or



     11     software is required.



     12          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So I think --



     13          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Is there any discussion from



     14     other members on this?



     15          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We will need a motion and a



     16     second to adopt this change order.



     17          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I move to approve the ECO



     18     NCC 1031.



     19          MR. CLAYTOR:  Second.



     20          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We have a motion and a



     21     second.  All those in favor please signify by



     22     saying "aye."



     23          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     24          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     25          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



      2          Motion passes.



      3          Okay.  So then next is the engineering change



      4     order.



      5          MS. NUSSMEYER:  We just did the engineering



      6     change order.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Oh, I'm sorry.



      8     Recertification.  On to the next one.  I'm sorry.



      9     Go ahead.



     10          MR. DRUMM:  The Unisyn OpenElect voting system



     11     provides a complete system for election definition,



     12     ballot printing, voting at the polls, as well as



     13     early voting, handling absentee and provisional



     14     ballots at the central site for tabulation,



     15     accumulation, and reporting results.  The OVS is a



     16     ballot precinct voting system that offers both



     17     precinct and central tabulation.  The OVS consists



     18     of the OpenElect Central Suite, or OCS, installed



     19     at election headquarters location; the OpenElect



     20     Voting Device, or OVD, for use at the polls or



     21     early voting; and OpenElect Voting Central Scans,



     22     or OVCS bulk scanners, for use at central



     23     locations.



     24          This system was certified by the U.S. Election



     25     Assistance Commission, EAC, on November 18 of 2021
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      1     and is in compliance with the Voluntary Voting



      2     System Guidelines 1.0.  This voting system is a



      3     modification of the OpenElect 2.1, which was



      4     certified in Indiana until that certification



      5     expired October 1st of 2021.  OpenElect 2.2 was



      6     certified on February 24, 2022, as a New Voting



      7     System, and it has -- ECO 3476 was a modification



      8     to OpenElect 2.2 that introduced changes to extend



      9     ballot insertion time to avoid jams, and that



     10     updated the OpenElect version to 2.2.2 on



     11     December 7th of 2022.



     12          This voting system was reviewed and



     13     field-tested by using the Indiana Voting Systems



     14     Certification Protocol approved by the Indiana



     15     Election Commission on November 15th of 2021 and



     16     tested to the updated sections in Amendment 1



     17     version of the protocol approved on September 23rd



     18     of 2025.  The review and testing included all



     19     sections of the Protocol, including the recent



     20     legislative requirements such as software hash



     21     verification and review of the complete ballot



     22     creation and deployment process.



     23          Per the requirements of the Protocol, this



     24     report includes the completed Appendix A, the field



     25     test; Appendix B, the accessibility testing;
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      1     Appendix F, procedures for renewal; Appendix G, the



      2     VSTOP certification checklist; and Appendix 8, the



      3     test ballot samples.



      4          On the basis of VSTOP's review and evaluation,



      5     the voting system referenced herein, with the scope



      6     and certification, meets all the requirements of



      7     the Indiana Code for use in the state of Indiana.



      8     This finding includes compliance with the legal



      9     requirements for voters with disabilities.



     10          MR. WESTERCAMP:  I move to recertify Unisyn



     11     Voting Systems OpenElect 2.2.2.



     12          MR. CLAYTOR:  Second.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  We have a motion and a second



     14     for the recertification.  All those in favor



     15     signify by saying -- oh, I apologize.



     16          Any question?



     17          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Yeah.  Could we have



     18     some discussion about it before we proceed with the



     19     vote?



     20          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sure.



     21          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Did staff have any



     22     comments about the recertification?



     23          MS. NUSSMEYER:  I just -- just for on the



     24     record with VSTOP, to be clear, for the Unisyn



     25     system, ballot retraction was not part of the
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      1     recertification, it was not tested, and the vendor



      2     is clear that ballot retraction, at least as



      3     currently being considered for recertification, is



      4     not part of what can be deployed in Indiana until



      5     such a time they supply new application and ask for



      6     testing under the 2025 protocols, whenever those



      7     are adopted?



      8          MR. DRUMM:  Correct.



      9          MS. NUSSMEYER:  Thank you.  That was my



     10     question.



     11          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  That's what I was



     12     going to ask.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Very good.  Any other



     14     discussion, questions?



     15          MR. KING:  Madam Chair, members of the



     16     Commission, if I can just add briefly to supplement



     17     the remarks of my counterpart.  There was also



     18     legislation regarding retraction adopted in the



     19     2025 legislative session which is very complicated,



     20     and I'll give you the executive summary for this



     21     purpose, which was to say that in the version



     22     signed into law, retraction ability was made



     23     permissible.  It's authorized but not required for



     24     each type of voting system used in Indiana with the



     25     stated goal of not either benefiting or harming any
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      1     particular vendor based on the current nature of



      2     their product.



      3          And so as a result, some systems like Unisyn,



      4     which do not have the ability to retract currently,



      5     were not subject to an additional requirement based



      6     on that new statute.



      7          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Right.  But if they



      8     do have a retraction -- if they try to have a



      9     retraction feature, they have to comply with the



     10     requirements of the statute?



     11          MR. KING:  Yes, Commissioner, that is correct.



     12          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Great.  Any other comments?



     13          MR. KOCHEVAR:  To add on to the answer to the



     14     vice chair's question, I would also say in



     15     addition, at least for this Unisyn system, they



     16     would also need to seek a modification.  I want to



     17     make that clear.  They must seek a modification



     18     under law, come before this Commission to, I'm



     19     going to use the words, turn on the ballot



     20     retraction feature that is well-known among



     21     election administrators is available in certain



     22     Unisyn systems and that I can tell you and attest



     23     that at least one circuit court clerk that uses



     24     this Unisyn system is just dying to have it for



     25     their elections.
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      1          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Thank you.



      2          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  But, again, it's not



      3     part of this?



      4          MR. KOCHEVAR:  It's not part of this.



      5          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I was going to say



      6     let's not confuse things.



      7          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Yes, yes, yes.



      8          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  Any other questions,



      9     discussion?



     10          If not, we have a motion and a second on the



     11     floor for this recertification.  So all those in



     12     favor signify by saying "aye."



     13          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     14          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     15          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     16          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



     17          The motion is adopted, and the application for



     18     recertification of this voting system is approved.



     19          Okay.  The Chair will now recognize VSTOP to



     20     provide information regarding the application for



     21     recertification of the MicroVote General



     22     Corporation Direct Record Electronic Ballot System.



     23          MR. DRUMM:  Yes.  So EMS 4.4-IN is hardware,



     24     including the VVPAT, software, and firmware, is



     25     compatible with all existing Indiana certified
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      1     hardware components.  The EMS 4.4-IN revision



      2     includes an updated panel which includes the



      3     Windows 10 operating system with a bright color



      4     display.  The system also includes election



      5     management software enhancements to provide



      6     equipment tracking and status and election night



      7     reporting by location.  In addition to the



      8     mandatory precinct reporting, the equipment is now



      9     optionally assigned to locations and then election



     10     reports can be viewed for individual locations or



     11     aggregated across multiple select locations.



     12          This system was certified by the U.S. Election



     13     Assistance Commission on May 1, 2020, and is



     14     compliant with the Voluntary Voting Systems



     15     Guidelines.  Since 2022, there's been a few



     16     engineering changes to it.  136, 137, 139 have been



     17     approved on EMS 4.4-IN.



     18          This voting system was reviewed and



     19     field-tested by using the Indiana Voting System



     20     Certification Protocol approved by the Indiana



     21     Election Commission on November 15, 2021, and



     22     tested to the updates found in the 2021 Amendment 1



     23     protocol approved on September 23, 2025.  The



     24     review and testing included all sections of the



     25     Protocol, including the recent legislative
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      1     requirements updated by Amendment 1.



      2          Per the requirements for the Protocol, this



      3     report includes the completed Appendix A, field



      4     test; B, the accessibility testing; F, the



      5     procedures for renewal; Appendix G, the



      6     certification checklist, and then also the test



      7     ballot samples.



      8          On the basis of VSTOP's review and evaluation,



      9     we find the voting system referenced herein, and



     10     within the scope of certification, meets all



     11     requirements of the Indiana Code for use in the



     12     state of Indiana.  This finding includes compliance



     13     with the legal requirements for voters with



     14     disabilities.



     15          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Can we have



     16     discussion now?



     17          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Yeah.  Questions, comments?



     18          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So --



     19          MR. KING:  We want a motion.



     20          MR. WESTERCAMP:  We do need a motion?  Okay.



     21     I move to recertify MicroVote General Corporation



     22     EMS 4.4-IN.



     23          MR. CLAYTOR:  Second.



     24          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  So we have a motion and a



     25     second.  Discussion?
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      1          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So my understanding



      2     is that MicroVote has a retraction feature.  Or



      3     does their recertification include a retraction



      4     feature, a ballot retraction feature?



      5          MR. CHATOT:  Yes.  It was previously



      6     certified.



      7          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Okay.  So do we know



      8     what methodology they use for retraction for



      9     identifying the ballots that are to be retracted at



     10     this time?  I mean, because there was a past



     11     meeting where they said that they actually use the



     12     voter ID number for retraction.



     13          MR. CHATOT:  I don't recall the exact



     14     specifics of it.  That could be a part of it.  I



     15     hoped a representative would be here to answer



     16     that, but it seems it's just us.  So I don't want



     17     to speak to that officially at this time.  I don't



     18     know the exact answer.  It would take a while to



     19     look up.



     20          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I mean, my



     21     understanding is that they said -- that they had



     22     said in the past they use a voter ID number but



     23     they could also use a randomized digit.  Under



     24     Indiana law, the voter ID number is linked to



     25     personal information that, under Indiana law, isn't
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      1     supposed to be used for this process.  So during



      2     the evaluation, did MicroVote address how they were



      3     going to be handling retraction?



      4          MR. DRUMM:  The recent testing that we did



      5     only covered the updates to Amendment 1, so we did



      6     the school board testing.  We didn't go into



      7     anything else beyond that.



      8          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So when the equipment



      9     was -- when the system, I guess, was certified



     10     previously and they had the retraction capability



     11     in it, were there limitations placed on how they



     12     would effectuate ballot retraction?



     13          MR. CHATOT:  I don't believe so, but I can't



     14     recall exactly.



     15          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  And your report



     16     doesn't impose -- although maybe it's not up to



     17     VSTOP; maybe it's up to us.  I guess this is a



     18     question for staff.  So in terms of making sure



     19     MicroVote understands that they've got to comply



     20     with state law in terms of -- the new state law in



     21     terms of the retraction requirements, is that a



     22     condition we impose on the recertification?



     23          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Yes.  To answer that question,



     24     I believe, yes, you can impose that condition



     25     because there is a matter of Statute 3-11-15-26,
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      1     and more specifically subsection B, on what the



      2     ballot retraction ID can and cannot be.



      3          I will recall that many years ago, when ballot



      4     retraction actually came up, the Commission did



      5     impose -- it was an advisory opinion, which is now



      6     moot.  I will admit that under law.  But at that



      7     time I would -- essentially saying another way, the



      8     Commission made a statement to voting system



      9     vendors that there are certain things that the



     10     Commission will not approve in a voting system



     11     application, certification, modification, or



     12     renewal.



     13          So certainly in your motion to renew you can



     14     put in specific matters here about the ballot



     15     retraction as well, and precedence backs you on the



     16     matter.



     17          MS. NUSSMEYER:  But if I could add just for



     18     some additional background, the direct report



     19     electronic voting system, of which MicroVote is,



     20     they also have an optical scanning component for



     21     absentee voting, but the DRE system, in and of



     22     itself, at least as far as I know, when the law was



     23     originally passed for DREs, they always had to have



     24     a ballot retraction, but it was never defined in



     25     state law what it could or could not be.  The law
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      1     has changed to say what it can and can't be.



      2          To me, I think there's a novel -- again, a



      3     novel legal question before the Commission today



      4     because the legislature does permit the use of a



      5     voter ID number for retraction, but it does not



      6     allow for things like a person's driver's license



      7     number.  A voter ID number can be a driver's



      8     license number.  A voter ID number can be an SSN



      9     four plus date of birth.  SSN four and date of



     10     birth cannot be used for ballot retraction.  There



     11     is a unique identifier for voters who may have



     12     registered to vote prior to SVRS -- prior to



     13     federal and state law changing where they truly do



     14     get a unique identifier assigned to them, but that



     15     is a very small universe of voters.



     16          And so, at least from our staff perspective, a



     17     ballot retraction number, although state law says



     18     voter ID number may be used, that voter ID number



     19     is comprised of personally identifying information



     20     that state law prohibits from being used.  So if a



     21     person would go to a MicroVote voting system, their



     22     voter ID number could be their driver's license



     23     number, which is precluded from being used under



     24     state law, although the SVRS voter ID number can be



     25     used.  So how do you square those two things?  If
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      1     you use a voter ID number that is wholly comprised



      2     of a person's DLN number, that is not allowed for



      3     use under state law.



      4          And I will say that MicroVote has had members



      5     testify before the Commission in meeting minutes



      6     that we can certainly pull for the Commission where



      7     they have stated that they can do either.  They use



      8     a voter ID number, it's easier for the counties



      9     because they put the voter ID number on a card



     10     that's then inserted directly from the poll book



     11     and put into the system, or they can do a



     12     randomized number.  It takes a little bit longer



     13     time for the voter to be processed if you go that



     14     route.



     15          So those are the concerns that I raised with



     16     my commissioners and the reason for the vice



     17     chair's questions today.



     18          MS. WARYCHA:  I would just supplement, I



     19     cannot recall all of the legislative discussion,



     20     but I do believe this came up during committee with



     21     the legislature, and that is when they did amend,



     22     as Matthew mentioned, the 3-11-15-26.  And I am not



     23     the MicroVote lobbyist or any vendor's lobbyist,



     24     but I do recall this coming in session and the



     25     General Assembly deciding that they could continue

�



                                                          129



      1     using their ballot retraction feature that had the



      2     voter's SVRS identification number, for lack of a



      3     better term.  So the legislature did set policy on



      4     that, I would just want to bring forward to the



      5     Commission.



      6          MR. KING:  And, Madam Chair, members of the



      7     Commission, I would add to that again to say that



      8     throughout the process the particular bill was



      9     amended in response to vendor concerns, again, to



     10     strike a balance to not impose an additional



     11     hardship on a vendor that currently had a



     12     retraction feature nor to require a retraction



     13     feature for a system that did not currently have



     14     one.



     15          MS. WARYCHA:  Go ahead.



     16          MR. KING:  But that, again, it comes back, I



     17     think, to the larger question of construing



     18     statutes to say we can't pick and choose; they have



     19     to be read in their entirety.  And so that's



     20     already been discussed, so I don't need to go into



     21     great detail on that.



     22          At this point, in the absence of a



     23     representative from MicroVote to further testify



     24     regarding the matter, the Commission may wish to



     25     consider tabling the motion until November 10th to
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      1     provide an opportunity for additional information



      2     from the vendor to further address the question.



      3          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Will there be any kind of



      4     notice to the vendor where we'll have some



      5     guarantee that some -- or do we have any confidence



      6     that a representative will be here in a week?



      7          MS. NUSSMEYER:  They're based in Indianapolis.



      8          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Not much reason for



      9     them not to be here today.



     10          MR. KOCHEVAR:  We certainly can extend that



     11     invitation on your behalf to them.



     12          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Yes.



     13          MR. KING:  We ordinarily -- we certainly would



     14     contact the vendor, either directly or as part of



     15     the application process, to ensure that that would



     16     be the case.



     17          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  And I remember



     18     actually the meeting where they were very



     19     noncommittal about their willingness to assign just



     20     random numbers.  I remember that.  It was just they



     21     were -- well, it's hard.  They didn't want to do



     22     the work, the more difficult thing.



     23          MS. NUSSMEYER:  And the distinction between



     24     the DRE and the optical scan piece too is that a



     25     DRE, the number is stored electronically, they have
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      1     a double blind system, so on and so forth.  But a



      2     voter ID number printed on a ballot card where it



      3     goes into -- where a person's driver's license



      4     number would be printed on a ballot card that



      5     directly links a person to their vote, I appreciate



      6     that the legislature excluded voter ID number, but



      7     they also said no personally identifying



      8     information.



      9          And so, from my perspective, if we want to use



     10     a voter ID number, it's incumbent on us to make



     11     sure that the voter ID number in SVRS then is truly



     12     unique.  Even then, it's a record that can be tied



     13     directly back to the voter, and that is a chief



     14     concern of mine, and the Commission does have the



     15     authority under law to administer the election laws



     16     and consider novel issues.  So thank you.



     17          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Madam Chair, I'd like to



     18     withdraw my motion.



     19          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So --



     20          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  And I'd move that we



     21     table -- do we have to vote --



     22          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Do we have to vote on the



     23     withdrawal?



     24          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Honestly, you don't have to



     25     withdraw your motion.  You can make a motion to

�



                                                          132



      1     table your motion to the next meeting, so then,



      2     when it's brought back up from the table, you don't



      3     have to redo your motion.



      4          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Okay.  So moved.



      5          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  What he said.



      6          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  I'll second that.



      7          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Okay.  So we have a motion



      8     and a second to table this matter until the next



      9     meeting of the Commission.  All those in favor



     10     signify by saying "aye."



     11          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



     12          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



     13          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



     14          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



     15          The motion is adopted, and that is officially



     16     tabled until our meeting on November 10th.



     17          MR. CLAYTOR:  Can I ask a stupid question?



     18          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Sure.  There are no stupid



     19     questions, trust me.



     20          MR. CLAYTOR:  Oh, yes, there are.



     21          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Trust me.



     22          MR. CLAYTOR:  Mr. King, I wasn't sure I



     23     understood.  Are you seeing a conflict within the



     24     statute that I think Mr. Kochevar and Ms. Nussmeyer



     25     are seeing?
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      1          MR. KING:  No, not a conflict, but, again,



      2     it's a question of statutory interpretation to say



      3     that, again, the entire body -- in pari materia is



      4     the legal Latin phrase to say you have to consider



      5     all the different statutes, not individual pieces,



      6     in determining what's the applicable law.



      7          MR. CLAYTOR:  Sure.  And it would not be the



      8     first time at least I think I've seen that the



      9     legislature thought they did something and didn't.



     10          MR. KING:  Theoretically, that can happen,



     11     yes.



     12          MR. CLAYTOR:  Yes.



     13          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  That could be a whole nother



     14     meeting.



     15          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Just for the avoidance of



     16     doubt, can whoever the appropriate staff is that



     17     sends notices make sure that MicroChip -- I'm



     18     sorry -- MicroVote understands that we expect to



     19     see them here next week and prepared to answer



     20     questions for our staff and the commissioners?



     21          MR. KOCHEVAR:  Absolutely.



     22          MR. KING:  Uh-huh.



     23          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Great.



     24          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Great.  Thank you.  The



     25     Indiana Election Commission has finished its
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      1     business for today.  Is there a motion to adjourn?



      2          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  So moved.



      3          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Second.



      4          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  All those in favor say "aye."



      5          VICE CHAIRMAN OVERHOLT:  Aye.



      6          MR. CLAYTOR:  Aye.



      7          MR. WESTERCAMP:  Aye.



      8          CHAIRMAN BOYCE:  Opposed "nay."



      9          The "ayes" have it, and the Indiana Election



     10     Commission meeting is adjourned.



     11          (The Indiana Election Commission Public



     12     Session was adjourned at 12:30 p.m.)



     13
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      1  STATE OF INDIANA



      2  COUNTY OF HAMILTON



      3          I, Maria W. Collier, a Notary Public in and



      4  for said county and state, do hereby certify that the



      5  foregoing public session was taken at the time and



      6  place heretofore mentioned between 10:04 a.m. and



      7  12:30 p.m.;



      8          That said public session was taken down in



      9  stenograph notes and afterwards reduced to typewriting



     10  under my direction; and that the typewritten



     11  transcript is a true record of the public session.



     12          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my



     13  hand and affixed my notarial seal this 19th day of



     14  November, 2025.
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